
 

 

 
CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 

 

Date: Wednesday 30th March, 2022 
Time: 1.00 pm 

Venue: Virtual 

Please note this is a virtual meeting.  

The meeting will be livestreamed via 
the Council’s YouTube channel at 
Middlesbrough Council - YouTube 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for Absence 
 
 

  

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 
To receive any declarations of interest. 
 
 

  

3.   Minutes- Corporate Parenting Board- 15 February 2022 
 
 

 5 - 12 

4.   Performance against Corporate Parenting Board Strategy 
 
The Head of Looked after children and Corporate Parenting 
will present the action plan to the Board. 
 
 

  

5.   Review of Permanence Action Plan 
 
The Head of Looked after Children and Corporate Parenting 
will provide a report to the Board. 
 
 

 13 - 22 

6.   Review of Sufficiency Action Plan 
 
Claire Walker, Specialist Commissioning Manger will present 

 23 - 26 

Page 1

https://www.youtube.com/user/middlesbroughcouncil


 

the action plan to the Board. 
 
 

7.   Adoption Tees Valley- Bi -annual report 
 
Vicky Davison- Boyd, Service Manager for Adoption Tees 
Valley (ATV) will provide present the bi-annual report to the 
Board. 
 
 

 27 - 56 

8.   No Wrong Door (Future for Families) Pilot- Evaluation 
 
Abby Hennessey, Research Associate, What Works for 
Children's Social Care will provide the evaluation in respect to 
No wrong door (Future for Families). 
 
 

 57 - 126 

9.   Private Fostering 
 
Ben Short, Interim for Safeguarding and Care planning will 
provide the Private Fostering report to the Board. 
 
 

 127 - 140 

10.   Complaints made by Children looked after 
 
Siobhan Davies, Team Manager for RAD and Principle Social 
Worker will provide information to the Board on Complaints 
made by children looked after. 
 
 

 141 - 144 

11.   Participation of Children and Young people 
 
Kathy Peacock, Youth Voice and Influencer Contractor from 
Participation People will provide an update to the Board. 
 
 

 145 - 154 

12.   Any other urgent items which in the opinion of the Chair, may 
be considered. 
 
 

  

 
Charlotte Benjamin 
Director of Legal and Governance Services 

 
Town Hall 
Middlesbrough 
Tuesday 22 March 2022 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors C Hobson (Chair),  , A Hellaoui, T Higgins, Z Uddin, M Saunders, B Cooper, 
D Davison and J Walker 

Page 2



 

 
Assistance in accessing information 
 
Should you have any queries on accessing the Agenda and associated information 
please contact Susie Blood, 01642 729645, susie_blood@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Parenting Board 15 February 2022 
 

 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 
A meeting of the Corporate Parenting Board was held on Tuesday 15 February 2022. 
 
PRESENT:  
 

Councillors C Hobson (Chair), A Hellaoui, T Higgins, Z Uddin, B Cooper and 
D Davison 
 

 
PRESENT BY 
INVITATION: 

Councillors  M Smiles 

 
ALSO IN 
ATTENDANCE: 

H Wiseman, K Peacock (Participation People) and T Steel (HARROGATE AND 
DISTRICT NHS FOUNDATION TRUST)) 

 
OFFICERS: S Blood, R Brown, S Butcher, T Dunn, R Farnham, P Jemson, T Parkinson, 

R Scott, R Jordinson, J watson, X Davies, T James, L Jefferson and C Breheny 
 
APOLOGIES FOR 
ABSENCE: 

Councillors M Saunders, V Banks, P Rudd, C Snowball, D fenny, N Ayres, 
L Garvey, Dunning and J Walker 

 
21/1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 Apologies for Absence 

 
21/2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 There were no declarations of interest received at this point in the meeting.  

 
21/3 MINUTES- CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD- 18 JANUARY 2022 

 
 The minutes from the Corporate Parenting Board held on 18 January 2022 were read and 

accepted as a true record. 
 

21/4 COVID- 19 UPDATE 
 

 The Director of Children’s Serbices provided a verbal update in relation to Covid 19.  

The Director advised that in terms of schools, the levels of covid have started to decrease as 

are approaching half term and now schools are focusing on understanding the disruption 

caused to learning caused by the pandemic. Attendance oversight of the most vulnerable 

children is a key priority to the Council as well as safeguarding, as pointed out by the letter 

from Indra Morris, Director General for Children’s Services, Communications & Strategy 

Group for the DFE.  

The letter which was sent to all DSO’s outlines the importance of supporting our most 

vulnerable children as we move out of the pandemic, so the safeguarding partnership was 

looking closely at this e.g partners are working with Virtual School Heads to support the 

attendance of Children Looked After and the extended group of children with a social worker 

which they support. 

In terms of children’s social care, it is business as usual. 

The Director queried whether the Board would consider looking at the frequency of covid 19 

update. The Board agreed that this would be updated at every other meeting, however if the 

situation changed, this could be reviewed. 

 

AGREED-  

1. That the update be noted 

2. That the update on Covid-19 be presented at every other meeting. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



15 February 2022 

 
21/5 PARTICIPATION OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE IN MIDDLESBROUGH 

 
 The Chair welcome, Kathy Peacock, Youth Voice and Influencer Contractor from Participation 

People to the meeting, who provided an overview of the work undertaken with children and 
young people since January 2022. The Board also were pleased to welcome Xavier Davies, 
Care Leaver / apprentice for Middlebrough Council who was now working directly with 
Participation on Care to promote in care Councils. 
 
The Board were provided with a quick recap of the role of participation and the key officers 
assigned to Middlesbrough. Kathy explained she joined Participation People in November 
2021, 2 days a week to help Middlesbrough Council re-establish the in care councils. Other 
than the in care councils, there were other projects, however the Board would be updated on 
these in due course. 
In terms of progress to date, the Board were advised that: 
 

 Over the Christmas period, 135 care leavers were messaged telling them about the 
Care Leavers Forum. Seven young people joined and actively join on a Thursday 
evening. 

 The In Care councils are being promoted and Kathy has meet with key managers to 
inform them about the groups. All teams sent invites for their young people to attend 
the Mini Children in Care Council (CiCC), Children in Care Council (CiCC ) and Care 
Leavers Forum. This is done on a strategic level to help improve and deliver services. 

 Mid- January launch of the Care Experienced #YouthVoice groups. 

 Mini CiCC - 3 sessions held for children aged 7 to 12 years. Unfortunately there have 
been no young people at these sessions. The groups were still held and promoted 
with foster carers/ social workers , however experience, it is harder to get this age 
range to come out therefore a day of fun activities was planned for 24 February 2022 , 
as part of a recruitment drive and gain a sense of whether young people wish to 
attend the group, or whether they want a different type of engagement.   

 Children in Care Council - this group meets weekly. 4 sessions have been held and 2 
young people participate. These are amazing young people who have helped design 
events and look at ways to engage further for children in care. 

 Care Leaver's Forum - this group meets weekly. 4 sessions have been held and as 
stated 7 young people have engaged. 

 Kathy has attended the Designated Teacher conference, emails to be sent informing 
them about the groups to share with their young people.  

 The officer advised that they were flexible to engage with young people. 

 Joined the closed Middlesbrough Fostering Facebook group – and posted regarding 
the sessions. Kathy received questions regarding these so she was able to promote 
and explain further about the groups.  

 
The Board further heard from Xavier, who shared the posters which had been designed to 
promote the groups. The Board were keen for these to be promoted, and these would be 
circulated to the group after the meeting as well as the Virtual Schools. The posters had been 
circulated to managers, and to Paul Rudd to promote with independent fostering agencies. 
 
From the care leavers forum, the young people have identifies issues which are important to 
them, these were as follows: 
 
 

1. Trust in the people who support us 
2. No False promises made 
3. An understanding of what makes a positive/negative relationship 
4. A trusting relationship with our Social Worker/PA  
5. Access to ID - Passport, Birth Certificate, Provisional (and Full) Driving License and 

National Insurance Number  
6. Information about how we can access to our care records / what is the process and 

who do we go too? 
7. More preparation to live independently 
8. More support for care leavers who become parents 

. 
In terms of future plans for 2022, Xavier advised the Board of the following: 
 

Page 6



15 February 2022 

 Celebration/activity sessions for care experienced young people to be held during 
school holidays - February, April and May  

 All Team meetings to be attended to inform them about the groups and ensure they 
have young people attend. 

 Older care experienced young people to join young people from Hounslow and 
Wandsworth on a residential in March 2022. 

 Residential Homes to be visited to discuss these groups with staff and their young 
people 

 Rescheduled Care Leavers Celebration event to be held on the 23rd February 
(delayed due to Covid 19) 

 Survey to be sent to all care experienced young people asking them questions about 
their Health, Education setting, Voice and Support  

 Create #YouthVoice on the road- capturing the voice of young people who do not 
wish to attend a group. 

 
Finally, the Roadmap for 2022 was shared with the Board, and one element which was 
discussed was training for corporate parents, which would be co-arranged with Xavier and 
Care leavers. 
 
Following the presentation, a Board member raised concern regarding the access to I.D. In 
response, the Board were assured that participation people were having discussions with the 
Principle social worker. The Director of Children’s Services further outlined that this would be 
made a focus ging forward.  
 
The young person’s views were shared this week and from this a ‘YOU SAID, WE WILL DO’ 
document has been created. The Head of Looked after children and Corporate Parenting 
advised that this has been shared and officers are working on responses. An update would be 
provided at the next meeting. 
 
In terms of the in care councils, the question of accessibility was raised and this would be 
considered, as well as looking at when groups should be held e.g school holidays. Events had 
already been diarised for the Easter and May holidays as well as virtual events.  
 
The Chief Executive addressed the Board and wanted to make sure that any promises / 
strategies would be agreed by Executive/ Council. This would be discussed. 
A Board member also wanted to ensure that children and young people were properly 
supported after an issue was raised. In response, Kathy stated that they have a responsibility 
for those young people and if issues were identified, there would be a follow up conversation 
and the correct support would be sources.  
 
The officers were thanked for their presentation. 
 
 
AGREED: 

1. That the information be noted 
2. That the In care Council posters be circulated to all Board members.  

 
21/6 FOSTERING IN MIDDLESBROUGH- QUARTER 3 DATA 

 
 The Head of Fostering was in attendance to provide the Board with the quarter 3 fostering 

data. The Board had received previous reports, which had shaped the way the information 
was to be presented to the Board.  This quarterly report was based on the data requirements 
set out in the Ofsted Fostering Data Set, which was a statutory return compiled using data as 
of the 31 March each year. 
 

Page 7



15 February 2022 

In terms of what was working well within the fostering service and supporting lodgings, the 
Team Manager advised the Board that: 

• Social workers and Supported Lodgings worker receive monthly reflective supervision 

• Workers continue to scale themselves on average 7/8 out of 10 in respect to work 

 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 

Number of Enquiries 
Number of Initial Visits 

14 
3 

10 
1 

Number of fostering families  
(mainstream and full approved 
connected Carers) 

130 122 

Number of children placed with 
Middleborough Carers  

176 169 

Foster placements available for 
children that are not occupied 

 The reduction has been for a 
number of reasons, for 
example the quality of our 
data is improving but in 
addition, the foster families 
terms of approval is being 
reviewed.  

 The service has reviewed 
every foster carer and their 
provision to ensure we are 
utilising every bed space. 

 The 15, may also include 
foster placements that offer 
respite care to support stability 

 Number of foster families 
which are approved only for 
babies (0-2 years)  

 We do reach out to 
neighbouring authorities if 
Middlesbrough struggle to 
place a child, however other 
authorities also struggle within 
their own area. 

50 15 

De – registrations (households) 
Mainstream 
 
Connected 
Foster to adopt 
Some of the children secured 
permanence through the legal order 
so not all de-registration was negative 
 
In terms of de-registration, if the 
Council know there are difficulties, we 
ensure we increase supervision, look 
at support and training need.   
Once a foster carer decides to de-
register, the Council will have in-depth 
discussions regarding the reasons, 
and generally they leave to personal 
health issues.  
However we do have some families (3 

 
4(7 children provision) 
1 (2 children) 

 
5 (5 children) 
 
 
 (7 children) 
2(2 children) 

Page 8



15 February 2022 

21/7 NOMINET DIGITAL REACH PROGRAMME- UPDATE 
 

 The Chair welcomed Ralph Jordinson – Risk and resilience coordinator and Louisa Jefferson - 
Digital policy apprentice to the meeting. Nominet REACH – Digiwise. 
 
In March 2021 we were successful in securing in a bid to research, consult and construct a 
policy document for children looked after and children leaving care regarding online access. 
This was funding through an online organisation called Nominet, who are the leading 
organisation and this national programme was in partnership with parentzone, and it covers 9 
interlinked projects coving 3 challenges 1) building foster carers skills and confidence,  2) 
embedding digital skills and support, 3) elevating young people’s voice to influence services 
that impact their digital safety and opportunity.  
 
Purpose of the report was to develop a policy / best practice document for children looked 
after and children leaving care online access. It was noted that Care experienced young 
people have invaluable insight which is currently under-used in relation to digital and online 
safety policy development. 
 
In terms of progress so far, the following have been undertaken: 
 

a) Employed an apprentice who has care experience.  
b) Project lead and the apprentice have been trained in Impact Measurement and 

Management and developed a ‘Theory of Change’ and young person blog. The 
Apprentice explained that the Theory of Change plan would identify the problems that 
we see for children in care and the risk for then whilst online ,and to see how we 
would address these issues and what the overall plan would be. The Theory of 
change was developed as was a child / young person’s friendly version. Following 
this, after a meeting with parents (one of the key stakeholders) they suggested that a 
blog be created by the care leavers, explaining what is good and what improvements 
could be made.  

c) Consulted with young people and established the survey name: ‘Digiwise’ 
d) Formed a Steering Group to advise on key issues 
e) Developed an action plan which drives the project  
f) Hosted a care leavers football match and consultation event at Middlesbrough 

Football Community Foundation  
g) Designed and implemented a consultation survey for young people with care 

experience  
h) Designed a consultation survey for Foster Carers, Residential Workers and Social 

Workers. 
i) Is in the process of undertaking all consultation in g) and h) above  

 
Early indications from the young peoples’ survey (17 young people took part, however the 
steering group has increased) showed : 

 100% are accessing the internet 

 93% access 1 or more social media account as their main activity  

 60% of the young people surveyed are going online for more than 8 hours per week,  

 87% are using their smartphone as the main device to access the internet, but 
choosing their own data plans over the residential home internet connection, this is 
because they have unlimited access data plans (this potentially poses a risk if there 
are no filters or controls enabled)  

 60% of young people surveyed reported that they had seen the sale of drugs on their 
social media  

 33% had requests to send youth produced sexual imagery (Indecent images) 

 73% had seen fake news reports  
 
The Board heard that one of the outcomes of the project was the introduction from the UK 
Council of Internet Safety. The Department of Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) backed tool, 
UKCIS Digital Passport was a new innovative communication tool to help children and young 
people with care experience to explore their online lives and help keep them safe in online 
spaces (risks outside of the home).  
 
It has three parts which should all be used together: 

• Digital Passport: An introduction 
• Digital Passport: For adults and carers 

Page 9



15 February 2022 

• Digital Passport: For children and young people 
Talking regularly about their digital lives with a trusted adult is a key way to help keep children 
and young people safe online. The Passport provides structure and resources to support 
professionals in having those conversations. 
 
The Foster Carer survey has also been developed, and this project will continue with a survey 
for Foster Carers, Social Workers and Residential Workers.  
 
The survey will identify key skills gaps in their knowledge and their experiences of young 
people accessing online spaces in their care.  
 
This professionals survey was with the consultation portal and expected to be live by end of 
February 2022, the findings will also inform the final policy.   
 
Members were advised that the next update for the Board on Nominet would be in June/July 
2022. 
 
The Coordinator and Apprentice were thanked for their presentation. 
 
AGREED- That the project update be noted. 
 

21/8 PERFORMANCE AGAINST CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD STRATEGY 
 

 The Head of Looked after Children and Corporate Parenting was in attendance and provided 

the Board with information relating to the Corporate Parenting Board scorecard.  

 

The Head of Service advised that the scorecard was in place for the Corporate Parenting 
Board to see how our performance was progressing and have the opportunity to challenge. 
 
The main points to note were as follows: 
 
DEMAND-  In February 2021 there were 586 children looked after in the authority.  This has 
reduced to 500 at the end of January 2022. This has been a constant decrease. As of today 
(15 February 2022) Middlesbrough had 495 children looked after.  
 

 There has been a rapid reduction over the year demonstrating a decrease of 14.6% 
over the last 12 months and an overall 28.7% reduction since the height of 702 
children in September 2020.  For every 0.6 children entering care, one child exits 
care.  This ratio has been maintained for 7 months. 

 

 In February 2021 the gap between Middlesbrough’s rate of looked after children per 
10,000 of the children population and that of the region was 70.69.  This has 
consistently reduced over the last 12 months and is currently 42.93.   

 As of today Middlesbrough’s rate per 10,000 is 149.  Our statistical neighbor rate is 
that of 134.   

 
DEMAND- CASELOADS 

 Caseloads have consistently reduced since August 2021 and throughout the 
improvement journey.   

 Whilst the average per service area varies slightly, the average caseloads across 
Children’s social care is currently 16.7.  This will support the service to drive 
improvements in the quality of practice. 

 
Permanency 
 

 22 children ceased to be looked after in January 2022 (CHAT 07.02.22). 

 Of the children that ceased to become looked after they had spent an average of 104 
weeks in care. 

 This is a reduction from December 2021 where it took those children who had 
secured permanence longer. 

 

 Of the 22 children that ceased to be looked after: 
 4 were adopted 

Page 10



15 February 2022 

 6 SGO/Residence Orders 
 8 turned 18 years of age 
 3 returned to family 
 1 other  

 

 Children Placed with Parents - The number of children placed with a parent and 
subject to a Care Order has reduced significantly since February 2021.  There are 
currently 39 children placed with a parent.  This was a 60% overall reduction since the 
height on 99 children in September 2020.  This is supported with a plan which is 
reviewed.  

 Connected Carers –  There were currently 105 children in connected carers 
placements.  The overall numbers have reduced from 108 in December 2021. This 
has reduced from a height of 212 in 2020 (50.4%).  

 Adoption - The average number of days from entering care to being placed in an 
adoptive placement was 380.  This has reduced from a height of 558 days in 2019/20 
to 382 days in October 2021.  (Adoption Score Care data for Q2) 

 
PLACEMENT STABILITY 

 Less than 5% of the looked after population have experienced a placement 
breakdown in the last 12 months.   

 In January 2021, 9.8% of looked after children had experienced a placement break 
down in the last 12 months. 

 At the end of January 2022 – 37 children looked after by Middlesbrough had 
experience 3 or move placement moves in the last 12 months.  (7.4% of the children 
looked after population). This has been reduced from 127 in January 2021.  

 
Quality and Impact 
Visits 
94% of children were visited within January 2022 (2% decrease from last month) and 94% of 
children were seen by their social worker in January 2022 (2% decrease from last month).   
83% of looked after children have been seen alone. 
 
Supervision/Management Oversight 
94% of looked after children have had a supervision within the month of January 2022.   
This is a 2% decrease from last month.  This has been consistently high at over 90% for the 
last 12 months. 
 
Personal Education Plans 
Performance in relation to PEPs remains high at 98.9%.  This is a 0.7% increase from last 
month when 98.2% of children had a recorded PEP within the last 6 months.  This 
performance has remained consistently high for the last 12 months. 
 
 
 
 
Health Assessments 
92.4% of health checks have been conducted and recorded within the last 12 months.  This is 
an increase from 93.1% in December 2021.  Performance has been consistently high at over 
90% for the last 12 months. 
 
Dental checks – 66.8% of children overall have had a dental check in the last 12 months.  This 
has been a 1.5% decrease since last month.   
 
The Head of Service finally shared ‘what our children tell us’, from feedback, the children were 
asked to scale their lives between 1 and 4: 
 

 50% of children reported that things had improved for them by 4  
 25% of children reported that things had improved for them by 2  
 12.5% of children reported that things had improved for them by 1 
 12.5% of children reported that things had stayed the same  

 
Children views have been as follows: 
 
 ‘They take into account my thoughts and feelings’.  

Page 11



15 February 2022 

  
 ‘You do what you say you are going to do. Get things done quickly, I’m not waiting 
about for things to happen’.  
 
 ‘There’s not been no false promises.  So I feel good’. 
 
 
A Board Member made a query in relation to the caseload numbers and the reasons for this. 
In response, the Head of Service advised that the demand was still there but the quality of 
practice had improved, which meant children are moving through the system quicker and 
children are securing permanence in a more timely way. On top of this, the Council was 
working hard to recruit permeant staff and reduce agency staff. 
 
In terms of Corporate Parents, a Board member asked whether all members were invited to 
attend the meetings. The Democratic Services officer advised all meetings were live streamed 
and councilors were informed of meetings. The Chair also outlined that she was ensuring that 
more information sessions were organised for all councilors to inform them of their Corporate 
Parenting role and inform them of key areas. 
 
The Chair was very thankful for this positive report and thanked all the officers involved in 
getting this stage.  
 
AGREED- That the information be noted. 
 

21/9 ANY OTHER URGENT ITEMS WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIR, MAY BE 
CONSIDERED. 
 

21/10 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 ORDERED that the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on 
the grounds that, if present, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and that 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing 
the information. 
 

21/11 CHILDREN MISSING FROM CARE 
 

 The Risk and Reduction Manager provided the Board with a presentation in relation to 
children missing from Care. 
 
AGREED- That the information be noted. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 12



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

 

 

Permanence Action Plan 

 Highlight Report 

March 2022 
 

 

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

Corporate Parenting Board receive updates on a bi-monthly basis 
with the last update before Board in January 2022.  

1.0 Ofsted November 2019 
In November 2019 Ofsted reported that: 

 

 Middlesbrough has a particularly high rate of children in care against 
national comparators, and this level was increasing.  

 

 Children are experiencing longstanding neglect come into care too late, and 
decisions for them to do so are made in response to a crisis 

 
 There are serious delays in achieving permanence for most children in care. 

 
 Early permanence is not prioritised for children in Middlesbrough, and there 

is a lack of parallel planning, which creates delay in achieving stability. 
There are missed opportunities to place children early for fostering for 
adoption 

 
 Children subject to care orders have lived at home for several years, 

without timely and purposeful review of whether the Care Order is still 
required. 

 
 Children experience significant delay in securing permanence through 

adoption. 
 

 Too many changes in social workers also affect the quality of decision-
making because new workers do not know children well enough to be 
confident about the plans that are proposed and agree to changes at short 
notice. 

 
 When children’s placements become fragile, there is a lack of coordinated 

support for both children and their carers to prevent disruption. Some 
children, including very young children, have experienced too many 
changes in placement before their permanent placement is identified. 

 
 Family arrangements are pursued sequentially, and for too long, when 

children cannot live at home. 
 
 

Page 14



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

 

 There are delays in securing special guardianship orders for connected 
carers, although the support provided to many of these arrangements is 
good.  

 

 Insufficient attention is given to ensuring timely care planning, particularly 
for very young children.  

 
 Senior management panels and inconsistent legal advice provide insufficient 

scrutiny for understanding children’s experiences and to ensure that their 
needs are met in a timely way. 

 
 

2.0 Our Response 
 
The Corporate Parenting Strategy for Children and Young People in Middlesbrough 

was presented to and signed off by Corporate Parenting Board in December 2020. 
 
The strategy sets out our vision and action plan for how the Council and our 
partners will support children and young people who are in our care, and our care 
leavers, to achieve the best possible outcomes in their lives. Transforming our 
approach to corporate parenting. 
 
Our Permanency Action Plan for Children and Young People was developed in 
consultation with partners and is built around the six permanency priorities set out 
in our Corporate Parenting Strategy.  The action plan defines how Children’s Social 
Care will achieve the vision.  
 
Our Permanency Action Plan will be systematically reviewed and updated as 
actions are completed, towards achievement of the priority outcomes we have 
identified over the 3-year cycle of our plan.  
 
The overall responsible Council officer for the Permanency Action Plan for Children 
and Young People is the Director of Children’s Services (DCS). For each of the six 
priority themes, a senior Council officer has been delegated by the DCS as the 
accountable lead for maintaining an overview of the priorities set out in the action 
plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

 
Themes and Responsible Officers 
 
 

Theme 
Lead Accountable Officer 

 

 
1 
 

 
Strengthening Permanency in Our Social Work Practice 
 

 
Ben Short 
 

 
2 
 

 
Growing Our Multi-Agency Partnerships for Permanency 

 
Siobhan Davies 
 

 
3 
 

 
Reducing Drift and Delay for Achieving Permanency 
 

 
Paula Jemson 

 
4 
 

 
Strengthening the Voice of Children and Young People in Permanency 

 
Siobhan Davies 

 
5 

 

 
Improving the Way we Capture and Use Our Data for Permanency 

 
Paula Jemson 

 
6 
 

 
Supporting Permanency in Education, Employment & Training 
 

 
Victoria Banks and Paula Jemson 
 

 
 

3.0 Progress Against Each Theme  
 

Theme 1 - Strengthening Permanency in Our Social Work Practice 
  

 Permanency Pathway is in place and is regularly communicated to staff. 

 Legal Gateway Panel is embedded and work has been underway to 

strengthen the recording of management oversight and rationale to fully 

evidence decision making.  

 A Legal Gateway Tracker is in place to progress and track care 

proceedings. Regular analysis is undertaken to understand the trends. 

 Strengthening Practice are delivering a comprehensive Permanence 

training programme to the workforce. Some final sessions are yet to 

take place. Practice Leads will then support ongoing learning with staff.  

 Hot topic sessions continue to be scheduled to regularly update the staff 

on any developments with permanence work.  

 Berri has been commissioned to support children’s emotional health 

issues. It is an online assessment tool that will be used to inform 

assessments and care plans and will consider mental health, behaviour, 

emotional well-being, relationships, risk and attachment. Since February 

we have completed 81 Berri tools and are using the outcomes to 

support next steps for children.   

 Revised practice standards for Care Leavers have been launched within 

the Pathways Service.  

 A Workforce Recruitment Strategy is in place and recruitment of staff is 

ongoing with a new offer to experienced staff.  

Page 16



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

 We have recruited 3 permanent social workers to the CLA service who 

commence posts in April 2022.  

 There has been a full review of the CLA service by Audit to Excellence in 

January and February. This has evidenced significantly reduced levels of 

inadequacy and improved levels of good audits.  

 87.5% of children consulted in the audit process said their lives had got 

better as a result of having a social worker. 12.5% of children said their 

lives had stayed the same.  

 We are very excited about Practice Week 2022 (March 14th-18th). This 

will have a focus on language, communication and identity which will 

support our social workers practice around children who are care 

experienced.  

 

 

Theme 2 - Growing Our Multi-Agency Partnerships for Permanence 

 

 Permanence Monitoring Group continues to be well supported by Adoption 

Tees Valley and the IRO Service.  

 Strengthened reviewing processes and senior management oversight of the 

education of all looked after children continues to ensure that there is a 

reduction in fixed term exclusions, children accessing less than 25 hours of 

education and in unregistered educational provisions.  This includes the 

SEN team, the Virtual School, Inclusion team, Early Years and Primary 

Inclusion team. 

 North Yorkshire, as Partners in Practice have concluded the audit work in 

the fostering service and concluded that decision making in respect of Reg 

24 Connected Carers is strong.  

 A full review of all of the support offered to support children’s emotional 

health has been undertaken. It is clear that there is a wide range of 

services available through the child’s looked after plan, SEN and the Virtual 

School. Further work is required to develop the CAMHS offer to children in 

our care.  

 SEN Team are developing a performance scorecard to report to the Director 

of Children’s Care Quality and Performance Workshop on a monthly basis. 

 

Theme 3 – Reducing Drift and Delay for Achieving Permanence 

 

 Permanency Monitoring Group continues to be well embedded and 

supported by the Fostering team, Review and Development Unit and 

Adoption Tees Valley.  This is successfully tracking all children from Care 

Order to permanence and continues to support children to reach their 

forever home in a timely way.  

 The commissioned social work team remains in place to support children to 

achieve permanence in a timely manner.  The team also supports practice 

development across the service. 

Page 17



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

 

Theme 4 – Strengthening the Voice of Children and Young People in 

Permanence 

 

 We are in the process of commissioning ARC Box, an online platform for life 

story work which will enhance the quality of this work and allow access to 

all those who are important to the child to contribute. Corporate Parenting 

Board may wish to see a demo of this app at a future board.  

 Commissioned Service is in place to develop participation for looked after 

children and throughout the council – Participation People.  The team will 

consider how young people are involved in changes to policy and practice.  

 Recruitment for the Children in Care Council is ongoing. 

 A care experienced young person now attends Corporate Parenting Board 

 Care experienced young people delivered a workshop to Corporate 

Parenting Board regarding their journeys and experiences which was well 

received by Members.  

 A Care Leavers event was held in February which was very well attended by 

young people celebrated the achievements of the young people. This was 

attended by Cllr Hobson as Chair of the Corporate Parenting Board. The 

organisation of the event was supported by two care experienced young 

people.  

 A children in care residential event took place in early March which was a 

great success. This involved children from a number of different Local 

Authorities.  

 Evidence from January and February audit activity in the service 

demonstrated that direct work, life story work and/ or plans to progress this 

is increasingly evident on children’s records. Further work is required to 

ensure that what children are telling us is linked to assessments to inform 

decision making. Audit tells us that social workers and personal advisors 

know their children well.  

 

 

 

Theme 5 – Improving the way we use and Capture Data for Permanency 

 

 Performance report is delivered to each Corporate Parenting Board to 

ensure that there is rigorous oversight and challenge. 

 Permanence Tracker remains in place and is used to drive effective 

permanence planning.  

 Legal Tracker remains in place and is effectively used to track progression 

of all court cases.  

 LCS transformation programme is developing a pathway for Connected 

Carers and Special Guardianship Orders to allow for more sophisticated 

performance reporting, tracking and management oversight.   

Page 18



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

 Permanence dashboard and score card is in the process of being developed 

to ensure that that performance reporting is improved further 

 

 

Theme 6 – Supporting Permanence in Education, Employment and 

Training 

 

 Virtual School and Social Care delivered joint Hot Topic sessions to staff in 

October 2021 regarding joint working and the effective use of Personal 

Education Plans.   

 Annual training plan for Designated Teachers  

 Strengthened joint working with the Virtual School has led to weekly 

reviews of children absent from school alongside health and social care. 

 National Association of Virtual School Heads (NAVSH) Virtual School peer 

review September 2021.  An action plan is in place to take forward learning 

and improvements. 

 University mentor Scheme commenced this term and provides support from 

university students for year 10 and year 11 children in our care.  To 

improve educational outcomes and raise aspirations for our young people 

 DFE post 16 pilot commenced and is in place from September 2021 to 

March 2022. We successfully made a bid for additional funding to support 

post 16 outcomes. 

 NEET PEPs. NEET PEPs were introduced in September 2021 to provide 

more focussed support for those who are not in education, employment or 

training or at risk of falling in to this category 

 NEET task and finish group continues 

 NEET Clinic remains in place, is held monthly and is supported by YOS, 

Virtual School, SEND, Work Readiness, Thirteen Housing and some local 

providers 

 Virtual School Annual conference took place on 11 February 2022 

  Designated Teachers handbook was published on 11 February 2022 

 Carer and adoptive parent handbook has been published and is in place to 

support carers and adopters to meet the educational needs of the children 

they care for 

 A process sis now in place to fast track EHCP assessment for children in 

care  

 The Virtual School has strong links with schools through Designated 

Teacher Networks 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

4.0 Impact/Performance/Data 
 
 

 Overall in the lasts 12 months, the looked after populations has reduced 
from 586 children in February 2021 to 503 in February 2022 (14% 
reduction).  There has been a 28.3% reduction in the overall numbers of 
looked after children since the height of 702 in September 2020.   

 
 The rate per 10,000 has reduced from 176.9 in February 2021 to 151.8 in 

February 2022.  The gap is closing on our statistical neighbour position 
(134.4) 
 
 

 Since 01 April 2021 24 Adoption Orders have been secured.  This includes: 
- 4 children of BAME 
- 4 sibling groups of 2 
- 2 aged 4+ 
- 1 child with significant health needs 

 
 There are currently a further 36 children progressing to adoption with 

Placement Orders.  Of which only 1 child does not have a confirmed link.  
 

 There has been a total of 64 children secure permanence through the 
granting of a Special Guardianship Orders in the last 12 months.    

 
 Connected Carers – There are currently 109 children in connected carers 

placements.  This has reduced from a height of 212 in 2020.  
 

 Placement with Parents – There are currently 41 children placed with 
parents.  This has reduced from 52 children in October 2021 and from a 
height of 99 children in September 2020 to 58 in August 2021.  (58.5% 
reduction) 

 
 There have been no looked after children permanently excluded from 

school in the last 5 years. 
 

 There has been a 128% reduction in school suspension from 2019/20 to 
2021/22 

 
 Only 1.7% of looked after children are receiving less than 25 hours 

education (9 children).  Of which there is an action plan and oversight from 
Virtual School with regards to each child.   

 
 
 

5.0  Risks 

Page 20



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

 

 The increase in demand across the service and across the tees valley region 
 Risks associated with the recruitment of staff in the looked after and care 

leaving service. 
 
 
 
 
 

6.0 Next Steps 
 

 Life Story Work compliance and quality to continue be driven 

 Progress the commissioning of Arcbox to support the quality of Life Story 
Work  

 The ongoing reduction and tracking of the number of children residing in 
external residential placements 

 Progress the Permanence Action Plan and report to Improvement Board 
and Corporate Parenting Board 

 Practice leads deployed in to the service to improve the quality of care 
plans for looked after children 

 Participation People to develop attendance and provide Corporate Parenting 
Board with a proposed plan for the Children in Care Council. 

 Recruitment of permanent staff 
 Practice Week in March 2022 to support staff development 
 

 

 

Owner – Rachel Farnham, Middlesbrough Council, Director of Children’s 

Social Care 

Author – Paula Jemson, Head of Service for Looked After Children and 

Corporate Parenting 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

 

Sufficiency Action Plan 

 Highlight Report 

March 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

1.0 Our Response 
 
The Corporate Parenting Strategy for Children and Young People in Middlesbrough 

was presented to and signed off by Corporate Parenting Board in December 2020. 
 
The strategy sets out our vision and action plan for how the Council and our 
partners will support children and young people who are in our care, and our care 
leavers, to achieve the best possible outcomes in their lives. Transforming our 
approach to corporate parenting. 
 
Our Sufficiency Action Plan was developed in consultation and is built around the 
priorities set out in our Corporate Parenting Strategy.  The action plan sets out 
actions we feel need to be undertaken in order to better meet our needs.  
 
Our Sufficiency Action Plan will be reviewed and updated as actions are completed 
or as new work is identified in the event of any changes to our sufficiency needs 
over the 3-year cycle of our plan.  
 
The overall responsible Council officer for the Sufficiency Action Plan for Children 
and Young People is the Director of Children’s Services (DCS). For each of the six 
priority themes, senior Council officers have been delegated by the DCS as the 
accountable lead for maintaining an overview of the priorities set out in the action 
plan. 
 
Themes and Responsible Officers 
 

Theme 
Lead Accountable Officer 

 

 
1 
 

 
Strengthening Commissioning For Children & Young People 
 

Head of Service Futures for Families  
Specialist Commissioning & Procurement 
Senior Manager 

 
2 
 

 
Increasing Placements Close to where Children & Young People Live and 
Learn 

Head of Service Future for Families 
Specialist Commissioning & Procurement 
Senior Manager 

 
3 
 

 
Growing Early Intervention & Prevention 
 

Head of Prevention 
Specialist Commissioning & Procurement 
Senior Manager 

 
4 
 

 
Improving Placements & Support for Care Leavers 

Head of Service Children Looked After 
Specialist Commissioning & Procurement 
Senior Manager 

 
5 

 

 
Enhancing Learning Outcomes for Children & Young People 

Virtual Head 
Specialist Commissioning & Procurement 
Senior Manager 

 
6 
 

 
Building Our Fostering Capacity and Adoption Outcomes 
 

Head of Service Future for Families  
Specialist Commissioning & Procurement 
Senior Manager 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

2.0 Progress against Each Theme  
 

The Commissioning Action Plan has been reviewed and updated in November 
2021. 
 

Theme 1 - Strengthening Commissioning for Children and Young People 
  

 A Market Engagement Plan is now due to be presented at Children’s DMT in 

April 2022. 

 

Theme 2 – Increasing Placements Close to where Children and Young 

People live and learn 

 

 The regional framework for fostering tender has been published and will 

close on 28th March 2022.  Following this the regional evaluation panel will 

evaluate all tenders and award for the new framework to be live on 1st July 

2022. 

 Work continues with the region to understand and identify any 

opportunities for collaboration and the impending set up of a regional 

commissioning hub. 

 

Theme 3 – Growing Early Intervention & Prevention  

 

 PAUSE has been extended and it now includes a Start Well Worker who will 

work specifically with women who are pregnant and will be part of our pre- 

birth forum.   

 

Theme 4 – Improving Placements & Support for Care Leavers 

 

 Contract monitoring visits of all unregulated placements has been carried 

out and will be reviewed again in 6 months’ time. 

 NYAS have been commissioned to undertake visits for these placements in 

order to strengthen the voice of the child and also provide further 

assurance around quality until the provision becomes regulated. 

 A regional meeting with OfSTED was held to discuss the upcoming changes 

for unregulated provision to become regulated and what support the 

market will need.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

Theme 5 – Enhancing Learning Outcomes for Children & Young  People  

 

 Virtual School attend all PEPs  to support early identification of SEND and to 

prevent suspension  

 Joint working with the inclusion team to help schools to support CLA SEND 

effectively  

 

Theme 6 – Building Our Fostering Capacity and Adoption Outcomes 

 

 An internal recruitment campaign has been undertaken to secure new 

carers. 

 

3.0 Impact/Performance/Data 
 

 Weekly reporting on all residential placements activity continues and is 
providing greater level of data on placement changes and needs. 
 
 

 

5.0  Risks 
 

 Staffing levels in all provisions continues to be challenging but this is being 
monitored and in the event that issues are identified we will work closely 
with providers and the service area to provide as much support and 
resilience as possible. 
 
 

6.0 Next Steps 
 

 Undertake a refresh of the Action Plan at the April 2022 meeting in order to 
ensure we have all actions included 

 Ensure change controls are secured where any changes to deadlines are 
identified. 

 
 

 

Owner – Rachel Farnham, Middlesbrough Council, Director of Children’s 

Social Care 

Author – Claire Walker, Specialist Commissioning & Procurement Senior 

Manager  

Page 26



 

1 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Adoption Tees Valley 

Bi-Annual Report 2021-2022  

1.4.21-30.9.21 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transform a child’s life… 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



 

2 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 

Index  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Glossary 
ADM- agency decision maker  

PO- Placement order  

RAA- Regional Adoption Agency  

VAA- Voluntary Adoption Agency 

  

Page   

3 Introduction  

3 National Context of Adoption   

4 Flexibilities under Amended Regulations    

4 

6 

Performance Information  

Analysis of Performance  

 

 

9 

9 

11 

12 

Review of Adoption Tees Valley  

Key Findings 

Recommendations  

Strategic Priorities of the Board   

 

13 Recruitment, assessment and Approval of 

Adopters  

 

 Panel   

16 

16 

16 

17 

18 

19 

Children Referred, Matched and Placed  

Early Notifications  

Placements  

Placements by local Authority  

Adoption orders granted by Local Authority 

Characteristics of children matched and 

placed   

 

20 Disruptions   

20 Life Story Books   

21 

21 

22 

22 

23 

Adoption Support 

Adoption Support Referrals and Placements  

Therapeutic Parenting  

Education Support  

Access to Records and Birth parent Support  

 

23 Children’s Voice and Views   

24 

24 

Quality Assurance  

Case Practice Audits  

 

26 

26 

27 

Finance  

Half Year financial position  

Interagency Fees  

 

28 Development Plans ATV   

   

Page 28



 

3 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Adoption Tees Valley 

Bi-Annual Report 2021-22    

Period- 1.4.21-30.9.21 

1. Introduction  

This report will provide information on the work of Adoption Tees Valley for the 

period of 1.4.21-30.9.21. Adoption Tees Valley (ATV) is the Regional Adoption 

Agency for the 5 Local Authorities of Darlington, Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, 

Redcar and Cleveland, and Stockton.  

The report will focus on the key matters for the first period of 2021-22. The full 

year progress in all areas of the Adoption Agency was last reported in the 

Annual Report for 2020-21, and will be reported on again, in the full year 

Annual Report for this current year- 2021-22.  

2. National Context of Adoption  

The National Adoption Strategy, Achieving Excellence Everywhere, was 

published in July 2021. This set out the government agenda for continued 

priority areas for adoption development and highlighted the support that will 

be provided to the RAA Leaders Group to drive progress.  

Key priorities for the government set out in the strategy are:  

 Recovery from covid, and learning from practice during the pandemic 

 Recruiting adopters for priority children- those who wait the longest  

 Finding families for children, not children for families  

 A seamless approval process for all adoptive families  

 Including the voice of adopted children in shaping services  

 Matching children with adopters  

 More use of early permanence  

 Post adoption support- ensuring families have access to early 

mainstream help and support and more specialist support at the time 

they need it, across social care, education and health.  

ATV has been engaged and involved in the national agenda- through 

contribution at leadership level to the RAA priority workstreams, and through 

development planning, which is reflective of the national and regional 

priorities, as set out.  

This Bi-Annual report will also show the outcome of the Review of ATV, 

undertaken on behalf of, and involving the Board of ATV, and which resulted 

in setting strategic priorities for Adoption Tees Valley, in the context of the 

National Adoption Strategy.   

 

Page 29



 

4 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

3. Flexibilities  

ATV has not used any of the former flexibilities permitted under the Adoption 

and Coronavirus (Amendment) Regulations (2020), however has used the 

flexibilities permitted until 30.9.21 on 6 occasions.  

These relate to the agency determining that adopters may enter stage 2 of 

the assessment, without the Adult Health report having been received within 

the timeframe of stage 1. Adopters were made aware that they would not 

have the right to access the IRM if the agency went on to end the 

assessment, based on information arising from the adult health checks and 

Medical Advisor advice to the agency.  

All adoptive parents who were required to do so by regulation had adoption 

medicals, which were considered by the Agency Medical Advisor, prior to 

consideration by the Adoption Panel, and approval.  

 

4. Adoption Activity and Performance Information  

ATV manages and monitors adoption activity and performance, to review 

how the service is doing for children and families on key performance 

indicators, against previous regional performance, and against the national 

adoption picture.  

The scorecard which has been recently updated, provides detailed 

information in relation to each of the 5 LA’s performance in adoption activity, 

in addition to the overall ATV performance, combining all 5 LA’s.  

In looking at performance, it’s important to have some understanding of 

factors that underpin overall adoption performance, and the timescale in 

relation to each individual child. What is crucial for children is that the 

adoptive family who will go on to adopt them, is well prepared and 

supported to take the child. It’s also very important that all other potential 

birth family and kinship options have been thoroughly explored. Where 

permanence can be provided within the family, or kinship network, this is 

almost always the selected option for the child. When children are older, or 

require adoption alongside their brothers or sisters, or when they have 

additional needs, its essential to prepare children well for moving into their 

new family.  

What influences performance?  

Timescales for children in being adopted are influenced by:  

 Care planning and timely decision making in the LA 

 Preparation of children for adoption 

Page 30



 

5 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Availability of adopters who are suitable to take the child, and can 

meet their care plan 

Fig.1  

ATV Performance data, 1.4.21-30.9.21, compared with the same period in 

2020-21, and full year 2020-21.  

Children 

 ATV  

1.4.20-

30.9.20  

ATV 2020-

21 

ATV  

1.4-

30.9.2021  

Direction c/w 

ATV end of 

Q2 2020 

Adoption 

Orders  

39 89 46 ↑ Inc  

18% 

Placements  37 82 56 ↑ Inc  

51% 

PO’s 21 76 41 ↑ Inc  

100% 

ADM BID’s  39 99 39 Same 

level  

Early 

Permanence  

X 17 5 Measure 

not the 

same at 

Q2 2020  

A10  
(Entering care to 

moving in with 

adopters) - days 

X 410 420 A10 not 

measured 

in 2020  

A2 

(PO to match)  

239 238 204 ↓ Dec  

14% 

Rate of 

leaving care 

by AO 

15% 12% 11% ↓ Dec  

4 % 

 
From ATV Q2 Scorecard, taken from ASGLB returns.  

X indicates data not available, or not meaningful in this report  

Adopters  

 ATV  

1.4.20-

30.9.20 

ATV 

2020-21 

ATV  

1.4-

30.9.2021 

Direction c/w 

ATV end of 

Q2 2020 

Approvals  26 62 24 ↓ Dec  

7% 

Numbers in 

assessment- 

end of 

period 

41 40 34 ↓ Dec  

17% 

Stage 1 starts 27 63   23 ↓ Dec  

Page 31



 

6 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 ATV  

1.4.20-

30.9.20 

ATV 

2020-21 

ATV  

1.4-

30.9.2021 

Direction c/w 

ATV end of 

Q2 2020 

 15% 

 

Stage 2 starts 24 62  21 ↓ Dec  

12% 

  

Fastrack  x 12 4 X 

Waiting to 

be matched 

at end of 

period 

15 36 21 ↑ Inc  

64% 

Waited more 

than 3 

months to be 

matched 

36% 54% 66% ↑ Inc  

 

Approval to 

match 

timescale 
(Previous 12 

months)  
Days   

X 129  165 ↑ Inc  

 
(Below 

England 

target and 

England 

average)  

Approval 

timescale 
days 

 217 226 ↑ Inc  

 

Stage 1 
(Previous 12 

months)  
days   

X 93  97  ↑ Inc  

 

Stage 2  
(Previous 12 

months)  
Days   

X 127 134 ↑ Inc  

 

 

From ATV Q4 Scorecard, taken from ASGLB returns, England Data from ASGLB Q4 2020-21 

X indicates data not available, or not meaningful in this report  

 

4.1Analysis of Performance Information  

The numbers of children adopted, and the numbers of children placed for 

adoption has risen significantly compared with the same period last year, 

and when taken in comparison with previous years of adoption activity since 

ATV started. A notable feature of Adoption orders granted, by Local 

Authority, is the rise in the rate of AO in Middlesbrough, and a reduction in 

Redcar and Cleveland. Detailed Local Authority data is provided on P  

Page 32



 

7 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

ATV data is against a national picture of declining numbers of adoptions 

orders granted, across England.  

The question is why this regional picture is showing more adoptions and more 

placements for adoption, while nationally there is a different picture.  

In this region, ATV have worked closely with the 5 LAs to continue adoption 

activity through the pandemic, in a safe, but active way. The Teesside Courts 

have worked in a planned and organised way, and with ATV, to manage 

adoption hearings, ensuring that adoption orders are granted, and children 

are formally adopted into their new families. This picture is not universal across 

England, and local timeliness of progressing adoption hearings may account 

for the high number of orders granted in this year to date.  

(Published information in the period beyond this report is indicating that 

adoption order numbers are rising across England in Quarter 3).  

The Local Authorities of Tees Valley have continued to experience higher 

numbers of looked after children, and this will have an impact on adoption 

numbers overall. ATV and partner local authorities have continued to work 

closely together to ensure that family finding is timely, and adoptive families 

are found for children who have an adoption plan. Deeper investigation into 

adoption activity shows that almost all of the adopters approved for ATV go 

on to adopt Tees Valley children, and that where ATV does not have a 

suitable family internally, our developed local sufficiency relationships with 

regional Voluntary Adoption Agencies are being well used to place children 

within the North East region, and more quickly. From information analysed for 

the purposes of the ATV Review (see later section) it’s clear that ATV are 

placing more older children and more siblings together, and so are being 

effective in enabling a greater number of children to be placed for 

adoption, who may otherwise have remained in long term foster care.  

Placement Orders granted have also risen significantly, compared with the 

same period last year, although in 2020 the Courts were experiencing the 

early months of the pandemic, and POs were delayed at that time. However, 

adoption activity is continuing to be high, and this is evident in 4 of the 5 LA’s, 

in this first period of the year. (See later section for more detailed breakdown 

by Local Authority). Agency Decisions that adoption is the Local Authority 

plan (ADM) have remained the same, indicating that at the end of Q2 

adoption activity was plateauing. However, activity since the end of Q2 has 

identified that there are again a high number of children being progressed 

with a permanence plan of adoption in Tees Valley. Activity across the year 

will be reported on in the full annual report.  

Early permanence (EP) placements have reduced in this period, compared 

with overall numbers in the previous year. In 2020-21 the agency provided a 

high focus on EP. There has now been experience of a small number of 

Page 33



 

8 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

children who have returned to birth family following placement with 

prospective adopters, approved as temporary foster carers, and the agency 

is experiencing a reduction in carers who wish to undertake EP at this point. 

Further national and regional strategic work is underway, to develop and 

enhance early permanence as an option for children- see later section.  

The overall timeliness for children from entering care to moving in with 

adopters has risen slightly in this period, although we know this data is skewed 

by a very small number of children who have had a lengthy wait but are now 

adopted. Timescales for PO to match have reduced in this period, which is 

encouraging, and has been an area of operational focus. National data 

published by ASGLB shows ATV to be reducing the time between PO and 

match, with an average of 149 days for children who have been matched in 

the last 12 months, compared with 193 days as an all England average.  

ATV has seen a reduction in the numbers of adopters approved overall in this 

period compared with previous year. There have been 24 approvals in the 

period, compared with 26 last year. Numbers in the assessment process have 

also dropped with 34 not yet approved at the end of September 2021, 

compared with 41 at the same time in the previous year.  

There have been a number of assessments which have not progressed to 

approval, and analysis shows that during the pandemic, while a higher 

number of people approached to be considered to be adopters, the 

withdrawal rate was higher, with some applicants being not ready or suitable 

to adopt. This factor has been seen more widely across RAA’s nationally, and 

also locally across Fostering Services.  

Timescales for assessment have increased on average. Timescales for 

Adopter Medicals have impacted on the timeliness of approvals.  

The service is addressing challenges, through strategic links with health, and 

the Safeguarding GP’s. However, delays do remain, and some GP surgeries 

continue to prove difficult to resolve these issues with.  

Key successes:  

 High numbers of children adopted 

 High numbers of children placed for permanence via adoption  

 Timeliness of placing children for adoption is improving overall  

 Numbers of children waiting at any point in time who do not have a 

link is low. Children move on, and families are found  

Challenges:  

 Sufficiency of internal adopters continues to be a challenge, during this 

period.  

Page 34



 

9 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Early permanence placement sufficiency is, and will continue to be a 

challenge for the next 12 month period 

 The children most likely to wait longest are those who are in a sibling 

group, and where one child is over the age of 5.  

 

5. Review of Adoption Tees Valley  

Adoption Tees Valley achieved the 3 year point within this period, having 

commenced as the RAA in May 2018.  

In line with the original business case, a review of ATV has been undertaken, 

led by a senior manager, independent of ATV, and who was located within 

Stockton BC (SBC) Transformation Team. The period of activity reviewed was 

1.4.2018- 31.3.2021  

The ATV review has been supported by the ATV Service Manager, and by 

data analysis provided through SBC.  

Surveys were undertaken with adoptive parents, staff in the team, and 

Adoption lead officers in each of the 5 Local Authorities.  

A Focus group was held with ATV Board, independently facilitated by a 

consultant with experience of regionalisation of adoption.  

The terms of reference for the review were agreed by the ATV Board and 

centred around the original objectives set out in the full business case 

presented to the 5 Councils for agreement.  

Objectives reviewed:  

 Objective 1 is to “deliver better outcomes for children”  

 Objective 2 is “deliver improved value for money”  

 Objective 3 is “establish a strong and sustainable service”  

 Objective 4 is “ease of implementation for the new partnership”  

 

5.1 Key Findings 

 More children have been adopted from care over the period since 

regionalisation, than in the 3 years prior to regionalisation. Up 20% since 

the RAA has been in place.  

 More children in harder to place categories have been adopted from 

care, including a significant rise in siblings placed together, and 

children aged 5+. A broader range of children have been adopted.  

 Overall timescales have not decreased, in placing children for 

adoption, as measured by the time from entering care to being 

placed for adoption (A1). Significant variation occurs across different 

Local Authorities, and improvements have been seen in Stockton, 

Page 35



 

10 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Hartlepool, and Darlington over the 3 year period, while there has 

been an increase in timescales for Redcar and Cleveland, and 

Middlesbrough. The report considered the details of all adoptions, and 

noted many children are achieving adoption well within nationally 

expected timescales and being placed in a timely way following the 

Placement Order.  

 The new scorecard indicator, which adjusts for children who have 

gone on to be adopted by their foster carer (A10) shows an overall 

decrease in timescales over the period, although an increase in 

timescale for Redcar and Cleveland, and Middlesbrough. The ATV 

timescale for this indicator is below national average.  

 Placement Order to matching timescales have increased as a whole 

with only Middlesbrough showing improvement as time has progressed.  

 ATV has increased the number of adopters approved and available for 

Tees Valley children.  

 The matching timescale for adopters following approval is well below 

national average, showing ATV adopters are being used quickly, for 

the children requiring placement. This means ATV is recruiting the right 

adopters for the children it needs to place.  

 A sufficiency strategy with regional VAA’s supports placement activity 

for children, especially harder to place children.  

 More adoptions have been achieved on the same staffing resources 

as set out in the original plan.  

 The interagency expenditure has increased year on year, with children 

being placed with VAA adopters.  

 Comparatively, ATV provides good value for money when compared 

with other RAA’s. The unit cost of adoption is around £4000 less per 

adoption than the average RAA costs, on those agencies where 

information is published.  

 ATV spends proportionately more on interagency placements per unit 

cost of adoption, than average RAA costs.  

 The RAA has staffed an adoption support service and is drawing 

significantly more from the Adoption Support Fund than was previously 

the case. The proportion of draw down from ASF by ATV has increased, 

compared with the national picture, indicating that ATV is operating a 

best value approach in respect of access to external funding.  

 Adoptive parents are overall satisfied and talk positively about the 

service they receive from ATV. Areas for improvement are life story 

work, letterbox support, and waiting times for adoption support 

assessments. The welcome, preparation and assessment were very 

positively commented upon.  

 Staff are positive about the service, and the culture. They have the 

opportunity to develop positive practice. However, work pressures 

were noted.  

Page 36



 

11 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

5.2 Recommendations from the review:  

 Continue to review practice which underpins the PO to match 

timescale.  

This is underway.  

Adoption Champions have been identified within each LA to promote 

adoption, and care planning.  

The service is working with partner LA’s to strengthen working together, 

train staff, and strengthen practice around early planning for 

permanence.  

Strategic work on information Sharing protocols have been 

completed, and ATV is now working closely with all LA’s and VAA’s on 

early permanence and finding the right match, pre PO, which will be 

progressed once Court Authority to place for adoption is achieved.  

Early permanence continues to be an area for development, and 

national funding has been secured for an EP co-ordinator in this 

region.  

 Children’s diversity should be an area for continued development, and 

more welcome to minority ethnic adopters.  

A senior social worker in ATV has been allocated to lead on this area 

of development, to seek to secure more adopters in minority ethnic 

groups.  

 Work with adopted children should be developed further so their views 

and experiences can shape future service planning 

Children and young people have been working on a film to share their 

views about education. A young people’s worker is a new investment 

in ATV, to provide dedicated time to develop participation, and 

inclusion for children and young people.  

 Areas for strengthening support have been identified in the review  

More resource for letterbox arrangements have been put in place, 

and a senior social worker has been allocated to lead and oversee 

this area. Life story work has been re-designated back to the 

responsibility of the children’s social workers and is now being 

undertaken in LA’s. Young, adopted people influenced this practice 

with their voice on life story work.  

 Review percentage contributions from LA’s  

Net contributions from each partner local Authority have been 

reviewed taking account of adoption activity in the 3 year period. 

Adjusted contributions have now been put in place and agreed with 

Directors of Finance.  

 Review factors impacting on Interagency costs 

Page 37



 

12 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

A business case for investment has been presented to the ATV board, 

and Directors of Finance, for further investment, targeted at reducing 

interagency costs, and securing more internal adopters.  

 The Board considered recommendations on governance.  

A strategic plan, with strategic priorities has been set by the Board, 

taking into account the National Adoption Strategy.  

Greater focus on the objectives, aligned to the Strategic Priorities have 

been undertaken, and a set of measures agreed, which will be 

measured and reported on in the new and updated balanced 

scorecard.  

The Board considered ongoing discussion on “strong and Sustainable” 

services, and what this means, for key stakeholders, including Elected 

members.  

An options appraisal is to be developed to consider how ATV creates 

closer working relationships with key stakeholders.  

A review of the interrelationship between Board and Adoption Lead 

Officers has been started.  

A review of what further financial information is required, to provide 

good governance and oversight of the RAA, has been considered.  

Following Review and further discussions at Board, arising from the Board 

Focus group, strategic priorities were set as set out in figure 2.  

 

Figure2.  

Strategic Priorities of the Board 2021-23 

 

Overarching principles governing the strategic direction of Adoption Tees Valley  

 To be ambitious that more children can achieve secure attachment to 

adoptive parents, and a good understanding of their early lives, to provide 

the best foundation for mental wellbeing, and lifelong connections with 

family.   

 To have an excellent integrated adoption service between Local 

Authorities and ATV, ensuring a shared understanding of adoption practice, 

and timely planning for permanence for children  

 To listen to the experiences and views of adoptive parents, and 

children/young people, to have a service informed and improved by the 

lived experience of those we work with.  

 To provide a service that is creates value for money by targeting best use of 

financial resources, to create maximum impact for children and families.  

 

Priority 1 

Timely Permanence for Children with an Adoption Plan  

 To reduce the time that children wait before moving in with their adoptive 

family 

 To have sufficiency of adoptive families suitable for the children who 

require adoption in Tees Valley  

Page 38



 

13 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 To aim for an identified family prior to PO, and to reduce Matching 

timescales, through timely care planning, integrated working and timely 

decision making.  

 

Priority 2  

Early Permanence for More Children  

 More use of Fostering for Adoption and Concurrent Planning, through early 

care planning and assessment, and involving birth family 

 More training and support for prospective adoptive parents who offer EP 

 Through the above, enabling earlier secure attachment to permanent 

families, and reducing moves in care 

 

Priority 3  

Adoption Support Throughout the Child and Family’s life journey  

 Good preparation of children for adoption 

 Commencement of life story work from the start of care planning for 

permanence  

 The right supports identified before matching, enabling the right adoption 

support plan for every child and family  

 Smart commissioning, and collaborating for the right adoption support 

services for children and families, before and beyond adoption order  

 Timely adoption support assessment and access to the right adoption 

supports across multi-agency partners 

 

 

 

6. Recruitment, Assessment, Preparation and Approval of Adopters  

The agency has continued to actively promote the need for adoptive 

parents, through social media and dedicated marketing campaigns.  

ATV worked with the national adopter campaign in National Adoption Week, 

which fell just outside of this time period.  

A summer campaign for more adopters was implemented, focussing on 

children waiting.  

The performance information in section XXX above highlights a downturn in 

numbers of adopters in assessment during this period, and evaluation is that 

this is a similar trend seen across other RAA’s, with the pandemic being seen 

to be coming to an end.  

In this period 3 Preparation Groups were held, which involved 21 families.  

These included:  

17 heterosexual couples  

2 single applicants  

Page 39



 

14 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

2 same sex couples  

1 couple of ethnic minority heritage, and 1 single ethnic minority applicant.   

Additionally, there have been 4 Family and Friends preparation sessions, with 

22 members of prospective adopters’ network attending these.  

There were 24 adoptive families approved in this period.  

 4 families were approved to take siblings, with the remaining families 

being approved for 1 child  

 16 heterosexual couples  

 4 same sex couples  

 4 single applicants  

 2 families were approved with consideration for early permanence  

 3 were foster carers for the child, going on to adopt 

 3 were second time adopters  

 1 was a connected carer of the child’s family, going on to adopt  

 In this period all applicants approved were of white British ethnicity.  

 

7. Adoption Panel  

The Panel Chair has provided a report which has been presented to the ATV 

Board as required under NMS 25.  

 

Number of panel 
meetings held 

28 

Chair  Jenny 
Parkin 

Sue Holton Liz Talbot Jenny Fagan   

11 8 6 3 

Cases per panel  

I case 2 2 cases 10 3 cases  14 

4 cases – 1 

Matches  

Total number of 
Matching Cases  

48 

Total number of 
Children matched 

55 

Total cases where 
match recommended  

48 

Number of cases where 
match not 
recommended 

0 

Number Internal 
Matches 
(cases)  

38 Number External Matches  
(cases) 

10 

Internal Matches 
(Children)  

43 External matches  
(Children)  

12 

Page 40



 

15 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Total Children where 
Early Permanence 
placement prior to 
match 

9 

Relinquished Children  0 

Matching Timescales (Children) -Placement Order to Matching Panel   

Up to 4 Months  4-6 Months  6-12 Months  12 Months + 

38 6 10 1 

Approvals  

Total Number Households Approved 22 

 

First Time Approvals  15 

Fast Track – second + time adopters 5 

Fast track – Foster Carers  2 

Approvals where early permanence 
Recommended  

2 

Cases where approval not 
recommended  

0 

Reviews of Approval Presented  0 

Recommendations for Withdrawal of 
Approvals (no longer suitable) 
presented  

1 

Disruptions Presented  

Numbers of Disruptions of child’s 
placement presented, pre- Adoption 
Order  

0 

 

Timescales- Cases presented to Panel  

Number of First time Approvals 
concluded ROI to ADM in 6 months  

7 

Number of First time Approvals 
concluded ROI to ADM in 6-7 months 

3  

Number of First time Approvals 
concluded ROI to ADM in over 7 
months 

5 

Number of Fast Track Approvals 
concluded ROI to ADM in 4 months 

0 

Number of Fast track Approvals 
concluded ROI to ADM in 4-5 months 

0 

Number of Fast Track Approvals 
concluded ROI to ADM in over 5 
months 

7 

% Regular Approvals In timescale  46% 

% Fast Track Approvals in Timescale 0% 

 

Covid 19 Specific Matters  
Amended Regulations have been in place permitting flexibilities in the Adoption Regulations, including Panel 
business. This information is presented, to cover specifically information on use of Covid flexibilities 

Page 41



 

16 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Number of cases where reduced 
quoracy flexibilities were used 

0 

Number of cases where ADM made 
without presentation to Panel  

0 

Number of Virtual Panels  28 

Number of panels where no Medical 
Advisor Present at panel  

9- all were additional panels 

Panel Chairs further comments on panel business through Covid 
Comments on challenges and strengths/areas of good practice  

 
Virtual panels have continued through the period successfully. No concerns 
received from members of the central list. 
There are still a few technical glitches, but these are manageable and don’t disrupt 
the flow. 
 

 

 

 

Panel Chairs’ comments on Central List Issues  
 

The panel members wanted to express their thanks to Sue Holton for her skilled 
chairing and continued commitment to ATV for the first three years of the ATV 
Central list. She will be greatly missed. 
 
Likewise, a number of other central list members left during the period and the 
members wished to express their thanks to them also, particularly to Liz Talbot, a 
vice chair. 
 
However, a number of new members joined during the year, bringing greater 
diversity to the central list. This is very positive. 
 
Lastly, a very big welcome to thew independent panel chair, Karen Simmons. 
 
 

 

 

8. Children Referred, Matched and Placed 

 

8.1 Early Notifications to ATV 

 Q1&Q2 

 

Q3 &Q4  Full 

Year  

 

Early Notifications 

2019-20 

88 76 164  

Page 42



 

17 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Early Notifications 

2020-21 

98 97 195 19% 

increase  

Early Notifications  

2021-22 

77   21% 

decrease 

 

Referrals by Local Authority, in the period  

Year DBC HBC MBC R&CBC SBC TV 

2021-22 9 3 28 17 20 77 

 

8.2 Placements  

 2019-20 

Full Year  

 

2020-21: 

April-

September 

2020-21  

Full Year  

2021-22 

April- 

September 
ATV children 

placed with 

ATV adopters 

60 27 52 44 

ATV Children 

placed with 

external 

adopters 

31 18 30 12 

External 

children 

placed with 

ATV adopters  

2 1 2 0 

Total ATV 

children 

placed  

91 45 82 56 

Total 

placements  

93 46 84 56 

 

8.3 Placements by Local Authority  

Last column is Q1&2 

86

61

91
82

56

0

20

40

60

80

100

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22*

TV number of adoptive placements by year

Page 43



 

18 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Last column is Q1&2 

 

Placement activity has risen in the first half of this year, compared with the 

same period last year. In the year 2020-21 adoption had faced a period of 

temporary suspension of placing children, during Q1, when the pandemic first 

started. Adoption activity was reactivated quickly, and all children with an 

adoption plan were progressed, with family finding and placement activity 

being active throughout the final 3 quarters of 2020-21.  

The data for this period- Q1 and Q2 2021-22 shows a significant rise in 

placement activity, although Placement Orders have remained the same, 

and ADM decisions that adoption is the Local Authority plan have slowed.  

Hartlepool, Redcar and Cleveland, Middlesbrough and Stockton all show 

higher rates of placement activity than in the previous year. In this period 

Darlington have lower rates of placement activity.  

Middlesbrough’s care planning for adoption has been a focus for 

improvement as part of the LA Improvement plan, and the outcomes are 

beginning to be evident in increased numbers of children coming to be 

adopted, in a timely way.  

The data shows a higher rate of placement with ATV approved adopters.  

44 children have been placed with internally approved adopters, compared 

with 27 in the same period in the previous year.  

12 children have been placed with external adopters, compared with 18 in 

the same period last year.  

8 9 13 15
5

18
9

9
15

12

25

17

22

24

16

11

9

17

11

9

24

17

28 17

14

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22*

LA number of adoptive placements by year

DBC HBC MBC RBC SBC

Page 44



 

19 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

This is positive in terms of pressure on the interagency external placement 

budget.  

8.4 Adoption Orders Granted by Local Authority  

 

 

Adoption Orders remain at a similar level of activity as the previous year, with 

Middlesbrough BC and Darlington BC having a notably higher rate of orders 

granted than the previous year.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

73
84

64

89

46

0

20

40

60

80

100

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22*

TV number of AOs by year

16
10 11 7 10

7 16 14

11 6

24 19
16

25

15

11 11
9

20

4

15
28

14

26

11

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22*

LA number of AOs by year

DBC HBC MBC RBC SBC

Page 45



 

20 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

8.5 Characteristics of children Adopted 2020-21, and Children Waiting with      

PO as of 30.9.21  

  

 Age 

under 

5  

Age 

over 

5  

Female Male Ethnic 

Minority 

Heritage 

Disabled Part 

of Sib 

group 

Harder 

to 

place 
Adopted 

previous 

12 

months  

75 18 46 47 16 2 29 45 

Waiting 

with PO, 

30.9.21  

27 2 15 14 7 0 8 14 

Waiting 

over 18 

months 

since 

entering 

care 

8 1 4 5 3 0 3 4 

 

9. Disruptions  

There has been one placement disruption in the period under review.  

There has been a disruption meeting, chaired by an independent chair, with 

senior experience, of care planning and adoption. The learning from the 

disruption is on schedule to be reviewed by the relevant local Authority, 

Adoption Service, and by the Adoption panel.  

10. Life Story Books  

The completion of life story books for children with an adoption plan, in 

accordance with the Statutory Guidance on Adoption, has been 

challenging to achieve. As detailed in the Annual report, 2020-21, it has been 

agreed that this work should properly be undertaken by the child’s social 

worker, in the Local Authority, as part of care planning, and direct 

preparation of children and work with birth families, and others important to 

the child.  

This transfer of responsibility has been managed in a collaborative and 

phased way, supported by provision of guidance to children’s social workers, 

and through working together between ATV and the 5 LA’s.  

Additional Temporary Adoption Support Workers have been employed to 

support completion of books with a long waiting time, and to support 

transitional arrangements. At the time of writing, and outside of the period 

under review, all life story books are now allocated a worker, and the 

procedure has been embedded within ATV and LA’s to determine that 

responsibility is with children’s social workers for this work.  

Page 46



 

21 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The best worker for this has been supported through the Young People’s 

Group, who have considered this issue as part of their Junior research  have 

said that the Life Story Book should be completed by the worker who knows 

them, as a child, and who was responsible for their plan, and work with family 

and foster carers.  

 

11. Adoption Support  

The service has continued with delivery of adoption support services which 

include:  

 Post adoption support plan for all children and families from the time of 

placement  

 Access to the Adopter Hub for all families coming through the process, 

to provide online support, access to information and webinars.  

 Tier 1, universal support opportunities 

 Loud and Clear music project, run by the Sage, Gateshead  

 Tier 2, Therapeutic Parenting Training 

 Specialist adoption support assessments, undertaken by the adoption 

support team  

 Education support  

 Access to therapeutic support, by one of the preferred Therapy 

providers, as determined by the adoption support assessment 

 Children’s group has been reconvened, focussing on life story and 

experiences of adopted children in school 

 

11.1 Adoption Support Referrals and Assessments  

 Full Year  

2020-21 

1.3.21-30.9.21 

Number of 

adoption support 

referrals  

83 49 

Access to Files 

requests/completed 

36 23 

Birth Parent Support 

Referrals (Q3 &4 

2020-21) 

23 24 

Adoption Support 

Assessments 

completed  

55 46 

Successful 

application to ASF 

166 125 

Page 47



 

22 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Unsuccessful 

application to ASF  

0 0 

Value of 

applications to ASF  

£637,551 

+ £70,965 Covid  

£434,553 

Education Support 

Cases during year  

59 41 

Number of Post Box 

Contract 

Agreements  

279 Not available  

 

There have been 49 referrals for adoption support assessments in this period, 

and 46 assessments were completed.  

125 applications were made to the ASF, totalling £434,553  

The reason more applications than assessments, is because group funding 

requires applications for each of the participants.  

The rate of adoption support referrals, and assessments has increased again, 

following a significant reduction over the previous full year. Waiting lists for 

adoption support assessments remain too long, and the service is proactively 

addressing this issue.  

Applications and awards from the ASF have been at their highest rate since 

ATV commenced in this quarter, indicating that funded adoption support 

services are at their highest, and more families are accessing adoption 

support.  

11.2 Therapeutic Parenting Groups delivered 

Therapeutic parenting programmes form part of the ATV Tier 2, targeted 

support which is provided to families, who have children with additional 

needs, and presenting behaviours.  

2 NVR (non-Violent Resistance) groups were run in April 2021, and September 

2021. These were attended by a total of 14 families who received a 

programme of supportive group therapeutic parenting training, to help with 

parenting children who are violent to their parents.  

A Nurturing Attachments programme was offered in September 2021, with 7 

families attending.  

A Future Stars Sensory Attachment programme was delivered in July 2021 

which involved 3 families and their children.  

11.3 Education Support  

Page 48



 

23 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The Education Support Worker has worked with 41 children and families in this 

period. This service is now becoming embedded within the overall ATV offer 

and is being effective and utilised.  

11.4 Access to Adoption Records, and Birth Parent Support  

These services are commissioned by Adoption Tees Valley from Adoption 

Matters, who have the contract. Access to Records is a service provision, and 

demand is led by the personal circumstances of adult adoptees. 

Information about independent birth parent support is provided by Local 

Authorities, to birth parents, during care planning and referral options are 

made available to them once adoption becomes the LA plan.  

ATV have promoted this service within Local Authorities; however, it is felt that 

better outcome would be indicated through higher numbers of birth parents 

accessing this service.  

A further period of promotion of this service is underway with local authorities 

including with IRO’s.  

11.5 Adopter Hub  

The service has commissioned the Adopter Hub from PACT, Parents and 

Children Together, which is a large Voluntary Adoption Agency.  

This was originally commissioned through covid funding however has been 

continued, as it offers a significant additional online resource, and tool for 

prospective adopters going through assessment, matching and placement.  

The service has commissioned 200 licenses, and all are in use.  

The service will operate moving forwards with a time limit to the period when 

licenses will be funded by ATV in order to be sustainable. Adopters will be 

offered the opportunity to privately fund this, once their period ends, should 

they so wish.  

12. Young People’s Voice and Views  

Young people in ATV have been supported to come together via research 

undertaken within ATV, into life story work. Young people have worked 

together with researcher Helen Woolley, a PhD student, to help design and 

develop a research methodology, which explores life stories for children.  

The young people’s group has been called the Junior Researchers and has 

proved to be the foundation for young people’s group work, and 

involvement in ATV.  

The young people have been supported to make a film, through 

collaboration with Virtual Schools, and a digital Film Company, called Digital 

Page 49



 

24 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Voice. The completed production is outside of the timescale of this Bi Annual 

Report, however the work, and beginnings of the young people’s inclusion in 

development of the service at ATV commenced within the period under 

review.  

There has now been investment in a dedicated resource to work directly with 

young people, as part of ensuring their voice and views influence the 

development of ATV. A part time adoption support worker will work directly 

with young people, on matters that are important to them, and areas where 

we can improve the long term supports to benefit all adopted young people 

directly.  

A fuller outline of young people’s involvement will be provided within the 

2021-22 Annual Report.  

13. Quality Assurance  

13.1 Case Practice Audits  

The service has completed case practice audits with workers, to embed a 

shared approach to case review, quality of practice and evidence on the 

record of outcomes, and timeliness.  

An overview report has been presented to the ATV board, although this is 

outside of this review period.  

Referrals were found to be working well in most cases, and the Permanence 

Champion role was evident and having an impact on follow through and 

timeliness. The audit picked up one case of a very late referral to ATV, which 

led to delay in commencing family finding. 

Managing decision making about progressing with foster carer assessments, 

where FC’s wish to adopt the child in their care is an area for greater clarity. 

ATV will be undertaking training within LA’s over the next few months, and a 

focus will be given to the early stages of decision making and progressing 

with referrals to assess foster carers, as adoptive parents. Not all records were 

on file for children progressing through the adoption journey.  

Management oversight on cases was not always evident on records. This has 

been considered by ATV. Managers regularly supervise cases, but do not 

always add this to individual records, which will be addressed.  

ATV adopter assessments showed lengthy delays to stage 1, but stage 2 was 

almost always within timescale.  

An action plan has been put in place and a further “Audit Fortnight” is 

underway, to review cases. These are focussed on one Local Authority, in 

preparation for an Ofsted Monitoring Visit.  

Page 50



 

25 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  

The following mechanisms have been implemented for managing and 

monitoring the work of the agency, and the quality of work.  

 The Review of ATV has been a wide reaching review, to assess progress 

of the RAA against the agreed objectives that were set out at the 

implementation of the RAA. Outcomes, findings and areas for further 

development have been highlighted in this report.  

 Tracking systems are in place to enable regular monitoring of children 

and adopter journeys; timeliness, and outcomes.  

 Tracking of children enables focussed discussions with Adoption Lead 

officers quarterly, or as required, to ensure that individual children’s plans 

are progressed in a timely way, and that thematic practice issues within 

Local Authorities are addressed.  

 A performance, assurance and challenge meeting (PAC) is held with 

the senior adoption lead for each LA, quarterly following ASGLB and ATV 

Scorecard data returns. All children for each LA have been tracked and 

monitored, and agreement about direction, or decisions signposted 

where applicable.  

 Permanence Champions (Senior Social Workers, or Assistant Team 

managers) allocated to each Local Authority ensure that children’s 

referrals are progressed and tracked in a timely way. This means that ATV 

can family find for children at the right time, and with the right 

information about that child’s plan.  

 ATV attends one Local Authority (Middlesbrough) Permanence 

Monitoring Group, monthly, and the Gateway panel monthly, to assist 

with the improvement journey for that LA, and with quality and timeliness 

of practice for children.  

 The balanced scorecard (BSC) has been reviewed and developed to 

better reflect nationally submitted data, via ASGLB returns from Local 

Authorities and Adoption Tees Valley. The BSC is generated quarterly 

detailing key performance data for ATV and the 5 partner Local 

Authorities, user feedback/satisfaction measures; complaints, 

compliments; finance. This has been presented to the Board, which has 

a role in questioning, challenge and being satisfied of the effectiveness 

of the service.  

 The Adoption Panel has a quality monitoring role in the Service around 

business presented to it, for consideration and advice. Quality of PARS is 

felt to be high, with some recommendations about consistency of 

practice across PAR’s. Quality of CPR’s is generally improved, although 

some remain poor. Minutes now detail feedback on quality of CPR in 

order that ADMs in Local Authorities are appraised of panel comments 

around quality of the CPR. Panel has commented on improvements to 

the Adoption Support Plan, and APR.  

Page 51



 

26 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 The Adoption Panel Chairs provide a report bi-annually to the Service 

Manager, which will be presented to the Board; Panel; and to the team, 

for learning and improvement where required.   

 Staff performance is monitored via supervision, which is monthly for all 

staff.  

 21 Case practice audits were undertaken, across a sample of case 

records, with managers independent of that case, and the worker. A 

thematic report has been provided to the ATV Board.  

 Most staff, and all managers have had an annual appraisal.  

 All Central List members and Panel Chairs have had an annual appraisal. 

Panel chairs now request that the agency collates themes from 

appraisal for the annual report. Panel training has been delivered to 

panel members arising from feedback from panel appraisals, which 

includes Disruptions; Roles and Operational processes for ATV; early 

Permanence.  

 Team meetings take place monthly, and are used to convey policy and 

practice information, involve staff in developments and any quality 

improvements that are required.   

 Adopter feedback has been sought as part of the review, via an 

independent survey.  

 The Service Manager, and Team Manager, post adoption support, have 

reviewed and monitored work undertaken by external agencies for post 

adoption support, to ensure that work supports outcomes and delivers 

best value.  

 

14. Finance  

Adoption Tees Valley is joint funded as a shared service under the Education 

and Adoption Act (2016) and is a joint funded on a shared basis, with the 

allocations of funding per LA as detailed below.  

 

 Baseline Running 

Costs (based on 

former costs of the 

Adoption Services in 

the year preceding 

the RAA)  

Percentage Interagency 

fee contributions 

(based on average 

annual adoption numbers 

2014/15 to 2016/17) 

Darlington 16.2% 20.2% 

Hartlepool 13.5 % 14.0% 

Middlesbrough 31.8%  27.2% 

Redcar and 

Cleveland 

16.7.% 14.0% 

Stockton 21 % 24.6% 

 100%  100.0% 

Page 52



 

27 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Funding ratios have been reviewed as part of the overall service review, and 

have been presented to Directors of Finance, who have now agreed the 

revised funding split. This will be fully detailed within the full Annual Report.  

14.1 2021-22 Financial Q2 (Half Year) Position 

 

Expenditure Heading Budget 2021/22 Actual Outturn Variance period end 

Employees 1,331,000 1,400,000 69,000 

Running Costs 287,000 263,000 -24,000 

Support Service Costs 113,000 114,000 1,000 

Interagency Fees  500,000 725,000 225,000 

Income (2,231,000) (2,501,000) (270,000) 

Total  0 (1,000)  (1,000) 
 

14.2 Interagency Fees 

Interagency fees are payable for those children matched with adopters who 

are not recruited by ATV. The budget for interagency fees is £500,000 and 

forecast overspend is £225,000.  

The outcome of the ATV Service Review has addressed increase in adoption 

activity since the RAA commenced, and invest to save, to reduce external 

spend on IA fees.  

This will be reported in full annual report.  

For the financial year 2021-22 the additional contributions are as follows:  

  Budgeted 
Contribution 

to Interagency 
Fees £ 

Forecast 
2021-22 

£ 

Additional 
Contribution 

2021/22 

ATV Interagency 2020/21 500,000 725,000 225,000 

Darlington - 20.2% 101,000 146,450 83,000 

Hartlepool - 14% 70,000 101,500 57,000 

Middlesbrough - 27.2% 136,000 197,200 111,000 

Redcar & Cleveland - 14% 70,000 101,500 57,000 

Stockton -24.6% 123,000 178,350 101,000 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



 

28 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

15. Development Plans ATV  

The Annual Report 2020-21 identified the development areas, below. Progress 

with these is set out.  

Area for Development  Progress Next steps  
Strengthening voice 

and involvement of 

adopted children in ATV 

Young people have become involved, 

including in views on life story work, and 

on the experience of adopted children 

in education. They have made a film, 

now widely shared for education and 

awareness.  

Appointment 

to a 

dedicated YP 

worker, to 

support 

inclusion and 

involvement  

Strengthening 

preparation and 

assessment of adopters, 

to support more 

adopters taking more 

children with additional 

needs  

This work is underway and will continue. 

Evidence of impact is the higher 

numbers of in house placements, for 

priority children, and fewer external 

placements.  

Strengthening 

assessment to 

support 

pathway will 

continue  

Strengthening 

sufficiency of adopters, 

through increased 

marketing 

Approval numbers are fewer this 

period, however this is seen in wider 

agencies, and is as a result of the 

pandemic. 50 % of children have been 

placed regionally where they cannot 

be placed with in house adopters and 

waiting times have reduced.  

Invest to save 

business case 

for more 

assessment 

capacity to 

recruit 

internal 

adopters 

Taking early 

permanence strategy to 

the next stage – phase 2 

ATV is working with the national RAA 

and multi-agency workstream to align 

all work with national developments. 

ATV is renewing regional training to 

IRO’s and all LAs via workforce 

development.  

ATV now leads a strategic working 

group with Fostering Service managers 

to strengthen cross agency work on EP.  

Support 

regional EP 

co-ordinator 

role and 

continue to 

progress EP 

development 

with regional 

partners.  

Strengthen partnership 

working, including with 

early help, to strengthen 

support to adopters 

when they need it.  

Work ongoing.  

Independent adoption support audit 

planned to evaluate ATV/Regional 

approach to adoption support.  

 

Adoption 

Support 

audit.  

Revised work 

with Early 

help partners.  

Continuing to address 

life story book model.  

Life story books and work now returned 

to be the responsibility of the child’s 

social workers. All LS books allocated at 

the time of writing.  

Support 

CSW’s where 

needed to 

complete LS 

books.  

Continuing to address 

timescales for adoption 

support assessments  

Timescales for starting the assessment 

remain long. The service has a relatively 

small resource for adoption support. This 

The adoption 

support audit 

will assist with 

Page 54



 

29 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

has been reconsidered within the 

review.  

reviewing 

service 

delivery and 

offer. 

Taking forward Panel 

improvements to 

maintain a streamlined 

approach to panel, and 

quality CPR’s 

Panel manager and Advisor post has 

been created, which will have a lead 

role in managing panel business and 

quality assurance of ATV and LA reports  

Recruit to 

Panel 

Manager 

post  

 

 

Vicky Davidson Boyd  

Service Manager  

Adoption Tees Valley 25.2.22  

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



ST RE N GT HE NI N G  
FA MILIES, P R OTECTI N G  

C HIL D RE N:   
N O  W R O N G  D O O R  

PIL OT E VAL U ATI O N REP O RT 

MI D DLES B R O U G H 

N o v e m b e r  2 0 2 1 

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ack no wle d ge me nts 
W e  w o ul d li k e t o t h a n k  N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil 

f or  s u p p orti n g t h e  d e si g n  of t h e  e v al u ati o n  a s  w ell  a s 

st aff  a n d f a mili e s  at  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  B or o u g h  C o u n cil, 

i n cl u di n g  st aff,  p ar e nt s  a n d  c ar er s,  y o u n g  p e o pl e  a n d 

f o st er  c ar er s  at  F ut ur e s  F or  F a mili e s, f or  s u p p orti n g 

t h e  e v al u ati o n  a n d  s h ari n g t h eir  e x p eri e n c e s  wit h 

u s.  W e  w o ul d  al s o li k e t o t h a n k t h e  D e p art m e nt f or 

E d u c ati o n f or t h eir f u n di n g  a n d  s u p p ort t hr o u g h o ut t h e 

e v al u ati o n  pr o c e s s.  W e  ar e  al s o  gr at ef ul t o  e v al u at or s 

fr o m t h e  C hil dr e n’ s  S o ci al  C ar e I n n o v ati o n  Pr o gr a m m e 

f or  s h ari n g i n si g ht s fr o m t h eir  w or k  wit h t h e  N o  Wr o n g 

D o or  m o d el t o  h el p  wit h  pl a n ni n g  o ur  e v al u ati o n. 

F u n di n g 

D e p art m e nt f or  E d u c ati o n,  E n gl a n d. 

A ut hors 
H a n n a h  C oll y e r,  W W C S C 

A b b y  H e n n e s s e y,  W W C S C 

Mi c h a el  S a n d e r s,  W W C S C 

A oif e  O’ Hi g gi n s,  W W C S C 

A b o ut  W hat  Works for C hil dre n’s S ocial Care 
W h at  W or k s f or  C hil dr e n’ s  S o ci al  C ar e ( W W C S C)  s e e k s 

b ett er  o ut c o m e s f or  c hil dr e n,  y o u n g  p e o pl e  a n d f a mili e s 

b y  bri n gi n g t h e  b e st  a v ail a bl e  e vi d e n c e t o  pr a ctiti o n er s 

a n d  ot h er  d e ci si o n  m a k er s  a cr o s s t h e  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al 

c ar e  s e ct or.  W e  g e n er at e,  c oll at e  a n d  m a k e  a c c e s si bl e 

t h e  b e st  e vi d e n c e f or  pr a ctiti o n er s,  p oli c y  m a k er s  a n d 

pr a cti c e l e a d er s t o i m pr o v e  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e  a n d 

t h e  o ut c o m e s it  g e n er at e s f or  c hil dr e n  a n d f a mili e s. 

T o fi n d  o ut  m or e  vi sit t h e  W W C S C  at:  w h at w or k s - c s c. or g. u k 

If  y o u’ d li k e t hi s  p u bli c ati o n i n  a n  alt er n ati v e f or m at  s u c h  a s  Br aill e, 

l ar g e  pri nt  or  a u di o,  pl e a s e  c o nt a ct  u s  at: i nf o @ w h at w or k s- c s c. or g. u k 

Page 58



3 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AC R O NY MS A N D ABBREVIATI O NS 

A S Y E:  A s s e s s e d  a n d  S u p p ort e d  Y e ar i n  E m pl o y m e nt 

Ci N:  C hil d i n  N e e d 

C L A :  C hil d  /  C hil dr e n  L o o k e d  Aft er 

C P:  C hil d  Pr ot e cti o n 

C S C:  C hil dr e n’ s  S o ci al  C ar e 

Df E:  D e p art m e nt f or  E d u c ati o n 

F F F:  F ut ur e s f or  F a mili e s (l o c al  n a m e  gi v e n t o t h e  N W D  m o d el i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h) 

F T E:  F ull  Ti m e  E q ui v al e nt 

I P E: I m pl e m e nt ati o n  a n d  Pr o c e s s  E v al u ati o n 

I R O: I n d e p e n d e nt  R e vi e wi n g  Offi c er 

L A:  L o c al  A ut h orit y 

N E E T:   N ot i n  E d u c ati o n,  E m pl o y m e nt  or  Tr ai ni n g 

N W D:  N o  Wr o n g  D o or 

P L O:  P u bli c  L a w  O utli n e 

R AI S E:   Ri s k,  A n al y si s, I nt er v e nti o n,  S ol uti o n,  E v al u ati o n 

R C T:   R a n d o mi s e d  C o ntr oll e d  Tri al 

S D Q:   Str e n gt h s  a n d  Diffi c ulti e s  Q u e sti o n n air e 

S F P C:  Str e n gt h e ni n g  F a mili e s,  Pr ot e cti n g  C hil dr e n 

W W C S C:  W h at  W or k s f or  C hil dr e n’ s  S o ci al  C ar e 

Y O S:  Y o ut h  Off e n di n g  S er vi c e 

Page 59



4 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

C O NTE NTS 

Ack no wledge me nts 1 

A ut hors 1 

Fu ndi ng 1 

Abo ut  W hat  Works 
for C hildre n’s Social Care  1 

Acro ny ms a nd abbreviatio ns  2 

Table of Co nte nts 4 

E XEC UTI VE S U M M A RY  5 

Introd uctio n 5 

Researc h q uestio ns 5 

Met hods 6 

Key fi ndi ngs 6 

Discussio n 8 

Co ncl usio ns a nd Reco m me ndatio ns  9 

I NT R O D UCTI O N 1 0 

Project backgro u nd 10 

No  Wro ng  Door ( N W D) 10 

Previo us eval uatio n 11 

Pilot co ntext 12 

Eval uatio n by  W WCSC 14 

MET H O DS 1 5 

Researc h q uestio ns 15 

Researc h desig n 15 

Data Collectio n 16 

Sa mple recr uit me nt 
a nd selectio n criteria 17 

Data  ma nage me nt a nd processi ng  17 

A nalysis 17 

FI N DI N GS 1 9 

Evide nce of Feasibility 19 

Evide nce of pro mise 38 

Readi ness for Trial 47 

DISC USSI O N 4 9 

Discussio n of Fi ndi ngs 49 

Li mitatio ns 50 

Co ncl usio ns a nd Reco m me ndatio ns  51 

Directio ns for Future Researc h  52 

A P PE N DICES 5 3 

Appe ndix A : Tables 54 

Appe ndix B: Req uired trai ni ng for staff  59 

Appe ndix C :  N W D  Disti nguishers, 
Provocatio ns a nd  No n- Negotiables  60 

Appe ndix  D: Revised Logic  Model  62 

Page 60



5 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

E XEC UTI VE S U M M A RY 

I ntro d uctio n 

T hi s r e p ort  pr e s e nt s fi n di n g s fr o m  a 

pil ot  e v al u ati o n  of t h e  N o  Wr o n g  D o or 

( N W D)  m o d el i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h.  T hi s  w a s 

c o m mi s si o n e d  b y t h e  D e p art m e nt f or 

E d u c ati o n  a s  p art  of t h e  Str e n gt h e ni n g 

F a mili e s,  Pr ot e cti n g  C hil dr e n ( S F P C) 

pr o gr a m m e.  S F P C i n v ol v e s  s c ali n g  of 

t hr e e  m o d el s  of  s o ci al  w or k  pr a cti c e ( N o 

Wr o n g  D o or,  F a mil y  V al u e d,  a n d  F a mil y 

S af e g u ar di n g)  w hi c h  ai m t o  e n a bl e  m or e 

c hil dr e n t o  st a y  at  h o m e i n  s af e  a n d  st a bl e 

f a mil y  e n vir o n m e nt s. 

N W D  w a s  d e v el o p e d  b y  N ort h  Y or k s hir e 

C o u nt y  C o u n cil  wit h  s u p p ort fr o m t h e 

D e p art m e nt f or  E d u c ati o n’ s  C hil dr e n’ s  S o ci al 

C ar e I n n o v ati o n  Pr o gr a m m e.  T h e  N W D 

m o d el i n  N ort h  Y or k s hir e  ai m s t o  s u p p ort 

y o u n g  p e o pl e  a g e d 1 2 -  2 5  w h o  ar e i n  c ar e 

or  o n t h e  e d g e  of  c ar e,  pr o m oti n g  st a bilit y 

a n d  p er m a n e n c y  wit hi n t h eir f a mili e s  or 

l o c al  c o m m u niti e s.  T h e  N W D  m o d el i n 

N ort h  Y or k s hir e i n v ol v e s: 

•  T h e  cr e ati o n  of  h u b s  w hi c h  pr o vi d e 

a r a n g e  of  s er vi c e s,  o utr e a c h  a n d 

a c c o m m o d ati o n  o pti o n s t o  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

w h o  ar e i n  c ar e  or  o n t h e  e d g e  of  c ar e. 

•  A n i nt e gr at e d  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y t e a m 

w hi c h i n cl u d e s r e si d e nti al  a n d  o utr e a c h 

k e y  w or k er s,  p ortf oli o l e a d s,  a lif e  c o a c h 

( cli ni c al  p s y c h ol o gi st),  a  c o m m u ni c ati o n 

s u p p ort  w or k er ( s p e e c h  a n d l a n g u a g e 

t h er a pi st),  a  p oli c e li ai s o n  o fi c er  a n d 

p oli c e i nt elli g e n c e  a n al y st,  a  p erf or m a n c e 

a n d i nt elli g e n c e  a n al y st, f o st er  c ar er s  a n d 

s u p p ort e d l o d gi n g s  w or k er s. 

•  St aff  u s e  str e n gt h s- b a s e d  a n d 

r e st or ati v e  a p pr o a c h e s,  a n d  pr a cti c e 

i s i nf or m e d  b y  pri n ci pl e s  c all e d 

Di sti n g ui s h er s,  N o n- N e g oti a bl e s  a n d 

Pr o v o c ati o n s  w hi c h  pr o m ot e  a  c or e 

off er  of fl e xi bl e  a n d  cr e ati v e  s u p p ort, 

hi g h  a s pir ati o n s f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e,  a n d 

u s e  of r e si d e nti al  c ar e  a s  a  s h ort t er m 

i nt er v e nti o n  n ot l o n g t er m  s ol uti o n, 

pr o m oti n g  p er m a n e n c e f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

wit hi n t h eir f a mili e s  or  c o m m u niti e s. 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h  b e g a n r e cr uit m e nt i n 

A ut u m n  2 01 9  a n d l a u n c h e d t h e  N W D 

m o d el ( k n o w n l o c all y  a s  F ut ur e s f or 

F a mili e s) i n  S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0 t o  w or k  wit h 

c hil dr e n  a n d  y o u n g  p e o pl e  a g e d 11 -1 8. 

A n  Of st e d j u d g m e nt  of ‘i n a d e q u at e’ i n 

J a n u ar y  2 0 2 0,  a n d t h e  n ati o n al l o c k d o w n 

of  s o ci al  a n d  e c o n o mi c  a cti vit y i n r e s p o n s e 

t o t h e  C o vi d -1 9  p a n d e mi c i n t h e  U K,  h a d 

i m pli c ati o n s f or i m pl e m e nt ati o n  of  N W D 

i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h,  w hi c h  w a s  d el a y e d  b y 

a p pr o xi m at el y fi v e  m o nt h s. 

Researc h  q uestio ns 

T hi s  pil ot  ai m e d t o  pr o vi d e  e arl y i n si g ht s 

i nt o t h e r oll o ut  of  N W D i n  a  n e w  ar e a  b y 

a n s w eri n g t hr e e  k e y r e s e ar c h  q u e sti o n s. 

1.  E vi d e n c e  of  F e a si bilit y  i. e.  C a n t h e 

i nt er v e nti o n  b e  d eli v er e d  a s i nt e n d e d, i s 

it  w ell r e c ei v e d  b y t h o s e  d eli v eri n g  a n d 

r e c ei vi n g it,  a n d  w h at  ar e t h e  c o nt e xt u al 

f a cilit at or s  a n d  b arri er s ? 

2.  E vi d e n c e  of  Pr o mi s e  i. e.  W h at  e vi d e n c e 

i s t h er e t h at t h e i nt er v e nti o n  m e c h a ni s m 

o p er at e s  a s  e x p e ct e d  a n d t h at it  c a n 

h a v e  a  p o siti v e i m p a ct  o n  o ut c o m e s ? 

Page 61



6 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.  R e a di n e s s f o r  Tri al  i. e.  H o w  c o n si st e ntl y 

c a n t h e i nt er v e nti o n  b e  d eli v er e d  a n d i s 

t h e  pr o gr a m m e  s uffi ci e ntl y  c o difi e d t o 

o p er at e  at  s c al e ? 

T hi s  pil ot i s  n ot  d e si g n e d t o  c o n si d er t h e 

i m p a ct  of  N W D  o n  o ut c o m e s.  T hi s  will 

b e  c o n si d er e d i n t h e  n e xt  p h a s e  of t h e 

e v al u ati o n ( S c h o e n w al d  et  al.,  2 0 2 0). 

Met ho ds 

D at a  c oll e ct e d  b et w e e n  F e br u ar y  2 0 2 0 

a n d J u n e  2 0 21 i n cl u d e d i nt er vi e w s, f o c u s 

gr o u p s  a n d  a  s ur v e y  of  st aff  w or ki n g i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e.  W e  al s o 

c arri e d  o ut i nt er vi e w s  wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

a n d t h eir  p ar e nt s  a n d  c ar er s,  o b s er v ati o n s 

of  pr a cti c e,  a n d  c oll e ct e d  a d mi ni str ati v e 

d at a  a b o ut i nt er v e nti o n  d eli v er y. 

K ey fi n di n gs 

E vi d e n c e  of  F e a si bilit y 

W a s t h e i nt e r v e nti o n 

i m pl e m e nt e d  a s i nt e n d e d ? 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e  s u c c e s sf ull y 

r e cr uit e d  m o st i nt e n d e d  st aff,  wit h  o nl y t w o 

o ut  of t hirt y  p o st s  v a c a nt  aft er t hr e e  m o nt h s. 

T h e  c o n si st e n c y  of  k e y  w or k er s, t h e  off er 

of  b ot h  o utr e a c h  s u p p ort  a n d  pl a c e m e nt s 

i n t h e  s er vi c e,  a n d  h a vi n g  at l e a st  m o nt hl y 

c a s e r e vi e w s  w er e  all i n li n e  wit h t h e  N W D 

m o d el.  S u p p ort  off er e d  a n d  pl a c e m e nt s 

w er e fl e xi bl e  a c c or di n g t o t h e i n di vi d u al’ s 

n e e d s.  T h e  pr o p orti o n  of  st aff  w h o  h a d 

c o m pl et e d r e st or ati v e  pr a cti c e tr ai ni n g  w a s 

sli g htl y  b el o w t h e  e x p e ct e d  8 0 %, ( 6 8 % 

at t h e ti m e  of t h e l a u n c h  a n d  7 4 % t hr e e 

m o nt h s l at er),  alt h o u g h  s ol uti o n f o c u s e d 

tr ai ni n g  h a d  b e e n  c o m pl et e d  b y  8 0 %  a n d 

9 0 %  of  st aff r e s p e cti v el y. 

Alt h o u g h l o c al  a d a pt ati o n s  w er e  m a d e, 

pr a cti c e  w a s l ar g el y  c o n si st e nt  wit h 

N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil’ s  N W D 

Di sti n g ui s h er s,  N o n- N e g oti a bl e s  a n d 

Pr o v o c ati o n s.  T h er e  w er e  s o m e i n st a n c e s 

w h er e t h e s e  w er e  h ar d er t o  a c hi e v e,  s u c h 

a s  c h all e n g e s fi n di n g  a  s uit a bl e f o st er 

c ar e  pl a c e m e nt f or  a  y o u n g  p er s o n,  a n d 

att e n d a n c e  of  all  a p pr o pri at e  m ulti - a g e n c y 

pr of e s si o n al s  at  R AI S E ( Ri s k,  A n al y si s, 

I nt er v e nti o n,  S ol uti o n,  E v al u ati o n)  m e eti n g s. 

I s t h e i nt e r v e nti o n  w ell  r e c ei v e d 

b y  st aff  a n d f a mili e s ? 

St aff i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e  w er e 

l ar g el y  p o siti v e  a b o ut t h e  N W D  m o d el  a n d 

t h e tr ai ni n g t h e y  h a d r e c ei v e d.  F a mili e s 

r e p ort e d  p o siti v e r el ati o n s hi p s  wit h  F F F 

st aff,  a n d  d e s cri b e d t h at  s u p p ort  w a s 

i nt e n si v e, r e s p o n si v e  a n d fl e xi bl e t o t h eir 

n e e d s.  S o m e f a mili e s  n ot e d t hi s  w a s  s u p p ort 

t h e y  h a d  n ot r e c ei v e d i n t h e  p a st  w h e n t h e y 

h a d  n e e d e d it. 

W h at  a r e t h e  c o nt e x t u al 

b a r ri e r s  a n d f a cilit at o r s ? 

M o st  F F F  st aff r e p ort e d  s uffi ci e nt  b u y-i n 

fr o m l e a d er s hi p f or t h e  N W D  m o d el,  a n d 

t h e  F F F  s er vi c e  h a d  b e g u n t o i nfl u e n c e 

wi d er  pr a cti c e i n  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e.  St aff 

r e p ort e d  h a vi n g  e n o u g h ti m e  a n d f e eli n g 

c o nfi d e nt  u si n g t h e  N W D  m o d el.  H o w e v er, 

m a n a gi n g t h e  c o m p eti n g  d e m a n d s  wit hi n 

t h e  s er vi c e  w a s  al s o  a  c h all e n g e, i n cl u di n g 

b al a n ci n g  s u p p ort f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n 

F F F  pl a c e m e nt s  wit h  o utr e a c h  w or k. 

Ot h er  c h all e n g e s i n cl u d e d  cl arit y  o v er 

r ef err al  crit eri a f or t h e  F F F  s er vi c e,  a n d 

diffi c ult y r e cr uiti n g  F F F f o st er  c ar er s.  Cl o s e 

w or ki n g  wit h  s o ci al  w or k er s  w a s r e p ort e d 

t o  b e i m p ort a nt,  b ut  b ei n g  s e p ar at e fr o m 

s o ci al  w or k t e a m s  w a s t h o u g ht t o  h el p 

b uil di n g r el ati o n s hi p s  wit h f a mili e s.  H a vi n g 

o p p ort u niti e s t o  b o n d  a s  a t e a m  a n d r e g ul ar 

r e mi n d er s  of t h e  Pr o v o c ati o n s  a n d  N o n-

N e g oti a bl e s  w er e r e p ort e d t o  b e  h el pf ul t o 

s u p p ort  pr a cti c e. 

Page 62



7 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

E vi d e n c e  of  Pr o mi s e 

I s t h e r e  e vi d e n c e t o  s u p p o r t t h e t h e o r y  of 

c h a n g e  a s  s et  o ut i n t h e l o gi c  m o d el ? 

T h e  s u p p ort  pr o vi d e d t hr o u g h 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e  w a s l ar g el y i n 

li n e  wit h  w h at  w a s  e x p e ct e d.  K e y  w or k er s 

s u p p ort e d  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n  a r a n g e  of  w a y s 

i n cl u di n g  d ail y r o uti n e s,  a d dr e s si n g ri s k, 

e n g a g e m e nt i n  e d u c ati o n,  a n d  p ar e nti n g 

s u p p ort.  S u p p ort fr o m t h e  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y 

st aff t e a m  w a s  al s o fl e xi bl e  a n d  a v ail a bl e 

o ut  of  h o ur s  w h er e  n e e d e d. I nf or m ati o n 

s h ari n g  w a s  g e n er all y r e p ort e d t o  b e  g o o d. 

Ri s k  m a n a g e m e nt  pr o c e s s e s i n cl u d e d 

i nt elli g e n c e  pr o vi d e d  b y t h e  p oli c e  a n al y st 

r ol e,  a n d t h e  u s e  of  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y  R AI S E 

( Ri s k,  A n al y si s, I nt er v e nti o n,  S ol uti o n, 

E v al u ati o n)  m e eti n g s. 

St aff i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e  w or k e d 

r e st or ati v el y  wit h f a mili e s t hr o u g h  b uil di n g 

r el ati o n s hi p s,  m a ki n g  d e ci si o n s t o g et h er 

a n d li st e ni n g t o t h e  y o u n g  p er s o n’ s  v oi c e, 

alt h o u g h  s o m e  st aff r e p ort e d  c o nf u si o n 

o v er  w h et h er  Si g n s  of  S af et y  s h o ul d  still  b e 

u s e d.  T hi s  hi g hli g ht s t h e i m p ort a n c e  of  cl e ar 

g ui d a n c e  o n i nt e gr ati n g t h e  N W D  m o d el 

wit h  e xi sti n g  or  pr e vi o u s  pr a cti c e  m o d el s. 

W h at  el e m e nt s  of t h e  m o d el  a r e  p e r c ei v e d 

t o  b e  c e nt r al t o  eff e cti v e n e s s ? 

H a vi n g  a  s kill e d i n- h o u s e  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y 

t e a m  o f eri n g  s u p p ort t o f a mili e s f a st er t h a n 

it  w o ul d  b e  a c c e s s e d t hr o u g h  u s u al  s er vi c e 

w a s  c o n si d er e d  c e ntr al t o t h e  m o d el.  A n ot h er 

k e y  el e m e nt  w a s t h e i nt e n si v e, fl e xi bl e 

a n d r e s p o n si v e  n at ur e  of t h e  s er vi c e  wit h 

pr of e s si o n al s  s e ei n g  y o u n g  p e o pl e r e g ul arl y, 

r e s p o n di n g  q ui c kl y  a n d  b ei n g  a v ail a bl e  o ut  of 

u s u al  w or ki n g  h o ur s.  Li st e ni n g t o t h e  y o u n g 

p er s o n’ s  v oi c e  a n d  u n d er st a n di n g t h eir  n e e d s 

w a s  al s o  a  k e y  c o m p o n e nt. 

W h at  p ot e nti al i m p a ct s  of t h e i nt e r v e nti o n 

d o  st a k e h ol d e r s i d e ntif y ? 

St a f  a n d f a mili e s i d e ntifi e d  a  n u m b er  of 

p ot e nti al  b e n efit s  of t h e  N W D  m o d el.  T h e s e 

i n cl u d e d r e d u ci n g ri s k  a n d i n cr e a si n g  s af et y 

f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e, r e d u ci n g  a n d  pr e v e nti n g 

e ntr y t o  c ar e, i m pr o vi n g r e u nifi c ati o n, 

r e d u ci n g  u s e  of  e xt er n al r e si d e nti al  c ar e  a n d 

o ut  of  ar e a  pl a c e m e nt s.  P ot e nti al  b e n efit s f or 

e d u c ati o n  a n d  w ell b ei n g  w er e  al s o  n ot e d. 

D o t h e r e  a p p e a r t o  b e  a n y  u ni nt e n d e d 

c o n s e q u e n c e s  o r  n e g ati v e  eff e ct s ? 

T w o  p ot e nti al  u ni nt e n d e d  c o n s e q u e n c e s 

w er e i d e ntifi e d.  Fir stl y, it  w a s r e p ort e d t h at 

t h er e  w a s  s o m e  u n c ert ai nt y  a b o ut  h o w t h e 

N W D  m o d el fitt e d  wit h t h e  s u p p ort  off er e d 

b y  ot h er  o utr e a c h t e a m s  wit hi n  c hil dr e n’ s 

s er vi c e s i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h,  b ut t h at  c ar ef ul 

c o m m u ni c ati o n  h a d  b e e n i n  pl a c e t o 

m a n a g e t hi s.  S e c o n dl y, it  w a s r e p ort e d  s o m e 

y o u n g  p e o pl e  m a y  e x p eri e n c e i n st a bilit y 

t hr o u g h t h e  F F F  s er vi c e.  F or  e x a m pl e,  d u e 

t o t h e t e m p or ar y  n at ur e  of  F F F  pl a c e m e nt s, 

c h a n g e i n  ot h er r e si d e nt s  at t h e  h u b,  or  b y 

h a vi n g  a n  a br u pt  e n di n g t o  s u p p ort fr o m t h e 

h u b. 

R e a di n e s s f or  Tri al 

I s t h e r e  a  cl e a r  d e s c ri pti o n  of t h e 

i nt e r v e nti o n t h at  w o ul d  all o w it t o 

b e i m pl e m e nt e d  a n d  e v al u at e d i n 

ot h e r  pl a c e s ? 

T h e i niti al l o gi c  m o d el  at t h e  o ut s et  of t hi s 

pil ot  e v al u ati o n  w a s l ar g el y  s u p p ort e d  b y t h e 

pil ot fi n di n g s.  A r e vi s e d l o gi c  m o d el  w hi c h 

i n cl u d e s  a d diti o n al  m e c h a ni s m s i d e ntifi e d i n 

t hi s  pil ot  e v al u ati o n i s  pr e s e nt e d i n  A p p e n di x 

D,  o utli ni n g t h e i nt er v e nti o n  a n d t h e 

f a cilit at or s  a n d  b arri er s t o i m pl e m e nt ati o n. 

T hi s  pr o vi d e s  a  cl e ar  d e s cri pti o n  of t h e 

i nt er v e nti o n t h at  c a n  b e  u s e d t o i nf or m 

f ut ur e i m pl e m e nt ati o n  a n d  e v al u ati o n. 

Page 63



8 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

C a n t h e i nt e r v e nti o n  b e  d eli v e r e d 

c o n si st e ntl y  a c r o s s t e a m s ? 

S o m e  s o ci al  w or k er s r e p ort e d  diff er e n c e s 

i n t h e  s u p p ort  pr o vi d e d f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

wit h  diff er e nt  n e e d s. I n  p arti c ul ar,  s o m e  st aff 

r e p ort e d t h at  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n  c ar e r e c ei v e d 

a  s h ort er  p eri o d  of i nt er v e nti o n fr o m t h e  F F F 

s er vi c e t h a n  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  w er e  o n t h e 

e d g e  of  c ar e r e c ei v e d. 

A r e  a n y  c h a n g e s  n e e d e d t o t h e t h e o r y, 

m at e ri al s  o r  p r o c e d u r e s  b ef o r e  r oll o ut ? 

O ur fi n di n g s  s u g g e st t h at it i s  p o s si bl e 

t o  d eli v er  N W D i n  a  n e w l o c al  a ut h orit y. 

T h e  c o n cl u si o n s i n t hi s r e p ort  hi g hli g ht 

a  n u m b er  of f a ct or s t h at  ar e i m p ort a nt t o 

e n s ur e  s u c c e s sf ul r oll o ut  of  N W D.  St aff  w e 

s p o k e t o  al s o  m e nti o n e d f a ct or s t h at  c o ul d 

b e  c o n si d er e d i n f urt h er  d e v el o pi n g t h e 

m o d el.  T h e s e i n cl u d e  off eri n g  N W D  s er vi c e s 

t h at  h a v e  m or e  c a p a cit y,  cl o s er j oi nt  w or ki n g 

b et w e e n  s u p er vi si n g  s o ci al  w or k er s  a n d 

N W D  s er vi c e s,  a n d  cl arit y  ar o u n d t h e 

crit eri a f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  c a n  st a y i n 

N W D  pl a c e m e nt s f or  b ot h  N W D  st aff  a n d 

f or r ef erri n g  pr a ctiti o n er s. 

Disc ussio n 

T hi s  e v al u ati o n  c a pt ur e s t h e  e arl y  st a g e s 

of i m pl e m e nt ati o n  of t h e  N o  Wr o n g 

D o or  m o d el i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h,  a n d i s 

t h er ef or e  u n a bl e t o  c a pt ur e t h e l o n g er t er m 

e m b e d di n g  of t h e  m o d el i nt o  c hil dr e n’ s 

s er vi c e s  m or e  wi d el y.  N e v ert h el e s s, t h er e 

i s  s o m e  pr o mi si n g  e vi d e n c e t h at  p art s  of 

t h e  N W D  m o d el,  s u c h  a s t h e  d e e p  di v e 

a p pr o a c h,  a n d t h e  N o n- N e g oti a bl e s, 

Di sti n g ui s h er s  a n d  Pr o v o c ati o n s  ar e 

b e gi n ni n g t o  b e  u s e d  b e y o n d  N o  Wr o n g 

D o or  b y  wi d er  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e 

t e a m s.  Ot h er f a ct or s  aff e cti n g  d eli v er y 

i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h i n cl u d e d t h e  n ati o n al 

l o c k d o w n  of  s o ci al  a n d  e c o n o mi c  a cti vit y 

d u e t o  C O VI D -1 9, t h e  Of st e d j u d g e m e nt 

of ‘i n a d e q u at e’ i n J a n u ar y  2 0 2 0  a n d  al s o 

s h ort a g e s i n f o st er  c ar er s  wit h  s uit a bl e 

e x p eri e n c e.  S o m e  st aff r e p ort e d f e eli n g 

t h at t hi s  Of st e d j u d g e m e nt  cr e at e d t h e 

c o n diti o n s t o  all o w  s o m et hi n g  n e w t o 

c o m e i n  a n d t h at t h e  m o d el t h u s l a n d e d 

w ell  wit h  st aff.  Al o n g si d e t h e  N W D  m o d el, 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h  h a v e  al s o i m pl e m e nt e d  ot h er 

str at e gi e s  a s  p art  of t h eir i m pr o v e m e nt 

j o ur n e y, t o  a c hi e v e  ai m s  s u c h  a s r e d u ci n g 

t h eir  u s e  of  o ut  of  ar e a  pl a c e m e nt s.  All 

t h e s e f a ct or s  s h o ul d  b e t a k e n i nt o  a c c o u nt 

w h e n i nt er pr eti n g t h e fi n di n g s  of t hi s 

pil ot  e v al u ati o n,  a n d  s h o ul d  b e t a k e n i nt o 

c o n si d er ati o n i n  a n y f ut ur e  a s s e s s m e nt  of 

t h e i m p a ct  of  N W D i n  a  gi v e n  a ut h orit y. 

Page 64



9 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

   

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

C o ncl usio ns a n d Rec o m me n datio ns 

T h e r e c o m m e n d ati o n s  b el o w  ar e  b a s e d  o n 

w h at  w or k e d  w ell i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h,  a s  w ell 

a s  w a y s i n  w hi c h  d eli v er y  c o ul d  b e f urt h er 

i m pr o v e d.  W h e n i ntr o d u ci n g  N W D  a n d 

e m b e d di n g t h e  m o d el i n  a  n e w  ar e a, l o c al 

d e ci si o n  m a k er s  s h o ul d: 

•  E n s ur e  st affi n g  c a p a cit y t o r e s p o n d 

t o t h e  n e e d s  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  ar e 

i n  pl a c e m e nt s  a n d t h o s e  w h o r e q uir e 

o utr e a c h  s u p p ort. 

•  Pr o vi d e  c o m pr e h e n si v e tr ai ni n g  a n d 

g ui d a n c e f or r ef erri n g  pr a ctiti o n er s,  s u c h 

a s  a n  e -l e ar ni n g  p a c k a g e  a n d r efr e s h er 

s u p p ort,  a s  n e e d e d.  E n s ur e t h at  m ulti -

a g e n c y  p art n er s r e c ei v e  a p pr o pri at e 

g ui d a n c e  o n t h e  N W D  m o d el  a n d  ar e 

e n c o ur a g e d t o  att e n d  R AI S E  m e eti n g s. 

•  B e  pr o vi d e d  wit h  g ui d a n c e f or  a c hi e vi n g 

a  c o n si st e nt  a p pr o a c h t o  pr a cti c e  a cr o s s 

c hil dr e n’ s  s er vi c e s  a n d  h o w  a n y  e xi sti n g 

pr a cti c e  m o d el s  s h o ul d  b e  u s e d i n 

c o nj u n cti o n  wit h t h e  m o d el. 

•  E n s ur e  a  s u fi ci e nt  s u p pl y  of f o st er  c ar er s 

s uit a bl e t o  c ar e f or t e e n a g er s, t o  e n a bl e 

y o u n g  p e o pl e t o  b e  s u p p ort e d t o  m o v e 

i nt o  st a bl e f a mil y  b a s e d  pl a c e m e nt s. 

•  E n s ur e r e g ul ar  o p p ort u niti e s t o r e vi sit t h e 

N W D  a p pr o a c h, i n cl u di n g  o p p ort u niti e s 

f or t h e  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y t e a m t o  b uil d 

r el ati o n s hi p s  a n d  w or k t o g et h er,  a s  w ell 

a s tr ai ni n g f or l at er  st art er s. 

A s  a  pil ot  e v al u ati o n, fi n di n g s  c a n  b e  u s e d 

t o  u n d er st a n d  h o w  N W D i s  d eli v er e d i n  a 

n e w  ar e a,  b ut  ar e  n ot  d e si g n e d t o  a n s w er 

q u e sti o n s  a b o ut t h e i m p a ct  of  N W D  o n 

o ut c o m e s.  T h e  n e xt  st e p t o  b uil d  o n t h e s e 

fi n di n g s i s  a n i m p a ct  e v al u ati o n  b ei n g l e d 

b y  W h at  W or k s f or  C hil dr e n’ s  S o ci al  C ar e 

( W W C S C).1  T hi s i s  b ei n g  u n d ert a k e n i n 

f o ur l o c al  a ut h oriti e s  w hi c h  ar e i ntr o d u ci n g 

N W D  b et w e e n  2 0 2 0  a n d  2 0 2 2.  All f o ur l o c al 

a ut h oriti e s  h a v e  n o w  b e g u n  d eli v eri n g  a 

N W D  s er vi c e.  T hi s  e v al u ati o n  will f oll o w 

t h e s e  a ut h oriti e s  o v er ti m e t o  c o n si d er 

t h e i m p a ct  of  N W D  o n t h e li k eli h o o d  of 

c hil dr e n  b ei n g l o o k e d  aft er  a s  w ell  a s  h o w 

t h e i nt er v e nti o n i s  b ei n g  d eli v er e d t o f urt h er 

i m pr o v e  u n d er st a n di n g  of t h e  m o d el. 

T hi s  st e p p e d - w e d g e  cl u st er r a n d o mi s e d  c o ntr oll e d tri al ( R C T )  a n d  Diff er e n c e 

i n  Diff er e n c e s  a n al y si s i s  s et  o ut i n  o ur tri al  pr ot o c ol ( S c h o e n w al d  et  al.,  2 0 2 0) 

1 

Page 65



1 0 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 I NT R O D UCTI O N 

Project back gro u n d 

T hi s r e p ort  pr e s e nt s  a  pil ot  e v al u ati o n  of 

t h e  N o  Wr o n g  D o or ( N W D)  m o d el.  N W D 

e st a bli s h e s  h u b s  w hi c h  bri n g t o g et h er  a n 

i nt e gr at e d r a n g e  of  a c c o m m o d ati o n  o pti o n s, 

s er vi c e s  a n d  o utr e a c h,  u n d er  a  si n gl e 

m a n a g e m e nt  u m br ell a, t o  s u p p ort  y o u n g 

p e o pl e i n  c ar e  or  o n t h e  e d g e  of  c ar e.  T hi s 

m o d el  w a s  d e v el o p e d  b y  N ort h  Y or k s hir e 

C o u nt y  C o u n cil  a s  p art  of t h e  D e p art m e nt 

f or  E d u c ati o n’ s  C hil dr e n’ s  S o ci al  C ar e 

I n n o v ati o n  Pr o gr a m m e ( L u s h e y  et  al,  2 01 7). 

T hi s  e v al u ati o n i s  p art  of t h e  D e p art m e nt 

f or  E d u c ati o n’ s  Str e n gt h e ni n g  F a mili e s, 

Pr ot e cti n g  C hil dr e n ( S F P C)  pr o gr a m m e. 

S F P C i n v ol v e s t h e  s c ali n g  of t hr e e  di sti n ct 

m o d el s  of  s o ci al  w or k  pr a cti c e.  T h e s e  ai m 

t o  e n a bl e  m or e  c hil dr e n t o  st a y  at  h o m e 

i n  s af e  a n d  st a bl e f a mil y  e n vir o n m e nt s, 

b y  str e n gt h e ni n g l o c al  pr a cti c e t o  m e et 

c hil dr e n  a n d  y o u n g  p e o pl e’ s  n e e d s,  b uil di n g 

r e sili e n c e i n f a mili e s  a n d  e n a bli n g  s o ci al 

w or k er s t o  m a n a g e ri s k  m or e  c o nfi d e ntl y. 

T h e s e t hr e e  m o d el s  ar e  F a mil y  V al u e d 

( M a s o n  et  al.,  2 01 7),  F a mil y  S af e g u ar di n g 

( F orr e st er  et  al.,  2 01 7)  a n d  N o  Wr o n g  D o or 

( L u s h e y  et  al.,  2 01 7).  T h e  S F P C  pr o gr a m m e 

i s  b ei n g  d eli v er e d t hr o u g h  a  p h a s e d 

r oll o ut i n 1 7  p arti ci p ati n g l o c al  a ut h oriti e s, 

b e gi n ni n g i n  2 01 9. 

T h e t ot al  n u m b er  of  c hil dr e n l o o k e d  aft er i n 

t h e  U K  h a s i n cr e a s e d  e v er y  y e ar  si n c e  2 01 0 

( N S P C C,  2 0 21). I n  M ar c h  2 0 2 0, t h e  n u m b er 

of  c hil dr e n l o o k e d  aft er  b y l o c al  a ut h oriti e s 

i n  E n gl a n d r o s e t o  8 0, 0 8 0,  e q ui v al e nt t o 

a r at e  of  6 7  p er 1 0, 0 0 0  c hil dr e n -  u p fr o m 

6 5 i n  2 01 9  a n d  6 4 i n  2 01 8 ( D e p art m e nt f or 

E d u c ati o n,  2 0 21 a).  D e s pit e t hi s, t h e  n u m b er 

of  c hil dr e n  w h o  st art e d t o  b e l o o k e d  aft er 

d e cr e a s e d fr o m  31, 7 7 0 i n  2 01 9 t o  3 0, 9 7 0 i n 

2 0 2 0 ( D e p art m e nt f or  E d u c ati o n,  2 0 21 a).  A 

s e ct or-l e d r e vi e w  of t h e  c ar e  cri si s ( F a mil y 

Ri g ht s  Gr o u p,  2 01 8)  s u g g e st s  c h a n g e 

s h o ul d f o c u s  o n r el ati o n s hi p  b uil di n g 

wit hi n  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e  a n d t h e f a mil y 

j u sti c e  s y st e m,  wit hi n  a n d  b et w e e n f a mili e s, 

pr a ctiti o n er s  a n d  a g e n ci e s.  A  s y st e m ati c 

s c o pi n g r e vi e w ( W h at  W or k s f or  C hil dr e n’ s 

S o ci al  C ar e,  2 01 8)  a s ki n g  w h at  w or k s t o 

s af el y r e d u c e t h e  n u m b er  of  c hil dr e n i n 

st at ut or y  c ar e  e m p h a si z e d t h e i m p ort a n c e  of 

pr a cti c e  a n d  str u ct ur al  c h a n g e s.  E x pl or at or y 

a n al y s e s  of t h e r at e s  of  c hil dr e n l o o k e d  aft er 

i n  E n gli s h  a ut h oriti e s ( 2 01 2 -  2 01 7) i d e ntifi e d 

p arti ci p ati o n i n t h e  Df E’ s  C hil dr e n’ s  S o ci al 

C ar e I n n o v ati o n  Pr o gr a m m e  a s  o n e  of t hr e e 

f a ct or s  a s s o ci at e d  wit h  a  d e cr e a s e i n t h e 

r at e s  of  c hil dr e n i n  c ar e ( D e p art m e nt f or 

E d u c ati o n,  2 0 21 b). 

N o  Wr o n g  Door ( N W D) 

N o  Wr o n g  D o or ( N W D) i s  a  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y 

s er vi c e  e m b e d d e d  wit hi n  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al 

c ar e t o  w hi c h  pr of e s si o n al s  c a n  m a k e 

r ef err al s.  N W D r e q uir e s  ali g n m e nt  of t h e 

wi d er  c hil dr e n’ s  s er vi c e s t o  b e  a bl e t o 

o p er at e  eff e cti v el y.  K e y  c o m p o n e nt s  of t h e 

N W D  m o d el i n  N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y 

C o u n cil i n cl u d e: 

•  T h e  cr e ati o n  of  o n e  or  m or e  N W D  h u b s 

w hi c h  d eli v e r  a  r a n g e  of  s e r vi c e s, 

o ut r e a c h  a n d  a c c o m m o d ati o n  o pti o n s 

Page 66



11 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

t o  s u p p o r t  y o u n g  p e o pl e  a g e d  1 2- 2 5 

w h o  a r e  e d gi n g t o w a r d s  c a r e,  o n t h e 

e d g e  of  c a r e,  o r i n  c a r e,  i n cl u di n g 

t h o s e  at ri s k  of f a mil y  or  pl a c e m e nt 

br e a k d o w n,  st e p pi n g  d o w n fr o m 

r e si d e nti al  c ar e t o f a mil y  b a s e d  c ar e,  or 

tr a n siti o ni n g t o i n d e p e n d e nt li vi n g. 

•  S u p p ort  pr o vi d e d t hr o u g h  N W D 

pl a c e m e nt s  a s  w ell  a s  o ut r e a c h   w or k 

t o  y o u n g  p e o pl e li vi n g  at  h o m e  wit h 

t h eir f a mil y  or  w h o  ar e i n  n o n- N W D 

f o st er  c ar e  or r e si d e nti al  pl a c e m e nt s. 

•  S er vi c e s  ar e  pr o vi d e d  b y  a n  i nt e g r at e d 

m ulti di s ci pli n a r y t e a m   w hi c h i n cl u d e s 

r e si d e nti al  a n d  o utr e a c h  k e y  w or k er s, 

p ortf oli o l e a d s,  a lif e  c o a c h ( cli ni c al 

p s y c h ol o gi st,  a  c o m m u ni c ati o n  s u p p ort 

w or k er ( s p e e c h  a n d l a n g u a g e t h er a pi st), 

a  p oli c e li ai s o n  offi c er,  p oli c e i nt elli g e n c e 

a n al y st,  p erf or m a n c e  a n d i nt elli g e n c e 

a n al y st, f o st er  c ar er s  a n d  s u p p ort e d 

l o d gi n g s  w or k er s. 

•  St aff  u s e  st r e n gt h s - b a s e d  a n d 

r e st o r ati v e   a p pr o a c h e s t o  d e v el o p  a n d 

d eli v er  a  s u p p ort  p a c k a g e i n  p art n er s hi p 

wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e  b a s e d  o n t h eir  n e e d s, 

str e n gt h s  a n d  a s pir ati o n s,  s u p p orti n g 

t h e m t o r e a c h t h eir f ull  p ot e nti al. 

•  Pr a cti c e i n  N W D i s i nf or m e d  b y  a  s et 

of  t e n  Di sti n g ui s h e r s,  ei g ht  N o n -

N e g oti a bl e s  a n d f o u r  Pr o v o c ati o n s 

w hi c h  ar e  a  s et  of  pri n ci pl e s  a n d  c or e 

v al u e s i nf or mi n g  pr a cti c e.  E x a m pl e s 

of t h e s e i n cl u d e ‘ Al w a y s  pr o gr e s si n g 

t o  p er m a n e n c e  wit hi n  a f a mil y  or 

c o m m u nit y’  a n d ‘ Bri n g  y o u n g  p e o pl e i nt o 

N W D  q ui c kl y  b ut  m o v e t h e m  o ut  sl o wl y.’ 

T h e s e  pr o m ot e  a  c or e  o f er  of fl e xi bl e 

a n d  cr e ati v e  s u p p ort,  hi g h  a s pir ati o n s 

f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e,  a n d  u s e  of r e si d e nti al 

c ar e  a s  a  s h ort t er m i nt er v e nti o n 

n ot l o n g t er m  s ol uti o n,  p r o m oti n g 

p e r m a n e n c e  f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e  wit hi n 

t h eir f a mili e s  or  c o m m u niti e s.  T h e 

f ull  s et  of  N W D  Di sti n g ui s h er s,  N o n-

N e g oti a bl e s  a n d  Pr o v o c ati o n s,  a s  w ell 

a s l o c al  Pr o v o c ati o n s  e st a bli s h e d i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h  ar e  a v ail a bl e i n 

A p p e n di x  C. 

•  G ui d a n c e  a b o ut t h e  N W D  s er vi c e 

i s  pr o vi d e d t o  s o ci al  w or k t e a m s 

s u p p orti n g  c hil dr e n  a n d  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

i n  c ar e  or  o n t h e  e d g e  of  c ar e.  T hi s 

g ui d a n c e  s u p p ort s  s o ci al  w o r k t e a m s 

t o  m a k e  r ef e r r al s t o t h e  N W D  s e r vi c e 

f o r  s u p p o r t  a n d t o  p r a cti c e i n  a  w a y 

t h at i s  c o n si st e nt  wit h t h e  N W D 

Di sti n g ui s h e r s,  N o n - N e g oti a bl e s  a n d 

Pr o v o c ati o n s .  T h e  N W D  s er vi c e  w or k s 

i n  p art n er s hi p  wit h  s o ci al  w or k er s  a n d 

ot h er  m ulti - a g e n c y  p art n er s  w h e n 

d eli v eri n g  s u p p ort t o  y o u n g  p e o pl e  a n d 

t h eir f a mili e s. 

A r e vi s e d l o gi c  m o d el  s etti n g  o ut t h e 

a s s u m pti o n s  a n d  c o nt e xt u al f a ct or s, 

i nt er v e nti o n s,  m e c h a ni s m s  a n d  o ut c o m e s 

f or t h e  N W D  m o d el,  b a s e d  o n t h e fi n di n g s 

of t hi s  pil ot  e v al u ati o n, i s  a v ail a bl e i n 

A p p e n di x  D. 

Previo us eval uatio n 

Fi n di n g s fr o m  a  pr e vi o u s  e v al u ati o n  of  N W D 

ar e  b a s e d l ar g el y  o n  pr e - p o st  d at a,  wit h 

s o m e  c o m p ari s o n t o  a  m at c h e d  c o h ort,  b ut 

c a n n ot  c o n cl u si v el y  attri b ut e i m p a ct t o t h e 

N W D  m o d el.  T hi s  e v al u ati o n  of  N W D i n 

N ort h  Y or k s hir e ( L u s h e y  et  al,  2 01 7) r e p ort e d 

a n i n cr e a s e  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e  c e a si n g t o  b e 

l o o k e d  aft er,  d e cr e a s e d  pl a c e m e nt  m o v e s, 

a n d f e w er  d a y s  s p e nt i n  c ar e  pl a c e m e nt s,  a s 

w ell  a s l o w er  o ut  of  ar e a  pl a c e m e nt s r el ati v e 

t o  n ati o n al  a v er a g e s.  W hil e  n ot  c o n cl u si v e 

e vi d e n c e  of i m p a ct, t h e s e fi n di n g s  s u g g e st 

e vi d e n c e  of  pr o mi s e f or t h e  N W D  m o d el. 

Page 67



1 2 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pilot c o ntext 

Pil ot l o c al  a ut h orit y 

L o c al  a ut h oriti e s  eli gi bl e f or  S F P C  w er e 

t h o s e  wit h  a n  Of st e d r ati n g  of ‘r e q uir e s 

i m pr o v e m e nt t o  b e  g o o d’  at t h e  p oi nt  of 

a p pli c ati o n,  hi g h r at e s  of  c hil dr e n l o o k e d 

aft er  c o m p ar e d t o t h eir l o c al  a ut h orit y 

st ati sti c al  n ei g h b o ur  m e di a n  o v er t h e l a st 

t hr e e  y e ar s,  or ri si n g r at e s  of  c hil dr e n 

l o o k e d  aft er i n  e a c h  of t h e l a st t hr e e  y e ar s. 

T h e s e  w er e i d e ntifi e d  a n d  s el e ct e d  b y t h e 

D e p art m e nt f or  E d u c ati o n i n  p art n er s hi p 

wit h  N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil 

f oll o wi n g  a ri g or o u s  pr o c e s s,  c o v eri n g 

a s s e s s m e nt s  of  n e e d,  s uit a bilit y  a n d 

c o m mit m e nt t o  m a ki n g  a  w h ol e  s y st e m 

c h a n g e.  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  w a s  s el e ct e d t o 

b e t h e fir st l o c al  a ut h orit y t o r e c ei v e  N W D 

u n d er  S F P C.  R e cr uit m e nt  of  m a n a g e m e nt 

r ol e s  b e g a n i n  A ut u m n  2 01 9, r e cr uit m e nt  a n d 

tr ai ni n g  of  ot h er  st a f t o o k  pl a c e i n  2 0 2 0,  a n d 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h l a u n c h e d t h e  N W D  m o d el, 

k n o w n l o c all y  a s  F ut ur e s f or  F a mili e s ( F F F), 

i n  S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0.  R oll o ut  of  N W D f oll o w e d 

a n  e x pr e s si o n  of i nt er e st  pr o c e s s f oll o w e d  b y 

a  pr o p o s al t o t h e  D e p art m e nt f or  E d u c ati o n 

S F P C  pr o gr a m m e  b o ar d  w hi c h  s et  o ut t h e 

pl a n n e d  p h a s e s  of  d eli v er y. 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h i s  a  U nit ar y  A ut h orit y i n 

t h e  N ort h  E a st  of  E n gl a n d.  A c c or di n g t o 

t h e  E n gli s h I n di c e s  of  D e pri v ati o n ( Mi ni str y 

of  H o u si n g,  C o m m u niti e s  a n d  L o c al 

G o v er n m e nt,  2 01 9),  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  h a s 

t h e  hi g h e st  pr o p orti o n  of  n ei g h b o ur h o o d s 

i n t h e 1 0 %  m o st  d e pri v e d  n ati o n all y,  wit h 

4 8. 8 % f alli n g i nt o t hi s  m o st  d e pri v e d  gr o u p. 

A d diti o n all y,  Mi d dl e s br o u g h i s t h e  di stri ct 

wit h t h e  hi g h e st  pr o p orti o n  of  c hil dr e n 

li vi n g i n i n c o m e - d e pri v e d  h o u s e h ol d s. 

I n  M ar c h  2 0 2 0,  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s r at e  of 

c hil dr e n l o o k e d  aft er  w a s 1 8 9  c hil dr e n  p er 

1 0, 0 0 0,  o n e  of t h e  hi g h e st  pr o p orti o n s i n 

E n gl a n d ( D e p art m e nt f or  E d u c ati o n,  2 0 21 a). 

T h e  pr o p orti o n  of  c hil dr e n l o o k e d  aft er i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h i s  c o n si d er a bl y  hi g h er t h a n 

n ati o n al fi g ur e s  a n d  h a s i n cr e a s e d fr o m  7 3 

c hil dr e n  p er 1 0, 0 0 0 i n  2 0 0 6 ( D e p art m e nt f or 

E d u c ati o n,  2 01 0). 

T h e  m o st r e c e nt  Of st e d i n s p e cti o n 

of  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e  s er vi c e s i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h  g a v e  a n  o v er all j u d g m e nt 

of ‘i n a d e q u at e’ i n J a n u ar y  2 0 2 0.  T hi s 

r ati n g l e d t o t h e  a p p oi nt m e nt  of  a 

c o m mi s si o n er t o  u n d ert a k e  a r e vi e w  a n d 

m a k e r e c o m m e n d ati o n s f or t h e l o c al 

a ut h orit y.  T hi s  pr o c e s s l e d t o  a  d el a y i n 

t h e i m pl e m e nt ati o n  of  N o  Wr o n g  D o or 

i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h,  h o w e v er  ulti m at el y 

t h e  c o m mi s si o n er  c o n cl u d e d t h at 

i m pl e m e nt ati o n  of  N o  Wr o n g  D o or  s h o ul d 

c o nti n u e  a s  pl a n n e d. 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e 

s er vi c e s  ar e  d eli v er e d t hr o u g h  s e p ar at e 

t e a m s f or  a s s e s s m e nt:  c hil dr e n l o o k e d 

aft er ( C L A),  c hil d i n  n e e d  a n d  c hil d 

pr ot e cti o n.  T hi s  di f er s fr o m  N ort h  Y or k s hir e 

w h er e  N W D  w a s  d e v el o p e d,  w h er e l o c al 

t e a m s  u n d ert a k e  a s s e s s m e nt  a n d  h a n d o v er 

of  y o u n g  p e o pl e’ s  c a s e s  b et w e e n t e a m s 

i s  mi ni mi s e d. I n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h,  a n  e d g e 

of  c ar e t e a m  sit s  u n d er t h e  c hil dr e n’ s  c ar e 

dir e ct or at e.  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  h a v e  b e e n 

e m b e d di n g  Si g n s  of  S af et y  a cr o s s 

c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e  si n c e  2 01 8,  a  m o d el 

w hi c h i s  al s o  u s e d i n  N ort h  Y or k s hir e 

w h er e  N W D  w a s  d e v el o p e d. 

N W D i s  b ei n g i ntr o d u c e d i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h 

al o n g si d e  a  wi d er  e d g e  of  c ar e  pl a n i n t h e 

ar e a.  O n e  of t h e  ai m s  of  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s 

e d g e  of  c ar e  pl a n  w a s t o i n cr e a s e t h e 

n u m b er  of r e si d e nti al  b e d s  a n d r e d u c e t h e 

hi g h  n u m b er s  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n  e xt er n al 

r e si d e nti al  pl a c e m e nt s (i. e t h o s e  o ut si d e 

of  L A  pr o vi si o n i n cl u di n g t h o s e  o ut si d e  of 

t h e  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  ar e a).  N W D  al s o  ai m e d 

t o  b e n efit  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n  c ar e  a n d  o n t h e 

e d g e  of  c ar e,  a n d i m p a ct  o n t h e  wi d er  s o ci al 

c ar e  s y st e m.  B uil di n g  o n  N ort h  Y or k s hir e 

Page 68



1 3 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

C o u nt y  C o u n cil’ s  a p pr o a c h,  a l o c al  s et  of 

Pr o v o c ati o n s  a n d  N o n- N e g oti a bl e s  w er e 

d e v el o p e d f or t h e  F ut ur e s f or  F a mili e s 

s er vi c e.  E x a m pl e s  of t h e s e l o c all y t ail or e d 

st at e m e nt s i n cl u d e ‘ A s  a  p ar e nt,  w o ul d I  b e 

h a p p y  wit h t hi s f or  m y  c hil d ?’,  a n d ‘ T h e  v oi c e 

of t h e  c hil d  at t h e  c e ntr e  of t h eir j o ur n e y!’ 

T h e f ull li st  of t h e  N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y 

C o u n cil  Di sti n g ui s h er s,  N o n- N e g oti a bl e s 

a n d  Pr o v o c ati o n s  a s  w ell  a s t h e t ail or e d 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h  Pr o v o c ati o n s  a n d  N o n-

N e g oti a bl e s  ar e  a v ail a bl e i n  A p p e n di x  C. 

N W D i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  w a s  d e si g n e d f or 

y o u n g  p e o pl e  a g e d 11 -1 8,  sli g htl y  diff er e nt 

t o t h e 1 2- 2 5  a g e r a n g e i n  N ort h  Y or k s hir e 

w h er e t h e  m o d el  w a s  d e v el o p e d. 

B ef or e  N W D  w a s i ntr o d u c e d,  Mi d dl e s br o u g h 

h a d f o ur r e si d e nti al  h o m e s.  T h e s e  w er e  a 

t hr e e  b e d  a n d  a f o ur  b e d r e si d e nti al  u nit,  a 

f o ur  b e d  u nit f or  c hil dr e n  a n d  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

wit h  di s a biliti e s,  a n d  a  s h ort  br e a k  pr o vi si o n 

off eri n g r e s pit e f or  c hil dr e n  wit h  di s a biliti e s. 

A n ot h er t w o  b e d  pr o vi si o n,  a n d  a  s e mi -

i n d e p e n d e nt li vi n g  u nit  wit h  ni n e  s elf-

c o nt ai n e d fl at s f or 1 6  a n d 1 7  y e ar- ol d s  w a s 

al s o  d u e t o  o p e n.  R e si d e nti al  pr o vi si o n  w a s 

l ar g el y  O ut st a n di n g  or  G o o d,  alt h o u g h  o n e 

r e c e nt  Of st e d i n s p e cti o n  h a d  d o w n gr a d e d t o 

R e q uir e s I m pr o v e m e nt  pri or t o  N W D  b ei n g 

i ntr o d u c e d. 

T hr o u g h o ut t hi s r e p ort,  w e r ef er t o ‘ N W D’ 

w h e n  di s c u s si n g  N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y 

C o u n cil’ s  N o  Wr o n g  D o or  m o d el,  a n d ‘ F F F’ 

w h e n  di s c u s si n g  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F ut ur e s 

f or  F a mili e s  s er vi c e. 

Page 69



1 4 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

C o vi d-1 9 

T h e r oll - o ut  of t h e  N W D  m o d el i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h  w a s i m p a ct e d  b y t h e 

n ati o n al l o c k d o w n  of  s o ci al  a n d  e c o n o mi c 

a cti vit y  w hi c h  w a s i ntr o d u c e d  o n  2 3r d 

M ar c h  2 0 2 0 i n r e s p o n s e t o t h e  C or o n a vir u s 

p a n d e mi c.  T hi s l o c k d o w n  aff e ct e d  h o w 

s o ci al  w or k er s,  ot h er  pr of e s si o n al s  a n d 

s af e g u ar di n g  p art n er s  w er e  a bl e t o  pr a cti c e. 

S c h o ol s  w er e  cl o s e d t o  all  b ut  c hil dr e n  of 

criti c al  w or k er s  a n d  v ul n er a bl e  c hil dr e n 

( D e p art m e nt f or  E d u c ati o n,  2 0 21 c).  W hil e 

st at ut or y  w or k  c o nti n u e d  a s r e q uir e d,  m a n y 

ot h er  s er vi c e s  w er e  pr o vi d e d  o nl y  virt u all y 

or  n ot  at  all,  a n d  g ui d eli n e s  a n d r e stri cti o n s 

w er e i n  pl a c e  aff e cti n g  dir e ct  w or k.  F a mili e s 

e x p eri e n c e d  h e alt h,  e m pl o y m e nt, fi n a n ci al, 

s o ci al  a n d  e m oti o n al  c h all e n g e s.  T h e s e 

c h a n g e s  m a y  h a v e  si m ult a n e o u sl y  aff e ct e d 

t h e l e v el  of  n e e d  b ut  al s o t h e i d e ntifi c ati o n 

of  n e e d i n  c hil dr e n  a n d f a mili e s.  T h e r oll 

o ut  of t h e  N W D  m o d el i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h 

w a s  d el a y e d  b y  s e v er al  m o nt h s  d uri n g 

t hi s  p eri o d,  a n d t h er e  w er e  c h a n g e s i n t h e 

w a y s  of  w or ki n g  s u c h  a s  s o m e tr ai ni n g  a n d 

m e eti n g s  b ei n g  c o n d u ct e d  virt u all y r at h er 

t h a n f a c e -t o -f a c e.  Alt h o u g h t h e l a u n c h  of 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F ut ur e s f or  F a mili e s  h u b 

w a s  d el a y e d t o  S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0,  d uri n g 

t hi s  p eri o d  F F F  st aff  w h o  h a d  alr e a d y  b e e n 

r e cr uit e d  b e g a n  pr o vi di n g  s u p p ort  d uri n g 

t hi s ti m e t o  h el p r e d u c e t h e  n u m b er  of 

y o u n g  p e o pl e  e nt eri n g  c ar e  a n d t o  s u p p ort 

pl a c e m e nt  st a bilit y.. 

Eval uatio n by  W WCSC 

T h e  pil ot  e v al u ati o n,  w hi c h i s t h e f o c u s 

of t hi s r e p ort, i s t h e fir st  of  a t hr e e - p art 

e v al u ati o n.  F or  e a c h  of t h e t hr e e  m o d el s i n 

S F P C,  W W C S C  ar e  u n d ert a ki n g: 

1.  A  pil ot  e v al u ati o n i n  o n e ‘ Tr ail bl a z er’ 

l o c al  a ut h orit y ( L A).  T hi s i s t h e f o c u s  of 

t hi s r e p ort.2 

2.   A n i m p a ct  e v al u ati o n i n f o ur  or fi v e  

s u b s e q u e nt  L A s ( d e p e n di n g  o n t h e  

m o d el). 3   T hi s  st e p p e d  w e d g e  cl u st er  

R a n d o mi s e d  C o ntr oll e d  Tri al ( R C T )  

a n d  Diff er e n c e i n  Diff er e n c e s  a p pr o a c h  

ai m s t o  b uil d  o n  pr e vi o u s  e v al u ati o n s  of  

N W D  b y  pr o vi di n g  a r o b u st  c o m p ari s o n   

gr o u p  a n d  a r eli a bl e i m p a ct  e v al u ati o n  

of  N W D. 4  

3.  A n I m pl e m e nt ati o n  a n d  Pr o c e s s 

E v al u a ti o n (IP E)  a cr o s s t h e s e  s a m e f o ur 

or fi v e l o c al  a ut h oriti e s, t o  u n d er st a n d t h e 

d eli v er y  d uri n g t h e r oll o ut  of t h e  m o d el. 

Pil ot  e v al u ati o n  pr ot o c ol ( S a n d er s  et  al.,  2 01 9) 

3   Tr ail bl a z er l o c al  a ut h oriti e s  ar e  n ot i n cl u d e d i n t h e i m p a ct  e v al u ati o n  of  S F P C 

4   Tri al  a n d I m pl e m e nt ati o n  a n d  Pr o c e s s  e v al u ati o n  pr ot o c ol ( S c h o e n w al d  et  al.,  2 0 2 0) 

2 

Page 70



1 5 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MET H O DS 
Researc h  q uestio ns 

T hi s  pil ot  e v al u ati o n  ai m e d t o  b uil d  o n 

pr e vi o u s  e v al u ati o n s  of  N W D. It  s o u g ht t o 

pr o vi d e  e arl y i n si g ht s i nt o t h e r oll o ut  of t h e 

m o d el, i n  a  L A  o ut si d e  of t h e  o n e i n  w hi c h 

it  w a s  d e v el o p e d,  d e v el o p  a n d r efi n e  a l o gi c 

m o d el  s etti n g  o ut  a  d et ail e d  u n d er st a n di n g 

of t h e  pr o gr a m m e t h e or y,  pr o vi d e  a n 

i n- d e pt h f o c u s  o n t h e  e arl y  st a g e s  of 

i m pl e m e nt ati o n,  a n d i nf or m t h e  n e xt  p h a s e 

of t h e  e v al u ati o n ( S c h o e n w al d  et  al,  2 0 2 0). 

T h e  pil ot  s o u g ht t o t e st t hr e e  o bj e cti v e s: 

E vi d e n c e  of  F e a si bilit y 

a.  W a s t h e i nt er v e nti o n i m pl e m e nt e d 

a s i nt e n d e d (i. e.  a s  s et  o ut i n t h e 

l o gi c  m o d el)  a n d i n  w h at  w a y  d o e s 

i m pl e m e nt ati o n  v ar y (if  at  all) ? 

b.  W h at  ar e t h e  c o nt e xt u al  b arri er s 

a n d f a cilit at or s f or  d eli v er y  of t h e 

i nt er v e nti o n,  a n d  ar e t h e s e  a c c ur at el y 

c a pt ur e d i n t h e l o gi c  m o d el ? 

c.  I s t h e i nt er v e nti o n  a c c e pt a bl e t o ( w ell 

r e c ei v e d  b y)  k e y  st a k e h ol d er s i n cl u di n g 

s e ni or l e a d er s,  st aff  a n d  pr a ctiti o n er s 

w or ki n g  dir e ctl y  wit h  c hil dr e n  a n d 

f a mili e s,  a n d f a mili e s ? 

E vi d e n c e  of  Pr o mi s e 

a.  I s t h er e  e vi d e n c e t o  s u p p ort t h e 

i nt er v e nti o n t h e or y  of  c h a n g e  a s 

s et  o ut i n t h e l o gi c  m o d el, i n cl u di n g 

t h e  m e c h a ni s m s  b y  w hi c h  c h a n g e 

i s  a c hi e v e d,  a n d t h e f a cilit at or s  a n d 

b arri er s t o  c h a n g e ? 

b.  I s  v ari ati o n i n i m pl e m e nt ati o n  p er c ei v e d 

b y  st a k e h ol d er s t o r el at e t o  o ut c o m e s, 

a n d  w hi c h  el e m e nt s  of t h e  m o d el 

ar e  p er c ei v e d t o  b e  c e ntr al t o it s 

eff e cti v e n e s s ? 

c.  W h at  p ot e nti al i m p a ct s  of t h e 

i nt er v e nti o n  d o  st a k e h ol d er s i d e ntif y ? 

d.  D o t h er e  a p p e ar t o  b e  a n y  u ni nt e n d e d 

c o n s e q u e n c e s  or  n e g ati v e  eff e ct s ? 

R e a di n e s s f or  Tri al 

a.  I s t h er e  a  cl e ar  d e s cri pti o n  of t h e 

i nt er v e nti o n  a n d t h e  c o nt e xt u al 

f a cilit at or s  a n d  b arri er s t h at  w o ul d  all o w 

it t o  b e i m pl e m e nt e d  a n d  e v al u at e d i n 

ot h er  pl a c e s ? 

b.  I s t h e i nt er v e nti o n  a bl e t o  b e  d eli v er e d 

c o n si st e ntl y  a cr o s s t e a m s ? 

c.  Ar e  a n y  c h a n g e s  n e e d e d t o t h e t h e or y, 

m at eri al s  or  pr o c e d ur e s  b ef or e r oll o ut ? 

A s  a  pil ot  e v al u ati o n, fi n di n g s  c a n  b e  u s e d 

t o  u n d er st a n d  h o w  N W D i s  d eli v er e d i n  a 

n e w  ar e a,  b ut  ar e  n ot  d e si g n e d t o  a n s w er 

q u e sti o n s  a b o ut t h e i m p a ct  of  N W D  o n 

o ut c o m e s.  T hi s  will  b e  c o n si d er e d i n t h e 

n e xt  p h a s e  of t h e  e v al u ati o n ( S c h o e n w al d  et 

al.,  2 01 9). 

Researc h desi g n 

T hi s  pil ot  e v al u ati o n  e m pl o y s  a  mi x e d -

m et h o d  a p pr o a c h, i n cl u di n g  b ot h  q u alit ati v e 

a n d  q u a ntit ati v e  d at a  c oll e cti o n  a n d 

a n al y si s.  T h e f ull r e s e ar c h  d e si g n  a n d 

m et h o d s  ar e  pr e s e nt e d i n t h e  pil ot  pr ot o c ol 

( S a n d er s  et  al,  2 01 9). 

Page 71



1 6 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 1. Data collected in this pilot evaluation 

I nt er vi e w s  wit h l e a d er s  a n d 
m a n a g er s 

F o c u s  gr o u p s  wit h l e a d er s  a n d 
m a n a g er s 

F o c u s  gr o u p s  wit h fr o ntli n e 
pr a ctiti o n er s 

I nt er vi e w s  wit h f o st er  c ar er s 

I nt er vi e w s  wit h r e si d e nti al 
w or k er s 

I nt er vi e w s  wit h f a mil y  m e m b er s 

T ot al  n u m b er  of i n di vi d u al s i n 
i nt er vi e w s  a n d f o c u s  gr o u p s 

5 f a mil y  m e m b er s 

O b s er v ati o n s  of  pr a cti c e 

S ur v e y  of  st a f 

A d mi n  d at a  P eri o d 

B a s eli n e 
( F e b  2 0 2 0) 

7 

N / A 

2 ( 4  att e n d e e s i n  e a c h) 

3 

3 

N / A 

21  st a f 

N / A 

N / A 

N / A 

J ul y -  S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0 

F oll o w- u p 
( M ar c h - J u n e  2 0 21) 

6 

1 ( 4  att e n d e e s) 

2 ( 4  att e n d e e s i n  e a c h) 

2 

N / A 

5 

2 0  st a f 

4 3 

4 

1 6 

O ct o b er -  D e c e m b er  2 0 2 0 

D at a C ollectio n 

B et w e e n  F e br u ar y  2 0 2 0  a n d J u n e  2 0 21 

w e  u n d ert o o k  a  s eri e s  of  d at a  c oll e cti o n 

i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h,  s p a n ni n g t w o  di sti n ct 

ti m efr a m e s.  B a s eli n e  d at a  c oll e cti o n 

( F e br u ar y  2 0 2 0)  w a s  c o m pl et e d  b ef or e 

t h e  n ati o n al l o c k d o w n.  E v al u ati o n  a cti viti e s 

pl a n n e d  at f oll o w  u p  w er e  a f e ct e d.  D u e 

t o  d eli v er y  d el a y s, t h e ti mi n g  of f oll o w-

u p  d at a  c oll e cti o n  w a s  d el a y e d (fr o m J ul y 

2 0 2 0 t o  M ar c h  2 0 21) t o  all o w f or  a  d el a y e d 

i m pl e m e nt ati o n  of  N W D i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h. 

F urt h er m or e,  all  d at a  c oll e cti o n  a cti vit y 

at f oll o w  u p  w a s r e q uir e d t o  b e 

u n d ert a k e n  virt u all y. 

B a s eli n e  d at a  w a s  c oll e ct e d i n  p er s o n i n 

F e br u ar y  2 0 2 0  d uri n g t h e  e arl y  st a g e s 

of i m pl e m e nt ati o n  a n d  b ef or e t h e  F F F 

s er vi c e  w a s  o p e n e d.  S e v e n i nt er vi e w s  w er e 

c o n d u ct e d  wit h l e a d er s  a n d  m a n a g er s  wit h 

o v er si g ht f or  s er vi c e s i nt e n d e d t o  d eli v er 

or r ef er t o t h e  N W D  m o d el. I nt er vi e w s 

w er e  al s o  c o n d u ct e d  wit h t hr e e r e si d e nti al 

w or k er s  a n d t hr e e f o st er  c ar er s.  T w o f o c u s 

gr o u p s  w er e  u n d ert a k e n,  o n e  wit h t w o 

s o ci al  w or k er s  a n d t h e  ot h er  wit h f o ur  s o ci al 

w or k er s t h at  w or k e d  wit hi n  c hil d  pr ot e cti o n 

a n d  c hil d i n  n e e d,  c hil dr e n l o o k e d  aft er,  a n d 

f o st eri n g t e a m s. 

F oll o w  u p  d at a  w a s  c oll e ct e d  virt u all y 

b et w e e n  M ar c h  2 0 21 t o J u n e  2 0 21  aft er  a 

Page 72



1 7 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

s u st ai n e d  p eri o d  of  e arl y i m pl e m e nt ati o n. 

T hr e e  p h o n e i nt er vi e w s  w er e  u n d ert a k e n 

wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  w er e  b ei n g 

s u p p ort e d  b y t h e  F F F  s er vi c e.  P h o n e 

i nt er vi e w s  w er e  al s o  c o n d u ct e d  wit h t w o 

p ar e nt s  a n d t w o f o st er  c ar er s ( o n e  F F F 

f o st er  c ar er  w h o  s u p p ort s  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

t hr o u g h  s h ort  pl a c e m e nt s  a s  p art  of t h e 

F F F  m o d el,  a n d  o n e  m ai n str e a m f o st er 

c ar er  w h o  w a s  s u p p orti n g  a  y o u n g  p er s o n 

F F F  w a s  pr o vi di n g  o utr e a c h  s u p p ort f or). 

Si x  vi d e o i nt er vi e w s  w er e  c o n d u ct e d  wit h 

s e ni or l e a d er s  a n d  m a n a g er s  wit h  o v er si g ht 

f or  s er vi c e s  d eli v eri n g  or r ef erri n g t o  F F F, 

i n cl u di n g t h e  F F F  m a n a g er  a n d  a  d e p ut y 

m a n a g er.  T hr e e  virt u al f o c u s  gr o u p s  w er e 

u n d ert a k e n,  o n e  wit h  F F F  p ortf oli o l e a d s 

a n d r e s o ur c e  w or k er s,  o n e  wit h  s o ci al 

w or k er s  w or ki n g  wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g 

s u p p ort e d  b y  F F F,  a n d  o n e  wit h f o ur  h e a d s 

of  s er vi c e.  F o ur  virt u al  o b s er v ati o n s  w er e 

u n d ert a k e n.  T h e s e  c o v er e d  a t e a m  m e eti n g, 

t w o  Ri s k,  A n al y si s, I nt er v e nti o n,  S ol uti o n, 

E v al u ati o n ( R AI S E)  m e eti n g s  a n d  a  gr o u p 

s u p er vi si o n.  T h e  s ur v e y  w a s  c o m pl et e d  b y 

1 6 r e s p o n d e nt s,  b et w e e n  2 5t h  M a y  a n d  4t h 

J u n e  2 0 21.  R e s p o n d e nt s  w er e fi v e  s e ni or 

r e s o ur c e  w or k er s, f o ur r e s o ur c e  w or k er s, t h e 

c o m m u ni c ati o n  s u p p ort  w or k er, lif e  c o a c h, 

p oli c e li ai s o n  offi c er  a n d  p oli c e  a n al y st, 

p erf or m a n c e  a n d i nt elli g e n c e  a n al y st, 

t h e  d e p ut y  h u b  m a n a g er  a n d  a  b u si n e s s 

s u p p ort  w or k er.  R e s o ur c e  w or k er s  w h o 

r e s p o n d e d r e p ort e d  b ei n g r e s p o n si bl e f or 

b ot h  h u b  a n d  o utr e a c h  w or k.  All  s e ni or 

r e s o ur c e  w or k er s  w er e  p ortf oli o l e a d s (f or 

Ri s k  M a n a g e m e nt,  H e alt h  a n d  A cti viti e s, 

E d u c ati o n  a n d  P ar e nti n g). 5 

S a m ple recr uit me nt 

a n d selectio n criteria 

P arti ci p a nt s  w er e  s a m pl e d  p ur p o si v el y 

t o  c o v er  a r a n g e  of  c h ar a ct eri sti c s.  W e 

5  O n e  di d  n ot  s p e cif y  P ortf oli o 

e n g a g e d  wit h  st aff  a cr o s s  a r a n g e  of r ol e s 

wit hi n t h e  F F F  s er vi c e.  W e  al s o  s p o k e t o 

st aff fr o m  a cr o s s  a r a n g e  of  s o ci al  w or k 

t e a m s  w h o r ef er  y o u n g  p e o pl e t o t h e  F F F 

s er vi c e.  F a mili e s i n vit e d t o t a k e  p art i n 

i nt er vi e w s  w er e t h o s e  w h o  h a d  w or k e d  wit h 

F F F  eit h er t hr o u g h  o utr e a c h  or  pl a c e m e nt. 

P arti ci p a nt s r e c ei v e d  st u d y i nf or m ati o n 

s h e et s,  a n d  writt e n  or r e c or d e d  c o n s e nt 

w a s  o bt ai n e d.  F or  y o u n g  p e o pl e  u n d er 

1 6  a  p ar e nt  or  c ar er  w a s  a s k e d t o  pr o vi d e 

c o n s e nt i n  a d diti o n t o t h e  y o u n g  p er s o n’ s 

o w n  a s s e nt t o  p arti ci p at e.  A  c o m pr e h e n si v e 

o v er vi e w  of t h e  s a m pl e r e cr uit m e nt  a n d 

s el e cti o n  crit eri a i s  pr e s e nt e d i n t h e  pil ot 

pr ot o c ol ( S a n d er s  et  al,  2 01 9). 

D at a  ma na ge me nt a n d processi n g 

I nt er vi e w s  a n d f o c u s  gr o u p s f oll o w e d 

s e mi - str u ct ur e d t o pi c  g ui d e s,  a n d 

w er e  a u di o r e c or d e d.  R e c or di n g s  w er e 

tr a n s cri b e d  a n d  p s e u d o n y mi s e d  pri or t o 

a n al y si s  u si n g  N Vi v o 1 2.  T h e  s ur v e y  w a s 

di stri b ut e d  u si n g  Q u altri c s. 

A nalysis 

Q u alit ati v e  d at a fr o m i nt er vi e w s, f o c u s 

gr o u p s,  o b s er v ati o n s  a n d  o p e n t e xt  s ur v e y 

q u e sti o n s  w er e  a n al y s e d  u si n g  T h e m ati c 

A n al y si s.  W e f oll o w e d  a  mi x e d  d e d u cti v e -

i n d u cti v e  a n d it er ati v e  a p pr o a c h - i niti all y 

d e v el o pi n g t h e  c o d e b o o k  b a s e d  o n t h e 

o v er ar c hi n g r e s e ar c h  q u e sti o n s,  h o w e v er 

all o wi n g f or i n d u cti v e  d e v el o p m e nt 

of  c o d e s  b a s e d  o n t h e  d at a  c oll e ct e d. 

T h e m ati c  A n al y si s i n v ol v e d l a b elli n g  d at a 

wit h  d e s cri pti v e  c o d e s  a n d  d e v el o pi n g 

t h e m e s  w hi c h  d e s cri b e  p att er n s  a cr o s s 

t h e  d at a t o  a n s w er t h e  pr e - s p e cifi e d 

r e s e ar c h  q u e sti o n s.  W e l o o k e d f or  p att er n s, 

c o n si st e n ci e s  a n d i n c o n si st e n ci e s  a cr o s s 

diff er e nt i nf or m a nt s  a n d ti m e  p oi nt s t o 

Page 73



1 8 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

h el p  u s  a n s w er t h e r e s e ar c h  q u e sti o n s.  T o 

e n h a n c e tr u st w ort hi n e s s  of t h e  q u alit ati v e 

fi n di n g s  w e tri a n g ul at e d  a cr o s s  diff er e nt 

r e s p o n d e nt s  a n d  wit h  diff er e nt  m et h o d s  of 

d at a  c oll e cti o n.  W e f oll o w e d  a tr a n s p ar e nt 

a p pr o a c h t o  a n al y si s  a n d r e p orti n g  a s  s et 

o ut i n  o ur  pr ot o c ol ( S a n d er s  et  al.,  2 01 9). 

I nt er pr et ati o n  of fi n di n g s  c o n si d er e d 

c o ntr a sti n g  a n d i n c o n si st e nt  a c c o u nt s,  a n d 

c o n si d er ati o n  of  c o nt e xt u al f a ct or s. 

Q u a ntit ati v e  s ur v e y  a n d  a d mi ni str ati v e  d at a 

w er e  a n al y s e d  d e s cri pti v el y, t o  pr e s e nt 

c h ar a ct eri sti c s  of  d eli v er y  a n d  a c c e pt a bilit y 

( h o w t h e  m o d el i s r e c ei v e d  b y  st aff  a n d 

f a mili e s).  T h e  n u m b er  of r e s p o n d e nt s f or 

e a c h  s ur v e y  q u e sti o n  v ari e s  d u e t o  s o m e 

mi s s e d  q u e sti o n s  or i n c o m pl et e  s ur v e y s. 

T h e r e s ult s  w er e tri a n g ul at e d t o g et h er 

wit h t h e  q u alit ati v e fi n di n g s, l o o ki n g f or 

c o n si st e n ci e s  a n d i n c o n si st e n ci e s  b et w e e n 

t h e  diff er e nt  d at a  s o ur c e s.  S ur v e y  a n d 

a d mi ni str ati v e  d at a  ar e  pr e s e nt e d i n t a bl e s 

i n  A p p e n di x  A,  a n d  s u m m ari s e d i n t h e  n e xt 

s e cti o n.  A r e vi s e d l o gi c  m o d el i s  pr e s e nt e d 

i n  A p p e n di x  D  b a s e d  o n t h e fi n di n g s  of t hi s 

pil ot  e v al u ati o n. 

Page 74



1 9 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FI N DI N GS 
Fi n di n g s f or  e a c h  of t h e r e s e ar c h  q u e sti o n s 

ar e  pr e s e nt e d  b el o w.  F or  e a c h  s u b - q u e sti o n 

(i. e. 1 a -  3 c  a s  s et  o ut i n t h e  m et h o d s 

s e cti o n  a b o v e),  w e fir st  pr e s e nt  a  s u m m ar y 

of fi n di n g s f or t h at r e s e ar c h  q u e sti o n.  T hi s 

s u m m ar y i s f oll o w e d  b y  m or e  d et ail e d 

fi n di n g s f or  e a c h i n di c at or  w e  s et  o ut t o 

m e a s ur e f or t h at  q u e sti o n.  T h e s e i n di c at or s, 

i n cl u di n g  a n y  s p e cifi e d t hr e s h ol d s,  w er e 

s et  o ut i n  o ur  pil ot  pr ot o c ol ( S a n d er s  et  al., 

2 01 9). 

Evi de nce of Feasi bilit y 

W a s t h e i nt e r v e nti o n i m pl e m e nt e d 

a s i nt e n d e d (i. e.  a s  s et  o ut i n t h e 

l o gi c  m o d el)  a n d i n  w h at  w a y  d o e s 

i m pl e m e nt ati o n  v a r y (if  at  all) ? 

S u m m ar y  of  Fi n di n g s 

I n it s fir st t hr e e  m o nt h s  aft er  S e pt e m b er 

2 0 2 0  w h e n t h e  s er vi c e  o p e n e d, 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e  s u p p ort e d 

4 4  y o u n g  p e o pl e t hr o u g h  o utr e a c h,  a n d 

s e v e n  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n  N W D  pl a c e m e nt s. 

T h e  a v er a g e  a g e  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  w er e 

c urr e ntl y  b ei n g  s u p p ort e d (i n  D e c e m b er 

2 0 2 0)  w a s 1 4,  a n d t h e  m aj orit y  of t h e s e 

y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g  s u p p ort e d  b y t h e 

s er vi c e  w er e l o o k e d  aft er ( 5 7 %).  T h e  s er vi c e 

w a s  w ell  st aff e d,  wit h  o nl y t w o  v a c a n ci e s 

r e m ai ni n g  o ut  of  3 0  p o st s t hr e e  m o nt h s  aft er 

t h e l a u n c h.  T h e s e  v a c a n ci e s  w er e r e s o ur c e 

w or k er r ol e s,  a n d  all  s p e ci ali st r ol e s  h a d 

b e e n fill e d.  T h e r a n g e  of i nt e n d e d  pl a c e m e nt 

o pti o n s  w a s  al s o  a v ail a bl e. 

A s i nt e n d e d  b y t h e  N W D  m o d el,  y o u n g 

p e o pl e  w or k e d  wit h t h e  s a m e  a s si g n e d 

k e y  w or k er t hr o u g h o ut t h e ti m e t h e y  w er e 

b ei n g  s u p p ort e d,  a n d  y o u n g  p e o pl e’ s  c a s e s 

w er e r e vi e w e d  at l e a st  m o nt hl y.  Cr e ati v e 

a n d fl e xi bl e  s u p p ort  off er e d  b y t h e  s er vi c e 

i n cl u d e d t ail ori n g  s u p p ort t o i n di vi d u al’ s 

n e e d s,  a n d fl e xi bilit y i n  pl a c e m e nt l e n gt h 

w h er e  n e e d e d.  T h e  pr o p orti o n  of  F F F  st aff 

w h o  h a d  c o m pl et e d r e st or ati v e  pr a cti c e 

tr ai ni n g  w a s  sli g htl y  b el o w t h e  e x p e ct e d 

8 0 % ( 6 8 %  at t h e ti m e  of t h e l a u n c h  a n d 

7 4 % t hr e e  m o nt h s l at er),  alt h o u g h  s ol uti o n 

f o c u s e d tr ai ni n g  h a d  b e e n  d eli v er e d t o  8 0 % 

a n d  9 0 %  of  st aff r e s p e cti v el y. 

D u e t o  C O VI D -1 9  s o m e tr ai ni n g,  st aff 

m e eti n g s  a n d  w or k  wit h f a mili e s  h a d t a k e n 

pl a c e  virt u all y  d uri n g t h e  e v al u ati o n  p eri o d, 

a n d l o c al  a d a pt ati o n s  h a d  b e e n  m a d e t o t h e 

N W D  Pr o v o c ati o n s  a n d  N o n- N e g oti a bl e s. 

W e i d e ntifi e d  a  n u m b er  of  w a y s i n  w hi c h 

pr a cti c e  w a s  c o n si st e nt  wit h  N ort h  Y or k s hir e 

C o u nt y  C o u n cil’ s  N W D  Di sti n g ui s h er s, 

N o n- N e g oti a bl e s  a n d  Pr o v o c ati o n s.  S o m e 

c h all e n g e s  wit h t h e s e i n cl u d e d fi n di n g 

a  s uit a bl e f o st er  c ar e  pl a c e m e nt f or  o n e 

y o u n g  p er s o n,  or i n v ol vi n g  all  a p pr o pri at e 

pr of e s si o n al s i n  m ulti - a g e n c y  R AI S E ( Ri s k, 

A n al y si s, I nt er v e nti o n,  S ol uti o n,  E v al u ati o n) 

m e eti n g s. 

I n di c at or s 

H o w  m a n y  y o u n g  p e o pl e  h a s 

t h e  s e r vi c e  w o r k e d  wit h,  a n d  w h at 

a r e t h ei r  c h a r a ct e ri sti c s ? 

T a bl e  2 i n  A p p e n di x  A,  a n d  Fi g ur e 1  b el o w, 

s h o w s t h at  w h e n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F 

s er vi c e  o p e n e d i n  S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0, t h er e 

w er e 1 4  y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g  s u p p ort e d  b y 

o utr e a c h  a n d  n o  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n  N W D 

pl a c e m e nt s. I n  D e c e m b er  2 0 2 0, t hr e e 

Page 75



2 0 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

Figure 1: Young people being supported by  Middlesbrough’s FFF service 

Y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g  s u p p ort e d  b y  N o  Wr o n g  D o or  

4 0  

3 0  

N 
u 

m 
b 
er

  
of
  

c 
a s

 e
 s 

 

2 0  

1 0  

0  
I n  h u b  pl a c e m e nt s B ei n g  s u p p ort e d t hr o u g h  o utr e a c h  

T y p e  of  N o  Wr o n g  D o or  s u p p ort  

S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0   D e c e m b er  2 0 2 0  

 

 

Figure 2: Statutory status of young people being supported by  Middlesbrough’s FFF service 

St at ut or y  st at u s  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g  s u p p ort e d  b y  N o  Wr o n g 
D o or  

8 0  

6 0  

P 
er
 c 

e 
nt
 a
 g
 e
  

4 0  

2 0  

0  
C hil d i n  N e e d   C hil d  Pr ot e cti o n   L o o k e d  Aft er  C hil d   Ot h er  e. g.  Pr e-

Pr o c e e di n g s  

St at ut or y  st at u s  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g  s u p p ort e d  b y  N o  Wr o n g  D o or  

S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0   D e c e m b er  2 0 2 0  

Page 76



21 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

m o nt h s  aft er t h e  s er vi c e  o p e n e d, t h er e 

w er e  4 0  y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g  s u p p ort e d  b y 

o utr e a c h  a n d fi v e  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n  N W D 

pl a c e m e nt s (t hr e e f ull ti m e  a n d t w o r e s pit e). 

T h e  a v er a g e  a g e  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e  at 

b ot h ti m e  p oi nt s  w a s 1 4 (r a n g e 11 -1 7). I n 

S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0,  5 0 %  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

b ei n g  s u p p ort e d  b y  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F 

s er vi c e  w er e  m al e,  a n d  8 6 %  of  y o u n g 

p e o pl e  w er e  W hit e  Briti s h.  B y  D e c e m b er 

2 0 2 0,  5 8 %  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w er e  m al e  a n d 

8 4 %  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w er e  W hit e  Briti s h . 

Y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  w er e  b ei n g  s u p p ort e d 

b y  F F F  a n d  w er e  n ot  W hit e  Briti s h  w er e 

r e c or d e d  a s  b ei n g ‘ A si a n  /  A si a n  Briti s h’, 

‘ Bl a c k  /  Bl a c k  Briti s h’, ‘ G y p s y  /  R o m a’, ‘ Mi x e d’ 

or ‘ Ot h er  Et h ni c  Gr o u p’. 

T a bl e  2 i n  A p p e n di x  A,  a n d  Fi g ur e  2  b el o w 

s h o w t h at t h e  m aj orit y  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

b ei n g  s u p p ort e d  b y t h e  s er vi c e  w er e  L o o k e d 

Aft er ( 7 9 % i n  S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0  a n d  5 7 % 

b y  D e c e m b er  2 0 2 0). I n  S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0, 

t h e  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  w er e  n ot  L o o k e d 

Aft er  di d  n ot  h a v e  C hil d i n  N e e d  or  C hil d 

Pr ot e cti o n  Pl a n s i n  pl a c e (f or  e x a m pl e t h e y 

w er e i n  pr e - pr o c e e di n g s).  B y  D e c e m b er 

2 0 2 0,  of t h e  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  w er e  n ot 

L o o k e d  Aft er, 1 3 %  w er e  C hil d i n  N e e d  a n d 

2 8 %  w er e  C hil d  Pr ot e cti o n. 

T h e  N W D  m o d el  pr o vi d e s  s u p p ort t o  y o u n g 

p e o pl e t hr o u g h  N W D  pl a c e m e nt s,  b ut  al s o 

pr o vi d e s  o utr e a c h  s u p p ort t o  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

li vi n g  wit h t h eir f a mili e s  or  w h o  ar e i n  n o n-

N W D f o st er  c ar e  or r e si d e nti al  pl a c e m e nt s. 

I n  S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0  w h e n t h e  s er vi c e fir st 

o p e n e d, t h e  m aj orit y  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g 

s u p p ort e d  b y  F F F  w er e i n f o st er  c ar e ( 6 4 %). 

A f urt h er  21 %  w er e li vi n g  wit h f a mil y  or  a 

c o n n e ct e d  p er s o n,  a n d 1 4 %  w er e  pl a c e d 

i n r e si d e nti al  c ar e.  B y  D e c e m b er  2 0 2 0, t h e 

m aj orit y  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g  s u p p ort e d 

b y  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e ( 5 3 %)  w er e 

li vi n g  wit h f a mil y  or  a  c o n n e ct e d  p er s o n. 

A f urt h er  2 2 %  w er e li vi n g i n f o st er  c ar e ( of 

w hi c h  2 %  w er e i n  N W D f o st er  c ar e  a n d 

t h e r e st  w er e i n  n o n- N W D  pl a c e m e nt s), 

2 0 %  w er e i n r e si d e nti al  c ar e, ( of  w hi c h  7 % 

i n  N W D r e si d e nti al  c ar e  a n d t h e r e st  w er e 

i n  n o n- N W D  pl a c e m e nt s),  a n d  4 %  w er e i n 

s u p p ort e d  a c c o m m o d ati o n  or  s u p p ort e d 

l o d gi n g s. 

Page 77



2 2 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

    

Figure 3: Place ment type of young people being supported by  Middlesbrough’s FFF service 

Pl a c e m e nt  t y p e  of y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g  s u p p ort e d  b y  N o  Wr o n g  D o or  

8 0  

P 
er
 c 

e 
nt
 a
 g
 e
  

0  

2 0  

4 0  

6 0  

Wit h  F a mil y  or 
C o n n e ct e d 

P er s o n  

F o st er  C ar e   N W D  F o st er 
C ar er  

R e si d e nti al  C ar e   N W D  H u b 
R e si d e nti al  C ar e  

S u p p ort e d 
a c c o m m o d ati o n 

or l o d gi n g s  

Pl a c e m e nt  t y p e 

S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0   D e c e m b er  2 0 2 0  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

B y  D e c e m b er,  2 4 %  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g 

s u p p ort e d  b y  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e 

h a d r e c ei v e d  s u p p ort fr o m t h e  p oli c e li ai s o n 

offi c er,  2 2 %  h a d r e c ei v e d  s u p p ort fr o m t h e 

c o m m u ni c ati o n  s u p p ort  w or k er,  a n d 1 6 % 

h a d r e c ei v e d  s u p p ort fr o m t h e lif e  c o a c h. 

D o  y o u n g  p e o pl e  e nt e r t h e 

s e r vi c e  q ui c kl y  a n d l e a v e  sl o wl y ? 

Y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g  s u p p ort e d  b y  F F F i n 

D e c e m b er  2 0 2 0  h a d  w ait e d  a n  a v er a g e 

of  2 3  d a y s  b et w e e n r ef err al  a n d r e c ei vi n g 

s u p p ort fr o m  F F F,  a n d  a n  a v er a g e  of 1 6 

d a y s  b et w e e n  b ei n g  all o c at e d t o  F F F  a n d 

r e c ei vi n g  s u p p ort fr o m t h e  s er vi c e. 

T h e  a v er a g e  n u m b er  of  d a y s  F F F  h a d  b e e n 

i n v ol v e d  wit h t h e  si x  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o s e 

c a s e s  h a d  cl o s e d  w a s  7 8  d a y s (r a n gi n g 

fr o m 11 t o 1 7 9).  T hi s  w a s l o n g er t h a n t h e 

p eri o d t h at  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  h u b  w a s 

o p e n f or,  b e c a u s e  s o m e  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w er e 

s u p p ort e d t hr o u g h  o utr e a c h  b ef or e t h e  h u b 

o p e n e d it s  d o or s. 

W er e  all  y o u n g  p e o pl e  s u p p ort e d  b y t h e 

s a m e  a s si g n e d  k e y  w or k er t hr o u g h o ut 

t h e ti m e t h e y  w er e  w or ki n g  wit h  F F F (i. e. 

n u m b er  of  c h a n g e s i n  k e y  w or k er) ? 

A c c or di n g t o  a d mi ni str ati v e  d at a i n 

D e c e m b er  2 0 2 0,  n o  y o u n g  p e o pl e  eit h er 

b ei n g  s u p p ort e d  b y  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s 

F F F  s er vi c e  at t h e ti m e,  or  w h o  h a d  b e e n 

s u p p ort e d  b y  a n d  s u b s e q u e ntl y  cl o s e d 

h a d  h a d  a n y  c h a n g e s i n t h eir  k e y  w or k er. 

All  st aff  s ur v e y e d  al s o  a gr e e d  or  str o n gl y 

a gr e e d t h at  y o u n g  p e o pl e  ar e  s u p p ort e d  b y 

a  c o n si st e nt  k e y  w or k er. 

W e r e  y o u n g  p e o pl e’ s  c a s e s 

r e vi e w e d  m o nt hl y ? 

It  w a s r e p ort e d i n t h e  a d mi ni str ati v e  d at a 

t h at t h e  si x  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  h a d  b e e n 

s u p p ort e d  b y  a n d  s u b s e q u e ntl y  cl o s e d t o 

Page 78



2 3 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e  b y  D e c e m b er 

2 0 2 0  h a d t h eir  c a s e s r e vi e w e d  w e e kl y  w hil st 

t h e y  w er e  b ei n g  s u p p ort e d  b y t h e  s er vi c e. 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h r e p ort t h at  c a s e r e vi e w s 

ar e  c o m pl et e d  a  mi ni m u m  of  o n c e  a  m o nt h, 

eit h er  b y t h e  k e y  w or k er  or  d uri n g t h e  gr o u p 

s u p er vi si o n. 

T h e  s ur v e y i n  M a y  2 0 21 f o u n d t h at r e s o ur c e 

w or k er s  a n d  s e ni or r e s o ur c e  w or k er s  w h o 

r e s p o n d e d r e p ort e d t h at t h e  c a s e s  of 

t h e  y o u n g  p e o pl e t h e y  w or k e d  wit h  w er e 

r e vi e w e d  m o nt hl y,  w hil e  s p e ci ali st r ol e s 

r e p ort e d t h at t h e  c a s e s  of t h e  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

t h e y  w or k e d  wit h  w er e r e vi e w e d  w e e kl y. 

W a s  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e t e a m 

str u ct ur e d  a s i nt e n d e d,  wit h i nt e n d e d 

pl a c e m e nt  o pti o n s  a v ail a bl e  a n d  8 0 %  of 

p o st s fill e d ? 

Place me nts available 

W h e n t h e  s er vi c e l a u n c h e d i n  S e pt e m b er 

2 0 2 0 t h er e  w er e  si x  N W D /  F F F r e si d e nti al 

c ar e  pl a c e m e nt s  a v ail a bl e.  T h e s e  w er e 

f o ur  s h ort- st a y  a n d t w o  e m er g e n c y  b e d 

pl a c e m e nt s.  A  s u p p ort e d  a c c o m m o d ati o n 

w or k er  w a s  al s o i n  p o st.  B y  D e c e m b er  2 0 2 0, 

t h er e  w a s  al s o  o n e  N W D /  F F F f o st er  c ar er 

pl a c e m e nt  a v ail a bl e,  w hi c h i s r ef err e d t o  a s 

a  h u b  c o m m u nit y f a mil y  wit hi n t h e  m o d el 

Pl e a s e  n ot e:  W e  a s s u m e t h at t h e  s u p p ort e d 

a c c o m m o d ati o n  w or k er, r ef err e d t o  a b o v e, i n 

p o st i n  S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0,  al s o  h a d t h e r ol e  of 

F F F f o st er  c ar er  /  h u b  c o m m u nit y f a mil y.  A 

l at er i nt er vi e w i nf or m e d t h at t h e  F F F f o st er 

c ar er /  h u b  c o m m u nit y f a mil y  c o ul d  pr o vi d e 

b ot h f o st er  c ar e  a n d  s u p p ort e d l o d gi n g s t o 

y o u n g  p e o pl e t hr o u g h t h e  F F F  s er vi c e. 

Recr uit me nt of  N W D staff 

T h er e  w er e  n o  s u b st a nti al i s s u e s r e p ort e d 

wit h r e cr uit m e nt  of  N W D  st aff.  Fi n di n g s 

( Fi g ur e  4)  s h o w e d t h at t h e  s er vi c e  w a s  w ell 

st aff e d i n  S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0  w h e n it  o p e n e d, 

wit h  2 5  of  3 0  p o st s ( 8 3 %) fill e d ( v a c a nt 

p o st s  w er e t h e  p oli c e  a n al y st,  o n e  of  s e v e n 

s e ni or r e s o ur c e  w or k er  p o st s, t h e  c a s u al 

r e s o ur c e  w or k er (f o st er  c ar er),  a s  w ell  a s 

t h e  h o u s e k e e p er  a n d  d o m e sti c  p o st s).  B y 

D e c e m b er  2 0 2 0, t hr e e  m o nt h s  aft er t h e 

l a u n c h,  o nl y t w o  v a c a n ci e s ( of  3 0  p o st s) 

r e m ai n e d,  w hi c h  w er e  a  s e ni or r e s o ur c e 

w or k er  a n d  a  c a s u al r e s o ur c e  w or k er (f o st er 

c ar er)  p o st,  al s o  k n o w n  a s  a  h u b  c o m m u nit y 

f a mil y. 

T h e t hr e e  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  m a n a g er 

p o siti o n s,  d e s cri b e d  b el o w,  will  b e  e m pl o y e d 

b y  N ort h  Y or k s hir e  u ntil t h e  S F P C  pr oj e ct 

e n d  d at e f or  Mi d dl e s br o u g h,  aft er w ar d s 

m o vi n g t o  b e  e m pl o y e d  b y  Mi d dl e s br o u g h. 

T hi s i s  u n d er  a  S er vi c e  L e v el  A gr e e m e nt 

( S L A)  arr a n g e m e nt.  N ort h  Y or k s hir e 

pr o vi d e d i n d u cti o n s  a s  w ell  a s  b ot h 

f or m al  a n d i nf or m al  s u p er vi si o n t o t h e 

t hr e e  m a n a g e m e nt  p o siti o n s  a n d l e d t h e 

r e cr uit m e nt  of t h e s e  p o st s. 

A  bri ef  d e s cri pti o n  of  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F 

st aff r ol e s  ar e  b el o w: 

•  O n e  F F F  s er vi c e  m a n a g er  o v er s e e s t h e 

s er vi c e.  T hi s r ol e i n cl u d e s f a cilit ati n g 

d e e p  di v e  m e eti n g s  a n d t e a m  m e eti n g s. 

T h er e  ar e  al s o t w o  d e p ut y  o p er ati o n s 

m a n a g er s -  a n  e d g e  of  c ar e  m a n a g er 

o v er s e ei n g  o utr e a c h  w or k  a n d  a  h u b 

m a n a g er  o v er s e ei n g t h e  s u p p ort f or 

y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  ar e  pl a c e d  at t h e  h u b. 

T h e s e r ol e s  ar e  c urr e ntl y  N ort h  Y or k s hir e 

C o u nt y  C o u n cil  p o st s. 

•  R e s o ur c e  w or k er s  u n d ert a k e  b ot h 

o utr e a c h  a n d  w or k  wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n 

N W D  pl a c e m e nt s,  a n d  c a n  b e  a s si g n e d 

a s  k e y  w or k er s f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e.  C a s u al 

r e s o ur c e  w or k er s  al s o  s u p p ort  wit h  w or k 

i n t h e  h u b.  S o m e  of t h e  c a s u al r e s o ur c e 

w or k er s  al s o  off er  pl a c e m e nt s  a s f o st er 

c ar er s  or  s u p p ort e d l o d gi n g s. 

Page 79



2 4 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

Figure 4: Recruit ment by  N W D launch date (Septe mber 2020) 

R e cr uit m e nt   b y  N o  Wr o n g  D o or l a u n c h ( S e pt   2 0 2 0)  

S er vi c e  M a n a g er  

D e p ut y  O p er ati o n s  M a n a g er  

S e ni or  R e s o ur c e  W or k er  

R e s o ur c e  W or k er  

C a s u al  R e s o ur c e  W or k er  

C a s u al  R e s o ur c e  W or k er 
( F o st er  C ar er) 

C a s u al  R e s o ur c e  W or k er 
( S u p p ort e d  A c c o m m o d ati o n) 

R 
ol 

e 
 

C o m m u ni c ati o n  S u p p ort   
W or k er  

Lif e  C o a c h  

P oli c e  Li ai s o n  

P oli c e  A n al y st  

D at a  A n al y st  

H o u s e k e e p er  

D o m e sti c  

0 2 4 6 8  

Fill e d   V a c a nt  

   T h e  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y t e a m  al s o i n cl u d e s 

a lif e  c o a c h ( cli ni c al  p s y c h ol o gi st), 

c o m m u ni c ati o n  s u p p ort  w or k er ( s p e e c h 

a n d l a n g u a g e t h er a pi st),  p oli c e li ai s o n 

o fi c er  w h o  w or k s  wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e, 

a n d  a  p oli c e  a n al y st  w h o s e r ol e i n v ol v e s 

i nf or m ati o n  s h ari n g  b et w e e n t h e  p oli c e 

a n d  F F F.  A  p erf or m a n c e  a n d i nt elli g e n c e 

a n al y st i s  al s o i n  pl a c e  w h o  m o nit or s t h e 

p erf or m a n c e  of  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F 

s er vi c e.  H o u s e k e e p er  a n d  d o m e sti c r ol e s 

al s o  s u p p ort t h e f u n cti o ni n g  of t h e  s er vi c e. 

•   S e ni or r e s o ur c e  w or k er s  h ol d r ol e s  a s  

p ortf oli o l e a d s,  o v er s e ei n g  s p e cifi c  ar e a s  

s u c h  a s ri s k  m a n a g e m e nt,  h e alt h  a n d  

a cti viti e s,  e d u c ati o n,  a n d  p ar e nti n g. 

•   A  s p e ci ali st  F F F f o st er  c ar er ( al s o  k n o w n  

a s  a  h u b  c o m m u nit y f a mil y  wit hi n t h e  

m o d el)  c ar e s f or  u p t o t w o  y o u n g  p e o pl e   

a g e d 1 4 +  at  a ti m e.  T hi s i s t hr o u g h  

f o st eri n g  or  b y  pr o vi di n g  s u p p ort e d  

l o d gi n g s,  u s u all y f or t hr e e  m o nt h s  o nl y.  

D uri n g t hi s ti m e, t h e  s p e ci ali st f o st er   

c ar er  a n d t h e t e a m  at  F F F  w or k s  wit h  

t h e  y o u n g  p er s o n  a n d t h eir f a mil y t o  

s u p p ort t h e  y o u n g  p er s o n i n t h eir  n e xt  

st e p s t o  a  p er m a n e nt  pl a c e m e nt.  T hi s  

st aff  m e m b er i s  al s o i nt e n d e d t o  b e  

a v ail a bl e t o  w or k  a s  a  c a s u al r e s o ur c e  

w or k er i n t h e  h u b.   

•

Page 80



2 5 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

G e n e r al  s u p p o r t  a n d  r e c r uit m e nt 

N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil  pr o vi d e d 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h  wit h i nt e n si v e  o n- g oi n g 

s u p p ort  pr e  a n d  p o st  c o m m e n c e m e nt 

of t h e  N W D  m o d el.  T hi s  s p a n s  g e n er al 

s u p p ort  wit h i n d u cti n g  F F F  st aff, f or 

e x a m pl e,  s h a d o wi n g  at  o n e  of t h e  N ort h 

Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil  N W D  H u b s. 

N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil  h a v e  al s o 

s h ar e d r el e v a nt  m at eri al s f or  p oli ci e s  a n d 

pr o c e d ur e s.  N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil 

l e d t h e r e cr uit m e nt  of  m a n a g e m e nt  p o st s 

a n d  s u p p ort e d t h e r e cr uit m e nt  of  s e ni or 

r e si d e nti al  p o st s ( p ortf oli o l e a d s)  a n d  ot h er 

st aff  p o siti o n s i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h.  N ort h 

Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil  pr o vi d e s  b ot h 

f or m al  a n d i nf or m al  s u p er vi si o n t o t h e t hr e e 

m a n a g e m e nt  p o st s ( w hil st t h e s e r e m ai n 

N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil  p o st s). 

St a k e h ol d e r  m a p pi n g  a n d  s u p p o r t 

N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil  s u p p ort e d 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h  wit h  m a p pi n g  o ut  k e y 

i nt er n al  a n d  e xt er n al  st a k e h ol d er s  w h o 

w o ul d  b e n efit fr o m  k n o wi n g  a b o ut t h e  F F F 

s er vi c e i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h,  a n d  d eli v er e d 

pr e s e nt ati o n s t o t h e s e t e a m s. 

C o m m u niti e s  of  Pr a cti c e 

N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil f o u n d e d 

a n d f a cilit at e d  C o m m u niti e s  of  Pr a cti c e 

( C O P)  a s  a l e ar ni n g  a n d  s u p p ort  n et w or k, 

c h air e d  b y  N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y 

C o u n cil, f or  e a c h  N W D r ol e.  T h e  C O P 

w er e  n ot  o p er ati o n al i niti all y  w h e n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h  w e nt li v e  wit h t h e  N W D 

m o d el, i n  S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0, r at h er t h e y  w er e 

d e v el o p e d  w h e n t h e f oll o wi n g t hr e e  L A s 

p arti ci p ati n g i n t h e  wi d er tri al ( b et w e e n 

A pril - J u n e  2 0 21)  h a d  al s o  g o n e li v e. 

W er e  8 0 %  of  st aff  w or ki n g i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e tr ai n e d i n  a 

r e st or ati v e,  str e n gt h s- b a s e d  a p pr o a c h ? 

Trai ni ng receive d 

R e q uir e d tr ai ni n g  v ari e d  d e p e n di n g  o n  st aff 

r ol e.  T hi s i n cl u d e d tr ai ni n g i n t h e  N W D 

m o d el, r e st or ati v e  pr a cti c e  a n d tr ai ni n g i n 

s ol uti o n f o c u s e d i nt er v e nti o n.  St aff  al s o 

r e c ei v e d tr ai ni n g i n  a r a n g e  of  m or e  s p e cifi c 

t o pi c s i n cl u di n g  att a c h m e nt t h e or y,  m e nt al 

h e alt h  a w ar e n e s s, tr a u m a i m p a ct  a n d 

r e c o v er y  a n d  p ar e nt al  c o nfli ct.  T h e f ull li st  of 

r e q uir e d tr ai ni n g i s  a v ail a bl e i n  A p p e n di x  B. 

Fi g ur e  5  s h o w s t h at i n  S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0, 

w h e n t h e  s er vi c e fir st  o p e n e d,  a d mi ni str ati v e 

d at a i n di c at e d t h at  6 8 %  of r e q uir e d  st aff 

(1 9  of  2 8 f or  w h o m it  w a s r e q uir e d)  h a d 

c o m pl et e d r e st or ati v e  pr a cti c e tr ai ni n g. 

8 0 %  of  st aff ( 2 0  of  2 5 r e q uir e d  st aff )  h a d 

c o m pl et e d  s ol uti o n f o c u s e d tr ai ni n g.  T h e 

N W D  m o d ul e  h a d  b e e n  c o m pl et e d  b y 1 2 

F F F  st aff  b y t hi s  p oi nt. 

B y  D e c e m b er,  a d mi ni str ati v e  d at a i n di c at e d 

t h at  7 4 %  of  st aff (1 7  of  2 3 r e q uir e d  st aff )  h a d 

c o m pl et e d r e st or ati v e  pr a cti c e tr ai ni n g,  a n d 

9 0 %  of  st aff (1 8  of  2 0 r e q uir e d  st aff )  h a d 

c o m pl et e d  s ol uti o n f o c u s tr ai ni n g.  T h e  N W D 

tr ai ni n g  h a d  b e e n  c o m pl et e d  b y  7 0 %  of  st aff 

(1 6  of  2 3 r e q uir e d  st aff ).  T h e  diff er e n c e i n 

st aff fi g ur e s  b et w e e n t h e t w o ti m e  p oi nt s i s 

d u e t o  st aff t ur n o v er. 

Page 81



2 6 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

Figure 5: Restorative practice training co mpleted by required sta f 

R e st or ati v e  Pr a cti c e tr ai ni n g  c o m pl et e d  b y r e q uir e d  st aff  

3 0  

N 
u 

m 
b 
er

  
of
  

st
 a
ff
  

2 0  

1 0  

0  
S e pt e m b er  D e c e m b er  

N ot  C o m pl et e   C o m pl et e  

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FFF staff ex perie nces of 
t he trai ni ng receive d 

St aff  s h ar e d  p o siti v e  vi e w s  a b o ut t h e 

tr ai ni n g  a n d r e p ort e d t h at it  w a s  w ell 

d eli v er e d  a n d i nf or m ati v e. 

St aff  w h o  h a d j oi n e d t h e  s er vi c e l at er 

r e p ort e d t h e y  di d  n ot r e c ei v e t h e  s a m e 

i n d u cti o n tr ai ni n g i n r e st or ati v e  pr a cti c e, 

alt h o u g h  st aff  at  N ort h  Y or k s hir e r e p ort e d 

a n  a gil e  a n d fl e xi bl e  off er  of  c o nti n u e d 

s u p p ort  a n d tr ai ni n g i n r e st or ati v e  pr a cti c e 

a n d  ot h er  k e y  ar e a s i s i nt e n d e d t o  b e 

pr o vi d e d t o t h o s e  w h o j oi n t h e  s er vi c e  at 

a l at er  d at e.  O n e  st aff  m e m b er  n ot e d t h at 

t h e y  still  h a d  a l ot t o l e ar n  a b o ut  w or ki n g 

i n  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e,  s u g g e sti n g t h er e 

m a y  b e  a d diti o n al tr ai ni n g  n e e d s f or  st aff 

m e m b er s  w h o  ar e  or  h a v e  b e e n  e m pl o y e d 

o ut si d e  of t h e  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e  c o nt e xt. 

W e r e t h e r e  a d a pt ati o n s t o  a n y 

c o m p o n e n t s  of t h e  m o d el,  a n d 

w h at  w e r e t h e s e ? 

Worki ng re motely 

T h e  m e eti n g s  w e  o b s er v e d  at f oll o w- u p 

w er e  all  virt u al  m e eti n g s,  or  h y bri d  m e eti n g s 

wit h  s o m e  st aff  att e n di n g i n  p er s o n  a n d 

s o m e j oi ni n g r e m ot el y.  T hi s  w a s  d u e t o 

pr a cti c al  c o n str ai nt s  w h er e b y r e s e ar c h er s 

w er e  o nl y  a bl e t o  att e n d  m e eti n g s t h at 

i n v ol v e d t h e  o pti o n t o j oi n  virt u all y.  T hi s 

s u g g e st s t h at  s o m e  m e eti n g s t a ki n g  pl a c e i n 

t h e  s er vi c e,  b ut  n ot  n e c e s s aril y  all  m e eti n g s, 

i n cl u d e d  st aff j oi ni n g  virt u all y. 

L ocal adaptatio ns 

O n e  s e ni or l e a d er r e p ort e d t h at i niti all y 

t h er e  w a s  a ri gi d  a d h er e n c e t o t h e  N ort h 

Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil  N W D  m o d el, 

h o w e v er i n ti m e t hi s  b e c a m e  m or e 

fl e xi bl e  a n d  s o m e l o c al  a d a pt ati o n s  w er e 

m a d e.  S o m e  of t h e  N o n- N e g oti a bl e s 

Page 82



2 7 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
  

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

a n d  Pr o v o c ati o n s,  a s  w ell  a s  p a p er w or k 

a n d  pr o c e s s e s,  w er e l o c all y t ail or e d i n 

p art n er s hi p  wit h  N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y 

C o u n cil t o fit  wit h t h e l o c al  c o nt e xt  a n d 

pri oriti e s i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h. 

T h e  a g e r a n g e  eli gi bl e f or t h e  s er vi c e 

w a s  al s o  a d a pt e d i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h t o 

11 -1 8,  sli g htl y  diff er e nt t o t h e 1 2- 2 5  a g e 

r a n g e i n  N ort h  Y or k s hir e  w h er e t h e 

m o d el  w a s  d e v el o p e d. 

W h at  c r e ati v e  o r fl e xi bl e 

u s e  of  s u p p o r t  w a s  off e r e d ? 

F oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w s i d e ntifi e d t h at t h er e 

w a s  s o m e fl e xi bilit y i n t h e l e n gt h  of ti m e 

y o u n g  p e o pl e  c o ul d  st a y  wit h t h e  s p e ci ali st 

f o st er  c ar er /  h u b  c o m m u nit y f a mil y, 

d e p e n di n g  o n  n e e d  a n d  a v ail a bilit y  of 

alt er n ati v e  pl a c e m e nt s. 

F oll o w- u p f o c u s  gr o u p s  a n d i nt er vi e w s 

i d e ntifi e d t h at  s u p p ort  pr o vi d e d f or 

y o u n g  p e o pl e  w a s fl e xi bl e  a n d t ail or e d t o 

i n di vi d u al s’  n e e d s,  wit h  st aff  a bl e t o  b e 

cr e ati v e.  F or  e x a m pl e,  s u p p ort  mi g ht j u st 

b e f or t h e  y o u n g  p er s o n,  or f or t h e  w h ol e 

f a mil y,  or it  mi g ht  b e  s e p ar at e i niti all y  a n d 

t h e n j oi nt l at er  o n.  Ot h er t ail or e d  s u p p ort 

i n cl u d e d  st aff r e g ul arl y t a ki n g  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

o ut t o  d o  a cti viti e s t o g et h er,  or  off eri n g 

p er s o n ali s e d,  pr a cti c al  s u p p ort, f or  e x a m pl e: 

h el pi n g  a  y o u n g  p er s o n  str u g gli n g  wit h 

p er s o n al  h y gi e n e. 

“It’s  a b o ut l o o ki n g  at  o ur r ol e  a n d  usi n g 
o ur s kills t o  m e et t h e  n e e ds  of t h e 
y o u n g  p e o pl e t h e  b est  w a y t h at  w e  c a n 
d o it.” [ F F F st aff  m e m b er, f oll o w- u p 
f o c us  gr o u p] 

I s t h e  m o d el  c o n si st e ntl y i m pl e m e nt e d i n 

li n e  wit h  Di sti n g ui s h e r s,  N o n - N e g oti a bl e s 

a n d  Pr o v o c ati o n s ? 

Pr a cti c e  wit hi n t h e  N W D  m o d el i s i nf or m e d 

b y  a  s et  of t e n  Di sti n g ui s h er s,  ei g ht  N o n-

N e g oti a bl e s  a n d f o ur  Pr o v o c ati o n s.  T h e s e 

ar e  a  s et  of  pri n ci pl e s  a n d  c or e  v al u e s 

i nf or mi n g  pr a cti c e  w hi c h  pr o m ot e  a  c or e 

off er  of fl e xi bl e  a n d  cr e ati v e  s u p p ort,  hi g h 

a s pir ati o n s f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e,  a n d  pr o m oti n g 

p er m a n e n c e f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e  wit hi n 

t h eir f a mili e s  or f a mil y  b a s e d  pl a c e m e nt s. 

W h e n i ntr o d u ci n g t h eir  F F F  s er vi c e, 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h  u s e d  N ort h  Y or k s hir e 

C o u nt y  C o u n cil’ s  N W D  Di sti n g ui s h er s,  b ut 

d e v el o p e d l o c all y t ail or e d  Pr o v o c ati o n s  a n d 

N o n- N e g oti a bl e s i n  p art n er s hi p  wit h  N ort h 

Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil t o  ali g n  wit h l o c al 

c o nt e xt  a n d  pri oriti e s i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h. 

T h e  N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil  N W D 

Di sti n g ui s h er s,  N o n- N e g oti a bl e s  a n d 

Pr o v o c ati o n s,  a s  w ell  a s  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s 

l o c all y t ail or e d  Pr o v o c ati o n s  a n d  N o n-

N e g oti a bl e s  ar e  a v ail a bl e i n  A p p e n di x  C. 

T h e  s e cti o n  b el o w  s u m m ari s e s i n  m or e 

d et ail  w h er e  w e  o b s er v e d  pr a cti c e t h at 

w a s  a n d  w a s  n ot  c o n si st e nt  wit h t h e s e 

pri n ci pl e s. 

Trai ni ng a nd s upport for staff 

C o n si st e nt  wit h t h e  N W D  Di sti n g ui s h er 

‘r o b u st tr ai ni n g  str at e g y’,  st aff r e p ort e d 

h a vi n g r e c ei v e d  a  c o m pr e h e n si v e tr ai ni n g 

p a c k a g e t o  s u p p ort  d eli v er y  of t h e  N W D 

m o d el,  a n d r e g ul ar  d e v el o p m e nt  d a y s  a n d 

o p p ort u niti e s t o r efl e ct  o n tr ai ni n g. 

C o n si st e nt  wit h t h e  N W D  N o n- N e g oti a bl e, 

‘ a  c o m mit m e nt  a n d i n v e st m e nt i n  st aff 

s u p p ort  a n d  b ei n g ri g or o u s  a b o ut 

h ol di n g t h e m t o  a c c o u nt ( hi g h  s u p p ort, 

hi g h  c h all e n g e)’,  st aff r e p ort e d t h at t h e 

F F F  s er vi c e  m a n a g er r e g ul arl y t o o k t h e 

t e a m t hr o u g h t h e  N o n- N e g oti a bl e s  a n d 

Pr o v o c ati o n s i n t e a m  m e eti n g s t o  s u p p ort 

a d h er e n c e t o t h e s e  pri n ci pl e s. 

Page 83



2 8 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
  
  

  

Part ners hip  worki ng a nd 
m ulti-age ncy approac h to risk 

I n li n e  wit h t h e  N W D  Di sti n g ui s h er ‘ cl o s e 

p art n er s hi p  w or ki n g’ , t h e  m e eti n g s  w e 

o b s er v e d  w er e  all  m ulti- pr of e s si o n al 

m e eti n g s  b et w e e n  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y  F F F 

st a f  or  wit h  m ulti- a g e n c y  p art n er s i n cl u di n g 

s o ci al  w or k er s  a n d r e pr e s e nt ati v e s fr o m 

e d u c ati o n  a n d  h e alt h ( s u c h  a s t e a c h er s  or 

t h e  s c h o ol  n ur s e).  F F F  st a f i n f o c u s  gr o u p s 

hi g hli g ht e d t h e  b e n efit s  of   h a vi n g t h e 

lif e  c o a c h ( cli ni c al  p s y c h ol o gi st)  a n d t h e 

c o m m u ni c ati o n  s u p p ort  w or k er ( s p e e c h  a n d 

l a n g u a g e t h er a pi st)  wit hi n t h e  s er vi c e.  F or 

e x a m pl e, t hi s  e n a bl e d  st a f t o r e c ei v e  a d vi c e 

a n d  g ui d a n c e   a n d f a mili e s t o r e c ei v e  dir e ct 

w or k fr o m t h e s e  pr of e s si o n al s.  F urt h er, 

h a vi n g t h e s e r ol e s i n- h o u s e  o v er c a m e 

w aiti n g li st s i n  e xt er n al  s er vi c e s.  F F F  st a f 

al s o  w or k e d  cl o s el y  wit h  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al 

c ar e  st a f  a s  w ell  a s  e xt er n al  p art n er s  s u c h 

a s  s c h o ol s. 

C o n si st e nt  wit h t h e  N W D  Di sti n g ui s h er 

‘ m ulti - a g e n c y i nt elli g e n c e l e d  a p pr o a c h t o 

r e d u c e ri s k’, i n f o c u s  gr o u p s  st aff r e p ort e d 

t h at  h a vi n g t h e  e x p erti s e  of t h e  p oli c e 

a n al y st t o i nf or m  a  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e 

a p pr o a c h t o fr e q u e nt  mi s si n g  e pi s o d e s 

w a s  b e n efi ci al.  T h e  R AI S E  m e eti n g s  w e 

o b s er v e d  pr o vi d e d  o p p ort u niti e s f or  dir e ct 

di s c u s si o n  a n d i nf or m ati o n  s h ari n g  b et w e e n 

a g e n ci e s i n  or d er t o i d e ntif y  a n d r e s p o n d t o 

ri s k s.  H o w e v er, it  w a s  n ot e d i n  a  c o u pl e  of 

i n st a n c e s t h at it  c o ul d  b e  c h all e n gi n g t o  g et 

att e n d a n c e fr o m  all i n v ol v e d  pr of e s si o n al s. 

“ S o f or  e x a m pl e, t h e y’ v e  d o n e  brilli a nt 
R AI S E  m e eti n gs  a n d  n o w t h e y’r e  n ot s o 
brilli a nt  b e c a us e s o m e  of t h e  p art n ers 
ar e n’t  g etti n g r o u n d t h e t a bl e.  S o s o m e 
h a v e  e v e n  b e e n  c a n c ell e d,  p ost p o n e d 
I  w o ul d s a y r at h er t h a n  c a n c ell e d.  S o 
t h er e’s j ust  a  bit  of s h ar p n ess t h at  h as t o 
c o m e  b a c k.” 

[ S e ni or l e a d er, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

Sta ble, local, fa mily base d place me nts 

C o n si st e nt  wit h t h e  N W D  Di sti n g ui s h er 

‘ al w a y s  pr o gr e s si n g t o  p er m a n e n c e  wit hi n 

a f a mil y  or  c o m m u nit y’,  w e  o b s er v e d 

di s c u s si o n s  a b o ut  a c hi e vi n g  st a bl e l o n g 

t er m  pl a c e m e nt s f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e.  W e  al s o 

n ot e d  pr a cti c e  c o n si st e nt  wit h t h e  N W D 

N o n- N e g oti a bl e ‘r e si d e nti al  c ar e  a s  a  s h ort 

t er m i nt er v e nti o n  n ot l o n g t er m  s ol uti o n.’ 

T hi s i n cl u d e d  u si n g  N W D  pl a c e m e nt s t o 

off er r e s pit e  or  s h ort t er m  pl a c e m e nt s,  a n d 

s u p p orti n g  y o u n g  p e o pl e t o r et ur n  h o m e  or 

t o f o st er  c ar e  pl a c e m e nt s  w h er e t h e y t h e n 

r e c ei v e  o utr e a c h  s u p p ort. 

I n  s o m e i n st a n c e s  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w er e 

m o v e d fr o m  o ut  of  a ut h orit y  pl a c e m e nt s i nt o 

N W D  pl a c e m e nt s,  w hi c h i s i n li n e  wit h t h e 

N W D  N o n- N e g oti a bl e ‘ c o m mit m e nt t o  d o 

w h at e v er it t a k e s t o  s u p p ort  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

wit hi n t h eir  c o m m u nit y ( n o  o ut  of  ar e a 

pl a c e m e nt s)’. 

H o w e v er, i n  o n e  o b s er v ati o n  st aff  di s c u s s e d 

w h et h er  or  n ot  a  y o u n g  p er s o n  w a s  s af e t o 

st a y i n t h e l o c al  a ut h orit y,  a n d i n  a n ot h er 

i n st a n c e  st aff  di s c u s s e d  a  y o u n g  p er s o n 

r e m ai ni n g i n  a  c urr e nt r e si d e nti al  c ar e 

pl a c e m e nt  w h er e  n o  s uit a bl e f o st er  c ar e 

pl a c e m e nt  w a s  a v ail a bl e.  Alt h o u g h t hi s  w a s 

al s o  n ot i n li n e  wit h t h e  N o n- N e g oti a bl e 

‘r e si d e nti al  c ar e  a s  a  s h ort t er m i nt er v e nti o n 

n ot l o n g t er m  s ol uti o n’, it  w a s i n li n e  wit h t h e 

wi s h e s  of t h e  y o u n g  p er s o n.  T hi s  s u g g e st s 

f or l o c al  a ut h oriti e s  n e w t o t h e  m o d el,  w h er e 

t h er e i s i n c o n si st e n c y  b et w e e n t h e  diff er e nt 

N W D  pri n ci pl e s,  s o m e  c a n  e n d  u p  b ei n g 

pri oriti s e d  o v er  ot h er s. 

“[ Yo u n g  p ers o n] is  d oi n g  v er y  w ell  at 
t h e  c ar e  h o m e.  He  v er b all y t ells 
e v er y o n e  at t h e c ar e  h o m e  h o w 
m u c h  h e li k es it t h er e.” 
[ F oll o w- u p  o bs er v ati o n] 

Page 84



2 9 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

N ort h  Y or k s hir e r e c o m m e n d s t h at  a 

hi er ar c h y  s h o ul d  b e  a v oi d e d,  a n d  all 

pri n ci pl e s  s h o ul d  w or k  al o n g si d e  e a c h 

ot h er t o  g et t h e  b e st  o ut c o m e s,  m e a ni n g 

t h at  w h er e  o n e i s  n ot  m et, t h er e  s h o ul d  b e 

eff ort s  m a d e t o  a c hi e v e it. 

Hi g h sta ndar ds a nd aspiratio ns 
for yo u ng people 

E x a m pl e s  of t h e  N W D  N o n- N e g oti a bl e, 

‘f or w ar d l o o ki n g  a n d  a s pir ati o n al’  a s  w ell  a s 

t h e  Pr o v o c ati o n s ‘ w h at  ki n d  of  a d ult  d o  w e 

w a nt t h e m t o  b e  at  2 5,  3 5,  5 0 ?’ i n cl u d e d  st aff 

e n c o ur a gi n g  a n d  s u p p orti n g  y o u n g  p e o pl e’ s 

e d u c ati o n  att e n d a n c e  a n d  a c hi e v e m e nt. 

I n li n e  wit h t h e  N W D  Di sti n g ui s h er, ‘ y o u n g 

p e o pl e’ ’s  a s pir ati o n s  dri v e  pr a cti c e,  st a f 

r e p ort e d li st e ni n g t o t h e  v oi c e  a n d  a s pir ati o n s 

of t h e  y o u n g  p er s o n  t o  dri v e  pr a cti c e. 

“ As f ar  as  as pir ati o ns,  as I s ai d,  o n e  of t h e 
y o u n g  p e o pl e is n’t  h a p p y i n  e d u c ati o n. 
I’ m  g oi n g t o  g o  d o w n t h er e  a n d  m a k e 
s ur e s h e is,  a n d  w e t al k  a b o ut t h eir 
as pir ati o ns  all t h e ti m e  a n d  c ar e er  a d vi c e 
a n d  w h er e t h eir f ut ur e is.” 
[ S e ni or l e a d er, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

C o n si st e nt  wit h t h e  N W D  N o n- N e g oti a bl e 

‘ hi g h  st a n d ar d s  a n d  a m biti o n s f or  all  y o u n g 

p e o pl e’  a n d t h e  Pr o v o c ati o n ‘ w o ul d t hi s  b e 

g o o d  e n o u g h f or  m y  c hil d ?’  st aff r e p ort e d 

t hi n ki n g  a b o ut  w h at t h e y  w o ul d  w a nt f or 

t h eir  o w n  c hil dr e n,  a n d  s u p p orti n g  s o ci al 

w or k er s t o  b e  m or e  o ut c o m e f o c u s e d i n 

t h eir r ef err al s. 

Key  worker co nsiste ncy 

C o n si st e nt  wit h t h e  N W D  Di sti n g ui s h er 

‘ hi g h  sti c k a bilit y  of t h e  k e y  w or k er’,  y o u n g 

p e o pl e  a n d  p ar e nt s r e p ort e d t h at t h er e  w a s 

c o n si st e n c y i n t h eir  k e y  w or k er s.  H o w e v er, 

it  w a s  al s o  m e nti o n e d  b y  s o m e r e s p o n d e nt s 

t h at i n  s o m e i n st a n c e s t hi s  c o n si st e n c y  h a d 

b e e n  aff e ct e d  b y  st aff t ur n o v er  or  st aff  n ot 

al w a y s  b ei n g  a v ail a bl e f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

or  s o ci al  w or k er s t o r e a c h, f or  e x a m pl e,  o n 

t h eir  d a y s  off. 

“ T h e  k e y  w or k er s ai d I’ m  h er e f or  y o u, I’ m 
g oi n g t o s u p p ort  y o u.  Yo u’r e  m o vi n g t o 
[f ost er  c ar er]  a n d t h e n  m o vi n g f r o m 
h er e,  a n d t h e n s h e  m o v e d  o n f r o m  h er 
j o b,  w hi c h  w as  q uit e  a l et- d o w n f or t h e 
y o u n g  p ers o n.” 
[ F ost er  c ar er, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

W e  al s o  o b s er v e d  di s c u s si o n s  a b o ut 

e n s uri n g  n ot t o o  m a n y  pr of e s si o n al s  w er e 

i n v ol v e d  wit h  a  y o u n g  p er s o n,  a n d  a b o ut 

h o w t o i ntr o d u c e  s p e ci ali st i n v ol v e m e nt i n 

a  w a y t h at it  w o ul d  b e  w ell r e c ei v e d  b y t h e 

y o u n g  p er s o n,  c o n si st e nt  wit h t h e  N W D 

Di sti n g ui s h er ‘f e w er r ef err al s, l e s s  sti g m a.’ 

“ St aff  M e m b er 1: [ Y o u n g  p er s o n]  h a s  a  v er y 

n e g ati v e  p er c e pti o n  of  pr of e s si o n al s  s o 

n ot  s ur e if  s e ei n g  a n ot h er  will  b e  b e n efi ci al 

e s p e ci all y if  h e t hi n k s  h e  d o e s  n ot  n e e d  a 

s p e e c h  a n d l a n g u a g e t h er a pi st. 

St aff  M e m b er  2:  B ut it’ s  h o w  y o u  pr e s e nt it 

t o  hi m.  Pr e s e nt t h e  s p e e c h  a n d l a n g u a g e 

t h er a pi st t o  hi m i n  a  w a y t h at  h e  c a n r el at e 

t o.” [ F oll o w- u p  o b s er v ati o n] 

E nter q uickly a nd leave slo wly 

I n li n e  wit h t h e  N W D  N o n- N e g oti a bl e 

‘ bri n g  y o u n g  p e o pl e i nt o  N W D  q ui c kl y,  b ut 

m o v e t h e m  o ut  sl o wl y’,  st aff i n f o c u s  gr o u p s 

d e s cri b e d i n st a n c e s  w h er e  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s 

F F F  s er vi c e  w a s  b ei n g  u s e d t o r e s p o n d 

t o  cri s e s,  a n d t h at it  off er e d  s u p p ort f or 

y o u n g  p e o pl e f or  h o w e v er l o n g t h e y  n e e d it. 

H o w e v er, i n c o n si st e nt  wit h t hi s,  o n e  s o ci al 

w or k er i n  a f o c u s  gr o u p  al s o  m e nti o n e d 

a n i n st a n c e  w h er e  a  y o u n g  p er s o n’ s  c a s e 

w a s  cl o s e d  a br u ptl y  w h e n t h e  c ar e  pl a n 

Page 85



3 0 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

c h a n g e d,  a n d  a n ot h er  m e nti o n e d t h at  w h e n 

y o u n g  p e o pl e  w er e i n  cri si s t h eir  c a s e s 

w er e n’t  al w a y s  o p e n e d  s uffi ci e ntl y  q ui c kl y 

b y t h e  s er vi c e,  s u g g e sti n g t h at it  w a s  h ar d 

t o  m e et t hi s  crit eri a i n  all i n st a n c e s. 

“ Li k e I s a y,  w h e n  y o u’r e i n t h at  crisis 
sit u ati o n  a n d fi g hti n g fir es l eft, ri g ht  a n d 
c e ntr e  a n d j ust tr yi n g  e v er yt hi n g t o  g et 
s u p p ort i n  pl a c e, it  c a n f e el li k e  a littl e 
bit  of  a  b attl e t o  g et t h e r ef er r al  a n d  g et 
t h e r ef er r al  a c c e pt e d.” 
[ S o ci al  w or k er, f oll o w- u p f o c us  gr o u p] 

W h at  ar e t h e  c o nt e xt u al  b arri er s  a n d 

f a cilit at or s f or  d eli v er y  of t h e i nt er v e nti o n, 

a n d  ar e t h e s e  a c c ur at el y  c a pt ur e d i n t h e 

l o gi c  m o d el ? 

S u m m ar y  of  Fi n di n g s 

T h e  n u m b er  of  c hil dr e n l o o k e d  aft er i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h  b ef or e i ntr o d u ci n g t h e 

N W D  m o d el  w a s  hi g h, i n cl u di n g  hi g h  u s e 

of  o ut  of  ar e a  pl a c e m e nt s.  T h e  Of st e d 

j u d g e m e nt  of ‘i n a d e q u at e’  w a s  s e e n  b y  s o m e 

a s  h a vi n g  cr e at e d t h e  c o n diti o n s t o  all o w 

s o m et hi n g  n e w t o  c o m e i n,  a n d  st a f  b ei n g 

r e a d y f or  a  c h a n g e. 

M o st  st aff r e p ort e d f e eli n g  c o nfi d e nt 

u si n g t h e  m o d el  a n d  st aff r e p ort e d  h a vi n g 

s uffi ci e nt ti m e t o t a k e  a d v a nt a g e  of t h e 

m o d el.  D e s pit e t hi s,  st aff r e p ort e d  diffi c ulti e s 

at ti m e s  m a n a gi n g t h e i nt e n s e  n at ur e  of 

t h e  w or k  a n d  c o m p eti n g  d e m a n d s  wit hi n 

t h e  s er vi c e i n cl u di n g  b al a n ci n g  s u p p ort 

f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n  N W D  pl a c e m e nt s 

wit h  o utr e a c h  w or k.  C o n si st e nt  wit h t h e 

l o gi c  m o d el,  h a vi n g  o p p ort u niti e s t o  b o n d 

a s  a t e a m  a n d r e g ul ar r e mi n d er s  of t h e 

Pr o v o c ati o n s  a n d  N o n- N e g oti a bl e s  w er e 

r e p ort e d  at f oll o w- u p t o  b e f a ct or s  w hi c h 

h el p e d  pr a cti c e. 

M o st  st aff r e p ort e d  s uffi ci e nt  b u y-i n fr o m 

l e a d er s hi p,  a n d r e p ort e d i nfl u e n c e s  of  N W D 

o n  wi d er  pr a cti c e, i n cl u di n g t h e  s pr e a di n g 

of t h e  Pr o v o c ati o n s,  N o n- N e g oti a bl e s,  a n d 

u s e  of  d e e p  di v e s, i nt o t h e  wi d er  c hil dr e n’ s 

s o ci al  c ar e  c o nt e xt. 

C o n si st e nt  wit h t h e l o gi c  m o d el,  g o o d 

li n k s  wit h  s o ci al  w or k t e a m s  w er e r e p ort e d 

t o  b e  h el pf ul.  H o w e v er, t h e  s o m e w h at 

i n d e p e n d e nt  n at ur e  of  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s 

F F F  s er vi c e (fr o m  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e) 

w a s  al s o t h o u g ht t o  b e  h el pf ul i n f a cilit ati n g 

e n g a g e m e nt  wit h f a mili e s.  Li n k e d t o 

t hi s,  cl arit y  o v er r ef err al  crit eri a  a n d 

diff er e nti ati n g  b et w e e n  o utr e a c h  s er vi c e s 

i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  w a s  a n ot h er  c h all e n g e 

i d e ntifi e d  b y  st aff  w e  s p o k e t o  at f oll o w- u p. 

I n di c at or s 

W h at  a r e t h e  v a c a n c y,  st aff t u r n o v e r 

r at e  a n d  c a s el o a d s ? 

T h e  v a c a n c y r at e  w a s 1 7 %  w h e n t h e  N W D 

m o d el l a u n c h e d i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h i n 

S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0 ( 5  of  3 0  p o st s  v a c a nt), 

dr o p pi n g t o  7 % ( 2  of  3 0  p o st s  v a c a nt)  b y 

D e c e m b er  2 0 2 0. 

T h e  a v er a g e  c a s el o a d f or t h e 1 5  k e y  w or k er s 

i n  p o st i n  S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0  w a s 1. 0 7 ( wit h  a 

r a n g e  of  o n e t o t w o  y o u n g  p e o pl e  p er  k e y 

w or k er).  T h e s e  w er e  all  y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g 

s u p p ort e d  b y  o utr e a c h  a s  n o  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

h a d  y et  b e e n  pl a c e d i n  a  N W D  pl a c e m e nt.  B y 

D e c e m b er  2 0 2 0, t h e  a v er a g e  c a s el o a d f or t h e 

1 6  k e y  w or k er s i n  p o st  w a s  2. 9 3 ( wit h  a r a n g e 

of  o n e t o fi v e  y o u n g  p e o pl e  p er  k e y  w or k er). 

D o  7 0 %  of  st aff  s u r v e y e d  p e r c ei v e 

t h e r e i s  s uffi ci e nt  b u y i n  a n d  s u p p o r t 

f r o m l e a d e r s hi p ? 

A c c or di n g t o t h e  s ur v e y, 1 5  of 1 6 

r e s p o n d e nt s ( 9 4 %)  a gr e e d  or  str o n gl y 

a gr e e d t h at t h er e  w a s  s uffi ci e nt  b u y-i n fr o m 

l e a d er s hi p f or t h e  N W D  m o d el. 

Page 86



31 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

W h at i s t h e  p r e - e xi sti n g  p r a cti c e  m o d el 

a n d  c ult u r e  a r o u n d  d e ci si o n  m a ki n g,  ri s k, 

r e si d e nti al  c a r e  a n d  p e r m a n e n c e ? 

Workforce co ntext before  No  Wro ng  Door 

St aff r e p ort e d  s o m e  w or kf or c e i n st a bilit y 

i n  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e  pri or t o t h e  N W D 

m o d el  b ei n g i ntr o d u c e d i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h 

t hr o u g h r e c e nt  c h a n g e s i n l e a d er s hi p. 

H o w e v er, t hi s  w a s r e p ort e d t o  h a v e  b e c o m e 

m or e  st a bl e  o v er ti m e.  St aff r e p ort e d t h at 

t h e  vi si o n  a n d  v al u e s  c o m m u ni c at e d  b y 

l e a d er s hi p  w er e t h at  c hil d  o ut c o m e s  w er e 

c e ntr al,  a n d t h er e  w a s  a n  e m p h a si s  o n  g o o d 

q u alit y,  cr e ati v e,  a n d  pr e v e nt ati v e  pr a cti c e. 

Pri or t o i ntr o d u ci n g t h e  N W D  m o d el i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h,  m o st  st aff i n  c hil dr e n’ s 

s er vi c e s t h at  w e  s p o k e t o r e p ort e d f e eli n g 

s u p p ort e d  a n d t h at t h er e  w a s r e g ul ar 

tr ai ni n g  a v ail a bl e t o  s u p p ort  pr a cti c e. 

S o m e  st aff r e p ort e d  u n c ert ai nt y  aft er t h e 

‘i n a d e q u at e’  Of st e d r ati n g,  a n d  w or kl o a d 

pr e s s ur e s  a n d  w or kf or c e i n st a bilit y 

s o m eti m e s  aff e ct e d  st aff tr ai ni n g  u pt a k e,  or 

t h e  a m o u nt  of  s u p p ort  a s si st a nt s  a n d t e a m 

m a n a g er s  w er e  a bl e t o  pr o vi d e. 

I n st a bilit y f or  s o m e  c hil dr e n  a n d  y o u n g 

p e o pl e  w h er e  s o ci al  w or k er s l eft,  w er e  si c k, 

or  w h er e t h er e  w er e tr a n siti o n s  b et w e e n 

t e a m s  w a s  p er c ei v e d t o  aff e ct r el ati o n s hi p 

b uil di n g  b et w e e n t h e  y o u n g  p er s o n  a n d 

t h eir  s o ci al  w or k er. 

Pre-existi ng c ult ure aro u nd decisio n- maki ng 

At  b a s eli n e,  st aff  s h ar e d t h at  m a n a g e m e nt 

a n d l e g al r e pr e s e nt ati v e s  s u p p ort e d  s o ci al 

w or k er  d e ci si o n  m a ki n g t hr o u g h  p a n el s. 

T hi s  pr o c e s s  w a s t h o u g ht t o  h el p  s h ar e 

a c c o u nt a bilit y,  h o w e v er  s o m e  s o ci al  w or k er s 

r e p ort e d  w a nti n g  m or e i n v ol v e m e nt i n t hi s 

d e ci si o n  m a ki n g  pr o c e s s. 

“ We’r e t h e  o n es’  d oi n g t h e  w or k  wit h t h e 
f a mil y  a n d  k n o w  w h at’s  g oi n g  o n.  S o I 
w as t ol d I’ m  n ot  all o w e d t o  g o  o n t h e 
p a n el  a b o ut  m y  c as e.  M y  m a n a g er  w e nt 
f or  m e. I  d o n’t  a gr e e  wit h t h at.” 
[ S o ci al  w or k er,  b as eli n e f o c us  gr o u p]. 

F a mil y  m e m b er s i nt er vi e w e d  al s o  d e s cri b e d 

e x p eri e n ci n g  d el a y s i n  d e ci si o n- m a ki n g 

fr o m  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e i n t h e  p a st, f or 

e x a m pl e  w h er e  s o ci al  w or k er s  n e e d e d t o 

s p e a k  wit h t h eir  m a n a g er s fir st. 

Pre-existi ng s upport for c hildre n i n 
care or o n t he e dge of care 

O n e  of t h e  k e y  ai m s  of t h e  N W D  m o d el 

i s t o  k e e p  y o u n g  p e o pl e  wit hi n t h e l o c al 

a ut h orit y r at h er t h a n  pl a c e t h e m  e xt er n all y. 

T h e  n u m b er  of  c hil dr e n l o o k e d  aft er i n 

o ut  of  ar e a  pl a c e m e nt s i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h 

b ef or e t h e  N W D  m o d el  w a s i ntr o d u c e d  w a s 

hi g h.  H o w e v er,  gi v e n t h e  si z e  of t h e l o c al 

a ut h orit y,  s o m e  o ut  of  ar e a  pl a c e m e nt s  w er e 

still  p er c ei v e d t o  b e  cl o s e  b y  g e o gr a p hi c all y. 

F or  e x a m pl e,  a n  o ut  of  ar e a  pl a c e m e nt i n 

a  n ei g h b o uri n g t o w n  c o ul d  b e j u st t w o  or 

t hr e e  mil e s fr o m  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  h u b. 

O n t h e  ot h er  h a n d, if  n e e d e d,  a  pl a c e m e nt 

c o ul d  b e  o v er  8 0  mil e s  a w a y fr o m t h e 

N ort h  Y or k s hir e  h u b  a n d  still  b e  wit hi n t h e 

l o c al  a ut h orit y,  alt h o u g h  N ort h  Y or k s hir e 

hi g hli g ht t h at t h e f o c u s  of t h e  N W D  m o d el 

i s t o  m ai nt ai n  y o u n g  p e o pl e  wit hi n t h eir 

f a mil y  or  c o m m u nit y,  w hi c h  w o ul d t a k e 

pr e c e d e n c e  a g ai n st  m o vi n g t h e m f urt h er 

di st a n c e s  wit hi n  a l ar g er  a ut h orit y.  Hi g h 

n u m b er s  of  c hil dr e n l o o k e d  aft er i n  o ut  of 

ar e a  pl a c e m e nt s i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  b ef or e 

t h e  N W D  m o d el  w a s i ntr o d u c e d  w a s i n 

p art  attri b ut e d t o li mit e d  a v ail a bilit y  of i n-

h o u s e f o st er  c ar e  pl a c e m e nt s  s uit a bl e f or 

t e e n a g er s r el ati v e t o t h e  n u m b er  of  c hil dr e n 

a n d  y o u n g  p e o pl e  n e e di n g  pl a c e m e nt s. 

Page 87



3 2 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

B ef or e t h e  N W D  m o d el  w a s i ntr o d u c e d, 

t h e  F a mil y  Gr o u p  C o nf er e n c e  T e a m 

off er e d  s u p p ort  wit h  c ar e  pl a n  c h a n g e s  or 

r e u nifi c ati o n.  A n I nt er v e nti o n s  T e a m  off er e d 

s h ort t er m  a n d  b e s p o k e  s u p p ort t o  p ar e nt s, 

c hil dr e n  a n d  y o u n g  p e o pl e t o  pr e v e nt f a mil y 

br e a k d o w n  or  s u p p ort r et ur n  h o m e.  St aff 

n ot e d  h o w e v er t h at t hi s  s er vi c e  h a d li mit e d 

c a p a cit y  a n d  a  w aiti n g li st. 

Pl a c e m e nt  st a bilit y  w a s  g e n er all y r e p ort e d 

t o  b e  g o o d  b ef or e t h e  N W D  m o d el  w a s 

i ntr o d u c e d i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h.  F o st er  c ar er s 

a n d r e si d e nti al  w or k er s r e p ort e d  p o siti v e 

e x p eri e n c e s  of fl e xi bl e  a n d t ail or e d  m ulti -

a g e n c y  s u p p ort f or  c hil dr e n  a n d  y o u n g 

p e o pl e, t hr o u g h  s er vi c e s  s u c h  a s  e d u c ati o n, 

t h e  virt u al  s c h o ol,  a n d  C A M H S.  St aff i n 

c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e  al s o r e p ort e d  p o siti v e 

r el ati o n s hi p s  wit h  m ulti - a g e n c y  p art n er s 

a n d  v ol u nt ar y  s e ct or  or g a ni s ati o n s  s u c h  a s 

B ar n ar d o’ s,  w h o  off er e d  s u p p ort f or  c hil dr e n 

a n d  y o u n g  p e o pl e.  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  al s o 

h a d  a  n e wl y  c o m mi s si o n e d  M e nt al  H e alt h 

Pr a ctiti o n er f or t h e  L e a vi n g  C ar e  S er vi c e. 

H o w e v er,  s o m e  st aff  n ot e d  a l a c k  of 

r e a dil y  a v ail a bl e  m ulti - a g e n c y  s u p p ort, 

a n d t h at  s er vi c e s t h at  w er e  a v ail a bl e 

w er e  o v er- str et c h e d  at ti m e s.  S p e ci ali st, 

cr e ati v e  a n d  m e a ni n gf ul l o n g t er m  s u p p ort 

f or  a d ol e s c e nt s i n  p arti c ul ar, i n cl u di n g 

pr e v e nt ati v e  s u p p ort,  w a s r e p ort e d t o  b e 

li mit e d. 

I s ( p r e - e xi sti n g )  p r a cti c e 

r el ati o n al  a n d  r e st o r ati v e ? 

At  b a s eli n e,  s o ci al  w or k er s  a n d r e si d e nti al 

w or k er s r e p ort e d  h a vi n g  b e e n tr ai n e d i n 

r el ati o n al  or r e st or ati v e  a p pr o a c h e s i n 

t h e  p a st, i n cl u di n g r e st or ati v e  pr a cti c e 

or  Str e n gt h e ni n g  Pr a cti c e.  F a mil y  Gr o u p 

C o nf er e n c e  w a s  a n ot h er  el e m e nt  of  pr a cti c e 

b ei n g  u s e d  b ef or e t h e  N W D  m o d el  w a s 

i ntr o d u c e d t h at  w a s r e st or ati v e. 

St aff i n  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e, i n cl u di n g 

r e si d e nti al  w or k er s,  al s o  d e s cri b e d r e c ei vi n g 

tr ai ni n g i n  Si g n s  of  S af et y  b ef or e t h e  N W D 

m o d el  w a s i ntr o d u c e d. 

D o  st aff f e el  p r e p a r e d  a n d  s u p p o r t e d  b y 

t h e i nf o r m ati o n, t r ai ni n g  a n d  s u p p o r t 

p r o vi d e d,  a n d  a r e t h e y  m oti v at e d  a n d 

c o nfi d e nt t o  d eli v e r t h e  m o d el ? 

It  w a s  n ot e d i n f oll o w- u p f o c u s  gr o u p s 

t h at  F F F  st aff  h a d  d e v el o p e d l ot s  of  n e w 

s kill s,  a n d t h at t h e  N W D  m o d el  w a s  w ell 

e m b e d d e d i n t h eir  pr a cti c e.  A c c or di n g t o t h e 

s ur v e y, 1 4  of 1 6 r e s p o n d e nt s ( 8 8 %)  a gr e e d 

or  str o n gl y  a gr e e d t h at t h e y f elt  c o nfi d e nt 

u si n g t h e  N W D  m o d el. 

T h e  s ur v e y f o u n d t h at  8  of 1 2  st aff ( 7 5 %) 

w or ki n g  dir e ctl y  wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e  a gr e e d 

or  str o n gl y  a gr e e d t h at t h e y  h a d  e n o u g h 

ti m e f or  dir e ct  w or k  wit h t h e  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

t h e y  w or k e d  wit h.  H o w e v er,  o nl y  7  of 11  st aff 

( 6 3 %)  of t h o s e  w h o  s ai d it  a p pli e d t o t h eir 

r ol e  a gr e e d  or  str o n gl y  a gr e e d t h at t h e y  h a d 

e n o u g h ti m e f or  dir e ct  w or k  wit h t h e  p ar e nt s 

or  c ar er s  all o c at e d t o t h e m.  F urt h er,  o nl y  9 

of 1 6 r e s p o n d e nt s ( 5 6 %) f elt t h at t h e y  h a d 

e n o u g h ti m e t o t a k e f ull  a d v a nt a g e  of t h e 

N W D  m o d el. 

W h at i s t h e l e v el  of  u n d e r st a n di n g  of, 

e n g a g e m e nt  wit h  a n d  s u p p o r t f o r t h e 

m o d el f r o m  s e ni o r l e a d e r s hi p,  p a r t n e r s 

( s u c h  a s  p oli c e  a n d  h e alt h)  a n d t e a m s 

m a ki n g  h u b  r ef e r r al s ? 

T h er e  a p p e ar e d t o  b e  a  hi g h l e v el 

of  s u p p ort f or t h e  N W D  m o d el fr o m 

s e ni or  m a n a g e m e nt  a n d l e a d er s hi p i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h,  a n d  g o o d r el ati o n s hi p s  a n d 

c o m m u ni c ati o n  b et w e e n t h e  F F F  s er vi c e 

m a n a g er  a n d t h e  h e a d s  of  s er vi c e s  a n d 

s e ni or l e a d er s hi p i n  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e. 

Page 88



3 3 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

S o m e  st aff r e p ort e d  c h all e n g e s f or  s o ci al 

w or k er s  diff er e nti ati n g  b et w e e n t h e 

diff er e nt  o utr e a c h  s er vi c e s  a v ail a bl e i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h, i n cl u di n g  F F F,  a n d  w hi c h 

s er vi c e t o r ef er t o i n  diff er e nt  sit u ati o n s.  T hi s 

w a s t h o u g ht t o  b e i nfl u e n c e d i n  p art  b y  st aff 

t ur n o v er i n  s o ci al  w or k t e a m s,  alt h o u g h  a n 

e -l e ar ni n g  m o d ul e  w a s  a v ail a bl e f or  n e w 

st aff t o i ntr o d u c e t h e  m o d el. 

Eff ort s  w er e i n  pl a c e t o  ali g n t h e  N W D 

m o d el  a n d t h e  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e  pr a cti c e 

m o d el,  a n d  st aff r e p ort e d  s o m e  u s e  of t h e 

N o n- N e g oti a bl e s  a n d  Pr o v o c ati o n s,  a s 

w ell  a s t h e  N W D  d e e p  di v e  a p pr o a c h i n 

c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e t e a m s. 

“ … w e’ v e  b e e n  a bl e t o  us e t h at  d e e p  di v e 
a p pr o a c h t o  d o  d e e p  di v e  a u dits  of 
c hil dr e n i n t h e  wi d er s er vi c e,  usi n g 
t h e s kills  a n d  e x p eri e n c e,  a n d  usi n g 
t h e  ki n d  of  q u esti o ni n g  a n d l a n g u a g e 
t h at  c o m es  wit h t h e  N o n- Ne g oti a bl es 
a n d t h e  Pr o v o c ati o ns.  W hi c h  h as  b e e n 
r e all y  h el pf ul i n t er ms  of  h el pi n g st aff 
u n d erst a n d  c hil dr e n’s j o ur n e ys …”  – 
[ S e ni or l e a d er, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e  w a s r e p ort e d 

t o  b e  w or ki n g  cl o s el y  wit h  e d u c ati o n 

p art n er s.  St aff i n f oll o w- u p f o c u s  gr o u p s 

al s o  n ot e d t h at t h e  F F F  s er vi c e  w a s 

b e c o mi n g i n cr e a si n gl y  w ell  k n o w n  a m o n g 

m ulti - a g e n c y  p art n er s,  s u c h  a s  p oli c e  a n d 

y o ut h  off e n di n g  s er vi c e s,  a n d t h at t hi s  w a s 

f a cilit at e d  wit h  p art n er s hi p  b o ar d s.  M ulti -

a g e n c y  p art n er s  w er e  al s o r e p ort e d t o  b e 

e n g a gi n g i n  d e e p  di v e s  w hi c h  e n a bl e d  g o o d 

r efl e cti v e  di s c u s si o n s. 

W h at  a r e t h e  r e a s o n s f o r  a n y  a d a pt ati o n s 

t o  d eli v e r y,  p e r c e pti o n s  of f a cilit at o r s 

t o  s u c c e s sf ul  d eli v e r y,  a n d  b a r ri e r s  a n d 

c h all e n g e s f a c e d  o r  o v e r c o m e ? 

A s  w ell  a s t h e  eff e ct s  of  C O VI D -1 9, 

ot h er  b arri er s  a n d  c h all e n g e s f a c e d 

i n cl u d e d  cl arit y  o v er r ef err al  crit eri a f or 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e,  diffi c ult y 

r e cr uiti n g  F F F f o st er  c ar er s, t h e i nt e n s e 

n at ur e  of  F F F  a n d  c o m p eti n g  d e m a n d s, 

a n d  c o m p ati bilit y  b et w e e n  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

pl a c e d.  S u p p orti n g i nt e gr ati o n  of t h e 

m ulti di s ci pli n ar y t e a m  a n d t h eir  d eli v er y  of 

t h e  N W D  m o d el  w a s  a f a cilit at or t o  m o d el 

s u c c e s s.  B ei n g  a  s er vi c e t h at  w a s  n ot 

d eli v er e d  b y  s o ci al  w or k er s  w a s f elt t o  b e 

b e n efi ci al,  b ut  m ai nt ai ni n g r el ati o n s hi p s 

wit h  s o ci al  w or k er s  w a s  still  c o n si d er e d 

i m p ort a nt.  M or e  d et ail  o n  e a c h  of t h e s e 

f a ct or s i s  pr e s e nt e d  b el o w. 

C OVI D-19 

It  w a s  n ot e d t h at  C o vi d  h a d  d el a y e d 

i m pl e m e nt ati o n  a n d  aff e ct e d  h o w  q ui c kl y 

t h e  s er vi c e  c o ul d  st art t a ki n g r ef err al s 

or  w or ki n g  wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  h a d 

b e e n r ef err e d.  St arti n g  a  n e w r ol e  d uri n g  a 

p a n d e mi c  w a s  al s o r ai s e d  a s  a  c h all e n g e. 

S o m e  s o ci al  w or k er s r e p ort e d i n st a n c e s 

w h er e it  w a s  diffi c ult f or  st aff t o  w or k f a c e t o 

f a c e  wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e  a n d f a mili e s  d u e t o 

C O VI D -1 9,  or  w h er e  p ar e nt s  or  c ar er s  w er e 

n ot  e n g a g e d  wit h  a c c e s si n g t h e  s u p p ort 

a v ail a bl e. 

Clarity over referral criteria for 
Middlesbro ug h’s FFF service 

A  k e y  c h all e n g e f or  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F 

s er vi c e  w a s  e n s uri n g t h e ri g ht r ef err al s 

fr o m  s o ci al  w or k er s.  F urt h er,  s o m e  F F F  st aff 

e x pr e s s e d t h at  s o m e  of t h e  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

w h o  ar e  pl a c e d i n  N W D  pl a c e m e nt s  di d 

n ot  n e c e s s aril y fit  wit h t h e  N W D  m o d el, 

alt h o u g h t h eir r e s p o n s e s  s u g g e st e d  s o m e 

u n c ert ai nt y  a b o ut  w h at  w er e t h e ri g ht 

c a s e s f or  N W D. 

Page 89



3 4 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“ … w e s e e m t o  b e  g etti n g r esi d e nti al  c as es i n 
e m er g e n ci es f or  e xt e n d e d  p eri o ds  of ti m e 
t h at  w o ul d  n or m all y  n ot  b e  a  p art  of 
N W D  d u e t o  n ot  m e eti n g t h e  crit eri a.” 
[ F F F st aff  m e m b er, f oll o w- u p] 

E n s uri n g t h e r ef err al f or m r e q u e st s 

a p pr o pri at e  d et ail  a b o ut  w h y t h e  s er vi c e i s 

n e e d e d,  a n d  h a vi n g  p h o n e  c o n v er s ati o n s 

wit h  s o ci al  w or k er s  a b o ut r ef err al s  h el p e d 

f a cilit at e t h e  a p pr o pri at e n e s s  a n d  q u alit y  of 

r ef err al s  m a d e t o t h e  F F F  s er vi c e. 

Diffic ulty recr uiti ng  N W D foster carers 

A n ot h er r e p ort e d  c h all e n g e  h a s  b e e n 

t h e r e cr uit m e nt  of  F F F f o st er  c ar er s,  al s o 

k n o w n  a s  h u b  c o m m u nit y f a mili e s.  P o s si bl e 

r e a s o n s  s u g g e st e d f or t hi s i n cl u d e d t h e 

C O VI D -1 9  p a n d e mi c,  a n  u n cl e ar  m ar k eti n g 

str at e g y,  a n d f o st er  c ar er s  n ot  k n o wi n g f ull y 

w h at t h e ( N W D / F F F) r ol e  will  e nt ail.  F urt h er, 

ot h er  p o s si bl e r e a s o n s i n cl u d e  p ot e nti al 

u n c ert ai nt y  ar o u n d  w h o t h e f o st er  c ar er s 

will  b e  c ari n g f or  a n d t h e l e v el  of  n e e d,  a s 

w ell  a s l o c al  c o n diti o n s  wit hi n t h e l o c al 

a ut h orit y. 

I nte nse  nat ure of  Middlesbro ug h’s FFF service 
a nd co mpeti ng de ma nds 

T h e  c a p a cit y  of t h e  s er vi c e r el ati v e t o t h e 

hi g h l e v el  of  n e e d i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  w a s 

s e e n  b y  st aff  a s  a  p ot e nti al  c h all e n g e.  S o m e 

st aff r e p ort e d t h at t h er e  h a v e  b e e n  w aiti n g 

li st s t o r e c ei v e  s u p p ort fr o m  F F F,  wit h  a 

n e e d t o  pri oriti s e  w h o  n e e d s t o r e c ei v e 

s u p p ort fir st  u si n g  a  R e d - A m b er- Gr e e n 

( R A G) r ati n g  s y st e m.  S o m e  st aff r e p ort e d 

f e eli n g t h at  a d diti o n al  N W D  h u b s  w o ul d  b e 

b e n efi ci al t o  m e et t hi s  n e e d. 

C o m p eti n g  d e m a n d s  b et w e e n  o utr e a c h 

a n d t h e r e si d e nti al  si d e  of t h e  N W D  m o d el 

w er e  al s o  n ot e d  b y  s o m e  F F F  st aff,  s e ni or 

l e a d er s  a n d r ef erri n g  s o ci al  w or k er s.  T h e 

ti m e -i nt e n si v e  w or k t o  s u p p ort  hi g h- n e e d 

y o u n g  p e o pl e, i n cl u di n g  mi s si n g  e pi s o d e s 

a n d i n ci d e nt s  g oi n g i nt o t h e  ni g ht,  w a s  al s o 

p er c ei v e d t o  c a u s e  pr e s s ur e  a n d  str e s s t o 

st aff  at ti m e s. 

“I’ m  a w ar e  of  o n e sit u ati o n  w h er e,  b e c a us e 
of t h e  y o u n g  p ers o n t h at t h e y  h a d 
[i n] r esi d e n c y i n t h e  h u b  at t h at ti m e. 
A n ot h er  y o u n g  p ers o n  c o ul d n’t  g et  as 
m u c h  o utr e a c h s u p p ort  as t h e y  mi g ht 
h a v e  d o n e  b e c a us e  of t h e  d e m a n ds  of 
c ari n g f or t h at  y o u n g  p ers o n  w h o  w as 
i n t h e  h u b.” 
[ S e ni or l e a d er, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

A f a ct or, t h o u g ht t o  b e  u s ef ul i n t h e  F F F 

st aff r e cr uit m e nt  pr o c e s s,  a n d  a  p ot e nti al 

miti g ati o n f or t hi s  c h all e n g e i n  d eli v eri n g t h e 

N W D  m o d el,  w a s t h at t h e  s er vi c e  m a n a g er 

f or  F F F  w a s  all o w e d t o  o v er-r e cr uit t o  st aff 

p o siti o n s. 

C o mpatibility bet wee n yo u ng people place d 

C o m p ati bilit y  b et w e e n  y o u n g  p e o pl e  wit hi n 

t h e  h u b,  a n d  s uit a bilit y  of t h e  a v ail a bl e  F F F 

f o st er  c ar e  pl a c e m e nt s  w a s  a  c h all e n g e 

i n  s o m e i n st a n c e s.  O n e  o c c a si o n  w a s 

d e s cri b e d  w h er e t h er e  w a s i n c o m p ati bilit y 

wit h  a  y o u n g  p er s o n  pl a c e d i n t h e  c ar e  of 

t h e  F F F f o st er  c ar er,  wit h  a  s u b s e q u e nt 

di sr u pti o n t o t h at  pl a c e m e nt.  T h e  hi g h 

n e e d s  of  s o m e  y o u n g  p e o pl e  pl a c e d i n 

N W D  pl a c e m e nt s  w a s  al s o r e p ort e d t o  b e 

u n s ettli n g  at ti m e s f or  ot h er  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

alr e a d y i n r e si d e nti al  F F F  pl a c e m e nt s. 

S u pporti ng  m ultidiscipli nary practice 

T h e  o p p ort u nit y t o  b o n d  a s  a t e a m, f or 

e x a m pl e t hr o u g h r e g ul ar  c h e c k-i n s  a n d  st aff 

c o mi n g t o g et h er f or  d e v el o p m e nt  d a y s,  w a s 

s e e n  a s  a  w a y t o  s u p p ort  pr a cti c e.  H o w e v er 

b uil di n g r el ati o n s hi p s  w a s r e p ort e d t o 

h a v e  b e e n  a  c h all e n g e  u n d er  C O VI D -1 9, 

Page 90



3 5 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

p arti c ul arl y f or  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y  st aff fr o m 

b a c k gr o u n d s  o ut si d e  of  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al 

c ar e.  H o w e v er,  o n c e  st aff  c o ul d  w or k 

i n  p er s o n fr o m t h e  h u b  a g ai n, t hi s  w a s 

r e p ort e d t o  b e i m pr o vi n g  a n d  st aff  w er e 

b e gi n ni n g t o  g et  a  b ett er  u n d er st a n di n g  of 

e a c h  ot h er’ s r ol e s. 

Ot h er  e n a bli n g f a ct or s t o  s u p p ort  pr a cti c e 

i n cl u d e d  a fl e xi bl e  a n d r e s p o n si v e  a p pr o a c h 

t o tr ai ni n g,  h a vi n g t h e  o p p ort u nit y t o 

i m pl e m e nt  s kill s i n  pr a cti c e,  a n d  h a vi n g 

r e g ul ar r e mi n d er s  of t h e  Pr o v o c ati o n s  a n d 

N o n- N e g oti a bl e s i n  s u p er vi si o n s  a s  w ell  a s 

t e a m  m e eti n g s. 

S h ar e d l e ar ni n g  b et w e e n t h e  F F F  d e p ut y 

m a n a g er s (i. e. t h e  h u b  a n d  o utr e a c h 

m a n a g er)  w a s  al s o f elt t o  b e i m p ort a nt 

b e c a u s e t h eir r ol e s  ar e  s u p p o s e d t o 

i nt erli n k,  e a c h  o v er s e ei n g  h alf  of t h e 

s er vi c e’ s  off er.  S o f ar,  o p p ort u niti e s f or t hi s 

w er e f elt t o  h a v e  b e e n li mit e d. 

Li nks bet wee n  N W D and social  workers 

St aff i n f oll o w- u p f o c u s  gr o u p s r e p ort e d 

t h at t h e  F F F  s er vi c e  b ei n g  d eli v er e d  b y  st aff 

w h o  ar e  n ot  s o ci al  w or k er s  w a s  b e n efi ci al. 

H o w e v er, it  w a s  al s o r e p ort e d t h at it  w a s 

u s ef ul t o  b e  w or ki n g  cl o s el y  wit h  s o ci al 

w or k er s, t o  e n s ur e r ef err al s  m a d e  w er e 

a p pr o pri at e  a n d t h at t h e  N W D i nt er v e nti o n 

w a s  ali g n e d  wit h  s o ci al  w or k  pr a cti c e. 

I n  w h at  w a y s  ar e  y o u n g  p e o pl e’ s 

c h ar a ct eri sti c s  a n d  ar e a  c h ar a ct eri sti c s 

p er c ei v e d t o  aff e ct  d eli v er y  a n d  o ut c o m e s ? 

N W D as part of an i mprove ment journey 

At  b a s eli n e,  st aff i d e ntifi e d  hi g h l e v el s 

of  n e e d i n t h e l o c al  ar e a,  a n d  n ot e d 

c h all e n g e s  of i ntr o d u ci n g  a  n e w  m o d el 

i n t h e  c o nt e xt  of t h e  Of st e d j u d g e m e nt  of 

i n a d e q u at e.  H o w e v er,  at f oll o w- u p  s o m e 

st aff f elt t h at t h eir i n a d e q u at e  Of st e d r ati n g 

a n d i m pl e m e nti n g  N W D  a s  p art  of t h eir 

i m pr o v e m e nt j o ur n e y  a ct u all y  cr e at e d 

t h e  c o n diti o n s f or  st aff t o  b e r e a d y f or 

s o m et hi n g  n e w,  a n d  s o t h e  m o d el l a n d e d 

w ell.  O n e  st aff  m e m b er  c o m m e nt e d t h at 

gi v e n t h e  u ni q u e  cir c u m st a n c e s, t h at  ot h er 

ar e a s  m a y  n ot  yi el d t h e  s a m e r e s ult s  w h e n 

i m pl e m e nti n g  N W D. 

“I r e all y t hi n k it’ s  gr e at,  b ut I  d o n’t t hi n k t h at 

y o u  c o ul d  c ar b o n  c o p y  w h at  w e’ v e  g ot i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h  a n d  h a v e t h e  s a m e r e s ult s. I 

t hi n k  w e j u st  n e e d e d it  s o  b a d  at t h at ti m e, 

w hi c h i s  w h y it’ s l a n d e d  w ell, it’ s  w or ki n g 

w ell, it’ s  h a d r e all y  g o o d r e s ult s.”  – [ S e ni or 

l e a d er, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

S e ni or  st aff  at f oll o w- u p  al s o r e p ort e d 

t h er e’ s  b e e n  a l ot  of  c h a n g e i n t er m s  of 

m a n a g e m e nt i n  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e i n 

a d diti o n t o  c h a n g e s t o t h e  pri n ci p al  s o ci al 

w or k er. It  w a s  al s o  n ot e d t h at r e c e nt 

c h a n g e s i n  s e ni or l e a d er s hi p,  a n d  a r e c e ntl y 

c o m mi s si o n e d  s o ci al  w or k t e a m t o  s u p p ort 

p er m a n e n c e  m a y  al s o  h a v e  c o ntri b ut e d t o 

o ut c o m e s f or  c hil dr e n  a n d  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h. 

Local aut hority size 

S o m e  st aff  n ot e d t h at  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  w a s  a 

s m all l o c al  a ut h orit y.  W hil e i n  a l ar g er l o c al 

a ut h orit y,  s u c h  a s  N ort h  Y or k s hir e,  a  y o u n g 

p er s o n  c o ul d  b e  m o v e d t o  a  n e w  pl a c e m e nt 

s uffi ci e ntl y f ar fr o m  a n  ar e a  w h er e t h e y  w er e 

at ri s k  a n d r e m ai n  wit hi n t h e  c o u ntr y, t h at 

w a s  h ar d er t o  d o i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h. 

Yo u ng people’s c haracteristics 

S o m e  st aff i n f oll o w- u p f o c u s  gr o u p s 

r e p ort e d f e eli n g t h at  y o u n g  p e o pl e’ s  c a s e s 

w hi c h  w er e  c o n si d er e d t o  b e  of  hi g h er 

ur g e n c y  or  c o m pl e xit y  w er e  pri oriti s e d 

at ti m e s.  F or  e x a m pl e,  s u p p ort f or  y o u n g 

p e o pl e  o n t h e  e d g e  of  c ar e,  w a s f elt  b y 

s o ci al  w or k er s t o  b e  pri oriti s e d  at ti m e s  o v er 

Page 91



3 6 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 
 
 

  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

s u p p orti n g  y o u n g  p e o pl e  alr e a d y i n  c ar e, 

gi v e n t h e ti m e - s e n siti vit y  of  pr e v e nti n g 

e ntr y t o  c ar e. 

“ We  c o m e f r o m  a  p ositi o n  w h er e  o ur 
c hil dr e n  ar e  alr e a d y i n  c ar e,  a n d  y o u  ar e 
c o mi n g f r o m  a  p ositi o n  w h er e t h e y’r e  o n 
t h e  e d g e  of  c ar e  a n d i n  crisis  at  h o m e. 
S o  a ct u all y t h e y’r e  m or e  at ris k” 
[ S o ci al  w or k er, f oll o w- u p f o c us  gr o u p]. 

I n  c o ntr a st,  ot h er  s o ci al  w or k er s  n ot e d t h at 

it  c o ul d  b e  h ar d  at ti m e s f or  F F F  st aff t o 

m a k e ti m e f or  o utr e a c h  w or k  w h e n t h e y 

w er e  w or ki n g i nt e n si v el y  wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

pl a c e d i n t h e  h u b  w h o  h a d  hi g h  n e e d s. It 

w a s  al s o  n ot e d  b y  s o m e  s o ci al  w or k er s i n  a 

f oll o w- u p f o c u s  gr o u p t h at t h e  c o m p ati bilit y 

of  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n t h e  h u b  w a s  a n 

i m p ort a nt  c o n si d er ati o n f or  w h et h er  or  n ot 

c ert ai n  y o u n g  p e o pl e  c o ul d  b e  pl a c e d t h er e. 

A  c o u pl e  of  st aff i n f oll o w- u p f o c u s  gr o u p s 

n ot e d t h at  pr e v e nt ati v e  s u p p ort  n ot 

c urr e ntl y  off er e d  c o ul d  b e n efit  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

b el o w t h e  a g e  gr o u p  c urr e ntl y  s er v e d  b y 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e. 

W h at  s u st ai n a bilit y  pl a n ni n g i s i n  pl a c e ? 

T h e  k e y  c o m p o n e nt  of  s u st ai n a bilit y 

pl a n ni n g  w hi c h  w a s i d e ntifi e d i n t h e 

f oll o w- u p f o c u s  gr o u p  h el d  wit h  h e a d s 

of  s er vi c e,  w a s t h e  st e p s  b ei n g t a k e n t o 

ali g n t h e  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e  pr a cti c e 

m o d el,  p oli ci e s  a n d  g ui d a n c e  wit h t h e 

N W D  a p pr o a c h.  S e ni or l e a d er s r e p ort e d 

pl a n s t o r efi n e t h e  d e v el o p m e nt  pl a n  a n d 

pr a cti c e fr a m e w or k  a s  p art  of t h e  o n g oi n g 

i m pr o v e m e nt j o ur n e y.  T hi s  w a s  e x p e ct e d t o 

f a cilit at e  a  cl e ar  a n d  c o n si st e nt  a p pr o a c h 

a cr o s s  c hil dr e n’ s  s er vi c e s. 

S e ni or l e a d er s r e p ort e d t h at  alt h o u g h t h er e 

ar e  n o fir m  pl a n s  y et i n t er m s  of fi n a n ci n g 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e i n t h e f ut ur e, 

t h er e i s  a  str o n g  c o m mit m e nt t o  c o nti n ui n g 

t h e  pr oj e ct,  a n d t h e y  ar e i n t h e  pr o c e s s  of 

b u d g et  pl a n ni n g f or t h e  n e xt t hr e e  y e ar s 

a n d l o o ki n g i nt o  h o w t h e y  m ai n str e a m t h e 

pr oj e ct  a n d  off er it t o  a  br o a d er  c o h ort. It 

w a s  n ot e d t h at r e d u ci n g  s p e n d  o n  e xt er n al 

r e si d e nti al  pl a c e m e nt s  w a s  a  k e y f a ct or 

e x p e ct e d t o  s u p p ort  s u st ai n a bilit y  of t h e 

N W D  m o d el,  a n d t h at i n cr e a si n g t h e 

c a p a cit y  a n d r e a c h  of t h e  F F F  s er vi c e  w a s 

u n d er  c o n si d er ati o n. 

I s t h e i nt e r v e nti o n  a c c e pt a bl e t o ( w ell 

r e c ei v e d  b y)  k e y  st a k e h ol d e r s i n cl u di n g 

s e ni o r l e a d e r s,  st aff  a n d  p r a ctiti o n e r s 

w o r ki n g  di r e ctl y  wit h  c hil d r e n  a n d 

f a mili e s,  a n d f a mili e s ? 

S u m m ar y  of  Fi n di n g s 

At f oll o w- u p,  m o st  F F F  st aff r e p ort e d f e eli n g 

p o siti v e  a b o ut t h eir  e x p eri e n c e  s o f ar  a n d 

s ati sfi e d  wit h t h e tr ai ni n g  a n d i nf or m ati o n 

pr o vi d e d.  S o m e f a mil y  m e m b er s  s h ar e d t h at 

t h e y  h a d  str o n g r el ati o n s hi p s  wit h  F F F  st aff 

a n d r e p ort e d  e x p eri e n ci n g i nt e n si v e  a n d 

r e s p o n si v e  s u p p ort fr o m  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s 

F F F  s er vi c e.  F F F  st aff  w er e r e p ort e d t o  w or k 

h ar d t o  b uil d r el ati o n s hi p s  wit h f a mili e s, 

a n d  b ei n g  a bl e t o t a k e  y o u n g  p e o pl e  o ut 

o n  a cti viti e s  a p p e ar s t o  b e  a  k e y  p art  of 

r el ati o n s hi p  b uil di n g.  F F F  st aff f e el t h e y 

h a v e  h a d  a  p o siti v e r e s p o n s e fr o m f a mili e s. 

F a mil y  m e m b er s  d e s cri b e d  s u p p ort fr o m 

F F F  a s  a d dr e s si n g  n e e d s  w hi c h  h a v e  b e e n 

l eft  u n m et f or  y e ar s.  H o w e v er,  p ar e nt s 

e x pr e s s e d t h at t h e y  w o ul d  h a v e  pr ef err e d 

t h e  s u p p ort  e arli er, r at h er t h a n it t a ki n g  a 

m aj or i n ci d e nt t o  h a p p e n  b ef or e r e c ei vi n g it. 

S o m e  st aff r e p ort e d t h at t h e  m o d el  m a y  b e 

f urt h er i m pr o v e d  b y r e vi e wi n g t h e  crit eri a 

f or  h u b  pl a c e m e nt s  a n d  al s o t h e  d ur ati o n  of 

pl a c e m e nt  wit h t h e  N W D f o st er  c ar er s. 

Page 92



3 7 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

I n di c at or s 

I s t h e  m o d el  w ell  r e c ei v e d  b y 

7 0 %  of  st aff ? 

A c c or di n g t o t h e f oll o w- u p  s ur v e y  wit h 

F F F  st aff, 1 3  of 1 6 r e s p o n d e nt s ( 81 %) 

r e p ort e d t h at t h eir  e x p eri e n c e  s o f ar  h a d 

b e e n  p o siti v e  or  v er y  p o siti v e,  a n d 1 0 0 %  of 

r e s p o n d e nt s  w er e  s ati sfi e d  or  v er y  s ati sfi e d 

wit h t h e i nf or m ati o n  a n d tr ai ni n g  pr o vi d e d i n 

r el ati o n t o  N W D. 

T h e  F F F t e a m  w a s  al s o  g e n er all y  w ell 

r e g ar d e d  b y  wi d er  st aff  o ut si d e t h e 

s er vi c e, i n cl u di n g  s o ci al  w or k er s.  Alt h o u g h 

s o ci al  w or k er s  c o m m e nt e d  o n  c h all e n g e s 

m ai nt ai ni n g t h e  p a c e  of t h e  o utr e a c h  w or k 

a n d  e n s uri n g  st a bilit y  wit hi n t h e t e a m, t h e y 

al s o  s h ar e d  e x p eri e n c e s  of  s o m e  p o siti v e 

w or k  c o m pl et e d  b y t h e  s er vi c e. 

A r e  7 0 %  of  st aff  s ati sfi e d i n t h ei r j o b s  a n d 

i nt e n d t o  r e m ai n i n t h ei r  r ol e s ? 

A c c or di n g t o t h e  s ur v e y, 1 3  of 1 6 

r e s p o n d e nt s ( 81 %)  a gr e e d  or  str o n gl y 

a gr e e d t h at t h e y f elt  s ati sfi e d i n t h eir j o b, 

a n d 1 5  of 1 6 r e s p o n d e nt s ( 9 4 %) r e p ort e d 

t h at t h e y  w er e li k el y  or  v er y li k el y t o  st a y i n 

t h e  F F F t e a m f or t h e  n e xt 1 2  m o nt h s. 

F a mil y  vi e w s ( a c c e pt a bilit y)  of t h e  m o d el, 

t h ei r  e x p e ri e n c e  of t h e  s u p p o r t  p r o vi d e d, 

a n d  h o w  w ell  st aff  b uilt  r el ati o n s hi p s  wit h 

y o u n g  p e o pl e 

F a mili e s r e p ort e d  e x p eri e n ci n g i nt e n si v e 

a n d r e s p o n si v e  s u p p ort fr o m t h e  F F F 

s er vi c e.  F a mili e s r e p ort e d t h at t h e  s u p p ort 

pr o vi d e d  b y  k e y  w or k er s  w a s  c o n si st e nt, 

ti m el y  a n d r e s p o n si v e t o t h eir  n e e d s. 

“ S h e’s f a nt asti c [ k e y  w or k er]  a n d li k e 
s o m eti m es  m y  o w n s o ci al  w or k er, s h e 
w as i n  a n d  o ut  a n d s o m eti m es I  n e e d e d 
h er t o  b e  d o w n s orti n g t hi n gs i n  m y 
h o us e  a n d s h e  w o ul d n’t  c o m e. [ K e y 
w or k er]  w o ul d  c o m e.” 
[ P ar e nt, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

T hi s  s u p p ort  w a s  d e s cri b e d  a s  a d dr e s si n g 

n e e d s  w hi c h  h a v e  b e e n l eft  u n m et f or 

y e ar s,  s u c h  a s  e n a bli n g ti m el y  a c c e s s t o 

t h er a p e uti c  s u p p ort, f or  e x a m pl e.  S o m e 

p ar e nt s  d e s cri b e d  h o w t h e y  h a d  b e e n 

w a nti n g  s u p p ort  s o o n er,  h o w  p ar e nt s  s h o ul d 

b e li st e n e d t o  e arli er  o n,  a n d  h o w it t o o k 

m aj or i n ci d e nt s f or t h eir f a mili e s t o r e c ei v e 

s u p p ort. 

T h e f a mili e s  w e  s p o k e  wit h  s p o k e  p o siti v el y 

a b o ut t h eir r el ati o n s hi p s  wit h t h e lif e  c o a c h, 

k e y  w or k er s,  a n d t h e  c o m m u ni c ati o n 

s u p p ort  w or k er.  O n e  F F F  st aff  m e m b er  al s o 

s h ar e d t h at t h e  N W D  a p pr o a c h  all o w s t h e m 

t o  d e v el o p  m e a ni n gf ul r el ati o n s hi p s  wit h 

c hil dr e n  a n d f a mili e s. 

P ar e nt s r e p ort e d f e eli n g t h at t h eir  c hil dr e n 

h a v e  d e v el o p e d  p o siti v e r el ati o n s hi p s  wit h 

st aff  at  F F F.  T hi s  w a s  c o n si d er e d i m p ort a nt 

w h er e  y o u n g  p e o pl e  h a d  pr e vi o u sl y  h a d  a 

l a c k  of tr u st i n  a d ult s. 

“ Well [ y o u n g  p ers o n]  c a n t al k t o  h er 
s o t h er e  m ust  b e s o m et hi n g t h er e 
b e c a us e [ y o u n g  p ers o n]  d o es n’t t al k 
t o  a n y b o d y. [ Yo u n g  p ers o n] t ells [ k e y 
w or k er]  m or e t hi n gs t h a n [ y o u n g 
p ers o n]  a ct u all y t ells  m e.”  -
[ P ar e nt, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

T h e s e  e x p eri e n c e s  w er e i n  c o ntr a st t o 

r e p ort s fr o m  s o m e  p ar e nt s  a n d  y o u n g 

p e o pl e  w e  s p o k e  wit h  w h o  h a d  e x p eri e n c e d 

i n st a n c e s  of i n st a bilit y  or i n c o n si st e nt 

c o m m u ni c ati o n fr o m  s o ci al  w or k er s i n 

t h e  p a st. It  w a s  n ot e d  b y  a  F F F  st aff 

Page 93



3 8 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

  
 

  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

m e m b er, i n  a f oll o w- u p f o c u s  gr o u p, t h at 

t h e i n d e p e n d e nt  n at ur e  of t h e  F F F  s er vi c e, 

p er c ei v e d  a s  b ei n g  s e p ar at e fr o m  c hil dr e n’ s 

s o ci al  c ar e, i s  s o m et hi n g t h at  h a s  h el p e d t o 

f a cilit at e f a mili e s’  e n g a g e m e nt. 

H o w e v er,  di s c u s si o n s  a m o n g st  st aff i n 

f oll o w- u p f o c u s  gr o u p s,  a n d i n  m e eti n g s 

w e  o b s er v e d, i n di c at e d t h at t h er e  h a d  b e e n 

mi x e d  e x p eri e n c e s  of r el ati o n s hi p  b uil di n g. 

S o m e  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w er e r e p ort e d t o t a k e 

l o n g er t o  b uil d t h o s e r el ati o n s hi p s  wit h  F F F 

st aff,  a n d i n  s o m e i n st a n c e s i s s u e s  s u c h  a s 

st aff  c h a n g e s  or  di sr u pti o n t o r e g ul ar  vi sit s 

d u e t o f a ct or s  s u c h  a s  C O VI D -1 9  w er e f elt 

t o  b e  b arri er s t o  e n g a g e m e nt fr o m  c ert ai n 

y o u n g  p e o pl e. 

“ He  e n g a g e d  w ell  wit h t h e  o utr e a c h 
w or k er  at t h e i niti al  visit.  W as r e all y 
k e e n,  a n d  a g ai n I t hi n k t h er e  w as  a 
g a p i n r e visiti n g t h at  y o u n g  p ers o n. 
A g ai n  y o u  k n o w,  a t hr e e  w e e k  g a p, 
s o  h e l ost i nt er est.” 
[ S o ci al  w or k er, f oll o w- u p f o c us  gr o u p] 

2. Evi de nce of pro mise 

I s t h er e  e vi d e n c e t o  s u p p ort t h e i nt er v e nti o n 

t h e or y  of  c h a n g e  a s  s et  o ut i n t h e l o gi c 

m o d el, i n cl u di n g t h e  m e c h a ni s m s  b y  w hi c h 

c h a n g e i s  a c hi e v e d  a n d t h e f a cilit at or s  a n d 

b arri er s t o  c h a n g e ? 

S u m m ar y  of  Fi n di n g s 

O b s er v ati o n s, f o c u s  gr o u p s  a n d i nt er vi e w s 

i d e ntifi e d  e x a m pl e s  of  st aff  w or ki n g 

r e st or ati v el y  wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e  a n d f a mili e s. 

T hi s i n v ol v e d  b uil di n g tr u sti n g r el ati o n s hi p s, 

m a ki n g  d e ci si o n s t o g et h er  wit h f a mil y 

m e m b er s  a n d r efl e cti n g t h e  y o u n g  p er s o n’ s 

v oi c e i n  d e ci si o n  m a ki n g  a n d  pr a cti c e.  St aff 

al s o  u s e d  str e n gt h s- b a s e d  a n d r efl e cti v e 

pr a cti c e.  H o w e v er, t h er e  w a s  al s o  s o m e 

e vi d e n c e  of  c o nti n u e d  u s e  of  el e m e nt s  of 

Si g n s  of  S af et y,  a s  w ell  a s  c o nf u si o n  o v er 

w h et h er  Si g n s  of  S af et y  s h o ul d  still  b e 

u s e d.  T hi s  s u g g e st s t h e i m p ort a n c e  of  cl e ar 

g ui d a n c e  o n i nt e gr ati n g  N W D  wit h  e xi sti n g 

or  pr e vi o u s  pr a cti c e  m o d el s. 

S u p p ort f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e  a n d f a mili e s 

i n cl u d e d  a r a n g e  of  pl a c e m e nt s  a n d  s u p p ort 

i n t h e  h u b,  a s  w ell  a s  o utr e a c h.  Y o u n g 

p e o pl e  a n d  p ar e nt s  w er e  s u p p ort e d  b y  k e y 

w or k er s  wit h  d ail y r o uti n e s,  a d dr e s si n g 

ri s k  a n d f or i s s u e s  s u c h  a s  e d u c ati o n  or 

p ar e nti n g.  S u p p ort  w a s  al s o fl e xi bl e  a n d 

a v ail a bl e  o ut  of  h o ur s  w h er e  n e e d e d,  a n d 

i n cl u d e d t h e  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y  st aff t e a m 

a s  w ell  a s  ot h er  s er vi c e s  s u c h  a s t h e 

Virt u al  S c h o ol.  T h e  m aj orit y  of  st aff ( 6 3 %) 

r e p ort e d t h at  y o u n g  p e o pl e  e n g a g e d  wit h 

t h e  d e v el o p m e nt  of t h eir  N W D / F F F  pl a n, 

alt h o u g h  n ot  all  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w e  s p o k e 

t o  w er e  cl e ar  a b o ut t h eir  pl a n  or  g o al s. 

Pr o c e s s e s f or ri s k  m a n a g e m e nt i n cl u d e d 

i nt elli g e n c e  pr o vi d e d  b y t h e  p oli c e  a n al y st 

r ol e,  a n d t h e  u s e  of  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y  R AI S E 

( Ri s k,  A n al y si s, I nt er v e nti o n,  S ol uti o n, 

E v al u ati o n)  m e eti n g s. I nf or m ati o n  s h ari n g 

wit hi n t h e  F F F  s er vi c e,  wit h  s o ci al  w or k er s 

a n d  wit h  p art n er  a g e n ci e s  w a s  g e n er all y 

r e p ort e d t o  b e  g o o d. 

I n di c at or s 

H o w  a r e  r e st o r ati v e  a n d  st r e n gt h s - b a s e d 

a p p r o a c h e s  u s e d i n  p r a cti c e ? 

Restorative practice 

W e  n ot e d  u s e  of r e st or ati v e  pr a cti c e i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e t hr o u g h 

i nt er vi e w s  a n d  o b s er v ati o n s  at f oll o w-

u p.  F or  e x a m pl e,  st aff  d e s cri b e d  w or ki n g 

c oll a b or ati v el y  al o n g si d e  c hil dr e n  a n d 

f a mili e s,  b uil di n g tr u sti n g r el ati o n s hi p s, 

u si n g l a n g u a g e  w hi c h  w a s  m or e r e st or ati v e, 

a n d  pr o vi di n g  s u p p ort i n li n e  wit h t h eir 

pr ef er e n c e s  a n d  n e e d s. ‘ D oi n g  wit h’ (r at h er 

t h a n ‘t o’) f a mili e s  w a s  d e m o n str at e d  w h er e 

Page 94



3 9 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

  

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

w e  o b s er v e d  st aff  di s c u s si n g  w or ki n g 

t o g et h er  wit h  p ar e nt s t o  m a k e  d e ci si o n s 

a b o ut  a  y o u n g  p er s o n’ s  h e alt h c ar e,  or 

m ai nt ai n  b o u n d ari e s f or  a  y o u n g  p er s o n. 

W e  al s o  n ot e d t hr o u g h i nt er vi e w s  a n d 

f o c u s  gr o u p s t h at li st e ni n g t o t h e  y o u n g 

p er s o n’ s  v oi c e  w a s  a  c e ntr al  p art  of t h e 

w or k  d o n e i n  F F F. 

Stre ngt hs- base d a nd reflective practice 

St aff  di s c u s s e d f a mil y  or  y o u n g  p er s o n 

str e n gt h s  a cr o s s  all t h e  m e eti n g s  w e 

o b s er v e d.  St aff i n f o c u s  gr o u p s  al s o 

r e p ort e d  w or ki n g i n  a  str e n gt h s- b a s e d 

w a y,  wit h f a mili e s  b ut  al s o  wit h  st aff.  T hi s 

w a s  d o n e  b y  c o n si d eri n g  st aff  s kill s  a n d 

str e n gt h s  w h e n  all o c ati n g  y o u n g  p e o pl e’ s 

c a s e s  or  pl a n ni n g  s u p p ort. 

F F F  st aff i n f oll o w- u p f o c u s  gr o u p s r e p ort e d 

u si n g r efl e cti v e  s u p er vi si o n, t hi n ki n g  a b o ut 

w h er e t h e y  ar e  wit h t h eir  y o u n g  p e o pl e, 

w h at  w e nt  w ell,  w h at  di d n’t  g o  w ell  a n d 

w h at  n e xt  st e p s t h e y  mi g ht  b e  a bl e t o tr y. 

W e  al s o  o b s er v e d  u s e  of r efl e cti v e  pr a cti c e, 

f or  e x a m pl e  di s c u s si o n  a b o ut f a mil y  or 

f a mil y  m e m b er’ s  e x p eri e n c e s  a n d  n e e d s,  or 

e x pl a n ati o n s f or  c ert ai n  b e h a vi o ur s, t o  h el p 

i nf or m i nt er v e nti o n. 

C o nti n ui ng  use of Sig ns of Safety 

It  w a s  n ot e d  b y  s o m e  st aff t h at  c hil dr e n’ s 

s o ci al  c ar e t e a m s i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  h a v e 

m o v e d  a w a y fr o m t h e  Si g n s  of  S af et y 

pr a cti c e  m o d el t o w ar d s  u si n g r e st or ati v e 

pr a cti c e  a n d t h e  N W D  N o n- N e g oti a bl e s 

a n d  Pr o v o c ati o n s.  H o w e v er,  s o m e  st aff 

i nt er vi e w e d  e x pr e s s e d  c o nf u si o n  ar o u n d 

t h e  pr a cti c e  m o d el,  wit h  s o m e  s a yi n g t hi s i s 

c urr e ntl y i n  u s e,  ot h er s  s a yi n g i n  p arti al  u s e, 

a n d  ot h er s  s a yi n g t hi s i s  n ot i n  u s e  a n y m or e. 

F oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w s  a n d  o b s er v ati o n s 

i n di c at e d t h at  s o m e  st aff i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h, 

wit hi n  F F F  a s  w ell  a s  a cr o s s  c hil dr e n’ s 

s er vi c e s,  di d  c o nti n u e t o  u s e  c ert ai n 

el e m e nt s  of  Si g n s  of  S af et y.  F or  e x a m pl e, 

e a c h  pr of e s si o n al  w a s  a s k e d t o  pr o vi d e  a 

s c ali n g  s c or e,  a  k e y  c o m p o n e nt i n  Si g n s  of 

S af et y  pr a cti c e, i n  b ot h  R AI S E  m e eti n g s  w e 

o b s er v e d. 

D o  y o u n g  p e o pl e  e n g a g e  wit h t h e 

d e v el o p m e nt  of t h ei r  c a r e  a n d 

p r o g r e s si o n  pl a n s ? 

E n g a g e m e nt  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e  wit h t h e 

d e v el o p m e nt  of t h eir  N W D / F F F  pl a n  w a s 

r e p ort e d  b y 1 0  of 1 6  st a f r e s p o n di n g t o t h e 

s ur v e y ( 6 3 %).  H o w e v er,  y o u n g  p e o pl e  m a y 

n ot  c o n si st e ntl y  b e  cl e ar  or f ull y i n v ol v e d i n 

d e v el o pi n g t h eir  pl a n s  or  g o al s.  O n e  y o u n g 

p er s o n  c o m m e nt e d, i n r el ati o n t o t h eir  g o al s: 

“ Ye a h, I’ v e s e e n  a  p a p er s o m e w h er e. I  c a n’t 
r e m e m b er  h alf t h e st uff.” 
[ Yo u n g  p ers o n, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w]. 

H o w  d o r ef err al s,  m a n a gi n g ri s k,  d e ci si o n 

m a ki n g,  c ar e  pl a n s  a n d  s u p p ort f or  y o u n g 

p e o pl e  a n d f a mili e s  o p er at e i n  pr a cti c e ? 

I s t hi s  c o n si st e nt  wit h t h e l o gi c  m o d el  a n d 

h o w  d o e s t hi s  diff er fr o m  pr e vi o u s  w a y s 

of  w or ki n g ? 

Referral pat h ways 

R e s p o n d e nt s i n f oll o w- u p f o c u s  gr o u p s 

a n d i nt er vi e w s r e p ort e d t h at r ef err al s t o 

t h e  F F F  s er vi c e  oft e n  c a m e fr o m t h e  s o ci al 

w or k er  b ut  al s o fr o m  ot h er  s er vi c e s  s u c h 

a s  s c h o ol s, t h e  virt u al  s c h o ol  a n d  Y o ut h 

Off e n di n g  S er vi c e ( Y O S).  R ef err al s t o 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e  w er e f or  a 

r a n g e  of r e a s o n s, i n cl u di n g  pr e v e nti n g  e ntr y 

t o  c ar e  a s  w ell  a s  s u p p orti n g  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

t o r et ur n fr o m r e si d e nti al  c ar e t o li v e  wit h 

t h eir f a mil y  or i n f o st er  c ar e. 

Page 95



4 0 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

  

 

 

 

 

  
  
 

 
 

  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

S u pport for yo u ng people a nd fa milies 

E a c h  y o u n g  p er s o n i n t h e  s er vi c e  h a d  a 

S af et y  S u p p ort  Pl a n  w hi c h i n c or p or at e d t h e 

N o n- N e g oti a bl e s  a n d  Pr o v o c ati o n s  b ei n g 

w or k e d t o w ar d s  a n d i d e ntifi e d t h e t e a m 

m e m b er s  pr o vi di n g  s u p p ort.  D e e p  Di v e s 

w er e  u s e d f or  s o m e  y o u n g  p e o pl e,  w h er e  a 

gr o u p  of  pr of e s si o n al s r e vi e w e d t h e  w h ol e 

c a s e  hi st or y f or  a  y o u n g  p er s o n i n  or d er t o 

b ett er  u n d er st a n d t h e  y o u n g  p er s o n, t h eir 

p er s p e cti v e,  hi st or y  a n d  e x p eri e n c e s,  a n d t o 

l e ar n fr o m t h at  hi st or y t o i nf or m  a  pl a n f or 

s u p p ort  a n d i nt er v e nti o n. 

R e s o ur c e  w or k er s i n t h e  F F F  s er vi c e  s p e nt 

ti m e  b uil di n g r el ati o n s hi p s  wit h  y o u n g 

p e o pl e,  s u p p orti n g  y o u n g  p e o pl e t o  d e v el o p 

d ail y r o uti n e s,  a n d t o  e n g a g e i n  a cti viti e s 

a n d  s p ort s.  F F F  st aff  al s o  s u p p ort e d 

y o u n g  p e o pl e  wit h  e n g a gi n g i n  e d u c ati o n, 

a n d  h a d  c o n v er s ati o n s  wit h t h e m  a b o ut 

b e h a vi o ur  or  a d dr e s si n g ri s k.  F F F  st aff  al s o 

s u p p ort e d  p ar e nt s  or  c ar er s t o i m pl e m e nt 

d ail y r o uti n e s  a n d  c o pi n g  str at e gi e s.  T h e 

m ulti di s ci pli n ar y  s p e ci ali st s  s u p p ort e d  ot h er 

st aff i n t h e  F F F  s er vi c e  a s  w ell  a s  pr o vi di n g 

s u p p ort f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e  dir e ctl y.  S u p p ort 

w a s  al s o  pr o vi d e d  b y  ot h er  s er vi c e s  s u c h  a s 

s u p p ort fr o m t h e  virt u al  s c h o ol. 

Decisio n  maki ng a nd risk  ma nage me nt 

T h e  F F F  s er vi c e  off er e d  a f a st  a n d fl e xi bl e 

r e s p o n s e t o  cri s e s  o ut  of  h o ur s  o n  e v e ni n g s 

a n d  w e e k e n d s,  s u c h  a s f a mili e s  at ri s k  of 

pl a c e m e nt  br e a k d o w n,  or  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

g oi n g  mi s si n g.  F F F  st aff  w er e  al s o tr ai n e d t o 

u s e  d e - e s c al ati o n  a n d  diff u si o n t e c h ni q u e s 

w h e n  n e e d e d. 

“ We  ar e  a bl e t o s u p p ort t h e m s o m eti m es i n  crisis. 
It  c o ul d  b e t hi n gs  w er e  g oi n g fi n e, t h e n  o n e  ni g ht 
y o u r e c ei v e  a  p h o n e  c all f r o m f a mil y  a n d t hi n gs 
ar e  br e a ki n g  d o w n.  B ut t h e y  d o  pi c k  u p t h e  p h o n e 
a n d ri n g  y o u r at h er t h a n  p oli c e,  w h er e  pr e vi o usl y 
t h e y  mi g ht j ust  c o nt a ct t h e  p oli c e.” 
[ F F F st aff  m e m b er, f oll o w- u p f o c us  gr o u p] 

T h e  p oli c e r ol e s  w er e r e p ort e d t o  u s e 

i nt elli g e n c e t o  h el p  wit h  u n d er st a n di n g  a n d 

m o nit ori n g l e v el s  of ri s k f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e, 

pr o vi di n g i nf or m ati o n  a b o ut ri s k s t o  s u p p ort 

b e s p o k e  s u p p ort  s u c h  a s  mi s si n g  pl a n s. 

“ W h er e  c hil dr e n  g o  missi n g, t h e  p oli c e 
a n al yst is s u p p orti n g r e all y  b es p o k e  missi n g 
pl a ns  wit h s o m e r e all y  g o o d  q u alit y  missi n g 
pl a ns,  w h er e  w e  ar e i d e ntif yi n g l o c ati o ns, 
ass o ci at es, t h at is s u p p orti n g  a  ki n d  of 
m a n a g e m e nt  of ris k f or  c hil dr e n  w h o  ar e  o n 
t h e  e d g e  of  c ar e  or  ar e i n  c ar e.” 

[ S e ni or l e a d er, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

St aff  di s c u s s e d ri s k s i n t h e  m e eti n g s  w e 

o b s er v e d.  R AI S E  m e eti n g s  w er e f o c u s e d 

ar o u n d i d e ntif yi n g  a n d  m a n a gi n g ri s k, 

s h ari n g i nf or m ati o n,  a n d i nf or mi n g t h e 

y o u n g  p er s o n’ s  pl a n.  Ot h er t y p e s  of t e a m 

m e eti n g s  pr o vi d e d  o p p ort u niti e s f or  a  m or e 

pr o a cti v e  a p pr o a c h t o  a nti ci p ati n g ri s k, 

s u c h  a s  d e v el o p m e nt  of  s kill s t o r e s p o n d t o 

c h all e n gi n g  or  p ot e nti all y ri s k y  b e h a vi o ur, 

a n d  pr o a cti v e  pl a n ni n g t o  miti g at e 

a nti ci p at e d ri s k s. 

Differe nce fro m previo us  ways of  worki ng 

O utr e a c h  w or k  w a s  a  n e w  s kill f or  s o m e  st a f 

i n  F F F  w h o  h a d  pr e vi o u sl y  w or k e d  o nl y i n 

r e si d e nti al r ol e s. It  w a s  al s o r e p ort e d t h at 

t h e  pr e v e nt ati v e  a n d r e s pit e  w or k t h e  s er vi c e 

w a s  a bl e t o  pr o vi d e fill e d  a  g a p i n  pr e vi o u s 

s er vi c e  pr o vi si o n,  a n d t h at  w or ki n g  m or e 

i nt e n si v el y  a n d fl e xi bl y  wit h f a mili e s t h a n 

e xi sti n g  s er vi c e s  w er e  a bl e t o  d o  pr o vi d e d 

t h e  o p p ort u nit y t o  b uil d r el ati o n s hi p s, 

g et t o  k n o w f a mili e s’  n e e d s  b ett er  a n d 

o f er  m or e  s u p p ort.  T hi s i n cl u d e d  s u p p ort 

Page 96



41 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  

  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

o ut si d e  of  u s u al  w or ki n g  h o ur s.  H a vi n g  a 

m ulti di s ci pli n ar y t e a m, i n cl u di n g i n- h o u s e 

a c c e s s t o  a lif e  c o a c h ( cli ni c al  p s y c h ol o gi st) 

a n d  c o m m u ni c ati o n  s u p p ort  w or k er ( s p e e c h 

a n d l a n g u a g e t h er a pi st)  w a s  al s o  a  c h a n g e. 

T hi s  c h a n g e  m a d e t h e s e  s er vi c e s  m or e 

a c c e s si bl e  a n d i m m e di at e f or f a mili e s. 

“ W h e n  y o u  b e c o m e i n v ol v e d  wit h  a f a mil y, 
a n d  y o u  c o m e i n s a yi n g  y o u  w a nt t o 
el p t h e m,  b ut t h e n t h e i nt er v e nti o ns t h at 
y o u  n e e d f or t h e m,  y o u’r e st u c k  o n  a 
w aiti n g list.  B y t h e ti m e t h at  y o u  g et t o 
t h e f r o nt  of t h e  q u e u e  y o u’ v e  g e n er all y 
l ost t h at f a mil y  b e c a us e t h e s u p p ort 
h as n’t  b e e n t h er e.” 
F F F st aff  m e m b er, f oll o w- u p f o c us  gr o u p] 

H o w i s i nf o r m ati o n  s h a r e d  a n d 

u s e d  a c r o s s  p a r t n e r s  a n d  wit hi n 

Mi d dl e s b r o u g h’ s  F F F  s e r vi c e ? 

W e  o b s er v e d  e x a m pl e s  of  cl o s e t e a m 

w or ki n g  a n d i nf or m ati o n  s h ari n g  wit hi n 

t h e  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y  F F F  s er vi c e,  a s  w ell 

a s i nf or m ati o n  s h ari n g  wit h  s o ci al  w or k er s 

a n d  wit h  m ulti - a g e n c y  p art n er s. It  w a s 

al s o r e p ort e d t h at  F F F  st aff  w or k e d  cl o s el y 

wit h  s o ci al  w or k er s, i n d e p e n d e nt r e vi e wi n g 

offi c er s (I R O s)  a n d  a n y o n e  el s e i n v ol v e d 

wit h  a  y o u n g  p er s o n’ s  c ar e.  Cl o s e  w or ki n g 

r el ati o n s hi p s  w er e  al s o r e p ort e d  b et w e e n 

t h e  F F F  h e a d  of  s er vi c e  a n d  ot h er  h e a d s 

of  s er vi c e  wit hi n  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e,  a s 

w ell  a s t h e  dir e ct or  of  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e. 

T h er e  w er e  al s o i n st a n c e s r e p ort e d  of  g o o d 

w or ki n g r el ati o n s hi p s  a n d  c o m m u ni c ati o n 

wit h t h e  virt u al  s c h o ol  h e a d,  w h o t o o k 

p art i n  d e e p  di v e s  a n d  c o m m u ni c at e d 

r e g ul arl y  wit h t h e  F F F  s er vi c e  m a n a g er, 

a s  w ell  a s  g o o d  w or ki n g r el ati o n s hi p s  a n d 

c o m m u ni c ati o n  wit h  p art n er  a g e n ci e s. 

“ G oi n g  b a c k t o t h e  d e e p  di v es.  T h e y’r e 
m ulti- a g e n c y  as  w ell.  S o I t hi n k 
o p er ati o n all y, t h er e’s r e all y  g o o d 
r efl e cti v e  dis c ussi o ns t h at  h a p p e n i n 
t h os e  m e eti n gs  w h er e  p e o pl e  all l e a v e 
wit h  a s h ar e d  visi o n  of  w h at  n e e ds t o 
h a p p e n,  a n d it’s  n ot j ust  c hil dr e n’s s o ci al 
c ar e [ w h o  h a v e] t a k e n  o n r es p o nsi biliti es 
f or t h e  n e xt st e ps.” 
[ S er vi c e  m a n a g er, f oll o w- u p f o c us  gr o u p] 

a:  Is  v ari ati o n i n i m pl e m e nt ati o n 
p er c ei v e d  b y st a k e h ol d er s t o r el at e 
t o  o ut c o m e s,  a n d  w hi c h  el e m e nt s  of 
t h e  m o d el  ar e  p er c ei v e d t o  b e  c e ntr al 
t o it s  e f e cti v e n e s s ? 

T h e  s kill e d i n- h o u s e  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y t e a m 

w a s i d e ntifi e d  a s  c e ntr al t o t h e  m o d el’ s 

eff e cti v e n e s s.  T hi s t e a m  off er e d  s u p p ort t o 

f a mili e s f a st er t h a n it  w o ul d  b e  a c c e s s e d 

t hr o u g h  u s u al  s er vi c e.  A n ot h er  k e y  el e m e nt 

w a s t h e i nt e n si v e, fl e xi bl e  a n d r e s p o n si v e 

n at ur e  of t h e  s er vi c e  wit h  pr of e s si o n al s 

s e ei n g  y o u n g  p e o pl e r e g ul arl y, r e s p o n di n g 

q ui c kl y  a n d  b ei n g  a v ail a bl e  o ut  of  u s u al 

w or ki n g  h o ur s.  Fi n all y, li st e ni n g t o t h e  y o u n g 

p er s o n’ s  v oi c e  a n d  u n d er st a n di n g t h eir 

n e e d s  w a s r e p ort e d  a s  a f urt h er  k e y  el e m e nt 

of t h e  N W D  m o d el. 

A skille d i n- ho use  m ultidiscipli nary 
tea m offeri ng ti mely s upport 

T h e i n- h o u s e  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y t e a m,  a n d 

t h eir l e v el  of  s kill  a n d tr ai ni n g,  w a s  a  k e y 

c o m p o n e nt  of t h e  m o d el r e p ort e d i n f o c u s 

gr o u p s  a n d i nt er vi e w s  at f oll o w- u p.  T hi s 

e n a bl e d  s u p p ort f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e  a n d 

f a mili e s t o  b e i nf or m e d  b y  pr of e s si o n al s 

wit h  a r a n g e  of  diff er e nt  e x p erti s e.  T hi s l e d 

t o  m or e ti m el y  s u p p ort f or  st aff  a n d f a mili e s 

a cr o s s  ar e a s  of  n e e d  s u c h  a s  m e nt al  h e alt h 

a n d  s p e e c h  a n d l a n g u a g e i n  a  w a y t h at  w a s 

n ot  p o s si bl e i n  u s u al  s er vi c e s. 

Page 97



4 2 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“I’ v e  b e e n  b e g gi n g s o ci al  w or k ers f or  y e ars 
t o  h el p  m e  wit h  m y  m e nt al  h e alt h  a n d 
wit h [ y o u n g  p ers o n]’s  a n d  all I  g et is 
“ w e’ll  p ut  y o u  o n  a list”,  y o u  k n o w, t o s e e 
a  ps y c h ol o gist,  a n d I’ d  b e still  w aiti n g. 
B ut [ k e y  w or k er], s h e  g ot s o m e o n e 
t h er e str ai g ht a w a y t o  ass ess  m e  a n d 
[ y o u n g  p ers o n],  a n d [I’ v e] fi n all y  b e e n 
di a g n os e d  wit h s o m et hi n g  n o w,  a n d 
[ k e y  w or k er]’s t h e  o n e  w h o  g ot  us t h e 
t h er a pist.” 
[ P ar e nt, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

A n i nte nsive, flexible a nd respo nsive service 

St aff  hi g hli g ht e d t h e i nt e n si v e  a n d fl e xi bl e 

n at ur e  of t h e  s u p p ort t h e  F F F  s er vi c e  w a s 

a bl e t o  off er f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e,  p ar e nt s 

a n d  c ar er s.  Y o u n g  p e o pl e  a n d  p ar e nt s 

w e  s p o k e t o r e p ort e d r e g ul ar  c o nt a ct 

a n d  c o m m u ni c ati o n  wit h t h e  k e y  w or k er s 

fr o m  F F F,  a n d  wit h  ot h er  pr of e s si o n al s 

s u c h  a s t h e lif e  c o a c h.  St aff r e p ort e d 

t h at t hi s i nt e n si v e  a n d fl e xi bl e  a p pr o a c h 

w a s  b e n efi ci al f or  b uil di n g r el ati o n s hi p s, 

g etti n g t o  k n o w  y o u n g  p e o pl e  a n d f a mili e s, 

u n d er st a n di n g  n e e d  a n d  a c hi e vi n g  pr o gr e s s 

m or e  q ui c kl y t h a n  ot h er  s er vi c e s  mi g ht  b e 

a bl e t o. 

“ B e c a us e  w e’r e s o i nt e ns el y i n v ol v e d, 
t h at  c o nst a nt  o n e  p ers o n  a n d  a  w h ol e 
t e a m  b e hi n d  y o u,  w e  d o l e ar n  q uit e  a 
bit.  T h at’s  w h y  w e  c a n  q ui c kl y,  wit h 
e v er y o n e’s  eff orts,  m o v e t hi n gs f or w ar d 
q uit e  q ui c kl y f or t h e f a mil y,  a n d 
u n d erst a n d t h e  n e e ds  a n d  w h at t h e y 
n e e d,  a n d  p ut i nt er v e nti o n i n  pl a c e.” 
[ F F F st aff  m e m b er, f oll o w- u p 
f o c us  gr o u p]. 

T h e  2 4 / 7  n at ur e  of t h e  F F F  s er vi c e,  b ei n g 

a c c e s si bl e t o  y o u n g  p e o pl e,  p ar e nt s  a n d 

c ar er s  o ut si d e  of  u s u al  w or ki n g  h o ur s,  a n d 

r e s p o n di n g  q ui c kl y t o  cri s e s  o n  e v e ni n g s 

a n d  w e e k e n d s,  w a s  al s o r e p ort e d t o  b e  a 

u ni q u e f e at ur e  a n d  a  v al u e d  c o m p o n e nt  of 

t h e  s er vi c e. 

Liste ni ng to t he yo u ng perso n’s voice 
a nd  u ndersta ndi ng  nee d 

U si n g r ef err al s,  d e e p  di v e s  a n d  w or ki n g 

cl o s el y  wit h f a mili e s t o  u n d er st a n d t h eir 

n e e d s,  p arti c ul arl y li st e ni n g t o t h e  y o u n g 

p er s o n’ s  v oi c e,  w a s  al s o r e p ort e d  a s  a  k e y 

c o m p o n e nt  of  N W D i n f oll o w- u p f o c u s 

gr o u p s. I n li n e  wit h t hi s,  w h e n  a s k e d  w h at 

h a s  b e e n t h e  b e st t hi n g  a b o ut  w or ki n g  wit h 

t h e lif e  c o a c h  or t h eir  k e y  w or k er,  o n e  y o u n g 

p er s o n  s h ar e d t h at t h e y f elt li st e n e d t o  b y 

st aff  at  F F F. 

“... st aff  h a v e n’t [ pr e vi o u sl y] li st e n e d  a n d t o o k 

t hi n g s  o n  b o ar d.  W h er e a s i n  h er e  y o u  k n o w 

t h e y’ v e t a k e n t hi n g s  o n  b o ar d  a n d f oll o w- u p 

of  w h at t h e y’ v e  s ai d t h e y  w er e  g oi n g t o  d o”. 

[ Y o u n g  p er s o n, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

b.  W h at  p ot e nti al i m p a ct s  of t h e 
i nt er v e nti o n  d o  st a k e h ol d er s i d e ntif y ? 

S u m m ar y  of  Fi n di n g s 

St a k e h ol d er s i n i nt er vi e w s, f o c u s  gr o u p s 

a n d  o b s er v ati o n s i d e ntifi e d t h at  p ot e nti al 

i m p a ct s  of  N W D i n cl u d e r e d u ci n g ri s k  a n d 

i n cr e a si n g  s af et y f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e, r e d u ci n g 

a n d  pr e v e nti n g  e ntr y t o  c ar e, i m pr o vi n g 

r e u nifi c ati o n, r e d u ci n g  u s e  of  e xt er n al 

r e si d e nti al  c ar e  a n d  o ut  of  ar e a  pl a c e m e nt s. 

T h er e  ar e  al s o  p er c ei v e d  c o st  s a vi n g s  of 

r e d u ci n g t h e  n u m b er  of  hi g h  c o st  e xt er n al 

r e si d e nti al  pl a c e m e nt s.  F urt h er, t h e  m o d el i s 

t h o u g ht t o i m pr o v e  e d u c ati o n  a n d  w ell b ei n g. 

T hr o u g h  a  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y t e a m, t h e  m o d el 

i s t h o u g ht t o  s u p p ort  h oli sti c  u n d er st a n di n g 

of  y o u n g  p e o pl e,  a n d  F F F  st aff  ar e  al s o 

t h o u g ht t o  p o siti v el y  c o ntri b ut e t o i m pr o vi n g 

t h e  q u alit y  of  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e  pl a n s, 

a s s e s s m e nt s  a n d  m e eti n g s. 

Page 98



4 3 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

  

 

  

 

  

  

  

  

 

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

O n e  p ot e nti al  u ni nt e n d e d  c o n s e q u e n c e  of 

i ntr o d u ci n g t h e  N W D  m o d el  w a s  u n c ert ai nt y 

fr o m  st aff i n  ot h er  o utr e a c h  s er vi c e s  a b o ut 

w h at t h eir  o w n r ol e s  s h o ul d  b e.  T hi s  w a s 

miti g at e d  b y  cl e ar  c o m m u ni c ati o n  a cr o s s 

C hil dr e n’ s  S er vi c e s.  A n ot h er  p ot e nti al 

u ni nt e n d e d  c o n s e q u e n c e f or  s o m e  y o u n g 

p e o pl e  w a s t h e  di sr u pti o n  of tr a n siti o ni n g 

o ut  of t h e  F F F  s er vi c e  w h e n t h e y  m o v e d t o 

a n ot h er  pl a c e m e nt  or t h e  s u p p ort fr o m t h e 

s er vi c e  e n d e d.  W e  di d  n ot  c oll e ct  d at a  o n 

h o w  pr e v al e nt t h e s e i s s u e s  mi g ht  b e,  b ut 

t h e y  hi g hli g ht  ar e a s t o  b e  mi n df ul  of  w h e n 

i m pl e m e nti n g t h e  m o d el. 

A d mi ni str ati v e  d at a i s  al s o  pr e s e nt e d 

w hi c h  s h o w s  a  n u m b er  of i n di c at or s  o v er 

t h e t hr e e  m o nt h s  b ef or e  a n d  aft er  N W D 

w a s i ntr o d u c e d i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h.  T hi s 

i n cl u d e s t h e  n u m b er s  of  c hil dr e n l o o k e d 

aft er, i n cl u di n g  n u m b er s  of r e si d e nti al 

a n d  e xt er n al  pl a c e m e nt s,  a s  w ell  a s t h e 

n u m b er  of  pl a c e m e nt  c h a n g e s  a n d  d ur ati o n 

l o o k e d  aft er.  H o w e v er,  d u e t o t h e  s h ort ti m e 

fr a m e  of  e v al u ati o n,  a b s e n c e  of  a  c o ntr ol 

gr o u p,  a n d t h e i nfl u e n c e  of t h e  C O VI D -1 9 

p a n d e mi c, it i s i m p ort a nt t o  n ot e t h at t hi s 

s h o ul d  n ot  b e  u s e d  a s  e vi d e n c e  of  w h et h er 

t h e  m o d el  h a s  h a d  a n i m p a ct. 

I n di c at or s 

K e y  L A l e v el i n di c at o r s  p r e  a n d 

p o st i nt r o d u cti o n  of  N W D 

T a bl e 1 2 i n  A p p e n di x  A  a n d  Fi g ur e s  6  a n d 

7  s h o w  k e y  L A l e v el i n di c at or s  pr e  a n d 

p o st i ntr o d u cti o n  of  N W D.  T h e s e fi n di n g s 

s h o w  s o m e  c h a n g e s i n t h e s e  ar e a s  of 

c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e i nt er v e nti o n  o v er 

ti m e.  H o w e v er, t h e s e  s h o ul d  n ot  b e t a k e n 

t o i n di c at e  e vi d e n c e  of i m p a ct  of t h e 

m o d el.  T hi s  e v al u ati o n  h a s  n ot i n cl u d e d  a 

c o m p ari s o n  gr o u p  a n d i s  n ot  d e si g n e d t o 

m e a s ur e i m p a ct. It i s  al s o  o nl y  o b s er vi n g 

t h e s e i n di c at or s  o v er  a  s h ort  si x  m o nt h 

p eri o d  of ti m e,  d uri n g  w hi c h t h e i nt er v e nti o n 

w a s i m pl e m e nt e d f or j u st t hr e e  m o nt h s. 

F urt h er, t h e i ntr o d u cti o n  of t h e  m o d el  al s o 

t o o k  pl a c e  at t h e  s a m e ti m e  a s t h e  gl o b al 

C O VI D -1 9  p a n d e mi c,  w hi c h i s  al s o li k el y t o 

h a v e  aff e ct e d i nt er v e nti o n  a n d  o ut c o m e s 

f or  c hil dr e n  a n d  y o u n g  p e o pl e. I n  s u m m ar y, 

fi n di n g s  s h o w t h at: 

•  T h e  n u m b er  of  c hil dr e n l o o k e d  aft er 

w a s  6 4 2 t hr e e  m o nt h s  b ef or e t h e  F F F 

s er vi c e l a u n c h e d (J u n e  2 0 2 0).  T hi s 

h a d i n cr e a s e d t o  6 9 9  w h e n t h e  F F F 

s er vi c e l a u n c h e d ( S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0) 

a n d  d e cr e a s e d  a g ai n t o  6 6 0 t hr e e 

m o nt h s l at er. 

•  T h e  n u m b er  of  c hil dr e n  a n d  y o u n g 

p e o pl e i n r e si d e nti al  pl a c e m e nt s  w a s 

7 4 t hr e e  m o nt h s  b ef or e t h e  F F F 

s er vi c e l a u n c h e d (J u n e  2 0 2 0).  T hi s 

h a d i n cr e a s e d t o  8 0  w h e n t h e  F F F 

s er vi c e l a u n c h e d ( S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0) 

a n d  d e cr e a s e d  a g ai n t o  7 3 t hr e e 

m o nt h s l at er. 

•  T h e  n u m b er  of  c hil dr e n  a n d  y o u n g 

p e o pl e i n  e xt er n al r e si d e nti al 

pl a c e m e nt s  w a s  6 4 t hr e e  m o nt h s  b ef or e 

t h e  F F F  s er vi c e l a u n c h e d (J u n e  2 0 2 0). 

T hi s  h a d i n cr e a s e d t o  7 0  w h e n t h e  F F F 

s er vi c e l a u n c h e d ( S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0) 

a n d  d e cr e a s e d  a g ai n t o  6 2 t hr e e 

m o nt h s l at er. 

•  T h e  a v er a g e  n u m b er  of  pl a c e m e nt 

c h a n g e s  of  c hil dr e n l o o k e d  aft er i n t h e 

l a st t w el v e  m o nt h s  w a s 1. 4 t hr e e  m o nt h s 

b ef or e t h e  F F F  s er vi c e l a u n c h e d (J u n e 

2 0 2 0).  T hi s r e m ai n e d  st a bl e  w h e n t h e 

F F F  s er vi c e l a u n c h e d ( S e pt e m b er 

2 0 2 0)  a n d i n cr e a s e d  sli g htl y t o 1. 5 t hr e e 

m o nt h s l at er. 

•  T h e  a v er a g e  d ur ati o n  c hil dr e n  w er e 

l o o k e d  aft er  w a s 1 4 3  d a y s t hr e e  m o nt h s 

b ef or e t h e  F F F  s er vi c e l a u n c h e d (J u n e 

2 0 2 0).  T hi s r e m ai n e d  st a bl e  at 1 4 2 

d a y s  w h e n t h e  F F F  s er vi c e l a u n c h e d 

( S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0),  b ut  h a d i n cr e a s e d t o 

2 3 6  d a y s t hr e e  m o nt h s l at er. 

Page 99



4 4 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

8 5. 0 0  

Figure 6: Residential Place ments Before and After the FFF service 

R e si d e nti al  Pl a c e m e nt s  B ef or e  a n d  Aft er  N o  Wr o n g  D o or  

6 5. 0 0  

7 5. 0 0  

5 5. 0 0  
J u n e  2 0 2 0  S e pt  2 0 2 0 ( N W D  L a u n c h)  D e c  2 0 2 0  

N u m b er  of  c hil dr e n  a n d  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n  e xt er n al r e si d e nti al  pl a c e m e nt s  

N u m b er  of  c hil dr e n  a n d  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n r e si d e nti al  pl a c e m e nt s  

 

 

Figure 7:  Nu mber and Duration Looked After 

N u m b er  a n d  D ur ati o n  L o o k e d  Aft er  

8 0 0  

6 0 0  

4 0 0  

2 0 0  

J u n e  2 0 2 0  S e pt  2 0 2 0 ( N W D  L a u n c h)  D e c  2 0 2 0  

A v er a g e  d ur ati o n l o o k e d  aft er   N u m b er  of  L o o k e d  Aft er  C hil dr e n  

0  

Page 100



4 5 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

K e y  N W D  s e r vi c e l e v el i n di c at o r s  at  e nt r y 

a n d  e xit t o t h e  F F F  s e r vi c e 

D at a  o n  k e y i n di c at or s  at  e ntr y  a n d  e xit t o 

t h e  F F F  s er vi c e  w er e  o nl y  a v ail a bl e f or t h e 

si x  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  w er e  s u p p ort e d  b y 

a n d  s u b s e q u e ntl y  cl o s e d t o t h e  F F F  s er vi c e. 

T h e s e  ar e t h er ef or e  b a s e d  o n  a  v er y  s m all 

n u m b er  a n d  s o  h a v e  b e e n r e p ort e d  h er e 

q u alit ati v el y r at h er t h a n  q u a ntit ati v el y 

t o  a v oi d  b ei n g  mi si nt er pr et e d.  Fi n di n g s 

s h o w t h at  s o m e  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  h a d 

b e e n l o o k e d  aft er  w er e  n o l o n g er  o p e n t o 

c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e  w h e n t h e y  st o p p e d 

w or ki n g  wit h t h e  F F F  s er vi c e.  E n g a g e m e nt 

i n  e d u c ati o n,  e m pl o y m e nt  or tr ai ni n g 

r e m ai n e d r el ati v el y  st a bl e  b et w e e n  e ntr y 

t o  a n d  e xit fr o m t h e  F F F  s er vi c e,  wit h  a 

mi xt ur e  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  w er e i n f ull 

ti m e  e d u c ati o n,  alt er n ati v e  pr o vi si o n  or 

n ot i n  e d u c ati o n,  e m pl o y m e nt  or tr ai ni n g 

( N E E T ).  Mi s si n g  e pi s o d e s  w er e  a v ail a bl e f or 

t h e t w el v e  m o nt h s  pri or t o  a c c e s si n g t h e 

F F F  s er vi c e,  a n d  d uri n g t h e  y o u n g  p er s o n’ s 

s u p p ort  p eri o d  wit h t h e  F F F  s er vi c e,  a n d  s o 

w er e  n ot  dir e ctl y  c o m p ar a bl e.  Str e n gt h s  a n d 

Diffi c ulti e s  Q u e sti o n n air e s ( S D Q s),  w hi c h i s 

a  bri ef  b e h a vi o ur al  s cr e e ni n g  q u e sti o n n air e, 

w er e  o nl y  a v ail a bl e f or t w o  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

at  e ntr y t o t h e  F F F  s er vi c e,  a n d  w er e  n ot 

a v ail a bl e f or  a n y  of t h e  si x  y o u n g  p e o pl e  at 

e xit fr o m t h e  F F F  s er vi c e.  T h e s e fi n di n g s 

gi v e  u s  a n i d e a  a b o ut t h e  c h ar a ct eri sti c s 

of  y o u n g  p e o pl e  s u p p ort e d  b y t h e  F F F 

s er vi c e,  b ut  s h o ul d  n ot  b e t a k e n t o i n di c at e 

e vi d e n c e  of i m p a ct  of t h e  m o d el,  a s t h e y  ar e 

b a s e d  o n  a  s m all  n u m b er  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

o v er  a  s h ort  p eri o d  of ti m e,  a n d t h er e i s  n o 

c o m p ari s o n  gr o u p. 

T o  w h at  e x t e nt  a n d t h r o u g h  w h at 

m e c h a ni s m s i s t h e i nt e r v e nti o n 

p e r c ei v e d t o  aff e ct f a mil y  e n g a g e m e nt 

a n d  o ut c o m e s ? 

T h e  s ur v e y f o u n d t h at 1 5  of 1 6 r e s p o n d e nt s 

( 9 4 %)  a gr e e d  or  str o n gl y  a gr e e d t h at 

t h e  F F F  s er vi c e  h a d i m pr o v e d  o ut c o m e s 

f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e  a n d f a mili e s i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h,  a n d 1 0 0 %  of r e s p o n d e nt s 

a gr e e d  or  str o n gl y  a gr e e d t h at  N W D 

i m pr o v e s  y o u n g  p er s o n  a n d f a mil y 

e n g a g e m e nt  wit h  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e. 

I nt er pr et ati o n  of t h e s e fi n di n g s  s h o ul d t a k e 

i nt o  c o n si d er ati o n t h at t hi s i s  p er c ei v e d 

c h a n g e, i s  n ot  m e a s ur e d  at t h e i n di vi d u al 

l e v el,  a n d  h a s  n ot  b e e n  c o m p ar e d t o  a 

c o m p ari s o n  gr o u p.  Fi n di n g s fr o m i nt er vi e w s 

a n d f o c u s  gr o u p s i n r el ati o n t o  p er c ei v e d 

o ut c o m e s fr o m t h e  N W D  m o d el  ar e 

s u m m ari s e d  b el o w. 

Re d uces risk or i ncreases safety 

St aff r e p ort e d t h at  w or ki n g  wit h  y o u n g 

p e o pl e  a n d t h eir f a mili e s  w a s  p er c ei v e d t o 

pr e v e nt  e s c al ati o n,  b uil d r el ati o n s hi p s,  a n d 

r e d u c e ri s k,  or ri s k y  b e h a vi o ur s  s u c h  a s 

s u b st a n c e  mi s u s e,  e vi d e n c e d i n  s o m e  c a s e s 

b y  d e - e s c al ati o n  of  s u p p ort  n e e d e d. 

C hildre n looke d after 

M a n y  F F F  a n d  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e  st a f 

r e p ort e d t h at t h e  s er vi c e  w a s  c o ntri b uti n g 

t o  a r e d u cti o n i n  c hil dr e n l o o k e d  aft er i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h t hr o u g h  c hil dr e n  n ot  c o mi n g 

i nt o  c ar e,  alt h o u g h it  w a s  a c k n o wl e d g e d t h at 

F F F  w a s  n ot t h e  o nl y f a ct or li k el y t o  h a v e 

i nfl u e n c e d t hi s.  S e v er al  st a f  al s o  d e s cri b e d 

h o w  F F F’ s  w or k  wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e  c a n 

l e a d t o tr a n siti o n s  h o m e.  B e n efit s f or f a mil y 

r el ati o n s hi p s  w er e  al s o  n ot e d.  O n e  p ar e nt 

s h ar e d t h at t h e y  n oti c e d  a  c h a n g e i n t h eir 

c hil d’ s  b e h a vi o ur,  s u g g e sti n g i n cr e a s e d 

c o m m u ni c ati o n  b et w e e n t h e m.  A n ot h er 

p ar e nt i nt er vi e w e d  s h ar e d  h o w t h e  s u p p ort 

fr o m  F F F  h a s l e d t o t h e m f e eli n g  m or e  a bl e 

t o  c ar e f or t h eir  c hil d. 

Page 101



4 6 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“ W h e n  y o u’ v e  g ot s o ci al  w or k  a n d t hi n gs 
h el pi n g  y o u,  b e c a us e I  w as s o  b a d  wit h 
[ y o u n g  p ers o n] I j ust  w a nt e d [ y o u n g 
p ers o n]  p ut i n  c ar e t o s h o c k [t h e m] 
m or e  or l ess.  B ut  w e’r e  g etti n g t hr o u g h it 
n o w, [ y o u n g  p ers o n]  h as  c al m e d  a l ot.”  -
[ P ar e nt, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

A  s u b st a nti al  s hift i n  u s e  of  o ut  of  ar e a 

pl a c e m e nt s i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  w a s  al s o 

n ot e d.  H o w e v er,  s u p p orti n g r et ur n fr o m 

e xt er n al r e si d e nti al  c ar e  w a s  a c hi e v e d i n 

p art n er s hi p  wit h t h e I n n o v at e  T e a m,  w h o 

w o ul d  a s s e s s t h e  a p pr o pri at e n e s s f or  a 

c hil d  or  y o u n g  p er s o n t o  m o v e  o ut  of 

e xt er n al r e si d e nti al  c ar e,  b ef or e t h e  F F F 

s er vi c e  w o ul d l o o k  at  h o w t o  s u p p ort t h at 

y o u n g  p er s o n. 

“ …I  k n o w t h er e is  a  dri v e  a b o ut  bri n gi n g 
c hil dr e n  b a c k  h o m e  b e c a us e t h at’s  w h er e 
t h e y s h o ul d  b e  a n d it’s t h e I n n o v ati o n 
Te a m t h at’s  w or k e d  al o n gsi d e t h at.  B ut 
I  w o ul d s a y t h at t h e  F ut ur e f or  F a mili es 
h a v e  b e e n i nstr u m e nt al i n t h at.  T h e y 
h a v e s u p p ort e d t h at i niti ati v e.” 
[ S e ni or l e a d er, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

W hil e  e m p h a si si n g t h at  pl a c e m e nt  c h a n g e s 

w er e  m a d e  b a s e d  o n t h e  b e st i nt er e st s  of 

c hil dr e n,  a  s e ni or l e a d er  s h ar e d t h at t h er e 

w er e  s u b st a nti al  c o st  s a vi n g s  al s o r e s ulti n g 

fr o m r e d u ci n g t h e  u s e  of  e xt er n al r e si d e nti al 

pl a c e m e nt s. 

Ot her o utco mes for c hildre n a nd yo u ng people 

O b s er v ati o n s  a n d i nt er vi e w s i d e ntifi e d t h at 

t h e  F F F  s er vi c e i s t h o u g ht t o  b e i m pr o vi n g 

a r a n g e  of  ot h er  o ut c o m e s f or  c hil dr e n  a n d 

y o u n g  p e o pl e.  T hi s i n cl u d e d t h e  w ell b ei n g  of 

p ar e nt s  a n d  y o u n g  p e o pl e  a s  w ell  a s  s c h o ol 

att e n d a n c e  a n d  e n g a g e m e nt i n  e d u c ati o n. 

“[ Yo u n g  p ers o n]  w as n’t  g etti n g s c h o ol  w or k 
w h ats o e v er,  b ut  n o w [t h e y’ v e]  g ot  a 

h o m e t ut or,  w hi c h I’ m s ur e t h at  w as  all 
d o w n t o [ k e y  w or k er] r e all y,  a n d [ y o u n g 
p ers o n]’s  q uit e  h a p p y  d oi n g t h e  h o m e 
t ut ori n g.” - [ P ar e nt, f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

I m proves q uality of pla ns, 
assess me nts, a nd  meeti ngs 

I n  a d diti o n t o  cr e ati n g  p er c ei v e d i m p a ct 

b e y o n d t h e  F F F  s er vi c e i. e. i nt o t h e  wi d er 

s er vi c e  of  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e,  s o m e  st aff 

h a v e  c o m m e nt e d  h o w t h e  N W D  a p pr o a c h 

s u p p ort s  a  h oli sti c  u n d er st a n di n g  of  y o u n g 

p e o pl e,  a n d t h at  F F F  st aff  c a n  c o ntri b ut e 

t o i m pr o vi n g t h e  q u alit y  of  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al 

c ar e  pl a n s,  a s s e s s m e nt s,  a n d  m e eti n g s.  F or 

e x a m pl e: 

“ T h e y’r e  c o ntri b uti n g  p o siti v el y t o t h at 

m ulti - a g e n c y  a s p e ct  of  C ar e  Pl a n s  b e c a u s e 

of t h e r e s o ur c e t h e y  bri n g fr o m  p oli c e  a n d 

fr o m  S A L T ( s p e e c h  a n d l a n g u a g e t h er a p y), 

a n d fr o m  p s y c h ol o g y.”  – [ S e ni or l e a d er, 

f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

c.   D o t h er e  a p p e ar t o  b e  a n y  u ni nt e n d e d 
c o n s e q u e n c e s  or  n e g ati v e  e f e ct s ? 

I mpact o n staff i n ot her o utreac h services 

O n e  u ni nt e n d e d  c o n s e q u e n c e  w a s t h at 

s o m e  st aff i n  ot h er  o utr e a c h  s er vi c e s  a cr o s s 

c hil dr e n’ s  s er vi c e s f elt  u n s ur e  a b o ut t h eir 

r ol e,  gi v e n t h e i ntr o d u cti o n  of t h e  N W D 

m o d el.  A  s e ni or  m e m b er  of  st aff r e p ort e d 

t h at t hi s  w a s  m a n a g e d  c ar ef ull y  wit h  cl e ar 

c o m m u ni c ati o n  a n d t hi s i s s u e  c o nti n u e s t o 

b e  gi v e n  c o n si d er ati o n  g oi n g f or w ar d, i. e. 

h o w t o  diff er e nti at e  b et w e e n t h e  diff er e nt 

o utr e a c h t e a m s. 

I nstability for yo u ng people 

A n ot h er  u ni nt e n d e d  c o n s e q u e n c e i d e ntifi e d 

b y  s o m e  st aff  w a s i n r el ati o n t o  st a bilit y f or 

y o u n g  p e o pl e.  F or  e x a m pl e,  a  s e ni or l e a d er 

r e p ort e d t h at  w h er e  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w er e 

s ettl e d i n  N W D  pl a c e m e nt s it  c o ul d  b e  a 

Page 102



4 7 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

c h all e n g e i n  s o m e  c a s e s t o  m o v e t h e m  o n. 

At  b a s eli n e,  st aff i d e ntifi e d t h at it  w o ul d  b e 

i m p ort a nt t o  c o m m u ni c at e t h e t e m p or ar y 

n at ur e  of t h e  N W D r e si d e nti al  pl a c e m e nt s 

t o  a v oi d it f e eli n g li k e  a f urt h er  di sr u pti o n 

t o  y o u n g  p e o pl e.  A n ot h er  st aff  m e m b er  at 

f oll o w- u p  c o m m e nt e d  o n t h e i n st a bilit y 

e x p eri e n c e d  w h e n t h er e  ar e  c h a n g e s i n t h e 

y o u n g  p e o pl e  a  y o u n g  p er s o n li v e s  wit h i n 

t h e  h u b. I n  a n ot h er  e x a m pl e,  a  s o ci al  w or k er 

r e p ort e d t h at t h er e  h a d  b e e n i n st a n c e s 

of  a br u pt  e n di n g s t o  s u p p ort  pr o vi d e d  b y 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e,  w hi c h  h a d  n ot 

b e e n r e c ei v e d  w ell  b y  y o u n g  p e o pl e. 

“ F or  mi n e it’ s  b e e n  q uit e  a n  a br u pt  e n d f or 

t h e s e  ki d s  w h o  h a v e  alr e a d y  h a d  q uit e  a l ot 

of r ej e cti o n.” [ S o ci al  w or k er, f oll o w- u p f o c u s 

gr o u p]. 

3. Rea di ness for Trial 

a.  Is t h er e  a  cl e ar  d e s cri pti o n  of t h e 
i nt er v e nti o n  a n d t h e  c o nt ext u al 
f a cilit at or s  a n d  b arri er s t h at  w o ul d 
all o w it t o  b e i m pl e m e nt e d  a n d 
e v al u at e d i n  ot h er  pl a c e s ? 

A r e vi s e d l o gi c  m o d el i s  pr e s e nt e d i n 

A p p e n di x  D  o utli ni n g t h e i nt er v e nti o n  a n d 

it s f a cilit at or s  a n d  b arri er s.  T hi s i s  si m plifi e d 

a n d  a d a pt e d fr o m t h e  v er si o n  pr e s e nt e d i n 

t h e  pil ot  e v al u ati o n  pr ot o c ol ( S a n d er s  et  al., 

2 01 9).  T h e i niti al l o gi c  m o d el  d e v el o p e d  at 

t h e  o ut s et  of t hi s  pil ot  e v al u ati o n  w a s l ar g el y 

s u p p ort e d  b y t h e fi n di n g s i n t hi s r e p ort. 

H o w e v er, t h er e  w er e  c ert ai n  el e m e nt s t h at 

h a v e  b e e n  a d d e d  b a s e d  o n t h e s e  pil ot 

fi n di n g s. 

A s s u m pti o n s  a n d  c o nt e x t u al f a ct o r s 

M o st  c o nt e xt u al f a ct or s  w er e  alr e a d y 

c a pt ur e d i n t h e l o gi c  m o d el.  W e  a d d e d 

a d diti o n al  a s s u m pti o n s  a n d  c o nt e xt u al 

f a ct or s t o  e m p h a si z e t h e i m p ort a n c e  of 

r e c ei vi n g  a p pr o pri at e r ef err al s,  h a vi n g 

s uffi ci e nt r e s o ur c e t o  m e et l o c al  n e e d 

(i n cl u di n g  a  b al a n c e  b et w e e n  o utr e a c h  a n d 

h u b r ol e s)  a n d  cl arit y  o v er  h o w t o i nt e gr at e 

wit h l o c al  pr a cti c e  m o d el s  s u c h  a s  Si g n s  of 

S af et y. 

I nt e r v e nti o n 

T h e i nt er v e nti o n it s elf  w a s l ar g el y  c a pt ur e d 

a s  d e s cri b e d i n t h e l o gi c  m o d el.  W e  a d d e d  a 

n ot e t h at  s o m e  ar e a s  m a y t ail or  c o m p o n e nt s 

s u c h  a s t h e  N W D  Pr o v o c ati o n s t o t h eir l o c al 

c o nt e xt. 

M e c h a ni s m s 

T h e l o gi c  m o d el  alr e a d y  c a pt ur e d  o n e  of t h e 

k e y  m e c h a ni s m s  w e  o b s er v e d,  w hi c h  w a s 

t h e  s kill e d, i n- h o u s e  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y t e a m 

l e a di n g t o  m or e ti m el y  s u p p ort  a n d f e w er 

r ef err al s. I n t h e l o gi c  m o d el,  w h er e  w or ki n g 

wit h  p art n er s t o i d e ntif y  a n d  m a n a g e ri s k s 

w a s  alr e a d y  m e nti o n e d,  w e  a d d e d t h at t hi s 

i n cl u d e s  h ol di n g  R AI S E  m e eti n g s  att e n d e d 

b y  m ulti - a g e n c y  pr of e s si o n al s.  W e  al s o 

a d d e d t h at  N W D  c ar e  a n d  pr o gr e s si o n  pl a n s 

c a n  b e i nf or m e d  b y  d e e p  di v e s  w h er e t h e s e 

h a v e t a k e n  pl a c e.  W hil e t h e fl e xi bl e  n at ur e  of 

s u p p ort  w a s  alr e a d y  c a pt ur e d,  w e  a d d e d t h e 

r ol e  of t h e i nt e n si v e  n at ur e  of t h e  off er  a n d 

a bilit y t o r e s p o n d  q ui c kl y  a n d  o ut  of  h o ur s. 

W h er e t h e l o gi c  m o d el  alr e a d y  m e nti o n e d 

y o u n g  p e o pl e  e n g a gi n g  wit h t h eir  c ar e 

a n d  pr o gr e s si o n  pl a n s,  w e  e m p h a si z e d 

t h e i m p ort a n c e  of li st e ni n g t o t h e  y o u n g 

p er s o n’ s  v oi c e  a n d  st aff  d e v el o pi n g  a  m or e 

h oli sti c  u n d er st a n di n g  of t h eir  n e e d s. 

O ut c o m e s 

T hi s  e v al u ati o n  w a s  n ot  d e si g n e d t o t e st 

w h et h er  o ut c o m e s  w er e  a c hi e v e d,  b ut t h e 

p ot e nti al  o ut c o m e s i d e ntifi e d i n t hi s  pil ot 

e v al u ati o n  w er e l ar g el y  alr e a d y  c a pt ur e d 

i n t h e l o gi c  m o d el.  W e  a d d e d r ef er e n c e t o 

t h e  u ni nt e n d e d  c o n s e q u e n c e s  w e i d e ntifi e d 

w hi c h  w er e  n ot  c urr e ntl y  c a pt ur e d.  T h e 

Page 103



4 8 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

u ni nt e n d e d  c o n s e q u e n c e  w e  h a d  ori gi n all y 

i n cl u d e d i n t h e l o gi c  m o d el, r el at e d t o 

y o u n g  p e o pl e  n ot  e nt eri n g  c ar e i n t h e 

s h ort t er m  b ei n g  at ri s k  of  d e v el o pi n g  m or e 

c o m pl e x  n e e d s  a n d  e nt eri n g  c ar e l at er if  n ot 

s uffi ci e ntl y  m a n a g e d.  T hi s  w a s  n ot r ai s e d 

a s  a  c o n c er n  b y  st aff  a n d f a mili e s  w e  s p o k e 

t o i n t hi s  pil ot  e v al u ati o n,  s u g g e sti n g t h at 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F  s er vi c e  w a s  p er c ei v e d 

t o  b e  pr o vi di n g t h e ri g ht  s u p p ort t o  k e e p 

t h e s e  y o u n g  p e o pl e s’  n e e d s  m et.  T hi s 

s h o ul d  c o nti n u e t o  b e  m o nit or e d i n f ut ur e 

e v al u ati o n. 

b.  Is t h e i nt er v e nti o n  a bl e t o  b e  d eli v er e d 
c o n si st e ntl y  a cr o s s t e a m s ? 

S o ci al  w or k er s i n f oll o w- u p f o c u s  gr o u p s 

i d e ntifi e d t h at t h e  s u p p ort  F F F  off er e d 

diff er e d  at ti m e s  d e p e n di n g  o n  w hi c h  y o u n g 

p e o pl e t h e y  w or k e d  wit h.  A  s o ci al  w or k er 

w h o  w or k e d  wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e  o n t h e 

e d g e  of  c ar e r e p ort e d f e eli n g t h at  y o u n g 

p e o pl e  w er e  off er e d  s u p p ort f or  a s l o n g  a s 

it  w a s  n e e d e d,  w h er e a s  s o ci al  w or k er s  w h o 

w or k e d  wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  w er e i n l o n g 

t er m  c ar e r e p ort e d t h at i n  s o m e i n st a n c e s 

s u p p ort  e n d e d  m or e  q ui c kl y f or t h e  y o u n g 

p e o pl e t h e y  w or k e d  wit h. 

c.  Ar e  a n y  c h a n g e s  n e e d e d t o t h e t h e or y, 
m at eri al s  or  pr o c e d ur e s  b ef or e r oll o ut ? 

S e v er al  st aff  h a v e  a d v o c at e d f or i n cr e a si n g 

c a p a cit y  wit hi n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  F F F 

s er vi c e, f or  e x a m pl e, t hr o u g h  m or e  p o st s 

a n d f u n di n g  a n d t h e  cr e ati o n  of  a n ot h er 

F F F  h u b  or  m ulti pl e  h u b s. It  w a s  al s o 

m e nti o n e d,  b y  a  s e ni or  m a n a g er, t h at  a n 

o c c u p ati o n al t h er a pi st  c o ul d  b e  a  g o o d 

a d diti o n t o t h e t e a m t o  c o m pl e m e nt t h e 

c o m m u ni c ati o n  s u p p ort  w or k er  a n d t h e lif e 

c o a c h. It  w a s  al s o i m p ort a nt t o  cr e at e  cl arit y 

ar o u n d t h e  crit eri a f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o 

c a n  st a y i n  N W D  pl a c e m e nt s,  a n d t h o s e 

w h o  c a n r e c ei v e  o utr e a c h  s u p p ort,  s o  st aff 

h a v e  a  g o o d  u n d er st a n di n g  of  w h o  s h o ul d 

b e r ef err e d  a n d  c a n  m a k e  b e st  u s e  of t h e 

m o d el.  T h e l e n gt h  of  pl a c e m e nt  wit h t h e 

N W D f o st er  c ar er  w a s  al s o f elt t o  b e  s h ort i n 

n at ur e,  e. g. t hr e e t o f o ur  m o nt h s,  a n d  s o m e 

r e s p o n d e nt s  n ot e d t h at  a l o n g er  pl a c e m e nt 

m a y  all o w f or f urt h er r el ati o n s hi p  b uil di n g 

a n d  w or k t o t a k e  pl a c e.  Al s o, t h er e  c o ul d 

b e  cl o s er j oi nt  w or ki n g  b et w e e n  c hil dr e n’ s 

s o ci al  c ar e  a n d t h e  F F F  s er vi c e. 

“... Mi d dl e s br o u g h’ s  S o ci al  S er vi c e s,  F ut ur e 

f or  F a mili e s,  s u p p ort e d l o d gi n g s.  T h e y  all 

n e e d t o  b e  m a ki n g  s ur e t h at t h e y  ar e  all 

w or ki n g t o g et h er  all t h e ti m e.  T h e y  d o tr y, 

b ut  s o m eti m e s t h e l eft  h a n d  d o e s n’t t ell t h e 

ri g ht  h a n d  w h at it’ s  d oi n g.” [ F o st er  c ar er, 

f oll o w- u p i nt er vi e w] 

Page 104



4 9 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DISC USSI O N 
Disc ussio n of Fi n di n gs 

Fi n di n g s  s u g g e st t h at  m a n y  el e m e nt s  of 

t h e  N o  Wr o n g  D o or  m o d el  ar e f e a si bl e t o 

i m pl e m e nt i n  a  n e w l o c al  a ut h orit y,  e v e n i n 

t h e  c o nt e xt  of  a  gl o b al  p a n d e mi c.  El e m e nt s 

t h at  w er e  h ar d er t o i m pl e m e nt i n cl u d e d 

fi n di n g  s uit a bl e f o st er  c ar e  pl a c e m e nt s 

i n  s o m e i n st a n c e s,  a n d  att e n d a n c e  of  all 

a p pr o pri at e  m ulti - a g e n c y  pr of e s si o n al s  at 

R AI S E  m e eti n g s.  T h e  m o d el i s  al s o  w ell 

r e c ei v e d  b y  st aff  a n d f a mili e s,  p arti c ul arl y 

t h e i nt e n si v e  a n d ti m el y  2 4 / 7  s u p p ort 

off er e d  b y  a  hi g hl y  s kill e d  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y 

t e a m.  H o w e v er, t h er e i s  still f urt h er  w or k 

t o  b e  d o n e  ar o u n d  cl arif yi n g t h e r e mit  of 

t h e  s er vi c e f or r ef erri n g  pr of e s si o n al s,  a n d 

b al a n ci n g  s u p p ort f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n  h u b 

pl a c e m e nt s  wit h  o utr e a c h  s u p p ort. 

Alt h o u g h t hi s  e v al u ati o n i s  n ot  d e si g n e d t o 

t e st i m p a ct,  a r a n g e  of  p ot e nti al  b e n efit s 

f or  c hil dr e n  a n d f a mili e s  ar e i d e ntifi e d, 

i n cl u di n g  pr e v e nti n g  e ntr y t o  c ar e  a n d 

r e d u ci n g  o ut  of  ar e a  pl a c e m e nt s.  H o w e v er, 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h  e m pl o y e d  s e v er al  str at e gi e s 

t o r e d u c e t h eir  hi g h  n u m b er s  of  c hil dr e n 

l o o k e d  aft er  a n d t h o s e  w h o  ar e i n  o ut  of 

ar e a  pl a c e m e nt s,  al o n g si d e i m pl e m e nti n g 

t h e  N W D  m o d el.  T h er ef or e, f ut ur e r e s e ar c h 

m u st t a k e i nt o  a c c o u nt  all t h e  str at e gi e s 

e m pl o y e d t o  s u p p ort f a mili e s li vi n g  s af el y 

t o g et h er  a n d t h u s  e v al u at e t h e  m o d el i n it s 

wi d er  c o nt e xt. 

A n y  c o n cl u si o n s  dr a w n fr o m t hi s  pil ot 

e v al u ati o n  s h o ul d  k e e p i n  mi n d t h e  c o nt e xt 

i n  w hi c h  N W D i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  w a s  b ei n g 

i m pl e m e nt e d  a n d  e v al u at e d.  T hi s i n cl u d e s 

a n  o v er all ‘i n a d e q u at e’ j u d g e m e nt fr o m 

Of st e d i n J a n u ar y  2 0 2 0  w hi c h  aff e ct e d 

ti m eli n e s f or i ntr o d u ci n g  N W D.  S o m e  st aff 

f elt t h at t hi s  Of st e d j u d g e m e nt  cr e at e d t h e 

c o n diti o n s t o  all o w  s o m et hi n g  n e w t o  c o m e 

i n  a n d t h at t h e  m o d el t h er ef or e l a n d e d  w ell 

wit h  st aff.  T hi s  m a y  h a v e f a cilit at e d  d eli v er y 

i n  a  w a y t h at  m a y  n ot  o c c ur i n  ot h er  ar e a s 

wit h o ut t hi s  c o nt e xt.  D eli v er y  of t h e  N W D 

m o d el i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  w a s  al s o  aff e ct e d 

b y t h e  C O VI D -1 9  p a n d e mi c. 

It i s  al s o i m p ort a nt t o  n ot e t h at t hi s 

pil ot  e v al u ati o n i s  o nl y  a bl e t o  c a pt ur e 

t h e  e arl y  st a g e s  of i m pl e m e nt ati o n,  a n d 

c a n n ot  pr o vi d e  e vi d e n c e  o n t h e l o n g er 

t er m  e m b e d di n g  of t h e  N W D  m o d el. 

N e v ert h el e s s, t h er e i s  s o m e  pr o mi si n g 

e vi d e n c e t h at  p art s  of t h e  N W D  m o d el, 

f or  e x a m pl e t h e  d e e p  di v e  a p pr o a c h,  a n d 

u s e  of t h e  N o n- N e g oti a bl e s,  Pr o v o c ati o n s, 

a n d  Di sti n g ui s h er s,  h a v e  s pr e a d  b e y o n d 

t h e  F F F  s er vi c e i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h t o  wi d er 

c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e t e a m s.  T hi s  e v al u ati o n 

d o e s  n ot i n cl u d e  c o nti n u e d  c h a n g e s 

i n  Mi d dl e s br o u g h  s u b s e q u e nt t o t h e 

c oll e cti o n  of  d at a f or t hi s  pil ot  e v al u ati o n. 

I m pl e m e nt ati o n  w a s  al s o  aff e ct e d  b y f a ct or s 

i n cl u di n g  s h ort a g e s i n f o st er  c ar er s  wit h 

s uit a bl e  e x p eri e n c e. 

Alt h o u g h t h e  c o nt e xt f or  e a c h l o c al  a ut h orit y 

i ntr o d u ci n g  N W D  will  diff er, fi n di n g s fr o m 

t hi s  pil ot  e v al u ati o n  m a y  b e  u s ef ul t o i nf or m 

r efi n e m e nt  of tr ai ni n g,  m at eri al s  a n d  s u p p ort 

pr o vi d e d  b y t h e i nt er v e nti o n  d e v el o p er, 

a s  w ell  a s i nf or mi n g  pl a n s  a n d  a cti viti e s 

u n d ert a k e n  b y t h e l o c al  a ut h oriti e s  w h o  ar e 

i ntr o d u ci n g  N W D t h e m s el v e s. 

R efi ni n g  s u p p ort  a v ail a bl e fr o m t h e 

i nt er v e nti o n  d e v el o p er  a n d  a d o pti n g 

l o c al  a ut h orit y,  a s  w ell  a s  o v er c o mi n g 

Page 105



5 0 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

l o c al  a n d  n ati o n al  b arri er s t o  s u c c e s sf ul 

i m pl e m e nt ati o n  of  N W D  a s i nt e n d e d  b y 

t h e  m o d el  d e v el o p er s,  will  e n s ur e t h at  a n y 

i m p a ct  e v al u ati o n i s  a n  e v al u ati o n  of t h e 

tr u e  m o d el, r at h er t h a n  a  p arti al  v er si o n  of 

it.  T hi s  w o ul d  e n a bl e  a c c ur at e  c o n cl u si o n s 

t o  b e  dr a w n  a b o ut t h e  eff e cti v e n e s s  of 

N W D. If t h e  m o d el i s f o u n d t o  b e  eff e cti v e, 

b ei n g  a bl e t o  d eli v er t h e  m o d el i n  a  w a y t h at 

c h a n g e s  pr a cti c e  a s i nt e n d e d  will  al s o  b e 

i m p ort a nt t o  a c hi e v e  o pti m al  o ut c o m e s f or 

c hil dr e n  a n d f a mili e s. 

Q u a ntit ati v e  e v al u ati o n  w o ul d  b e  n e e d e d 

t o  e st a bli s h  w h et h er t h e  m e c h a ni s m s 

i d e ntifi e d i n t hi s  pil ot  e v al u ati o n  ar e  a ct u all y 

h a p p e ni n g  m or e i n  N W D t h a n i n  pr a cti c e  a s 

u s u al,  a s  w ell  a s  w h et h er t h e y  ar e l e a di n g t o 

a ct u al i m p a ct s i n t h e r a n g e  of  p ot e nti al  c hil d 

a n d f a mil y  o ut c o m e s t h at t h e  m o d el  w a s 

r e p ort e d t o  b e li k el y t o  a c hi e v e. 

Li mitatio ns 

U s u al  S o ci al  W or k  pr a cti c e,  a s  w ell  a s 

d eli v er y  of  N W D  w er e  aff e ct e d  b y t h e 

C O VI D -1 9  p a n d e mi c.  T hi s  aff e ct s  h o w  m u c h 

t h e fi n di n g s fr o m t hi s  pil ot  e v al u ati o n  c a n  b e 

g e n er ali s e d i n t h e f ut ur e,  alt h o u g h it i s li k el y 

t h at t h e  C O VI D -1 9  p a n d e mi c  will  c o nti n u e 

t o  aff e ct  c hil dr e n, f a mili e s  a n d  S o ci al  W or k 

pr a cti c e f or  s o m e ti m e t o  c o m e. 

A f or m al r ati n g  of fi d elit y t o  N W D  w a s  o ut 

of  s c o p e  of t hi s  e v al u ati o n,  a n d fi n di n g s  ar e 

b a s e d  o n  a  s m all  n u m b er  of  o b s er v ati o n s. 

T hi s  m e a n s  c o n cr et e  c o n cl u si o n s  a b o ut 

w h et h er t h e  c o m p o n e nt s  of  N W D  ar e  b ei n g 

f ull y i m pl e m e nt e d  c a n n ot  b e  dr a w n. 

I nt er pr et ati o n  of fi n di n g s  s h o ul d  al s o 

c o n si d er t h at  st aff  w h o  c h o s e t o r e s p o n d 

t o t h e  s ur v e y  m a y  n ot  b e r e pr e s e nt ati v e  of 

all  st aff i n t h e  F F F  s er vi c e.  Alt h o u g h  s ur v e y 

d at a  w a s  a n o n y m o u s, r e s p o n s e s  m a y  al s o 

h a v e  b e e n  aff e ct e d  b y  d e sir a bilit y  eff e ct s, 

s u c h  a s r e p orti n g  u si n g  a  c ert ai n  a p pr o a c h 

t h at t h e y  ar e  e x p e ct e d t o  b e  u si n g.  Wit h o ut 

a f or m al  o b s er v ati o n it i s  n ot  p o s si bl e t o 

c o n cl u d e  w h et h er  or  h o w  m u c h  st aff  ar e 

a ct u all y  u si n g t h e i nt e n d e d  a p pr o a c h,  or t h e 

q u alit y  of i m pl e m e nt ati o n. 

T hi s  e v al u ati o n  ai m s t o r e p ort  o n f e a si bilit y 

a n d  pr o mi s e  of  N W D i n  a  n e w  ar e a,  a n d 

g ai n  u n d er st a n di n g  of it s  m e c h a ni s m s. It 

i s  n ot  a bl e t o  a n d  s h o ul d  n ot  b e  u s e d t o 

dr a w  c o n cl u si o n s  a b o ut t h e i m p a ct  of  N W D. 

T h e  st e p p e d - w e d g e r a n d o mi s e d  c o ntr oll e d 

tri al  of  N W D  b ei n g  u n d ert a k e n  b y  W W C S C 

a s  p art  of t h e  D e p art m e nt f or  E d u c ati o n’ s 

Str e n gt h e ni n g  F a mili e s,  Pr ot e cti n g 

C hil dr e n  pr o gr a m m e i s t h e  n e xt  st e p i n 

t hi s  e v al u ati o n  pr o c e s s ( S c h o e n w al d  et  al., 

2 0 2 0).  T hi s  pr oj e ct,  n o w  u n d er w a y,  ai m s t o 

dr a w  c o n cl u si o n s  a b o ut t h e i m p a ct  of  N W D 

r el ati v e t o  a r o b u st  c o m p ari s o n. 

W hil e t hi s  e v al u ati o n  ai m e d t o i nf or m t h e 

n e xt  p h a s e  of t h e  N W D  e v al u ati o n,  d el a y s 

i n i m pl e m e nt ati o n  a n d  e v al u ati o n, i n cl u di n g 

t h o s e li n k e d t o  C O VI D -1 9,  h a v e  m e a nt t h at 

b y t h e ti m e t hi s r e p ort i s  p u bli s h e d,  all l o c al 

a ut h oriti e s i n t h e  S F P C  pr o gr a m m e  will  h a v e 

b e g u n i m pl e m e nti n g  N W D.  Fi n di n g s fr o m 

t hi s  pil ot  e v al u ati o n  ar e  still  u s ef ul t o i nf or m 

t h e l o n g er t er m  e m b e d di n g  of  N W D i n t h e s e 

l o c al  a ut h oriti e s,  a s  w ell  a s t h e  n e xt  p h a s e  of 

e v al u ati o n.  F or  e x a m pl e, t hr o u g h i nf or mi n g 

k e y  el e m e nt s t o  c o n si d er i n t h e  o n g oi n g 

i m pl e m e nt ati o n  a n d  pr o c e s s  e v al u ati o n. 

T h e y  ar e  al s o  of  b e n efit t o i nf or m  ot h er 

a ut h oriti e s t h at  m a y  c o n si d er i ntr o d u ci n g 

N W D  o ut si d e  of t h e  S F P C  pr o gr a m m e. 

Page 106



51 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

C o ncl usio ns a n d Rec o m me n datio ns 

B a s e d  o n fi n di n g s  of  w h at  w or k e d  w ell i n 

Mi d dl e s br o u g h,  a s  w ell  a s  w a y s i n  w hi c h 

d eli v er y  c o ul d  b e i m pr o v e d, t h e f oll o wi n g 

pr o c e s s e s  s h o ul d r e c ei v e  p arti c ul ar 

att e nti o n  w h e n i ntr o d u ci n g  a n d  e m b e d di n g 

N W D i n  a  n e w  ar e a, t o  e n s ur e  s u c c e s sf ul 

i m pl e m e nt ati o n: 

•  St affi n g  of  N W D t e a m s  s h o ul d  e n s ur e 

c a p a cit y t o r e s p o n d t o t h e  n e e d s  of 

y o u n g  p e o pl e  w h o  ar e i n  pl a c e m e nt s 

a n d t h o s e  w h o r e q uir e  o utr e a c h  s u p p ort. 

St aff  s h o ul d  al s o  h a v e ti m e t o  b uil d 

m e a ni n gf ul  a n d  c o n si st e nt r el ati o n s hi p s 

wit h f a mili e s t h e y  w or k  wit h  a n d  off er 

a  sl o w  wit h dr a w al  of  s u p p ort t o  a v oi d 

f urt h er  di sr u pti o n f or  y o u n g  p e o pl e. 

D e di c at e d  st aff f or  e a c h t y p e  of r ol e, 

or  o v er-r e s o ur ci n g t h e  s er vi c e,  m a y  b e 

w a y s t o  e n a bl e t hi s.  H o w  c o n si st e n c y 

c a n  b e  m ai nt ai n e d  w h e n  st aff  ar e  n ot  o n 

s hift  s h o ul d  al s o  b e  c o n si d er e d.  L o c al 

a ut h oriti e s  wit h  a  hi g h l e v el  of  n e e d  m a y 

n e e d t o  c o n si d er i n v e sti n g i n  m ulti pl e 

N W D  h u b s  or  u si n g t h e  N W D  a p pr o a c h 

a cr o s s t h eir  wi d er r e si d e nti al  off er. 

•  T o  s u p p ort  a p pr o pri at e  a n d  s uffi ci e ntl y 

d et ail e d r ef err al s t o t h e  s er vi c e, r ef erri n g 

pr a ctiti o n er s  s h o ul d  b e  pr o vi d e d  wit h 

c o m pr e h e n si v e tr ai ni n g  a n d  g ui d a n c e, 

f or  e x a m pl e  a n  e -l e ar ni n g  p a c k a g e  a n d 

r efr e s h er  s u p p ort  a s  n e e d e d.  T hi s  s h o ul d 

e n s ur e t h e y  h a v e  a  g o o d  u n d er st a n di n g 

of t h e  N W D  a p pr o a c h, t h e  s u p p ort it 

off er s,  w h o i s  s uit a bl e f or t h e  s er vi c e, 

a n d  h o w it  diff er s fr o m  ot h er l o c al 

s er vi c e  pr o vi si o n.  T o f a cilit at e t h e  m ulti -

a g e n c y  a p pr o a c h t o  m a n a gi n g ri s k, 

s er vi c e s  s h o ul d  al s o  e n s ur e t h at  m ulti -

a g e n c y  p art n er s r e c ei v e  a p pr o pri at e 

g ui d a n c e  o n t h e  N W D  m o d el  a n d  ar e 

e n c o ur a g e d t o  att e n d  R AI S E  m e eti n g s. 

•  T o f a cili t at e  N W D t o  o p er at e  a s i nt e n d e d, 

g ui d a n c e f or  e m b e d di n g t h e  N W D 

Pr o v o c ati o n s,  Di sti n g ui s h er s,  a n d  N o n-

N e g oti a bl e s  a n d  a c hi e vi n g  a  c o n si st e nt 

a p pr o a c h t o  pr a cti c e  a cr o s s  c hil dr e n’ s 

s er vi c e s  s h o ul d  b e  a v ail a bl e.  T hi s 

s h o ul d i n cl u d e  g ui d a n c e  o n  w h et h er 

a n d  h o w  a n y  e xi sti n g  pr a cti c e  m o d el s 

s u c h  a s  Si g n s  of  S af et y  s h o ul d  b e  u s e d 

i n  c o nj u n cti o n  wit h t h e  m o d el.  T hi s 

s h o ul d  e n s ur e  a  c o n si st e nt  a p pr o a c h 

t o  d e ci si o n  m a ki n g  a n d  s u p p ort  a cr o s s 

c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e,  a n d  c o nti n uit y  of 

s u p p ort f or  c hil dr e n  w h o  ar e  m o vi n g 

o n fr o m t h e  N W D  s er vi c e.  A n y l o c al 

a d a pt ati o n s t o t h e  Pr o v o c ati o n s, 

Di sti n g ui s h er s,  a n d  N o n- N e g oti a bl e s 

s h o ul d  b e  d e v el o p e d i n  p art n er s hi p 

wit h  N ort h  Y or k s hir e  C o u nt y  C o u n cil t o 

e n s ur e t h e s e  ar e i n li n e  wit h t h e  N W D 

m o d el. 

•  A  s uffi ci e nt  s u p pl y  of f o st er  c ar er s 

s uit a bl e t o  c ar e f or t e e n a g er s i s 

i m p ort a nt t o  e n a bl e  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

t o  b e  s u p p ort e d t o  m o v e i nt o  st a bl e 

f a mil y  b a s e d  pl a c e m e nt s.  T hi s  m a y  b e 

s u p p ort e d  b y  e arl y r e cr uit m e nt  of t h e 

N W D  s p e ci ali st f o st er  c ar er r ol e s, al s o 

k n o w n  a s  h u b  c o m m u nit y f a mili e s,  a n d 

l o c al  a ut h orit y  wi d e r e cr uit m e nt  a n d 

tr ai ni n g  of  m ai n str e a m f o st er  c ar er s. 

•  R e g ul ar  o p p ort u niti e s t o r e vi sit t h e 

N W D  a p pr o a c h,  a n d f or t h e t e a m t o 

b o n d t o g et h er  ar e i m p ort a nt t o  e n s ur e 

t h e  m ulti di s ci pli n ar y  N W D t e a m  ar e 

s uffi ci e ntl y  w ell tr ai n e d  a n d  s u p p ort e d. 

L at er  st art er s  s h o ul d  al s o r e c ei v e t h e 

tr ai ni n g  p a c k a g e,  p arti c ul arl y tr ai ni n g i n 

r e st or ati v e  pr a cti c e.  Tr ai ni n g  n e e d s  of 

st aff  w h o  m a y  n ot  h a v e  a  b a c k gr o u n d 

i n  c hil dr e n’ s  s o ci al  c ar e  s h o ul d  b e 

c o n si d er e d. 

Page 107



5 2 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Directio ns for F ut ure Researc h 

Fi n di n g s fr o m t hi s  pil ot  e v al u ati o n  c a n  b e 

u s e d t o  u n d er st a n d  h o w  N W D i s  d eli v er e d 

i n  a  n e w  ar e a,  b ut  c a n n ot  a n s w er  q u e sti o n s 

a b o ut t h e i m p a ct  of  N W D  o n  o ut c o m e s. 

T h e  n e xt  st e p t o  b uil d  o n t h e s e fi n di n g s 

i s t h e  st e p p e d - w e d g e  cl u st er r a n d o mi s e d 

c o ntr oll e d tri al ( R C T ),  s u p pl e m e nt e d  b y  a 

Diff er e n c e -i n  Diff er e n c e s  a n al y si s,  b ei n g l e d 

b y  W W C S C ( S c h o e n w al d  et  al.,  2 0 2 0).  T hi s 

i s  b ei n g  u n d ert a k e n i n f o ur l o c al  a ut h oriti e s 

w h o  ar e i ntr o d u ci n g  N W D  b et w e e n  2 0 2 0 

a n d  2 0 2 2.  All f o ur l o c al  a ut h oriti e s  h a v e 

n o w  b e g u n  d eli v eri n g  a  N W D  s er vi c e.  T hi s 

e v al u ati o n  will f oll o w t h e s e l o c al  a ut h oriti e s 

o v er ti m e t o  c o n si d er t h e i m p a ct  of  N W D  o n 

t h e li k eli h o o d  of  c hil dr e n  b ei n g l o o k e d  aft er. 

S e c o n d ar y  o ut c o m e s t hi s  e v al u ati o n  will 

al s o  b e  m e a s uri n g  ar e t h e  n u m b er  of  d a y s 

i n  c ar e, t h e  n u m b er  of  pl a c e m e nt  c h a n g e s, 

a n d li k eli h o o d  of  b ei n g  n ot i n  e d u c ati o n, 

e m pl o y m e nt  or tr ai ni n g ( N E E T ).  T hi s i m p a ct 

e v al u ati o n  will  b e  a c c o m p a ni e d  b y  a n 

I m pl e m e nt ati o n  a n d  Pr o c e s s  E v al u ati o n 

(I P E)  s e e ki n g t o  m e a s ur e i m pl e m e nt ati o n t o 

h el p  u n d er st a n d  a n d  e x pl ai n  a n y i d e ntifi e d 

i nt er v e nti o n  eff e ct s ( or l a c k t h er e of ) i n 

t h e  c o n c urr e nt  st e p p e d - w e d g e  cl u st er 

r a n d o mi s e d  c o ntr oll e d tri al,  a n d  c o nti n u e t o 

i m pr o v e  u n d er st a n di n g  of t h e  m o d el. 

T hi s  n e xt  st a g e  will t a k e i nt o  a c c o u nt  k e y 

l e ar ni n g fr o m t hi s  pil ot  e v al u ati o n  a b o ut t h e 

a v ail a bilit y  of  d at a  a n d  w h at  c o m p o n e nt s 

a n d  m e c h a ni s m s t o  m e a s ur e.  F or  e x a m pl e, 

t h e  n e xt  p h a s e  of t h e  e v al u ati o n  s h o ul d 

c o n si d er  w h at l o c al  a d a pt ati o n s  ar e  m a d e 

s u c h  a s t o t h e  Pr o v o c ati o n s,  a n d  h o w 

N W D  a n d  e xi sti n g l o c al  pr a cti c e  m o d el s 

ar e i nt e gr at e d.  T h e I m pl e m e nt ati o n  a n d 

Pr o c e s s  E v al u ati o n  s h o ul d  al s o  s e e k t o 

m e a s ur e  w h et h er ri s k s  a n d  c h all e n g e s 

i d e ntifi e d i n t hi s  pil ot,  s u c h  a s t h e  eff e ct s 

of  C O VI D -1 9  a v ail a bilit y  of f o st er  c ar e 

pl a c e m e nt s,  a n d  cl arit y  o v er r ef err al s t o t h e 

N W D  s er vi c e,  ar e  o v er c o m e i n t h e l o c al 

a ut h oriti e s  p arti ci p ati n g i n t h e tri al.  T hi s  will 

h a v e i m p ort a nt i m pli c ati o n s f or i nt er pr eti n g 

t h e i m p a ct fi n di n g s  a n d  w h et h er  a n  eff e ct, 

or  a b s e n c e  of  eff e ct,  mi g ht  b e  attri b ut e d 

t o  diff er e nti al i m pl e m e nt ati o n r at h er t h a n 

t h e  N W D  m o d el  a s  s p e cifi e d. It  will  al s o  b e 

p o s si bl e t o  c o n si d er  w h et h er  m e c h a ni s m s 

o p er at e  si mil arl y i n  diff er e nt l o c al  a ut h orit y 

c o nt e xt s,  a n d  w h et h er  c o m p o n e nt s  of  N W D 

w er e  alr e a d y i n  pl a c e  b ef or e t h e  m o d el 

w a s i ntr o d u c e d.  F ut ur e  e v al u ati o n  s h o ul d 

al s o  m o nit or f or  a n y  p ot e nti al  u ni nt e n d e d 

c o n s e q u e n c e s  of t h e  m o d el i d e ntifi e d i n t h e 

ori gi n al l o gi c  m o d el  a n d  wit hi n t hi s  pil ot. 

F ut ur e r e s e ar c h  m a y  al s o  c o n si d er f urt h er 

t e sti n g  of t h e l o gi c  m o d el.  T hi s  m a y i n cl u d e 

w h et h er t h e  m e c h a ni s m s  of  N W D  c a n  b e 

m e a s ur e d  q u a ntit ati v el y  a n d  e st a bli s hi n g 

t h e  k e y  a cti v e i n gr e di e nt s  a n d  m e di at or s  of 

t h e  m o d el. 

Page 108



5 3 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REFE RE NCES 
B a gi n s k y,  M.,  Hi c k m a n,  B.,  H arri s, J., 

M a nt h or p e, J.,  S a n d er s,  M.,  O’ Hi g gi n s,  A., 

S c h o e n w al d,  E.  a n d  Cl a yt o n,  V., ( 2 0 2 0). 

E v al u ati o n  of  M T M’ s  Si g n s  of  S af et y  Pil ot s: 

E v al u ati o n r e p ort  &  E v al u ati o n r e p ort 

a p p e n di c e s.  W h at  W or k s f or  C hil dr e n’ s 

S o ci al  C ar e:  L o n d o n. 

D e p art m e nt f or  E d u c ati o n. ( 2 01 0).  C hil dr e n 

l o o k e d  aft er i n  E n gl a n d i n cl u di n g  a d o pti o n: 

2 0 0 9 t o  2 01 0. 

D e p art m e nt f or  E d u c ati o n. ( 2 0 21 a).  C hil dr e n 

l o o k e d  aft er i n  E n gl a n d i n cl u di n g  a d o pti o n: 

2 01 9 t o  2 0 2 0. 

D e p art m e nt f or  E d u c ati o n. ( 2 0 21 b). 

C hil dr e n’ s  S o ci al  W or k  W or kf or c e  2 0 2 0. 

D e p art m e nt f or  E d u c ati o n. ( 2 0 21 c). 

G ui d a n c e f or  s c h o ol s:  c or o n a vir u s 

( C O VI D -1 9).  R etri e v e d fr o m htt p s: / / w w w. 

g o v. u k / g o v er n m e nt / c oll e cti o n s / g ui d a n c e -

f or- s c h o ol s- c or o n a vir u s- c o vi d -1 9 

F a mil y  Ri g ht s  Gr o u p. ( 2 01 8).  C ar e  Cri si s 

R e vi e w:  A  s e ct or-l e d  R e vi e w  of t h e ri s e i n 

a p pli c ati o n s f or  c ar e  or d er s  a n d t h e  n u m b er 

of  c hil dr e n i n  c ar e.  htt p s: / /fr g. or g. u k / p oli c y -

a n d - c a m p ai g n s /t h e - c ar e - cri si s-r e vi e w / 

Fit z Si m o n s,  A.,  &  M c Cr a c k e n,  K. ( 2 0 2 0). 

C hil dr e n’ s  S o ci al  C ar e I n n o v ati o n  Pr o gr a m m e: 

r o u n d  2 fi n al r e p ort:  S e pt e m b er  2 0 2 0. 

F orr e st er,  D.,  L y n c h,  A.,  B o st o c k,  L., 

N e wl a n d s,  F.,  Pr e st o n,  B.,  &  C ar y,  A. 

( 2 01 7)  F a mil y  S af e g u ar di n g  H ertf or d s hir e: 

E v al u ati o n  R e p ort.  D e p art m e nt f or 

E d u c ati o n:  L o n d o n 

L u s h e y,  C.,  H y d e - Dr y d e n,  G.,  H ol m e s,  L.,  & 

Bl a c k m or e, J. ( 2 01 7).  E v al u ati o n  of t h e  N W D 

I n n o v ati o n  Pr o gr a m m e:  R e s e ar c h  R e p ort. 

D e p art m e nt f or  E d u c ati o n:  L o n d o n. 

M a s o n,  P.,  F er g u s o n,  H.,  M orri s,  K., 

M u nt o n,  T.  S e n,  R. ( 2 01 7).  L e e d s  F a mil y 

V al u e d:  E v al u ati o n  R e p ort.  D e p art m e nt f or 

E d u c ati o n:  L o n d o n. 

Mi ni str y  of  H o u si n g,  C o m m u niti e s  &  L o c al 

G o v er n m e nt. ( 2 01 9)  T h e  E n gli s h I n di c e s  of 

D e pri v ati o n  2 01 9. 

N S P C C. ( 2 0 21).  L o o k e d  aft er  c hil dr e n: 

st ati sti c s  bri efi n g.  R etri e v e d fr o m  htt p s: / / 

l e ar ni n g. n s p c c. or g. u k /r e s e ar c h-r e s o ur c e s / 

st ati sti c s- bri efi n g s /l o o k e d - aft er- c hil dr e n 

Offi c e f or  N ati o n al  St ati sti c s. ( 2 01 2).  2 011 

C e n s u s:  K e y  St ati sti c s f or l o c al  a ut h oriti e s i n 

E n gl a n d  a n d  W al e s. 

S a n d er s,  M.,  R ei d,  L.,  &  C oll y er,  H. ( 2 01 9). 

Str e n gt h e ni n g  F a mili e s,  Pr ot e cti n g  C hil dr e n 

N W D:  Pil ot.  htt p s: / / w h at w or k s- c s c . 

or g. u k / w p - c o nt e nt / u pl o a d s / W W C S C _ 

Str e n gt h e ni n g _ F a mili e s _ Pr ot e cti n g _ 

C hil dr e n _ Pil ot _ Pr ot o c ol _ N o _ Wr o n g _ D o or _ 

D e c _ 2 01 9. p df 

S c h o e n w al d,  E.,  C oll y er,  H.,  S h oll,  P., 

S a n d er s,  M.,  R ei d,  L.,  &  L e e  L u c a,  D. ( 2 0 2 0). 

Tri al  E v al u ati o n  Pr ot o c ol:  Str e n gt h e ni n g 

F a mili e s,  Pr ot e cti n g  C hil dr e n -  N W D  M o d el. 

htt p s: / / w h at w or k s- c s c. or g. u k /r e s e ar c h -

pr oj e ct / n o - wr o n g - d o or- m o d el -tri al -

e v al u ati o n / 

W h at  W or k s f or  C hil dr e n’ s  S o ci al  C ar e. 

( 2 01 8).  M a p pi n g t h e  e vi d e n c e  a b o ut  w h at 

w or k s t o  s af el y r e d u c e t h e  n u m b er  of 

c hil dr e n  a n d  y o u n g  p e o pl e i n  st at ut or y  c ar e: 

a  s y st e m ati c r e vi e w.  L o n d o n:  E n gl a n d 

Page 109

https://whatworks-csc.org.uk/research
https://whatworks-csc
https://frg.org.uk/policy
https://www


5 4 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

  

  

 

A P PE N DICES 

A ppe n dix  A: Ta bles 

Table 2: Characteristics of young people being supported by  N W D 

N W D l a u n c h 
( 07/ 0 9/ 2 0 2 0) 

T hr e e  m o nt hs 
aft er  N W D l a u n c h 
( 07/1 2/ 2 0 2 0) 

Y o u n g  p e o pl e i n  N W D  pl a c e m e nt s 0 
5 ( 3 f ull ti m e, 
2 r e s pit e) 

Y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g  s u p p ort e d  b y  o utr e a c h  1 4 4 0 

A v er a g e  a g e 1 4. 0 7 1 4. 4 2 

M al e 7 ( 5 0 %) 2 6 ( 5 8) % 

F e m al e 7 ( 5 0 %) 1 9 ( 4 2) % 

W hit e  Briti s h 1 2 ( 8 6 %) 3 8 ( 8 4 %) 

N ot  W hit e  Briti s h 7 2 (1 4 %) 7 (1 6 %) 

A v er a g e  n u m b er  of  c h a n g e s i n  k e y  w or k er  0 0 

A v er a g e fr e q u e n c y  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e’ s  c a s e 
r e vi e w  b y  N W D  st a f 

N / A At l e a st  m o nt hl y 

A v er a g e  n u m b er  of  d a y s fr o m r ef err al t o  N W D 
t o  o p e ni n g  y o u n g  p er s o n’ s  c a s e 

N / A 

R ef err al t o 
i nt er v e nti o n -  2 38 

All o c ati o n t o 
i nt er v e nti o n - 1 6 

St at ut or y st at us 

C hil d i n  N e e d 0 6 (1 3 %) 

C hil d  Pr ot e cti o n 0 1 3 ( 2 8 %) 

L o o k e d  Aft er  C hil d 11 ( 7 9 %) 2 6 ( 5 7 %) 

Ot h er  e. g.  Pr e - Pr o c e e di n g s 3 ( 21 %) 0 

7    C ell  si z e s t o o  s m all t o r e p ort  m or e  d et ail e d  br e a k d o w n (i n cl u d e s  A si a n  /  A si a n  Briti s h,  Bl a c k  /  Bl a c k 

Briti s h,  G y p s y  /  R o m a,  Mi x e d  a n d  Ot h er  Et h ni c  Gr o u p) 

8    M o st  of t h e  y o u n g  p e o pl e t h at  h a v e  c o m e i nt o t h e  N W D  pl a c e m e nt s  st art  a s  a n  o utr e a c h  c a s e  a n d 

pr o gr e s s t o r e q uiri n g  s u p p ort t hr o u g h  pl a c e m e nt s, i n t h e s e i n st a n c e s t h e y  ar e  n ot l o g g e d  a s  a n 

a d diti o n al r ef err al f or t h e  N W D  s er vi c e. 

Page 110



5 5 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

Pl a c e m e nt t y p e 

Wit h  F a mil y  or  C o n n e ct e d  P er s o n 

F o st er  C ar e 

R e si d e nti al  C ar e 

N W D  H u b  R e si d e nti al  C ar e

N W D  F o st er  C ar er 

S u p p ort e d  a c c o m m o d ati o n  or l o d gi n g s 

3 ( 21 %) 

9 ( 6 4 %) 

2 (1 4 %) 

0 

0 

0 

2 4 ( 5 3 %) 

9 ( 2 0 %) 

6 (1 3 %) 

3 ( 7 %) 

1 ( 2 %) 

2 ( 4 %) 

Ty p e  of ( dir e ct) s p e ci alist s u p p ort  b ei n g r e c ei v e d 

Lif e  C o a c h 

C o m m u ni c ati o n  S u p p ort  W or k er 

P oli c e  Li ai s o n  O fi c er 

0 

1 ( 7 %) 

0 

7 (1 6 %) 

1 0 ( 2 2 %) 

11 ( 2 4 %) 

Table 3: Experience of  N W D 

H o w  w o ul d  y o u r at e  y o ur  ex p eri e n c e  of  N W D 
( F ut ur e s f or  F a mili e s) s o f ar ? 

V er y  p o siti v e 

P o siti v e 

N eit h er  p o siti v e  n or  n e g ati v e 

N e g ati v e 

V er y  N e g ati v e 

2 (1 3 %) 

11 ( 6 9 %) 

3 (1 9 %) 

0 

0 

T ot al 1 6 

Table 4: Satisfaction  with training 

H o w s atisfi e d  or  dis s atisfi e d  d o  y o u f e el  b y t h e 
i nf or m ati o n  a n d tr ai ni n g  o n  N W D ( F ut ur e s f or 
F a mili e s) ? 

V er y  p o siti v e 

P o siti v e 

N eit h er  p o siti v e  n or  n e g ati v e 

N e g ati v e 

V er y  N e g ati v e 

7 ( 4 4 %) 

9 ( 5 6 %) 

0 

0 

0 

T ot al 1 6 

Page 111



5 6 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

Table 5: Job satisfaction, buy in and confidence 

I f e el s atisfi e d 
i n  m y j o b 

I t hi n k t h er e is 
s u fi ci e nt  b u y i n fr o m 
l e a d er s hi p f or  N W D 
( F ut ur e s f or  F a mili e s) 

I f e el  c o nfi d e nt  usi n g 
t h e  N W D ( F ut ur e s f or 
F a mili e s)  m o d el 

Str o n gl y  a gr e e 

A gr e e 

N eit h er  a gr e e  n or  di s a gr e e 

Di s a gr e e 

Str o n gl y  di s a gr e e 

4 ( 2 5 %) 

9 ( 5 6 %) 

2 (1 3 %) 

1 ( 6 %) 

0 

4 ( 2 5 %) 

11 ( 6 9 %) 

1 ( 6 %) 

0 

0 

4 ( 2 5 %) 

1 0 ( 6 3 %) 

2 (1 3 %) 

0 

0 

T ot al 1 6 1 6 1 6 

Table 6: Sta f ti me for  N W D and  work  with parents or carers 

I  h a v e  e n o u g h ti m e t o 
t a k e f ull  a d v a nt a g e  of 
t h e  N W D ( F ut ur e s f or 
F a mili e s)  m o d el 

I  h a v e  e n o u g h ti m e 
f or  dir e ct  w or k  wit h 
t h e  y o u n g  p e o pl e 
all o c at e d t o  m e 

I  h a v e  e n o u g h ti m e 
f or  dir e ct  w or k  wit h 
t h e  p ar e nt s /  c ar er s 
all o c at e d t o  m e 

Str o n gl y  a gr e e 

A gr e e 

N eit h er  a gr e e  n or  di s a gr e e 

Di s a gr e e 

Str o n gl y  di s a gr e e 

0 

9 ( 5 6 %) 

3 (1 9 %) 

4 ( 2 5 %) 

0 

1 ( 8 %) 

8 ( 6 7 %) 

2 (1 7 %) 

1 ( 8 %) 

0 

1 ( 9 %) 

6 ( 5 4 %) 

3 ( 2 7 %) 

1 ( 9 %) 

0 

T ot al 1 6 1 2 11 

Page 112



5 7 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

Table 7: Attending restorative training 

I  h a v e  b e e n tr ai n e d i n  a r e st or ati v e, 
str e n gt hs- b as e d  a p pr o a c h 

Y e s, I  att e n d e d  all tr ai ni n g 

Y e s, I  att e n d e d  s o m e tr ai ni n g 

I' m  n ot  s ur e I r e c ei v e d it 

N o 

7 ( 5 8 %) 

4 ( 3 3 %) 

1 ( 8 %) 

0 

T ot al 1 2 

Table 8: Young person engage ment  with plans 

I  h a v e  b e e n tr ai n e d i n  a r e st or ati v e, 
str e n gt hs- b as e d  a p pr o a c h 

Str o n gl y  a gr e e 

A gr e e 

N eit h er  a gr e e  n or  di s a gr e e 

Di s a gr e e 

Str o n gl y  di s a gr e e 

0 

1 0 ( 6 3 %) 

6 ( 3 8 %) 

0 

0 

T ot al 1 6 

Table 9: Perceived outco mes 

N W D ( F ut ur e s f or  F a mili e s) ... 

N W D l a u n c h 
( 07/ 0 9/ 2 0 2 0) 

T hr e e  m o nt hs 
aft er  N W D l a u n c h 
( 07/1 2/ 2 0 2 0) 

Y o u n g  p e o pl e i n  N W D  pl a c e m e nt s 

Y o u n g  p e o pl e  b ei n g  s u p p ort e d  b y  o utr e a c h 

A v er a g e  a g e 

M al e 

F e m al e 

5 ( 31 %) 

1 0 ( 6 3 %) 

1 ( 6 %) 

0 

0 

4 ( 2 5 %) 

1 2 ( 7 5 %) 

0 

0 

0 

W hit e  Briti s h 1 6 1 6 

Page 113



5 8 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Table 10: Case revie w frequency 

H o w  oft e n  ar e t h e  c as e s  y o u  h ol d r e vi e w e d? 

O n c e  a  w e e k 

O n c e  a  m o nt h 

3 

9 

T ot al 1 2 

Table 11: Likelihood to stay in current role 

H o w li k el y  ar e  y o u t o st a y i n t h e  N W D 
( F ut ur e s f or  F a mili e s) t e a m i n t h e  n ext 1 2  m o nt hs ? 

V er y li k el y 

Li k el y 

N eit h er li k el y  n or  u nli k el y 

U nli k el y 

V er y  u nli k el y 

9 

6 

1 

0 

0 

T ot al 1 6 

Table 12: L A level indicators pre and post introduction of  N W D 

T hr e e  m o nt hs 
b ef or e  N W D l a u n c h 
(J u n e  2 0 2 0) 

N W D l a u n c h 
( S e pt  2 0 2 0) 

T hr e e  m o nt hs 
aft er  N W D l a u n c h 
( D e c  2 0 2 0) 

N u m b er  of  L o o k e d  Aft er 
C hil dr e n 

N u m b er  of  c hil dr e n  a n d 
y o u n g  p e o pl e i n r e si d e nti al 
pl a c e m e nt s 9 

N u m b er  of  c hil dr e n  a n d 
y o u n g  p e o pl e i n  e xt er n al 
r e si d e nti al  pl a c e m e nt s 

A v er a g e  n u m b er  of 
pl a c e m e nt  c h a n g e s  of 
C hil dr e n  L o o k e d  Aft er i n 
t h e l a st t w el v e  m o nt h s 

A v er a g e  d ur ati o n 
l o o k e d  aft er 

6 4 2 

7 4 

6 4 

1. 4 

1 4 3 

6 9 9 

8 0 

7 0 

1. 4 

1 4 2 

6 6 0 

7 3 

6 2 

1. 4 7 

2 3 5. 5 5 

   N ot i n cl u di n g  S e c ur e  R e si d e nti al  or  M ot h er  a n d  B a b y  R e si d e nti al  pl a c e m e nt s 9

Page 114



5 9 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A p pe n dix  B: Re q uire d trai ni n g for staff 10 

A d v er s e  C hil d h o o d  E x p eri e n c e s ( A C E) 

tr ai ni n g 

A nti - b ull yi n g 

Att a c h m e nt t h e or y 

A uti s m  a w ar e n e s s 

C hil d  Cri mi n al  E x pl oit ati o n ( C C E) 

C hil d  d e v el o p m e nt 

C hil d  s e x u al  e x pl oit ati o n 

C o m m u ni c ati n g  wit h  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

C o m m u ni c ati o n  s u p p ort 

C o m pl ai nt s 

C o ntr ol  of  S u b st a n c e s  H a z ar d o u s t o  H e alt h 

( C O S H H) 

C o u nt y li n e s 

D B T I nf or m  S kill s ( Di al e cti c al  B e h a vi o ur al 

T h er a p y) 

D D P ( D y a di c  D e v el o p m e nt al 

P s y c h ot h er a p y) 

D e pri v ati o n  of  Li b ert y ( D O L s) 

E pil e p s y 

E q u alit y  a n d  di v er sit y 

F a mil y  n et w or k tr ai ni n g 

F G M 

Fir e  a w ar e n e s s 

Fir st  ai d 

F o o d  h y gi e n e 

G a mi n g  a n d  g a m bli n g 

G D P R 

G e n er al ri s k  a s s e s s m e nt 

H e alt h  a n d  s af et y 

H o n or  b a s e d  vi ol e n c e 

I nf e cti o n  c o ntr ol 

L e ar ni n g  di s a bilit y  a w ar e n e s s 

L e v el  3  Di pl o m a f or  R e si d e nti al  C hil d c ar e 

( E n gl a n d)  a n d t h e  L e v el  5  Di pl o m a i n 

L e a d er s hi p  a n d  M a n a g e m e nt f or  R e si d e nti al 

C hil d c ar e ( E n gl a n d) 

Li g at ur e  k ni v e s 

M e di c ati o n 

M e di c ati o n  o b s er v ati o n s 

M e nt al  h e alt h  a w ar e n e s s 

M o d er n  sl a v er y 

M o vi n g  a n d  h a n dli n g 

N e gl e ct 

N W D 

N o n- Vi ol e nt  R e si st a n c e ( N V R) 

O nli n e r a di c ali s ati o n 

P L A C E ( Pl a yf ul n e s s,  A c c e pt a n c e,  C uri o sit y 

a n d  E m p at h y) 

P A C E ( P oli c e  a n d  Cri mi n al  E vi d e n c e  A ct) 

P A C E ( P ar e nt s  A g ai n st  C hil d  E x pl oit ati o n) 

P ar e nt al  c o nfli ct 

P er s o n al  s af et y 

Pr e v e nt ( Cl e v el a n d  P oli c e) 

Pr ot e cti n g  Ri g ht s i n  C ar e  E n vir o n m e nt s 

( P RI C E) 

R e p ort  writi n g 

R e st or ati v e  pr a cti c e 

S af e g u ar di n g 

S elf- h ar m 

S o ci al  C ar e  C o m m o n I n s p e cti o n s 

Fr a m e w or k ( S C CI F) 

S oli h ull ( p ar e nti n g) 

S ol uti o n f o c u s e d 

T al ki n g t e e n s 

Tr a u m a i m p a ct  a n d r e c o v er y 

Page 115



6 0 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   

 

 

  

  

    

 

  

  

    

 

     

 

  

A p pe n dix C:  N W D  Disti n g uis hers, Provoc atio ns a n d  No n- Ne gotia bles 

Nort h Yorks hire Co u nty Co u ncil’s Te n  N W D  Disti ng uis hers 

T h e  o b s er v a bl e  pr a cti c e s, f e at ur e s,  b e h a vi o ur s  a n d  pr a cti c al  el e m e nt s  of t h e  o p er ati n g  m o d el 

t h at  m a k e  N W D  di sti n cti v el y  diff er e nt fr o m tr a diti o n al  s er vi c e s  &  e n s ur e  N W D  st a y s tr u e t o it s 

vi si o n  &  ai m s. 

1.  Al w a y s  pr o gr e s si n g t o  p er m a n e n c e  wit hi n  a f a mil y  or  c o m m u nit y 

2.  Hi g h  sti c k a bilit y  of t h e  k e y  w or k er 

3.  F e w er r ef err al s, l e s s  sti g m a 

4.  R o b u st tr ai ni n g  str at e g y ( e. g. r e st or ati v e  pr a cti c e  a n d t h er a p e uti c  s u p p ort) 

5.  N o  h e a d s  o n  b e d s  c ult ur e 

6.  N o  a p p oi nt m e nt  a s s e s s m e nt s 

7.  A  c or e  off er t o  all  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

8.  M ulti - a g e n c y i nt elli g e n c e l e d  a p pr o a c h t o r e d u c e ri s k 

9.  Cl o s e  p art n er s hi p  w or ki n g 

1 0.  Y o u n g  p e o pl e’ s  a s pir ati o n s  dri v e  pr a cti c e 

Nort h Yorks hire Co u nty Co u ncil’s Eig ht  N W D  No n- Ne gotiables 

E s s e nti al  v al u e s,  pri n ci pl e s  a n d  w a y s  of  w or ki n g t o g et h er  wit h o ut  w hi c h  a  m o d el  c e a s e s t o  b e 

f ait hf ul t o t h e  N W D  a p pr o a c h 

1.  Hi g h  st a n d ar d s  a n d  a m biti o n s f or  all  y o u n g  p e o pl e 

2.  R e si d e nti al  c ar e  a s  a  s h ort t er m i nt er v e nti o n  n ot l o n g t er m  s ol uti o n 

3.  C o m mit m e nt t o  d o  w h at e v er it t a k e s t o  s u p p ort  y o u n g  p e o pl e  wit hi n t h eir  c o m m u nit y ( n o 

o ut  of  ar e a  pl a c e m e nt s) 

4.  F or w ar d l o o ki n g  a n d  a s pir ati o n al 

5.  A  b eli ef i n  y o u n g  p e o pl e  a n d t h eir ri g ht t o  a f a mil y 

6.  A  c o m mit m e nt  a n d i n v e st m e nt i n  st aff  s u p p ort  a n d  b ei n g ri g or o u s  a b o ut  h ol di n g t h e m t o 

a c c o u nt ( hi g h  s u p p ort,  hi g h  c h all e n g e) 

7.  U n c o n v e nti o n al  a n d fl e xi bl e  w or kf or c e,  u s e  of  cr e ati v e  s e s si o n al  c o ntr a ct s 

t o r e s p o n d  q ui c kl y 

8.  Bri n g  y o u n g  p e o pl e i nt o  N W D  q ui c kl y  b ut  m o v e t h e m  o ut  sl o wl y 

Page 116



61 

ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N:  N O  W R O N G  D O O R  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT  MI D DLE S B R O U G H

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Nort h Yorks hire Co u nty Co u ncil’s Fo ur Provocatio ns of  No  Wro ng  Door 

1.  W o ul d t hi s  b e  g o o d  e n o u g h f or  m y  c hil d ? 

2.  Ar e  w e  m a n a gi n g ri s k f or t h e  c hil d  or f or t h e  or g a ni s ati o n ? 

3.  W h at  ki n d  of  a d ult  d o  w e  w a nt t h e m t o  b e  at  2 5 ?  3 5 ?  5 0 ? 

4.  I s t h er e  a  s h ar e d  a p pr o a c h t o  p ar e nti n g ? 

Mi d dlesbro ug h’s locally tailore d Provocatio ns 

•  A s  a  p ar e nt,  w o ul d I  b e  h a p p y  wit h t hi s f or  m y  c hil d ? 

•  W h er e  d o  w e  s e e t h e  y o u n g  p er s o n i n  6  m o nt h s, 1  y e ar,  2  y e ar s ? 

•  W o ul d  w e  s a y t hi s, t o t h e  c hil d ? 

•  Ar e  w e  m a n a gi n g t h e ri s k f or t h e  c hil d  or f or  u s ? 

Mi d dlesbro ug h’s locally tailore d  No n- Ne gotiables 

•  W or ki n g  wit h  p art n er s,  s h ari n g t h e ri s k  a n d  s u p p orti n g  e a c h  ot h er t o t a k e ri s k s! 

•  H a vi n g t h o s e  diffi c ult  c o n v er s ati o n s! 

•  W or ki n g t o g et h er t o  m e et t h e  n e e d s  a n d  o ut c o m e s  of  y o u n g  p e o pl e! 

•  H a vi n g t h e ri g ht  st aff  m e m b er s  wit h  attit u d e  a n d  s kill s i n  pl a c e t o  m a k e t h at  diff er e n c e! 

•  T h e  v oi c e  of t h e  c hil d  at t h e  c e ntr e  of t h eir j o ur n e y! 

•  A  w h ol e f a mil y  a p pr o a c h! 

•  T e a m  ar o u n d t h e  c hil d tr ai ni n g  str at e g y! 

•  Al w a y s  w or ki n g t o  p er m a n e n c e f or t h e  c hil d! 

•  E v er y  c hil d  c a n  b e f o st er e d! 

Page 117



ST RE N GT HE NI N G F A MILIE S,  P R OTE C TI N G  C HIL D RE N: F A MILY  S AFE G U A R DI N G  |  PIL OT E V AL U ATI O N  RE P O RT 

A p pe n dix  D: Revise d L o gic  Mo del 

6 2 

P
age 118



 

 
 

i nf o @ w h atw o r ks- cs c. or g. u k 

@ w h at w o r ks C S C 
w h at w or ks- cs c. or g. u k 

Al b a n y  H o us e   
P ett y  Fr a n c e 
L o n d o n  S W 1 H  9 E A  

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



@whatworksCSC

No Wrong Door Pilot Evaluation
Aim: To study rollout of NWD in a local authority outside of where it was 
developed, whether it can be delivered, what are the challenges, what do staff 
and families think.

The study is not designed to understand whether No Wrong Door makes a 
difference to outcomes. This is the question we will ask in the next phase of our 
evaluation.

What we did: Before and six months after FFF opened, we carried out Interviews 
and Focus Groups with staff and families, a staff survey, and observations of 
meetings in the FFF service. We also collected data about recruitment, training 
and young people supported by the service.

P
age 121



@whatworksCSC

Findings: How was No Wrong Door implemented in 
the Middlesbrough Futures for Families service?

● Provision of intended placement types and recruitment of 
almost all intended staff 

● Staff received comprehensive training and regular 
development days

● Staff observed to work restoratively (doing ‘with’ rather 
than ‘to’ or ‘for’), making decisions with families, listening to 
young people’s voice and aspirations to drive practice. 
Families strengths were also highlighted.

● Support offered was flexible, creative and tailored

● The provocations, non-negotiables, paperwork and 
processes were tailored to Middlesbrough’s local context 
and priorities, in partnership with NYCC

● Age range adapted to 11-18 in Middlesbrough

P
age 122



@whatworksCSC

Findings: What were some of the challenges?
● Most FFF staff (88%) reported feeling confident to use 

the model, but only 56% of staff reported feeling they had 
enough time to take full advantage of the model

● Competing demands between the outreach and 
residential work was one area of challenge

● Some confusion over whether to continue to use Signs 
of Safety and some uncertainty over referral criteria

● It was sometimes hard to find a suitable local foster 
care placement

● Changes in keyworker due to staff turnover, and 
transitioning out of the FFF service needed to be carefully 
managed to avoid further disruption

“The key worker said I’m here for you, I’m 
going to support you. You’re moving to [foster 
carer] and then moving from here, and then 
she moved on from her job, which was quite a 
let-down for the young person.” [Foster carer]

“…we seem to be getting residential cases in 
emergencies for extended periods of time that 
would normally not be a part of NWD due to not 
meeting the criteria.” – [FFF staff member]

“Another young person couldn’t get as much 
outreach support as they might have done 
because of the demands of caring for that young 
person who was in the hub.” – [Senior leader]

“For mine, it’s been quite an abrupt end for these kids who 
have already had quite a lot of rejection.” [Social worker].

P
age 123



@whatworksCSC

Findings: What did staff and families think about the model?
● Most staff felt positive about the model and the training. The life coach and 

communication support worker were particularly seen as helpful, and overcame 
external waiting lists. The police analyst was also beneficial to address issues 
such as missing episodes.

● There appeared to be a high level of support for the model from senior 
management and leadership, and staff reported good relationships with 
partners and social work teams

● Providing a flexible service, accessible outside of usual working hours, and 
responding quickly to crises on evenings and weekends, was a unique and valued 
feature for families. Some young people who had previous lack of trust in adults 
developed positive relationships with FFF staff.

● Staff changes and COVID-19 could be barriers to engaging some young people, 
and not all young people were clear about their plan or goals.

● Staff and families identified that NWD had the potential to improve the quality of 
support, reduce risk and increase safety, and improve outcomes for young people. 

“Well [young person] can talk 
to her so there must be 
something there because 
[young person] doesn’t talk 
to anybody. [Young person] 
tells [key worker] more things 
than [young person] actually 
tells me.” [Parent]

“He engaged well with the 
outreach worker at the initial 
visit. Was really keen, and 
again I think there was a 
gap in revisiting that young 
person. Again you know, a 
three week gap, so he lost 
interest.” [Social worker]

P
age 124



@whatworksCSC

What are our recommendations?
Our report is available on our website, and a summary is in the SFPC newsletter. 
Recommendations include:

● The importance of ensuring staffing capacity for placements and outreach support
● Clear guidance on using NWD alongside any existing practice model, as well as 

comprehensive training and guidance for partners and referring practitioners 
● Based on good practice in FFF, we recommend regular opportunities for NWD teams to 

revisit the NWD principles (the non-negotiables, distinguishers and provocations)

Our next steps

● A podcast about the findings
● Evaluating the impact of No Wrong Door on the likelihood of children and young people 

becoming looked after, placement length and changes, education and employment
● This is in Rochdale, Norfolk, Warrington, Redcar & Cleveland. 

P
age 125

https://whatworks-csc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/WWCSC_SFPC_No_Wrong_Door_pilot_report_Nov21.pdf
https://www.scie.org.uk/strengthening-families


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Overview report for Corporate Parenting Board  

Private Fostering  

30 March 2022 

 

Purpose of this report  

The local authority is required to prepare an annual report in relation to children identified as being 

privately fostered and in relation to its activity in relation to the private fostering standards.   

The annual report has been through its approval process with its governance sitting under the 

South Tees Safeguarding Children Partnership on 21 June 2021.  A copy of that report is 

appended for Board’s oversight.  

The purpose of this report is to provide an overview to the Corporate Parenting Board to explain 

what private fostering is, and to provide an overview of activity in relation to provide fostering so far 

in the 21/22 year.  

 

What is private fostering?   

A privately fostered child is a child under 16 years of age (or 18 if disabled) who is cared for by an 
adult who is not a parent, grandparent, aunt, uncle, step parent by marriage, sister or brother where 
the child is to be cared for in that person's home for 28 days or more and has been arranged without 
the involvement of the local authority.   

 
A private foster carer may be a friend of the family, the parent of a friend of the child, or someone 
previously unknown to the child’s family who is willing to privately foster the child. The private foster 
carer becomes responsible for providing the day to day care of the child in a way which will promote 
and safeguard the child’s welfare.  Overarching responsibility for safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of the privately fostered child remains with the parent or other person with parental 
responsibility.   
 
 
Children who are privately fostered are not looked after children but are supported under Section 
17 as Children in Need.   
 
 

The context  

as of 29/12/21 Middlesbrough support  

 1446 children through Child In Need  

 420 children who have a child protection plan  

 513 children who we look after  

 4 children privately fostered!  

 

The challenge 

All local authorities across England have challenges in relation to the reporting of private fostering 

arrangements within their areas and it is therefore likely that there are arrangements in place 

which are not recognised within communities or by professionals and are not therefore reported.   

Page 127

Agenda Item 9



We have therefore focused on awareness raising activity across the area, in conjunction with 

Redcar.  This includes:  

 

 Social media awareness – Twitter, Linkedin, Middlesbrough Children Matters, etc. on a 

regular basis.  

 New poster campaign – schools briefed via Designated Safeguarding Lead forum and 

through the Safeguarding Information Officer  

 Private Fostering Steering Group members have been sending the message out within 

their own organisations – police and health  

 

What we need to do next  

 

 Support to reach out across Middlesbrough’s diverse communities – how can Members 

help?  

 

B Short  

29.12.21  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 128



 

 

 

Appendix 1 – Annual Private Fostering report 

 

 

 

 

 

Safeguarding & Children’s Care 

Annual report on Private Fostering  
 

for 2020/21 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report Prepared by Ben Short 

  

Head of Safeguarding and Care Planning  

 

Page 129



 

 

 

Contents 

Definition of a Private Fostering Arrangement ................................................................................ 5 
Regulatory Context ......................................................................................................................... 5 
Impact on Local Authorities............................................................................................................. 5 
Local Procedures ............................................................................................................................ 6 
Middlesbrough’s Private Fostering Arrangement Overview ............................................................. 6 
Persons disqualified from private fostering ..................................................................................... 8 
National Minimum Standards Middlesbrough Compliance .............................................................. 8 

Standard 1 – Statement on Private Fostering .............................................................................. 8 
Standard 2 - Notification .............................................................................................................. 9 
Standard 3 – Safeguarding & Promoting Welfare ........................................................................ 9 
Standard 4 – Advice & Support (also applies to 5 and 6) .......................................................... 10 
Standard 5 ................................................................................................................................ 11 
Standard 6 ............................................................................................................................... 11 
Standard 7 – Monitoring Compliance with Duties and Functions in relation to Private Fostering11 

Developments for 20/21 ................................................................................................................ 12 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 130



Definition of a Private Fostering Arrangement 

 
A privately fostered child is a child under 16 years of age (or 18 if disabled) who is 
cared for by an adult who is not a parent, grandparent, aunt, uncle, step parent by 
marriage, sister or brother where the child is to be cared for in that person's home for 
28 days or more and has been arranged without the involvement of the local authority.   
 
A private foster carer may be a friend of the family, the parent of a friend of the child, 
or someone previously unknown to the child’s family who is willing to privately foster 
the child. The private foster carer becomes responsible for providing the day to day 
care of the child in a way which will promote and safeguard the child’s welfare.  
Overarching responsibility for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of the privately 
fostered child remains with the parent or other person with parental responsibility.   

 

Regulatory Context 

 
The 2005 regulations are made under the Children Act 1989.  The National Minimum 
Standards are issued by the Secretary of State under section 7 of the Local Authority 
Social Services Act 1970, which requires local authorities in their social services 
functions to act under the general guidance of the Secretary of State.  As such the 
National Minimum Standards do not have the full force of statute, but should be 
complied with unless local circumstances indicate exceptional reasons which justify a 
variation.  
 
The National Minimum Standards apply to all local authorities.  They are minimum 
standards, rather than ‘best possible’ practice.  The standards are grouped under a 
series of key topics: 
 

- Statement on private fostering 
- Notification 
- Safeguarding and promote welfare 
- Advice and support 
- Monitoring compliance  

 
Each standard, or group of standards, is preceded by a statement of the outcome to 
be achieved by the local authority.  The standards are intended to be qualitative 
although they are also designed to be measureable.  It is intended that the standards 
will be used by local authorities and by the Commission for Social Care Inspection 
(CSCI) to focus on securing positive outcomes for privately fostered children and 
young people and reducing any risks to their welfare and safety.  In inspecting against 
these standards, CSCI follows a proportionate inspection methodology, which enables 
consistent judgments to be made across the country.  

 

Impact on Local Authorities 

 
Whilst it is a private arrangement between the parent(s) and carer(s), and is one made 
without the involvement of the Local Authority, Middlesbrough Safeguarding & 
Children’s Care has a legal duty to ensure that any child or young person is safe and 
well looked after and does not come to any harm in a private fostering arrangement. 
 

Page 131



The National Minimum Standards specify a minimum standard for local authority 
practice in the fulfilment of Children Act duties and functions in relation to private 
fostering. They, along with the measures in section 44 of the Children Act 2004 and 
the 2005 regulations, are intended to better focus local authorities’ attention on private 
fostering, in part by requiring them to take a more proactive approach to identifying 
arrangements in their area. 
 

Local Procedures 

 

Middlesbrough Children’s Services hold their local policy and procedures on TriX and can be located 

at https://www.proceduresonline.com/middlesbrough/cs/p_private_fost.html#   

 

The public facing page for information about what do when a private fostering arrangement is 

identified, is at https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/children-families-and-safeguarding/fostering-

and-adoption/private-fostering  

 

A joint private fostering awareness campaign is being progressed as requested by STSCP and the 

proposal will be submitted alongside this report.   

Middlesbrough’s Private Fostering Arrangement Overview 

 
Data recorded in the PF1 Statutory Report on L Liquid Logic 20/21 is detailed in the 
table below.  
 
 

 17 / 18 18/19 19/20  20/21 

Number of new 
notifications 

3 6 6 4 

Number of new 
Private Fostering 
arrangements that 
started in the year 

3 6 6 4 

Number of 
arrangements 
ending in the year 

2 2 7 3 

Number of Private 
Fostering 
arrangements still in 
place at the end of 
march each year 

2 6 5 6 
 

  
The number of private fostering arrangements within Middlesbrough remains low and 
this remains a significant area for development.  A joint STSCP awareness raising 
campaign will be presented alongside this paper, to raise both community and partner 
awareness of private fostering.   
 
During the reporting year 20/21 4 new notifications for private fostering were received 
with an average age of 12 ½.    

Page 132

https://www.proceduresonline.com/middlesbrough/cs/p_private_fost.html
https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/children-families-and-safeguarding/fostering-and-adoption/private-fostering
https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/children-families-and-safeguarding/fostering-and-adoption/private-fostering


 
At the end of the year, 6 private fostering arrangements continued to be in place 
consisting of 5 biologically female and 1 male young person, as follows:  
 

Child  ID Start Date Date of 

birth  

Biologically 

assigned 

gender/ sex  

1 476449 31/10/2019 1-10-05 F 

2 492199 01/04/2019 6-4-06 M 

3 596310 23/03/2021 16-10-08 F 

4 598885 12/09/2017 5-11-05 F 

5 676619 23/11/2020 3-2-14 F 

6 834105 23/02/2021 19-11-05 F 

 
 
 
476449 

 
A private fostering arrangement for a 15 year old female child which has been in place 
for 18 months at the time of writing the report.  This is a very settled placement which 
is regularly reviewed and where the young person is seen by her social worker 
regularly.   

 
492199 
 
15 year old male child who is living with friends of the family following have frequent 
fall outs at home.  He is very settled where lives and has regular family time with his 
mother and siblings.  The carer is considering a Child Arrangements Order.   
 
596310 
 
This is a 12 year old female child who is living with a cousin following the passing of 
her grandmother with whom she had lived under a Child Arrangements Order.  The 
care received is described as excellent and responsive to her needs.  This is a new 
arrangement made in March 2021.   
 
598885 
 
15 year old female child who is living with family friends and has done so for a very 
long time, reportedly since she was a toddler but formally under a private fostering 
arrangement in Middlesbrough for over 3 years.   She turns 16 this year and it may 
have been possible to have secured a Child Arrangement Order before this point.   
 
676619 
 
A 7 year old female child who is living with close family friends following the death of 
her mother late last year.  There are ongoing discussions about the potential support 

Page 133



to apply for a private law order for such a young child.  The arrangement is supported 
by the child’s father and though a positive assessment.   
 
834105 
 
15 year old child identifying as male lived with family friends.  This follows a family 
discussion that he would live with family.  The assessment is ongoing at this time but 
appears to be positive and will be further reviewed at gateway once the assessment is 
finalised and if approved by the Head of Service.   

Persons disqualified from private fostering 

 
No prohibitions have been issued during the 20/21 year.  
 

National Minimum Standards Middlesbrough Compliance 

 

The strategic lead for Private Fostering sits with the Head of Safeguarding Care planning.  

 

This section of the report will consider the local authority’s compliance with the minimum 

standards during the course of 20/21 and will provide a summary of the work that has been 

undertaken in relation to each minimum standard.  

 

 

Standard 1 – Statement on Private Fostering 

 

The local Authority has a written statement or plan, which sets out its duties and functions 

in relation to Private Fostering and the ways in which they will be carried out. 

 

 

The statement of purpose is available on the council internet page here 

https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/children-families-and-safeguarding/fostering-and-

adoption/private-fostering  

 

The policy and procedure is up to date and sufficiently detailed to enable its application into 

social work responses.  This is supported by the Children’s Services procedures manual which 

remains relevant and linked above.  

 

The low level reporting of Private Fostering in Middlesbrough is a challenge and further work 

across the partnership has been identified to ensure that the community and professionals 

understand private fostering and respond to it appropriately.     

Page 134

https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/children-families-and-safeguarding/fostering-and-adoption/private-fostering
https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/children-families-and-safeguarding/fostering-and-adoption/private-fostering


 

 

Standard 2 - Notification 

 

The local authority; 

 promotes awareness of the notification requirements and ensures that those 
professionals who may come into contact with privately fostered children 
understand their role in notification; 

 responds effectively to notifications; and 

 deals with situations where an arrangement comes to their attention, which has not 
been notified 

 

 

As detailed in standard 1, there have been a number of strategies to promote awareness of 

notification requirements.  Significant work to raise awareness of private fostering in the 

community and across the partnership has been agreed, and a proposed plan will be 

submitted alongside this report.  It has been identified that this will be a STSCP shared 

approach.   

 

Information recorded within the PF1 annual report to the Government (available on LCS) 

identified that the Local Authority received 4 new notifications in 20/21  

 

In all cases action was taken in accordance with requirements of the Children (Private 

Arrangements for Fostering) Regulations 2005 for carrying out visits.    

 

 

. 

Standard 3 – Safeguarding & Promoting Welfare  

 

The local authority determines the suitability of all aspects of the Private Fostering 

arrangement in accordance with regulations 

 

 

 

Upon receipt of a notification, whether in accordance with regulation 3, 5 or 6, for the 

purposes of discharging its duty under section 67(1) of the Act (welfare of privately fostered 

Page 135



children) the local authority must make arrangements to visit the proposed arrangement 

within 7 working days to: 

 

- visit the premises where it is proposed that the child will be cared for and accommodated; 
- visit and speak to the proposed private foster carer and to all members of the household; 
- visit and speak with the child alone, unless the visiting worker considers it inappropriate; 
- speak to and, if it is practicable to do so, visit every parent or person with parental 

responsibility for the child and  
- establish such matters listed in Schedule 2/3 as appear to the officer to be relevant. 

 

A written report, in the form of a Private Fostering Assessment, is then undertaken and 

presented to the responsible Head of service for consideration/ratification.  

 

Within the first year of the private fostering arrangements visits must be made at intervals of 

not more than six weeks; and in any second or subsequent year, at intervals of not more than 

12 weeks.  The frequency of such visits will be monitored and reviewed via regular 

performance meetings.   

 

Any private fostering arrangements that continue over a year in duration are reviewed within 

Middlesbrough’s Gateway panel in order to ensure continued that the arrangement continues 

to meet the child or young persons needs. 

 

All children identified as being privately fostered have an Independent Reviewing Officer to 

support the review of the arrangements.   

 

 

Standard 4 – Advice & Support (also applies to 5 and 6)  

 

The local authority provides advice and support to private foster carers and prospective 

private foster carers as appears to the authority is needed. 

 

 

Private fostering arrangements will be reviewed on an annual basis via Head of Service, with 

the social worker completing an updated assessment for consideration.  

 

 

Page 136



All privately fostered children have an allocated social worker and are treated as Children in 

Need.  The only difference being that they are visited in accordance with Private Fostering 

requirements.   

 

Standard 5 

 

The local authority provides advice and support to the parents of children who are privately 

fostered within their area as appears to the authority to be needed. 

 

The child’s social worker remains responsible for ensuring that the child’s parent(s) are 

consulted and their views sought throughout the assessment process.  Parent(s) are also 

provided with an informative leaflet, detailing private fostering arrangements and what this 

entails from a legislative and service delivery perspective.  

 

 

Standard 6 

 

Children who are privately fostered are able to access information and support when 

required so that their welfare is safeguarded and promoted. Privately fostered children are 

enabled to participate in decisions about their lives. 

 

Within the first year of the private fostering arrangement the child’s social worker must visit 

at intervals of not more than six weeks; and in any second or subsequent year, at intervals of 

not more than 12 weeks. 

 

All children party to private fostering arrangements remain subject to a Child in Need Plan, 

which clearly identifies the needs of the child, how such needs are to be met and specifies 

services to be provided.   

 

Information packs were designed in consultation with children and young people who were 

privately fostered, to incorporate information and advice they felt would assist others subject 

to the same arrangements and that would help them understand the support and services 

available to them.  

 

 

Standard 7 – Monitoring Compliance with Duties and Functions in relation to Private 
Fostering 

 

Page 137



The local authority has in place and implements effectively a system for monitoring the way 

in which it discharges its duties and functions in relation to private fostering.  It improves 

practice where this is indicated as necessary by the monitoring system. 

 

 

Private Fostering arrangements within Middlesbrough in 20/21 are presented to the Head of 

service for ratification. An annual review of arrangements takes place through the local 

authority legal gateway who receive an updating report from the social worker who also 

presents the case to panel.   

 

Visits to children in private fostering arrangements are monitored regularly through 

performance meetings to ensure that visits are completed within timescales; where a concern 

is highlighted this is immediately addressed with the responsible team manager and action 

taken if required. 

Developments for 20/21 

 

The action plan focuses on the following areas:- 

 

 Ensure that there is a targeted awareness raising and training in private fostering and that this 
is regularly re-communicated to the workforce and the community.  This is an action carried 
forward by agreement at STSCP.  A joint campaign will take place between Middlesbrough and 
R&C 

o Through the Safeguarding Partnership – by Head of Service 
o By July 21 

 

 Hold the annual review of private fostering arrangements  
o Head of Service, Team Manager and social work teams  
o This has taken place and a further review will take place in 6 months for newly made 

private fostering arrangements  
o October 21  

 

 Hold the private fostering steering group in a ¼ basis going forward 
o Head of Service with representatives across the partnership  

 

 Consider the introduction of a private fostering worker in the fostering service.  Carried 
forward from previous year due to review of fostering service by Partners in Practice.  

o Head of Future for Families 
o By end of financial year.   

 

Page 138



 

 

 

April 21  

 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

 

Report of: Executive Director of Children’s Services 

 

 

Submitted to: Corporate Parenting Board- 30 March 2022 

 

Subject: Complaints made by children looked after. 

 

Contribution to the guiding principles of the Corporate Parenting Strategy 

Your Home- NA 

Your Family and Friends- NA 

Your Education- NA 

Your Adult Life- NA 

Your Health and wellbeing- NA 

Your Voice and Influence- NA 

 

 

 
Is the report confidential or does it contain exempt information? 
 
No 

 
 

What is the purpose of this report? 
 
To provide information to the Corporate Parenting Board on the number of complaints 
made by children looked after between September 2021 – February 2022. 
 
Report Background 
 
N/A 
 
Appendices 
 
The report is attached as an appendix. 
 
 
Recommendations 
 
That the Corporate Parenting Boar note the report. 
 
Why is this being recommended? 

Page 141

Agenda Item 10



2 

 
NA 
 
 
Other potential decisions and why these have not been recommended 
 
NA 
 
Impact(s) of recommended decision(s) 
NA 
 
Legal 
 
NA 
 
 
Financial 
 
N/A 
 
Policy Framework 
N/A 
 
Equality and Diversity 
 
N/A 
 
Risk 
 
N/A 
 
Actions to be taken to implement the decision(s) 
 
N/A 
 
 
Background papers 
 
No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
Contact: Siobhan Davies 
Email:  Siobhan_davies@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 
 

 

Page 142



  

 

Statistical Overview  

72 complaints were raised between September 2021 and February 2022.  

14 of these were in relation to children in our care 

o 9 were not upheld 

o 3 are being investigated 

o 2 were upheld 

o 1 partially upheld 

Of those partially or fully upheld, 2 were open to Safeguarding Care Planning Teams and 1 CLA 

Services 

All complaints received for children in our care, in the past 6-months, were completed within 

timescales 

1 ongoing complaint is overdue (623963)  

All 3 upheld/partially upheld complaints were made by parents/guardians 

All 3 complaints were resolved at Stage 1 

Issues of complaint:  

Complaint 1 (upheld)  

o High number of moves for a child which caused behavior deteriorating rapidly.  

o Carer did not provide appropriate kit/uniform for starting school  

Complaint 2 (upheld) 

o Connected Carers allowance reduced without agreement  

Complaint 3 (Parially upheld) 

o Family time not taking place as agreed in Court  

o Communication with the allocated worker, no response to calls or emails or invite to CLA 

review  

 

Stage 2 and 3 Complaints Resolved in the past 6-months 

2 Stage 2 complaints have concluded within the past 6-months, relating to children in our care 

Complaint 1:  

o Concerns around comments made by a Social Worker deemed ‘inappropriate’ and providing 

conflicting information.  

o Gap in visits taking place  

o Delay in rehabilitation  

Complaint 2:  

o Not providing a copy of minutes from statutory meeting s 

Page 143



  

 

o Not sharing information with another service in a timely way, which caused delay in starting 

an assessment. However, this was partially upheld as other factors played a part in this.  

 

Learning from Complaints  

The numbers of complaints in relation to children in our care is low, therefore drawing themes and 

learning from these alone is not possible. However, when comparing overall themes from 

complaints 2018-21 and lessons learned, the themes from that report are; 

o Poor communication from a social worker;  
o Perceived lack of financial support for a child or young person; and  
o Accuracy of recorded information about a customer. 

  

Each Month the Children & Families Principal Social Worker chairs a Learning Meeting  

The purpose of the Learning Meeting  

o To pull together and analyse learning from practice. There will be a focus on learning from 

complaints, thematic overview of IRO challenge/audit, and audit to excellence findings, 

Future for Families Deep Dives and any reviews ongoing within the South Tees Safeguarding 

Partnership, Subject Access Requests and Participation People to represent the voice of 

children in care. The Organisational Development’s business partner for Children’s Services 

will attend to consider what training has taken place.  

o To ensure that where there are themes emerging about quality of practice that we can be 

responsive and target resource (such as training, practice lead interventions and audit) to 

support social work practice to flourish.  

o To assess impact of those interventions and consider whether there is any evidence of the 

quality of practice improving, month on month, against the priorities where intervention has 

been targeted.  

o The group will identify 1 key priority for each month which will result in targeted Hot Topics 

session, PSW and Practice Lead support for the month ahead. The recommendation will be 

sent to Rachel Farnham, Director for approval.  

Action undertaken in response to complaints from September 2021 – February 2022: 

o Audit undertaken whereby children have made complaints 

o Mystery Shopper quality assurance piloted in MACH  

o Hot Topics 

o Practice Week with a focus on language, communication and identity.  

o Participation People now attend and contribute to Learning Meetings ensuring we 

can respond to issues raised directly form children and young people in our care 

 

 

 

Page 144



1 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD  

 

Report of: Kathy Peacock - Participation People  
 

 
Submitted to: Corporate Parenting Board- 30.3.22 

 
Subject: Your Voice and Influence  

 
Contribution to the guiding principles of the Corporate Parenting Strategy 
Your Home 

Your Family and Friends 

Your Education 

Your Adult Life 

Your Health and wellbeing 

Your Voice and Influence - Yes  
 
 
Is the report confidential or does it contain exempt information? 
 
No 
 
What is the purpose of this report? 
 
To update the Corporate Parents on Youth Voice activities that have taken place and 
being proposed.  
 
Report Background 
 
Please refer to Appendix 1 
 
Appendices 
 
Please refer to Appendix 1 
 
Recommendations 
 
Information only  
 
Why is this being recommended? 
 
N/A 

Page 145

Agenda Item 11



2 

 
 
Other potential decisions and why these have not been recommended 
 
N/A 
 
Impact(s) of recommended decision(s) 
 
N/A 
 
Legal 
 
N/A 

Page 146



3 

Financial 
 
N/A 
 
Policy Framework 
 
N/A 
 
Equality and Diversity 
 
N/A 
 
Risk 
 
N/A 
 
Actions to be taken to implement the decision(s) 
 
N/A 
 
Background papers 
 
Body Report title Date 

Corporate Parenting Board  Participation Youth Voice Update  15.2.2022 

 
Contact: Kathy Peacock - 07926580007 
Email:  Kathy.peacock@participationpeople.com 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 147



4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 148



5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 149



6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 150



7 

 

 

Page 151



8 

 

 

 

 

Page 152



9 

 

 

 

 

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes- Corporate Parenting Board- 15 February 2022
	5 Review of Permanence Action Plan
	6 Review of Sufficiency Action Plan
	7 Adoption Tees Valley- Bi -annual report
	8 No Wrong Door (Future for Families) Pilot- Evaluation
	Structure Bookmarks
	Figure 4: Recruitment by NWD launch date (September 2020) Recruitment  by No Wrong Door launch (Sept  2020) Service Manager Deputy Operations Manager Senior Resource Worker Resource Worker Casual Resource Worker Casual Resource Worker (Foster Carer) Casual Resource Worker (Supported Accommodation) Role Communication Support  Worker Life Coach Police Liaison Police Analyst Data Analyst Housekeeper Domestic 
	02468 
	Filled 
	Vacant 
	Table 10: Case review frequency 
	Table 12: LA level indicators pre and post introduction of NWD 

	Brief No Wrong Door FFF Pilot Evaluation

	9 Private Fostering
	10 Complaints made by Children looked after
	CSC Complaints Report CLA March 2022

	11 Participation of Children and Young people




Accessibility Report





		Filename: 

		studiomatica_WWCSC_no_wrong_door_draft3.pdf









		Report created by: 

		



		Organization: 

		







[Enter personal and organization information through the Preferences > Identity dialog.]



Summary



The checker found problems which may prevent the document from being fully accessible.





		Needs manual check: 0



		Passed manually: 2



		Failed manually: 0



		Skipped: 2



		Passed: 22



		Failed: 6







Detailed Report





		Document





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set



		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF



		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF



		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order



		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified



		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar



		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents



		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast



		Page Content





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Tagged content		Failed		All page content is tagged



		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged



		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order



		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided



		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged



		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker



		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts



		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses



		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive



		Forms





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Tagged form fields		Skipped		All form fields are tagged



		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description



		Alternate Text





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text



		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read



		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content



		Hides annotation		Failed		Alternate text should not hide annotation



		Other elements alternate text		Failed		Other elements that require alternate text



		Tables





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot



		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR



		Headers		Failed		Tables should have headers



		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column



		Summary		Skipped		Tables must have a summary



		Lists





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		List items		Failed		LI must be a child of L



		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI



		Headings





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Appropriate nesting		Failed		Appropriate nesting










Back to Top

	ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS: 
	CONTENTS: 
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
	INTRODUCTION: 
	Research questions: 
	Findings for each of the research questions: 
	40: 
	30: 
	20: 
	10: 
	80: 
	60: 
	40_2: 
	20_2: 
	80_2: 
	60_2: 
	40_3: 
	20_3: 
	30_2: 
	20_4: 
	10_2: 
	0: 
	8500: 
	7500: 
	6500: 
	5500: 
	800: 
	600: 
	400: 
	200: 
	0_2: 
	timelines for introducing NWD Some staff: 
	Baginsky M Hickman B Harris J: 
	APPENDICES: 
	Table 2 Characteristics of young people being supported by NWD: 
	0 0 11 79 3 21: 
	0 1 7 0: 
	I feel satisfied in my job 4 25 9 56 2 13 1 6 0 16: 
	NWD Futures for Families: 
	NWD launch 07092020 5 31 10 63 1 6 0 0 16: 
	Once a week Once a month Total: 
	NWD launch Sept 2020 699 80 70 14 142: 


